INTERGENERATIONAL TRANSMISSION OF CHILDHOOD MALTREATMENT: CHARACTERIZING POTENTIAL MECHANISMS AND OFFSPRING NEUROBEHAVIORAL OUTCOMES

By

Mollie Christine Marr

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Behavioral Neuroscience

and the Oregon Health & Science University

School of Medicine

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

December 17th, 2020

School of Medicine

Oregon Health & Science University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the PhD dissertation of

Mollie C. Marr

has been approved

Alice Graham, PhD, Mentor/Advisor

Damien Fair PA-C, PhD, Mentor/Advisor

Bonnie Nagel, PhD, Committee Chair

Suzanne Mitchell, PhD, Member

Kristen Mackiewicz Seghete, PhD, Member

Hanna Gustafsson, PhD, Member

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table o	of Contents ii
Figures	s Contents vi
Table (Contents viii
Abbrev	viations xii
Acknow	vledgmentsxv
Abstra	ct xxiii
Chapte	r 1. Introduction1
1.1	Childhood Maltreatment1
1.2	Intergenerational Transmission of Childhood Maltreatment
1.3	Developmental Programming14
1.4	Early Brain Development25
1.5	Resting-state Functional Connectivity MRI in Developmental Research
1.6	Associated Developmental Outcomes
1.7	Goals of the Dissertation
Chapte	r 2. Maternal Perinatal Stress and Offspring Amygdala Connectivity and
Negativ	ve Affect Development46
2.1.	Abstract47
2.2.	Introduction
2.3.	Methods and Materials

2.4.	Results	62
2.5.	Discussion	76
2.6.	Conclusions	83
2.7.	Supplemental Materials	84
Chapte	r 3. Intergenerational Effect of Maternal Exposure to Childhoo	d
Maltrea	atment and Associations with Neonatal Amygdala Functional Co	onnectivity
and Infa	ant Biobehavioral Outcomes	114
3.1	Abstract	114
3.2	Introduction	116
3.3	Methods and Materials	120
3.4	Results	132
3.5	Discussion	137
3.6	Conclusions	146
3.7	Supplemental Materials	147
Chapte	r 4. Intergenerational Effect of Maternal Exposure to Childhoo	d
Maltrea	atment and Associations with Neonatal Hippocampal Functional	l
Connec	ctivity	155
4.1	Abstract	155
4.2	Introduction	
4.3	Methods and Materials	
4.4	Results	173

4.5	Discussion	30
Chapte	er 5. Discussion18	38
5.1	Summary of Findings18	38
5.2	Characterizing Maternal Psychological Stress During Pregnancy	€
5.3	Maternal History of Exposure to Maltreatment During Childhood and the	
Func	tional Organization of the Offspring's Limbic System19) 5
5.4	Leveraging MRI to Examine Functional Heterogeneity)0
5.5	Additional Consideration)2
5.6	Limitations and Future Work)9
5.7	Conclusions	28
References		

FIGURES CONTENTS

Figure 1.1. Intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment
Figure 1.2. HPA axis regulation in pregnancy20
Figure 1.3. Maternal psychological stress during pregnancy can affect fetal limbic system
development
Figure 1.4. Neurodevelopment during the prenatal period
Figure 1.5. Overview of dissertation studies
Figure 2.1. Functional Random Forest
Figure 2.2. Functional Random Forest identified distinct subgroups related to the
magnitude of maternal stress
Figure 2.3. Functional Random Forest identified distinct subgroups
Figure 2.4. Infant negative affect growth has an inverted u-shaped trajectory
Figure 2.5. Maternal stress correlation-based trajectories are similar between primary and
replication cohorts70
Figure 2.6. Maternal perinatal stress trajectory clusters are associated with neonatal infant
amygdala connectivity74
Figure 2.7. UCI study cohort diagram
Figure 2.8. Maternal psychological stress mean scores by magnitude clusters across
pregnancy
Figure 2.9. Maternal psychological stress mean scores by trajectory clusters across
pregnancy

Figure 3.1. Infant cortisol reactivity during the Strange Situation Paradigm
Figure 3.2. Left and right neonatal amygdala functional connectivity133
Figure 3.3. Neonatal left amygdala to dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (LA-dACC)
mediates between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and mother-infant
attachment security
Figure 4.1. Left and right neonatal hippocampal functional connectivity177
Figure 4.2. Individual hippocampi reflecting functional network participation177
Figure 4.3. Medial temporal lobe surface probabilistic maps179
Figure 4.4. Medial temporal lobe volume probabilistic maps
Figure 4.5. Posterior hippocampal cluster identified with template matching approach.179

TABLE CONTENTS

Table 2.1. Demographic data for University of California, Irvine cohort. 51
Table 2.2. Demographic data for FinnBrain data, replication cohort. 52
Table 2.3. Correlations for stress, anxiety, and depression measures at each time point53
Table 2.4. Magnitude clusters are significantly associated with a history of maternal
childhood maltreatment76
Table 2.5. Overall modularity for magnitude clusters by density
Table 2.6. Community modularity for magnitude clusters by density. 89
Table 2.7. Overall modularity for trajectory clusters by density. 90
Table 2.8. Community modularity for trajectory clusters by density.
Table 2.9. Maternal psychological stress by magnitude clusters in early pregnancy91
Table 2.10. Maternal psychological stress by magnitude clusters in mid pregnancy91
Table 2.11. Maternal psychological stress by magnitude clusters in in late pregnancy91
Table 2.12. Maternal psychological stress by magnitude clusters in early postpartum91
Table 2.13. Maternal psychological stress by trajectory clusters in early pregnancy92
Table 2.14. Maternal psychological stress by trajectory clusters in mid pregnancy92
Table 2.15. Maternal psychological stress by trajectory clusters in late pregnancy
Table 2.16. Maternal psychological stress by trajectory clusters in early postpartum93
Table 2.17. Replication Cohort: Maternal anxiety and depression by trajectory clusters in
early pregnancy

Table 2.18. Replication Cohort: Maternal anxiety and depression by trajectory clusters in
mid pregnancy94
Table 2.19. Replication Cohort: Maternal anxiety and depression by trajectory clusters in
late pregnancy
Table 2.20. Annual income, obstetric risk, and infant sex do not predict the parameters of
infant negative affect development
Table 2.21. Infant negative affect growth reflects significant individual differences and is
associated with maternal perinatal stress clusters
Table 2.22. Infant negative affect growth and maternal psychological stress in early
pregnancy101
Table 2.23. Infant negative affect growth and maternal psychological stress in mid
pregnancy101
Table 2.24. Infant negative affect growth and maternal psychological stress in late
pregnancy
Table 2.25. Fit indices for maternal prenatal composite stress scores and infant negative
affect growth with time-varying covariates of maternal postnatal stress102
Table 2.26. Perinatal composite stress scores at single time points during pregnancy do
not predict neonatal functional connectivity103
Table 2.27. Trajectory clusters are not significantly associated with a history of maternal
childhood maltreatment
Table 2.28. Comparison of demographics for full sample versus sample excluded from
Functional Random Forest analysis

Table 2.29. Comparison of demographics for analytic sample versus sample excluded
from trajectory clusters
Table 2.30. Comparison of demographics for analytic sample versus sample excluded
from MRI scan
Table 2.31. Comparison of demographics for analytic sample versus sample excluded
from infant negative affect growth models112
Table 3.1. Demographics for study cohort
Table 3.2. Mean (SD) scores on the CTQ scales and number (%) of women meeting cut-
off for maltreatment classification
Table 3.3. Attachment classification on the Strange Situation Paradigm for mother-infant
dyads at 12 months of infant age
Table 3.4. Mean (SD) of infant cortisol levels and age at collection
Table 3.5. Maternal childhood maltreatment history is associated with neonatal amygdala
connectivity
Table 3.6. Demographic data for mother-infant dyads included and excluded from the
imaging sample148
Table 3.7. Comparison of demographics for sample with and without attachment
classification
Table 3.8. Comparison of demographics for sample with and without cortisol reactivity
data152
Table 4.1. Demographic data for University of California, Irvine cohort (n=64)163

Table 4.2. Demographic data for Adolescent Cohort.	165
Table 4.3. Maternal childhood maltreatment history is associated with neonatal	
hippocampal connectivity.	174

ABBREVIATIONS

11B-HSD – 11B-Hydroxysteroid-	CM – childhood maltreatment
Dehydrogenase	CRH – corticotropin releasing hormone
ABCD – Adolescent Brain Cognitive	CTQ – Childhood Trauma
ACC – anterior cingulate cortex	Questionnaire
ACE – Adverse Childhood Experiences	dACC – dorsal anterior cingulate cortex
AC-PC – anterior commissure -	Development
posterior commissure	df – degrees of freedom
ACTH – adrenocorticotropic hormone	DMN – default mode network
aI – anterior insula	DSM – Diagnostic and Statistical
AIC – Akaike Information Criterion	Manual of Mental Disorders
Am-aI – amygdala to anterior insula	DTI – diffusion tensor imaging
Am-vmPFC – amygdala to ventromedial	ECBQ – Early Childhood Behavior
prefrontal cortex	Questionnaire-Short Form
ANCOVA – analysis of covariance	ELISA – enzyme-linked immunosorbent
ANOVA – analysis of variance	assay
ANTs – Advanced Normalization Tools	EPDS – Edinburgh Postnatal Depression
Approximation	Scale
BOLD – blood oxygen level dependent	EPI – echoplanar imaging
CESD – Center for Epidemiological	FD – frame-wise displacement
Studies Depression Scale	FDA – Functional Data Analysis
CFI – Comparative Fit Index	FIML – Full Information Maximum
CI – confidence interval	Likelihood

FIRMM – Frame-wise Integrated Real-	MRI – magnetic resonance imaging
time MRI Monitor	MTL – medial temporal lobe
fMRI – functional magnetic resonance	N – number
imaging	NA – negative affect
FOV – field of view	NIH – National Institutes of Health
FRF – Functional Random Forest	ns – non-significant
GA – gestational age	PALM – Permutation Analysis of Linear
GAP-43 – Growth Associated Protein 43	Models
GM/WM – gray matter/white matter	pCRH – placental corticotropin releasing
HCP – Human Connectome Project	hormone
HPA – hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal	PSS – Perceived Stress Scale
IBQ – Infant Behavior Questionnaire-	PTSD – Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
Revised	RF – Random Forest
IL-6 – Interleukin-6	RMSEA – Root Mean Square Error of
LA-dACC – left amygdala to dorsal	ROI – region of interest
anterior cingulate cortex	RSA – respiratory sinus arrhythmia
LGM – latent growth model	rs-fcMRI – Resting-state functional
M – mean	connectivity magnetic resonance
mHz – millihertz	imaging
MNI – Montreal Neurological Institute	SCL-90 – Symptom Checklist
MP-RAGE – Magnetization Prepared	SD – standard deviation
Rapid Acquisition Gradient Echo	SE – standard error
MPS – maternal perinatal stress	Sig – Significance

- SSP Strange Situation Paradigm
- STAI State-Trait Anxiety Inventory
- t0 early pregnancy time point
- t1 mid pregnancy time point
- T1w-T1-weighted
- t2 late pregnancy time point
- T2w-T2-weighted
- TE echo time
- TLI Tucker-Lewis index
- TR repetition time
- UCI University of California, Irvine
- USD United States dollar
- vmPFC ventromedial prefrontal cortex

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Perhaps, ironically, I found this section the most difficult to write. I received so much support during graduate school from so many incredible people during my journey that I am afraid of failing to acknowledge everyone's contributions adequately. No one does this alone.

First, I want to acknowledge Dr. Damien Fair for his patience mentoring me. I am most fulfilled when I am doing a little bit of everything, which I realize can be concerning for a mentor. When I proposed the initial studies to Damien and suggested combining machine learning with maternal psychological stress, neonatal MRI, longitudinal statistical methods, and infant behavioral outcomes, and then adding childhood maltreatment; he wisely cautioned me about taking on too many distinct scientific topics. I will be forever grateful, that despite some hesitation, he allowed me to pursue and integrate these topics. I am grateful for the incredible lab you created, filled with some of the best scientific minds in the country. I will forever be thankful for the support of the Developmental Cognition and Neuroimaging (DCAN) Lab during this process.

Dr. Alice Graham was the first person from the lab I worked with at OHSU. As a medical student, I joined a journal club that she led. Witnessing her extensive knowledge, clinical expertise, and critical thinking around childhood trauma and early life adversity, inspired me to join the lab. I will be forever grateful to work with and learn from her. I am indebted to her for her support throughout this process both scientifically and personally. I am glad to call her a mentor.

XV

I met Dr. Eric Feczko my first day in lab when I was seated next to him. It was the opening day of baseball season and we connected over our shared love of the game. I knew then that he would be a great friend and collaborator. As an early student, I looked for excuses to work with him and jumped at the opportunity to beta test the Functional Random Forest. I am grateful for his patient instruction and hope we continue to collaborate in the future.

Being grateful for the patient support of my colleagues will be a theme in these acknowledgments. I knew almost nothing about computing when I started and was regularly saved by Eric Earl, Anders Perrone, Darrick Sturgeon, Emma Schifsky, and Anthony Galassi. Dr. Oscar Miranda-Dominguez patiently worked with me, on multiple occasions, to develop the code for analyses and figures. He is an exceptional teacher and I am grateful for the opportunity to work with him. Kathy Snider and I spent months together working on the infant processing pipeline, testing and refining, retesting, modifying, and testing again. I am grateful for that collaboration and her patience and grace throughout the process. Although we did not work together, I am thankful to Anita Rudolph for our tamale Tuesdays and the chance to connect over shared passions.

Dr. Robert Hermosillo was invaluable to the completion of Aim 3. He is a skilled teacher who meets you where you are without judgment and manages to simultaneously educate and encourage. I looked forward to working with him on projects and hope to continue to collaborate in the future.

I am especially grateful for our infant team! The weekly meetings with Olivia Doyle, Elina Thomas, Luci Moore, Alice Graham, Kathy Snider, Madeleine Allen, and Sam Carpenter were always a pleasure. I loved sharing an office with Olivia! She was a

xvi

huge support and I do not know that I could have gotten through the fall of 2019 without her. Elina was a huge help to me as a new student in the lab learning about neonatal imaging and analysis. I am also thankful for the support of the graduate students in the lab: Sam Papadakis, AJ Mitchell, Bene Ramirez, and Elina Thomas. I am grateful for the chance to work with you all and witness your brilliance. Thank you for helping me with resources for my NRSA and dissertation. It is true that no one can do this alone.

One of the aspects of the DCAN Lab that I most appreciate is our collaborations. I am indebted to the mentorship and support of Dr. Claudia Buss. She pushed my scientific thinking and writing. She also shared the data set at the core of the work presented in this dissertation. None of this would have been possible without her and her team. Dr. Nora Moog and Dr. Jerod Rasmussen provided support and guidance at key points during these studies. Thank you for your help! The collaboration with the FinnBrain Study was a special treat. I loved working with Dr. Saara Nolvi and appreciated the helpful feedback from Dr. Hans Karlsson during the writing process.

Special thanks to the Department of Behavioral and Systems Neuroscience! I kept you busy! As an MD/PhD student, I showed up several months early and on a completely different schedule. You always found a way to make sure everything worked out! Special thanks to Jeanne Sutter, Kris Thomason, Dr. Garet Lahvis, Dr. Andrey Ryabinin, Dr. Marina Guizzetti, Laura Young, Nicole Ernst, and Erica Hankins Regalo. Thank you to Dr. Sarah Feldstein Ewing for her support during the Reprint Exam and the kind words following the exam. My life was enriched by the students too. Huge thanks to Eileen Torres, Nadir Balba, Sami Friedrich, Rebecca Hood, Brittany Alperin, Elina Thomas, John Mootz, Sydney Boutros, AJ Mitchell, Andrea Hardin, Dave Jacobs, Sheena Potretzke, and Scott Jones. You shared resources, watched practiced talks, and supported me at every step. Special thanks to my closest friend during this process, without whom, I would not be here: Dakota Kliamovich. You are one of the most brilliant people I have ever met. I am grateful to know you as a scientist and as a friend. Here's to singing, coffee, and pizza celebrations. May there be more of all of these things in the years to come.

I want to especially thank Dr. Deb Finn who patiently read my NRSA, my qualifying exam, and my dissertation. She provided useful and meaningful feedback that was always accompanied by a positive word. I knew I could reach out to her at any point during graduate school and will be forever thankful for her support.

I have the greatest respect for the members of my Dissertation Advisory Committee. I wanted Dr. Bonnie Nagel as chair because of my deep respect for her work as a scientist. I have admired her since before starting medical school. I am grateful for her support personally and scientifically during this process. I met Dr. Kristen Mackiewicz Seghete when I interviewed and she is one of the reasons I came to OHSU. I hope to continue to collaborate with her in the future. Dr. Suzanne Mitchell supported me since day one. I remember interviewing with her as well. She served on my Scientific Oversight Committee and has provided incredible guidance at every stage of my program. I value her insight and am grateful to know her. I remember when I first saw Dr. Hanna Gustafsson present her work at OHSU. I was excited to meet her and hoped to work with her in the future. I hope this is the start of future collaborations. Thank you all for your careful review of my work and help throughout this process.

xviii

Surviving graduate school would have been impossible without the support of my MSTP family. Johanna Colgrove and Alexis Young have helped me navigate OHSU throughout my time here. Drs. Shannon McWeeney, Deborah Lewinsohn, and Suzanne Mitchell helped prepare me for graduate school and provided invaluable guidance. I am grateful for the friendship and resources from the student community. Special thanks to John Butler, Rachel Drake, Jim Goodman, Katie Lebold, Katy Michaelis, Anjali Narayanan, and Nichole Tyler. I would not be here without Ali Pincus and Sweta Adhikary. I am grateful for your encouragement, friendship, and support. There were dark times and you were always there, even when I was not capable of asking for help. Thank you.

Dr. David Jacoby, you have been a resource to me every step of the way from imposter syndrome in medical school to various emergencies in graduate school. I would not be here without you. A special thanks to you and Dr. Allison Fryer for creating a family for me in Portland and being there to celebrate and to grieve. Words will always fail to capture the extent of my gratitude.

I had early grant support during graduate school from the OSLER TL1 Program. Special thanks to Dr. Cynthia Morris, Dr. Allison Fryer, and Karen McCracken for their support and guidance as part of that program. Special thanks to the ARCS community, especially Adrianne, Dianne, Lee, and John. You helped me get here.

My friends in Med19 helped me survive medical school. I will always be grateful for Alex Hernandez, Alex Chu, Nattaly Greene, Kelsi Chan, Maria Chuop, Mara Rosenberg, and Brianna Ennis. You were family here and I am so excited to see what you will accomplish.

xix

I also had the support of several wonderful faculty in the School of Medicine. Dr. Peter Sullivan, you are my favorite professor and one of the first friends I made at OHSU. I am in awe of your clinical knowledge and skill, and grateful to consider you a friend. Dr. Phil Copenhaver, thank you for easing my transition to graduate school and encouraging me when I felt completely out of my depth. I appreciate your support and wisdom. Dr. Tracy Bumsted, I am grateful for your guidance, wisdom, advice, and friendship throughout this process. Dr. Amy Garcia, thank you for being the support I needed on the hardest days. Dr. Leslie Kahl, you were there when I needed you and I will always be grateful for you. Dr. Lisa Schimmel, you helped me consider this work at a deeper level. Thank you for your insights and directness. Dr. Keith Cheng and Dr. Teri Pettersen for mentoring me in my clinical thinking, expanding my network here in Oregon, and being a support system for me here.

Dr. Jackie Wirz, we both know that I am here, defending, in large part because of you. I knew I could survive graduate school because you were there for every bump, every failure, and every fall. You were there for the tears and the celebrations. I am grateful to know you and for your support.

Last, but not least, huge thanks to my friends and family, who have seen less and less of me over the years of this program. Thank you to Dr. Jennifer Havens for inspiring this project by introducing me to the world of child and adolescent psychiatry and trauma research. You believed in me when I did not believe in myself and forever changed the trajectory of my life. I will be forever grateful to know you and have you in my life. Thank you to you and Barbara Cicatelli for creating a home for me in New York City. My heart fills to bursting when I return to NYC because of the home you have created for me there. Love you both. Thanks to Dr. Alan Schlechter, Dr. Dinara Amanbekova, Dr. Micheal Tunik, Dr. Adriana Manikian, Bonni Tunik, and Dr. Adrienne Alaie for your support as I navigated pre-medical coursework, research positions, applications (multiple times!), and graduate school. You all hold a special place in my heart. To my brunch crew: Lenge, Catharine, Stuart, Ingrid, John, and Katherine M. Thank you for putting up with me all of these years, especially as I have become increasingly non-communicative (I would tell you that it will get better, but I don't think that is true)! Special thanks to John—you knew what I was getting into, warned me, and then helped me through it. Thank you to Mary Stuart and Alison for your support and encouragement during this process and over the years, for sharing your home, and for your welcoming me into your family. I am grateful for you both. Katherine, you have been there since high school and witnessed all of the ups and downs. Thank you for your incredible support on this journey. During the very darkest times, you were by my side—love you.

Huge thanks to Stuart Sierra, Lenge Hong, Teri Pettersen, Jonathan Gilbert, and Karin Lewicki who reviewed chapters for spelling and grammar errors at the very end when I could no longer bear to look at this document.

Finally, thank you to my family. Mom, thank you for being there from the very beginning and always encouraging me in school, for putting up with microscopes in the house, and my many, many projects. I am sure you never expected I would spend this much time in school. Richard, I am truly glad you are part of the family. Thank you for your support and encouragement. Thank you to Rick and Barbara, Bonnie and Richard, and Riki. I am so glad to know you and have you in my life. You enrich my life by being in it and you helped me to feel whole. Thank you, Pete. I have enjoyed getting to know you better. We helped each other through this year and, I imagine, we will help each other through the next one. I love you all.

Special thanks to my Dad. I rushed to finish this PhD, hoping you could see me defend and graduate. I skipped vacations and long weekends because I wanted you to be here for this moment. I thought if I worked fast enough, I could make that happen. I worry that I made the wrong decision, that I should have spent more time with you. I miss you daily and terribly. I love you so much. I hope that you knew that.

I said at the start of this that no one does this alone. Please consider all of the names listed above as evidence of the incredible support I have received. One potential limitation is that I have certainly left off a significant number of names. Importantly, this limitation only strengthens the hypothesis that no one does this alone.

ABSTRACT

Childhood maltreatment, such as abuse or neglect, is a pervasive public health problem with lasting consequences for psychological well-being and overall health across the lifespan. There is evidence that the negative effects of childhood maltreatment are not limited to a single individual and may be transmitted across generations, increasing the risk for behavioral and psychiatric disorders in the offspring. The existing paradigm posits that the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment primarily occurs in the context of postnatal maternal mood and maternal-infant attachment; however, there is growing evidence that the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment may also occur during the prenatal period.

The goal of the present work is to increase our understanding of the intergenerational transmission of maternal childhood maltreatment by characterizing potential mechanisms, such as maternal psychological stress during pregnancy, and offspring neurobiological and socioemotional outcomes. Maternal childhood maltreatment history may influence offspring development in utero via stress-sensitive aspects of gestational biology, representing a potential pathway for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment. Systems undergoing rapid development are particularly susceptible to the influence of environmental factors such as stress; therefore, we examined the developing limbic system shortly after birth to distinguish between the influences of prenatal versus postnatal factors. Maternal psychological stress during pregnancy is potentially a key mechanism for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment; thus, Study 1 characterized the longitudinal trajectories of maternal stress during pregnancy using a novel approach, the Functional Random Forest,

xxiii

in two independent mother-infant cohorts. The resulting clusters, characterized by differences in patterns of maternal stress, were examined in relation to neonatal amygdala functional connectivity, infant negative affect development, and maternal childhood maltreatment history. Study 2 examined the association between maternal childhood maltreatment history and neonatal amygdala functional connectivity, infant attachment security, and infant cortisol reactivity. Study 3 expanded on the investigation of the limbic system by examining the association between neonatal hippocampal functional connectivity and maternal childhood maltreatment history. Recognizing the heterogeneity of the hippocampus, a template matching approach with a large adolescent cohort was used to empirically segment the hippocampus.

The results of these studies demonstrate the importance of characterizing the longitudinal heterogeneity of maternal psychological stress during pregnancy and its association with infant brain and negative affect development. They also suggest a neural phenotype related to the limbic system observable in offspring of mothers with a greater history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood. In the present work, stronger amygdala to dorsal anterior cingulate cortex functional connectivity was associated with insecure attachment in the offspring of mothers with a history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood. This association suggests a potential prenatal, instead of postnatal, role for maternal childhood maltreatment in infant attachment security. Finally, the findings suggest that the intrauterine period is important for the intergenerational transmission of the effects of maternal childhood maltreatment. Understanding the heterogeneity of maternal psychological stress, the influence of preconceptional factors such as exposure to maltreatment during childhood, and their effect on infant

xxiv

neurobiological and socioemotional development is critical to targeting screening and interventions.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Childhood Maltreatment

Childhood maltreatment, resulting from experiences such as abuse and neglect, is a pervasive public health problem with devastating and lasting consequences for psychological and physical well-being (D'andrea, Ford, Stolbach, Spinazzola, & Van Der Kolk, 2012; Felitti et al., 1998; Grant, Cannistraci, Hollon, Gore, & Shelton, 2011; Marusak, Martin, Etkin, & Thomason, 2015; van Nierop et al., 2018). Beyond the personal costs, the economic costs of childhood maltreatment are substantial. Child Protective Services direct expenditures are over \$30 billion annually (Doyle & Aizer, 2018). Peterson and colleagues (2018) estimated the per-victim lifetime cost and economic burden of childhood maltreatment per year in the United States, which included all measurable morbidity/mortality and intangible costs (grief, suffering). They estimated \$830,928 (2015 USD) for the per-victim lifetime cost for nonfatal child maltreatment and an annual United States economic burden of \$428 billion to \$2.0 trillion for nonfatal child maltreatment, depending on the source used to estimate the incidence (Peterson, Florence, & Klevens, 2018). Van der Kolk describes child abuse as the "gravest and most costly public health issue in the United States" (Van der Kolk, 2015). He goes on to highlight the fact that the daily reality of children experiencing maltreatment has not changed significantly despite the 1998 Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study, which raised public awareness of both the lasting effects of maltreatment and its prevalence (Van der Kolk, 2015). Despite the extensive evidence of lasting personal and economic effects, childhood maltreatment remains a public health challenge that needs to be addressed.

While the problem of childhood maltreatment is not new, it is often unacknowledged and tends to shift in and out of public awareness. The first case in the United States to receive national, and even international, attention was that of Mary Ellen Wilson in 1874. Prior to her case, there were no laws in place to protect children, and limited precedent for government interference in family matters. Since there were no laws protecting children at the time, Etta Wheeler, a social worker, appealed to the founder of the American Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals asking if the provisions that protected animals from mistreatment might be extended to children. Mary Ellen Wilson's case increased national awareness about child abuse, led to the founding of the Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children, and started the movement for children's rights in the United States (Shelman & Lazoritz, 2005).

Despite this early recognition of child maltreatment as an important problem requiring advocacy and external, non-familial intervention; it was not until the 1960s, and the publication of the article "The Battered Child Syndrome" by Henry Kempe and colleagues, which described abuse cases based on a nationwide survey of hospitals, that childhood abuse gained widespread and consistent awareness (Oates, 2015). The legislation that followed as a direct result of this paper led to mandated reporting of child abuse in all 50 states (Howard Dubowitz & Newberger, 1989). During this time, the diagnosis of battered-child syndrome was associated with a perpetrator-victim view of the etiology of child abuse, blaming disturbed parents and initially focusing treatment efforts on the parents instead of the child (Howard Dubowitz & Newberger, 1989). The experiences recognized as childhood maltreatment have continued to evolve. During the 1970s, the definition of abuse was expanded to include emotional injury and neglect (Howard Dubowitz & Newberger, 1989).

More recently, as the immediate and long-term negative consequences of child maltreatment have been better characterized and understood, some clinicians and researchers have advocated for the inclusion of developmental trauma disorder as a formal diagnosis in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) (Schmid, Petermann, & Fegert, 2013; Van Der Kolk, 2017). Although the diagnosis of developmental trauma disorder was ultimately not included in the most recent revision of the DSM, the consideration of a diagnosis based on childhood maltreatment is a considerable step forward in the field.

Despite being a widely recognized public health problem with substantial and lasting individual effects, the prevalence of childhood maltreatment is difficult to determine accurately. Childhood maltreatment is notoriously under-reported (Giovannoni, 1989). Even when given the opportunity to disclose a history of childhood maltreatment in a clinical or research setting, individuals may not report their experiences. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study reported that 7.9% of respondents to the ACE questionnaire did not complete the question about childhood sexual abuse (Felitti et al., 1998). Lack of routine screening and under-reporting make it difficult to estimate the true prevalence of childhood maltreatment.

Despite these difficulties, attempts have been made to estimate the prevalence of childhood maltreatment. A recent systematic review of self-reported lifetime childhood maltreatment prevalence in North America reported the following median rates: (1) physical abuse (males: 24.3%, females: 21.7%); (2) sexual abuse (males: 14.1%; females:

20.4%); (3) emotional abuse (males: 13.8%, females: 28.4%); and (4) neglect (males: 16.6%, females: 40.5%). Within this review, the authors combined emotional and physical neglect (Moody, Cannings-John, Hood, Kemp, & Robling, 2018). Importantly, they also found that the lifetime prevalence rates of sexual abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect were all higher in women. In the United States, approximately 7.8 million cases of alleged childhood maltreatment are reported to Child Protective Services annually. Of the cases investigated in 2018, 678,000 children were found to be experiencing abuse or neglect, and girls were found to have higher rates of victimization compared to boys (9.6 per 1,000 girls vs. 8.7 per 1,000 boys) (Department of Health, Services Administration for Children, Administration on Children Youth, & Children, 2018). The elevated rates of several types of childhood maltreatment observed in women is important as we consider the potential for intergenerational effects based on the maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood.

Another key factor making it difficult to estimate the prevalence of childhood maltreatment is the fact that the definitions of maltreatment vary widely depending on the setting or context; for example, the medical definition of maltreatment differs from the legal definition (Giovannoni, 1989). There is also considerable variability in how childhood maltreatment is defined and operationalized in the literature (Humphreys et al., 2020). Within this dissertation, childhood maltreatment will include physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional abuse, physical neglect, and emotional neglect. In order to maintain consistency, the definitions of these maltreatment types will reflect how they are operationalized by the measure used to assess them in the present work, the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) is a validated,

reliable, and widely used measure (Humphreys et al., 2020). The CTQ includes five domains of childhood maltreatment: (1) Physical abuse: "bodily assaults on a child by an adult or older person that posed a risk of or resulted in injury;" (2) Sexual abuse: "sexual contact or conduct between a child younger than 18 years of age and an adult or older person;" (3) Emotional abuse: "verbal assaults on a child's sense of worth or well-being or any humiliating or demeaning behavior directed toward a child by an adult or older person;" (4) Physical neglect: "the failure of caretakers to provide for a child's basic physical needs, including food, shelter, clothing, safety, and health care," and poor parental supervision in those cases where it jeopardized the child's safety; and (5) Emotional neglect: "the failure of caretakers to meet children's basic emotional and psychological needs, including love, belonging, nurturance, and support." (David P. Bernstein et al., 2003). These domains were selected for inclusion in the present work because there is substantial evidence that they are associated with negative physical and mental health outcomes across the lifespan and across generations (D 'andrea et al., 2012; Felitti et al., 1998; Grant et al., 2011; Marusak et al., 2015; Noll, Trickett, Harris, & Putnam, 2009; van Nierop et al., 2018).

Previous work in the area of childhood maltreatment has often focused on the distinct contributions of a specific type of maltreatment on outcomes, failing to consider that abuse and neglect do not occur in isolation (Higgins & McCabe, 2001; Humphreys et al., 2020). In a review of studies considering multiple types of childhood maltreatment, Higgins and McCabe (2001) found that maltreatment types frequently co-occur (Higgins & McCabe, 2001). They also found that multi-type maltreatment was associated with greater impairment than a single maltreatment type (Higgins & McCabe, 2001). The

cumulative effects of a mother's preconceptional exposures have the potential to affect her child; therefore, the combination of maltreatment exposures, and not the specific type of exposure, will be considered in this dissertation.

Long-term Consequences of Childhood Maltreatment

Childhood maltreatment has long-lasting effects on overall health across the lifespan. Broadly, these effects include alterations in affective and cognitive processing, changes in physiological and behavioral states, heightened stress responsivity (Grant et al., 2011; Marusak et al., 2015; van Nierop et al., 2018), increased psychological stress (D'andrea et al., 2012; Felitti et al., 1998), poorer health outcomes (Anda et al., 2006; Felitti et al., 1998; Min, Minnes, Kim, & Singer, 2013; Springer, Sheridan, Kuo, & Carnes, 2003), increased risk for psychopathology (Afifi, Boman, Fleisher, & Sareen, 2009; Duncan, Saunders, Kilpatrick, Hanson, & Resnick, 1996; Edwards, Holden, Felitti, & Anda, 2003; Felitti et al., 1998; C. Heim, Newport, Mletzko, Miller, & Nemeroff, 2008; C. Heim, Shugart, Craighead, & Nemeroff, 2010; Min, Minnes, et al., 2013; Navalta, Polcari, Webster, Boghossian, & Teicher, 2006; Shonk & Cicchetti, 2001; Springer et al., 2003; Teicher & Samson, 2013), and increased risk for perinatal psychopathology (Barrios et al., 2015; Bouvette-Turcot et al., 2017; Choi et al., 2015; Gartland et al., 2016; Lara, Navarrete, Nieto, & Le, 2015; Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Mezey, Bacchus, Bewley, & White, 2005; Robertson-Blackmore et al., 2013). The longterm effects are thought to be the result of maltreatment-related alterations to neurobiology, stress physiology, and immunity (Buss et al., 2017). There is extensive evidence that the brain, and more specifically, the limbic system and prefrontal cortex, is

altered in the setting of exposure to maltreatment during childhood (Gerritsen et al., 2017; Hodel, 2018; Teicher & Samson, 2016; Moriah E. Thomason et al., 2014). Previous studies have found associations between stronger amygdala connectivity (Jedd et al., 2015), greater amygdala responsiveness (Dannlowski et al., 2012), and exposure to childhood maltreatment. Alterations to the limbic system and prefrontal cortex related to early environmental exposures have been observed in childhood and adolescence, and have been shown to persist into adulthood (Hodel, 2018).

Importantly, one of the areas altered with exposure to childhood maltreatment is the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which is integral to the regulation of stress responses (Gerritsen et al., 2017; C. Heim et al., 2008, 2010). The alterations to the HPA axis vary, depending on the type and timing of maltreatment (C. Heim et al., 2008, 2010; Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006; Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004). Maltreatment-related alterations to the HPA axis may result in hyper or hypo-responsivity to stress (C. Heim et al., 2008, 2010; Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006; Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004). These alterations potentially play a role in the increased risk for psychopathology (Buss et al., 2017; C. Heim et al., 2008). Physiologically, a history of childhood maltreatment is associated with altered basal cortisol levels (Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006), decreased glucocorticoid receptor sensitivity (Buss et al., 2017), and altered adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) responsivity to psychological stress (Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006). Dysregulation of the HPA axis ultimately affects how an individual reacts and responds to stressful situations throughout their life.

1.2 Intergenerational Transmission of Childhood Maltreatment

There is growing evidence that the negative effects of childhood maltreatment are not limited to a single individual and may be transmitted across generations, increasing the risk for behavioral and psychiatric disorders in the offspring (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017; Collishaw, Dunn, O'Connor, Golding, & Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children Study Team, 2007; H Dubowitz et al., 2001; Folger et al., 2017; Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Min, Singer, Minnes, Kim, & Short, 2013; Miranda, de la Osa, Granero, & Ezpeleta, 2011; Moog et al., 2018; Noll et al., 2009; Dominic T Plant, Pawlby, Pariante, & Jones, 2017; Sun et al., 2017; Thompson, 2007). Gray and colleagues (2017) found that respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA), a marker for self-regulation linked to mental health outcomes, is affected by both maternal childhood adverse experiences and psychological stress during pregnancy. They found that maternal childhood adversity was associated with a lower infant RSA set point, while psychological stress during pregnancy was associated with failure to recover following a stressor (Gray, Jones, Theall, Glackin, & Drury, 2017). Their study suggests distinct intergenerational effects related to a maternal history of childhood adversity that are relevant to offspring biobehavioral outcomes.

Children of maltreated mothers demonstrate behavioral and psychiatric disorders at all ages from early childhood through adolescence even when controlling for potential maternal, familial, and child confounding factors (Dominic T Plant et al., 2017). The timing of abuse matters as well; specifically, there is evidence that the association between a maternal history of physical victimization and offspring behavioral outcomes is more pronounced when the victimization occurred during the mothers' childhood compared with victimization experienced in adulthood (Thompson, 2007).

There are numerous theoretical frameworks describing the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment. These frameworks include transmission via negative environmental factors, increased offspring exposure to stress and adversity, perpetuation of maltreatment by a maltreated parent, inheritance of genomic/epigenomic alterations, influence of maternal-placental-fetal gestational biology, and the interaction of all of these factors (Dominic T Plant et al., 2017; Su, D'Arcy, & Meng, 2020). The majority of theoretical frameworks focus on the role of the postnatal environment, which is the prevailing paradigm, and an important and relevant pathway for transmission. Given the susceptibility of the developing fetus to environmental cues such as stress, the prenatal period also plays an important role in the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment (see **Figure 1.1**).

There is growing evidence demonstrating that the effects of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood are already present at the time of offspring birth, highlighting the importance of considering how the environment during pregnancy may affect the developing fetus and serve as an important route of intergenerational transmission. A maternal history of maltreatment during childhood is associated with adverse birth outcomes such as low birthweight (Blackmore et al., 2016; J. Seng, Low, Sperlich, Ronis, & Liberzon, 2011; M. V. Smith, Gotman, & Yonkers, 2016) and preterm birth (Noll et al., 2009; J. Seng et al., 2011; M. V. Smith et al., 2016). A recent study by Moog and colleagues (2018) showed that maternal childhood maltreatment was associated with global differences in offspring cortical gray matter and reduced intracranial volume that was independent of numerous potential confounding variables (Moog et al., 2018). Hendrix and colleagues (2020) found that a maternal history of emotional neglect during childhood was associated with stronger offspring amygdala functional connectivity to the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (dACC) and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC) after controlling for potential confounds including maternal stress during pregnancy (Hendrix et al., 2020). Alterations in infant neurodevelopment may eventually explain the observed relationship between maternal maltreatment during childhood and increased developmental risk (Folger et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2017), emotional and behavioral dysregulation (Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Dominic T Plant et al., 2017), and negative emotionality (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017) in offspring.

A few studies have attempted to examine the interaction between maternal maltreatment during childhood and maternal stress during pregnancy. Enlow and colleagues (2017) looked at the relationship between maternal history of exposure to trauma and domains of infant negative affect. They found that the relationship between maternal history of exposure to trauma and infant sadness was independent of maternal exposure to stress during pregnancy; however, the level of cortisol exposure during the third trimester modified the relationship between maternal exposure to trauma and infant reactivity suggesting an interaction between maternal stress during pregnancy and exposure to maltreatment during childhood (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017). Hendrix and colleagues (2020) found that the relationship between a maternal history of emotional neglect during childhood and stronger offspring amygdala to dorsal anterior cingulate cortex and ventromedial prefrontal cortex functional connectivity was only significant after controlling for maternal stress during pregnancy (Hendrix et al., 2020).

Taken together, these studies suggest that the maternal environment during pregnancy, as influenced by preconceptional exposure to childhood maltreatment, directly affects the health and development of the fetus. The existing paradigm posits that the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment occurs during the postnatal period in the context of maternal-infant attachment and maternal mood. These studies provide support for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment during pregnancy.


Figure 1.1. Intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment. The transmission of a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood may occur during the prenatal or postnatal periods of offspring development. The long-term physical and mental health consequences of maltreatment will likely persist through pregnancy, altering maternal-placental-fetal biology. Increased maternal psychological stress associated with pregnancy and potential reminders of past abuse may exacerbate existing alterations to endocrine, stress, and immune responses further influencing fetal development. The developing fetal brain is especially sensitive to mediators of stress such as cortisol. Maternal maltreatment history has been associated with increased risk of anxiety, stress, and depression; reduced sensitivity and responsivity to the infant; and attachment insecurity during the postnatal period. The combination of prenatal and postnatal factors play a role in offspring neurobiological and socioemotional development potentially increasing offspring risk or sensitivity for adverse outcomes.

Maternal Exposure to Childhood Maltreatment and Stress During

Pregnancy

Maternal psychological stress during pregnancy, and its associated biological effects, is likely a key mechanism for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment. A history of childhood maltreatment has been shown to increase the odds of antenatal depression (Barrios et al., 2015; Bouvette-Turcot et al., 2017; Choi et al., 2015; Gartland et al., 2016; Lara et al., 2015; Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Mezey et al., 2005; D. T. Plant, Barker, Waters, Pawlby, & Pariante, 2013; Robertson-Blackmore et al., 2013) in a dose-dependent manner (Blackmore et al., 2016), even when accounting for sociodemographic and psychosocial factors (Choi & Sikkema, 2016). Perinatal anxiety (Gartland et al., 2016; Lara et al., 2015), poor mental health, and intimate partner violence during pregnancy (Gartland et al., 2016; Huth-Bocks, Krause, Ahlfs-Dunn, Gallagher, & Scott, 2013) are also associated with a maternal history of childhood maltreatment. Several studies suggest that pregnancy itself may trigger reminders of relational trauma (Huth-Bocks et al., 2013), be re-traumatizing (Lev-Wiesel, Daphna-Tekoah, & Hallak, 2009; Mezey et al., 2005; Montgomery, 2013), and increase symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Choi et al., 2015; Lev-Wiesel et al., 2009; Mezey et al., 2005). Maternal childhood maltreatment is also related to sleep disturbances (Gelaye et al., 2015; Gustafsson, Doyle, Gilchrist, Werner, & Monk, 2017), poor maternal health (Barrios et al., 2015), and obstetric risk behaviors (J. S. Seng, Low, Sperlich, Ronis, & Liberzon, 2009); which may contribute to maternal psychological stress during pregnancy.

1.3 Developmental Programming

The maternal preconceptional state represents the influences of environmental and genetic/epigenetic interactions on psychological, biological, and biophysical systems, and behavior. In the present work, we will focus on the lasting effects of exposure to childhood maltreatment on the maternal preconceptional state. The preconceptional state influences the maternal compartment during pregnancy, which includes the interaction between maternal psychological and biological states. Importantly, the maternal compartment in pregnancy also includes the fetal compartment, where biological signals are exchanged via the placenta. The fetus receives cues about the extrauterine environment via stress-sensitive aspects of maternal-placental-fetal gestational biology (Buss et al., 2017). It is through these biological signals within the fetal compartment that the maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood, and maternal psychological stress during pregnancy potentially influence brain systems sensitive to stress and commonly implicated in neuropsychiatric disorders (Buss et al., 2017).

Developmental programming posits that genetic and environmental factors interact during the prenatal or early postnatal period, a time of rapid development, to cause lasting biophysiological and epigenomic changes affecting health and disease risk (Entringer, Buss, & Wadhwa, 2015; Sutton et al., 2016). One of the core concepts of developmental programming is that systems undergoing rapid development are particularly susceptible to the influence of environmental factors (C. M. Heim, Entringer, & Buss, 2019). There are several ways in which a history of maternal childhood maltreatment might be transmitted to a developing fetus including via epigenomic alterations within the germ line, cellular and molecular alterations to the oocyte, and gestational biology (Buss et al., 2017). Each of these paths has the potential to influence gestational biology, and ultimately fetal development. In the present work, we will examine alterations to the prenatal environment with a focus on maternal psychological stress during pregnancy. We will briefly discuss potential maltreatment and stress-related alterations to endocrine, stress, and immune/inflammatory responses; which may play a role in the biological transmission of maternal preconceptional and prenatal influences to the developing fetus.

Maternal Psychological Stress During Pregnancy

Psychological stress during pregnancy is associated with heightened offspring stress responses, emotional dysregulation, and behavioral problems in infancy and childhood (Bergman, Sarkar, O'Connor, Modi, & Glover, 2007; Buss, Entringer, Swanson, & Wadhwa, 2012; Buss, Entringer, & Wadhwa, 2012; Davis et al., 2004a; Glynn et al., 2018; Graignic-Philippe, Dayan, Chokron, Jacquet, & Tordjman, 2014; Kingston et al., 2018; Lahti et al., 2017; Sandman, Davis, Buss, & Glynn, 2012; Van den Bergh et al., 2017; van der Waerden et al., 2015; Weinstock, 2008). Maternal stress, anxiety, and depression during pregnancy have been shown to affect offspring limbic system development (Bock, Wainstock, Braun, & Segal, 2015; Buss, Davis, et al., 2012; Davis, Sandman, Buss, Wing, & Head, 2013; Pallarés & Antonelli, 2017; A Qiu et al., 2013; Anqi Qiu et al., 2017; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2013; Scheinost et al., 2016; Van den Bergh et al., 2017; Wen et al., 2017), which is particularly vulnerable during fetal periods of rapid growth (Buss, Entringer, Swanson, et al., 2012). Specifically, maternal psychological stress during pregnancy has been associated with increased amygdala volume (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012; Graham et al., 2018; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2013; Wen et al., 2017), altered amygdala connectivity (Graham et al., 2016; Scheinost et al., 2016), and decreased hippocampal volumes (A Qiu et al., 2013; Anqi Qiu et al., 2017). Increased amygdala volume and connectivity have been associated with increased fear (Graham et al., 2016; Thomas et al., 2019) and affective problems in children (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012), while decreased hippocampal volumes have been associated with behavioral problems in children (Hanson et al., 2015).

Maternal psychological stress during the prenatal period is potentially a key mechanism for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment. The majority of studies examining maternal stress during pregnancy consider the magnitude or severity of stress as the 'risk factor'; however, psychological stress, particularly during the prenatal period, is dynamic and variable (Ahmed, Bowen, Feng, & Muhajarine, 2019; Baron, Bass, Murray, Schneider, & Lund, 2017; Fredriksen, von Soest, Smith, & Moe, 2017; Mora et al., 2009; H. Santos, Tan, & Salomon, 2017). Brain development occurs sequentially and is sensitive to environmental influences, meaning that the effect of any insult is likely as much about the timing as it is severity.

Maternal stress and emotional complaints during the first trimester have been linked to internalizing problems (Graignic-Philippe et al., 2014; Van den Bergh et al., 2017), behavioral problems, alterations in attention, and difficult temperament in offspring (Van den Bergh et al., 2017). Additionally, Buss and colleagues found that higher concentrations of maternal cortisol in early gestation were associated with larger right amygdala volume in girls at 7 years of age (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012). Maternal prenatal stress during the first and second trimesters are associated with alterations in cognitive development (Van den Bergh et al., 2017). In the Project Ice Storm study, poorer outcomes and more difficult temperament at 6 months of age were associated with stress exposure during the first or second trimester of pregnancy (Charil, Laplante, Vaillancourt, & King, 2010; King, Dancause, Turcotte-Tremblay, Veru, & Laplante, 2012; Laplante, Brunet, Schmitz, Ciampi, & King, 2008). Elevated levels of maternal anxiety during the early second trimester have been associated with region-specific reductions in gray matter volume and executive function impairments at 6 to 9 years of age (Buss, Davis, Muftuler, Head, & Sandman, 2010). Maternal emotional complaints and stress during the third trimester are associated with autism (Charil et al., 2010; Graignic-Philippe et al., 2014), greater total emotional and behavioral dysregulation (Charil et al., 2010; O'Connor, Heron, Golding, Beveridge, & Glover, 2002; O'Connor, Heron, Golding, & Glover, 2003), and schizophrenia (Graignic-Philippe et al., 2014). Bereavement during the third trimester is associated with an increased risk of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (Van den Bergh et al., 2017) and autism spectrum disorder (Class et al., 2014). Maternal stress, anxiety, and depression during pregnancy are further associated with an increased risk of heightened stress responsivity, increased behavioral reactivity and irritability, and delayed behavioral recovery in offspring (Davis, Glynn, Waffarn, & Sandman, 2011; Davis et al., 2004b; Martini et al., 2017; Rieger et al., 2004; Van den Bergh et al., 2017; Yong Ping et al., 2015), all of which influence the expression and regulation of negative emotionality in infancy.

Stress-Sensitive Mechanistic Pathways

Endocrine and Stress Response

We will not be examining the role of maternal endocrine and stress responses experimentally as part of the dissertation studies. A brief overview of the HPA axis is provided, due to its role in the biological response to stress, including psychological stress; its relevance to fetal brain development and stress reactivity; and its sensitivity to environmental stressors as evidenced by HPA axis alterations following exposure to childhood maltreatment. The endocrine and stress response represents one of the pathways through which maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and psychological stress during pregnancy influence fetal development.

Regulation of the HPA axis changes dramatically during pregnancy. With pregnancy, circulating cortisol levels increase two to four times non-gravid levels (Guardino et al., 2016) due to stimulation of corticosteroid-binding globulin by estrogen (Duthie & Reynolds, 2013). The placenta expresses and secretes corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH), which increases across pregnancy, and stimulates maternal secretion of ACTH and, in turn, cortisol (Aboustate & Baune, 2020; Duthie & Reynolds, 2013). The increase in maternal cortisol stimulates the synthesis of placental CRH in a positive feedback loop that increases levels of cortisol (Duthie & Reynolds, 2013). The elevated levels of bioavailable cortisol are necessary to meet the increased maternal metabolism and energy demands associated with pregnancy (Duthie & Reynolds, 2013; Schepanski, Buss, Hanganu-Opatz, & Arck, 2018). Elevated levels of cortisol, which increase across pregnancy (Duthie & Reynolds, 2013), are also necessary for fetal organ maturation (Aboustate & Baune, 2020; Moisiadis & Matthews, 2014; Schepanski et al., 2018). Given the importance of cortisol in fetal development, it is further regulated by the placenta through high enzyme expression levels of 11ß-Hydroxysteroid-Dehydrogenase (11ß-HSD)-1 and -2 (Aboustate & Baune, 2020; Schepanski et al., 2018), see **Figure 1.2**. During the third trimester, the high levels of cortisol downregulate maternal CRH production, dampening the maternal physiological and psychological stress response (Buss, Entringer, Swanson, et al., 2012; Duthie & Reynolds, 2013).



Figure 1.2. HPA axis regulation in pregnancy. Regulation of the HPA axis changes dramatically during pregnancy. The placenta has significant endocrine properties and plays a role in HPA axis regulation. The placenta expresses and secretes corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), which increases through pregnancy, and stimulates maternal secretion of ACTH and, in turn, cortisol. The increase in maternal cortisol stimulates the synthesis of placental CRH (pCRH) in a positive feedback loop that increases levels of cortisol. Maternal cortisol also passes through the placenta where some of it is inhibited by placental 11B-HSD. Placental 11B-HSD converts cortisol into its inactive form, cortisone. Fetal cortisol also stimulates pCRH creating an additional positive feedback loop. Adapted from (Duthie & Reynolds, 2013; Held, Bird, & Heather, 2020; Sandman et al., 2012). Created with BioRender.com.

HPA axis dysregulation is one of the long-lasting effects of childhood adversity and maltreatment (Buss et al., 2017; Gerritsen et al., 2017; C. Heim et al., 2008, 2010; Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006; Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004). There is evidence that maternal adversity is associated with decreased expression of 11B-HSD-2, potentially leading to offspring exposure to higher levels of cortisol in utero (Bierer et al., 2014). The association between adversity and decreased expression of 11B-HSD-2 is strongest with early adversity compared to later adversity (Bierer et al., 2014). In a study comparing pregnant women with and without a history of sexual abuse, sexual abuse history was associated with increasing waking cortisol across pregnancy and the absence of a dampening response in late pregnancy (Bublitz & Stroud, 2012). Maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood has also been associated with an increase in placental CRH production during the second half of pregnancy, again reflecting HPA axis dysregulation during late pregnancy (Moog et al., 2016).

Maternal psychological and biological stress during pregnancy have been shown to disrupt endocrine function and increase levels of bioavailable glucocorticoids via sympathetic activation of the HPA axis (O'Connor, Bergman, Sarkar, & Glover, 2013; Schepanski et al., 2018; Weinstock, 2008). Elevated cortisol in the setting of maternal psychological stress has been associated with alterations to infant amygdala structure and connectivity (Schepanski et al., 2018), and risk for offspring psychopathology (Graham et al., 2019; Schepanski et al., 2018; Weinstock, 2008). Maternal psychosocial stress has also been associated with increased amniotic cortisol levels and downregulation of 11ß-HSD-2, both of which increase fetal cortisol exposure (Aboustate & Baune, 2020; O'Connor et al., 2013). O'Connor and colleagues found that higher levels of cortisol in

the amniotic fluid at 17 weeks gestation were associated with higher baseline cortisol levels in infants at 17 months of age as well as a blunted response to the Strange Situation Paradigm (O'Connor et al., 2013). Fetal exposure to elevated levels of cortisol may dysregulate the fetal HPA axis, which is sensitive to fluctuations in glucocorticoids (Aboustate & Baune, 2020; Charil et al., 2010; Weinstock, 2008), by altering glucocorticoid receptor density within the brain (Yehuda & Seckl, 2011). During infancy, the developing HPA axis depends on external social regulation, making it especially vulnerable to environmental influences (Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006; Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004).

The nature of fetal exposure to cortisol varies depending on maternal preconceptional and conceptional states. Some mothers with a history of PTSD demonstrate HPA axis underactivity and low cortisol levels (Yehuda & Seckl, 2011). Conversely, elevated cortisol levels during pregnancy have been reported in women with a history of exposure to childhood maltreatment (Bublitz & Stroud, 2012; Moog et al., 2016), suggesting greater HPA axis activity. Early maltreatment has also been associated with HPA axis hypersensitivity in women (Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004). Importantly, both high and low levels of cortisol can potentially influence fetal development and stress responsivity in infants (O'Connor et al., 2013; Yehuda & Seckl, 2011). Enlow and colleagues found that both higher and lower levels of cortisol exposure during fetal development modified the association between a maternal history of traumatic exposures, including childhood maltreatment, and infant stress reactivity. Maternal history of exposure to trauma was positively associated with infant reactivity in the setting of lower levels of cortisol during the third trimester; whereas, in the setting of higher levels of

cortisol, maternal history of trauma exposure was negatively related to infant reactivity (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017). It is likely that the sensitivity of the offspring's HPA axis to environmental influences begins before birth. During this period, the developing HPA axis is responding and adapting to mediators of maternal psychological and biological stress (see **Figure 1.3**).

Inflammatory and Immune Response

HPA axis dysregulation resulting from psychological stress is related to increased inflammation and altered immune responses (see Figure 1.3). Depression and PTSD are both associated with HPA axis dysregulation and inflammatory states (Silverman, 2012). Increased psychological stress is associated with increasing levels of inflammatory markers such as IL-6 and other cytokines that activate inflammatory processes in the fetal brain through both direct and indirect pathways (Graham et al., 2018). Importantly, maternal immune cells and cytokines can cross the placental barrier (Schepanski et al., 2018). Similar to cortisol, IL-6 and other cytokines are important for fetal brain development, but can disrupt cellular survival and proliferation, and synaptogenesis if levels are too high (Graham et al., 2019). Spann and colleagues (2018) found that higher levels of immune activation during the third trimester were positively associated with the strength of neonatal functional connectivity within the salience network including the medial prefrontal cortex (Spann, Monk, Scheinost, & Peterson, 2018). Similarly, Rudolph and colleagues (2018) showed that elevated maternal IL-6 concentrations during the third trimester were the most strongly associated with reduced infant working memory at two years of age (Rudolph et al., 2018).



Figure 1.3. Maternal psychological stress during pregnancy can affect fetal limbic system development. Maternal psychological and biological stress during pregnancy have been shown to disrupt endocrine function and increase levels of bioavailable glucocorticoids via sympathetic activation of the HPA axis. HPA axis dysregulation is related to increased inflammation and altered immune responses. Importantly, maternal immune cells, cytokines, and cortisol can cross the placental barrier. While cortisol and markers of immunity are important for fetal brain development, they can disrupt cellular survival and proliferation, and synaptogenesis if the levels are too high. The general architecture and connectivity of the limbic system and prefrontal cortex are largely established before birth, providing a window for maternal psychological and biological stress to influence its development. Studies have shown an association between maternal psychological and biological stress during pregnancy and altered offspring limbic system and prefrontal cortex development in infancy.

1.4 Early Brain Development

During the prenatal period, the nervous system develops from a single cell into a functioning and interconnected system capable of responding to a dynamic environment. Brain growth and development occurs at an increasingly rapid pace and is susceptible to environmental influences (see **Figure 1.4**). The prenatal period represents a key time when the past and present experiences and health of the mother exert a direct influence on the developing fetus (Buss et al., 2017; Buss, Entringer, & Wadhwa, 2012; C. M. Heim et al., 2019; Sandman et al., 2012). The ordered process of neurodevelopment suggests that brain structures may be differentially vulnerable to the effects of stress at different stages of development. It is therefore critical to characterize the effects related to the timing of maternal biological and psychological stress mediators on offspring development.



Figure 1.4. Neurodevelopment during the prenatal period. Brain development is rapid during the embryonic and fetal period. Stress-sensitive aspects of maternal-placental-fetal biology provide a mechanism for environmental conditions to influence the trajectory of neurodevelopment. Brain regions with high concentrations of glucocorticoid receptors and known roles in susceptibility for psychiatric disorders, including the amygdala and hippocampus, begin to develop during the first trimester of pregnancy. The rapid sequence of neurodevelopment during this period creates potential for the effects of stress exposure to have significantly different impacts depending on timing. Adapted from (Clancy, Darlington, & Finlay, 2001; Lenroot & Giedd, 2006; Workman, Charvet, Clancy, Darlington, & Finlay, 2013) for full list of figure references see (Marr, 2020).

First Trimester

Brain development is rapid during the embryonic and fetal period. Stress-sensitive aspects of maternal-placental-fetal biology provide a mechanism for environmental conditions to influence the trajectory of neurodevelopment. Maternal psychological stress likely has a differential influence on the developing brain depending on the timing of stress exposure. During the first trimester, neuroepithelial cells differentiate into neural progenitors (Tau & Peterson, 2010). Neurulation starts at around 2 to 3 weeks gestational age (GA), followed by neurogenesis and neuronal proliferation (Tau & Peterson, 2010). Beginning at 8 weeks GA, neuronal migration results in the formation of the subplate zone, which plays a critical role in guiding the development of the cortex (Buss, Entringer, Swanson, et al., 2012). Amygdala and hippocampal development also begins during the first trimester. At around 6 weeks GA, the amygdaloid complex appears, differentiating sequentially over subsequent weeks into the basolateral complex, central nucleus, and lateral amygdaloid nucleus (Humphrey, 1968). Stress-related changes during the first trimester are likely to have a more global effect given that this period is essential for the early establishment of key structures.

Second Trimester

The second trimester is defined by the development of pathways and connections. The process of myelination, synaptogenesis, and dendritic and axonal arborization begins during the second trimester (Tau & Peterson, 2010). Neuronal migration peaks during the first half of the second trimester and is largely complete by the first few weeks of the third trimester (Tau & Peterson, 2010). Between the 8th and 24th week of gestation, the cortical circuits are organized (Graignic-Philippe et al., 2014) and by ~17 weeks the cingulum bundle connecting the frontal and parietal regions is visible (Ball et al., 2014). Fetal white matter, deep subcortical structures, and the cerebellum have their greatest growth trajectories during the second trimester (Andescavage et al., 2017). The rapid growth trajectories and developing cortical circuits during the second trimester make this a period of heightened vulnerability for the developing brain (Graignic-Philippe et al., 2014). Appreciable levels of fetal adrenal cortisol are produced around 22 weeks GA (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012), leading to functional feedback within the HPA axis (Van den Bergh et al., 2017).

The transition from the second trimester to the third trimester is a time of rapid and substantial changes in the developing brain that are characterized by prolific cortical maturation, circuit formation, synaptogenesis and refinement, peak myelination, axonal outgrowth, and increasing neuronal connectivity (Andescavage et al., 2017; Jakab et al., 2014; Tau & Peterson, 2010). From 24 to 31 weeks GA, there is an increase in synaptogenesis within the cortical plate, maximal growth of the subplate, and a significant increase in neuronal connectivity (Andescavage et al., 2017; Jakab et al., 2014). The cerebral volume begins to increase in a linear manner at 25 weeks GA and continues on this trajectory through 36 weeks (Andescavage et al., 2017). Jakeb and colleagues (2014) referred to the time from ~ 25 weeks to 29 weeks GA as an "expansion period" of total functional connectivity, noting that the increase in the rate of signal synchronicity peaked around 26 weeks GA (Jakab et al., 2014). By the end of the second trimester, the architecture of the brain is established (Vasung et al., 2019). The genetic influences that guided brain development during the first two trimesters are silenced

during the third trimester, allowing for environmental influences to play a greater role in the ongoing process of neurodevelopment (Vasung et al., 2019).

Third Trimester

The third trimester is a period of expansive growth. The developing cortex thickens due to accelerating dendritic arborization and synaptogenesis (Tau & Peterson, 2010). At 28 weeks GA, the total number of neurons in the developing brain peak before undergoing loss through apoptosis (Tau & Peterson, 2010). Long-distance cortico-cortical connections are also developing with maximal axonal growth and elongation, as measured by Growth Associated Protein 43 (GAP-43) expression, evident from 21 to 43 weeks GA (Ball et al., 2014). Cerebral gray matter also demonstrates a rapid increase during the 3rd trimester, especially in cortical regions (Andescavage et al., 2017). The peak growth of fetal white matter occurs between 29 and 30 weeks GA, and the trajectory of cortical gray matter growth is exponential during the 3rd trimester (Andescavage et al., 2017). The peak period of fetal synaptogenesis (Tau & Peterson, 2010) and synaptogenesis of the prefrontal cortex occurs in the third trimester (Huttenlocher & Dabholkar, 1997). Fetal myelination also peaks during the 3rd trimester (Tau & Peterson, 2010), and spontaneous brain activity begins (Moriah E. Thomason et al., 2015).

The third trimester is also a time of growing connectivity within the fetal brain. During the second and third trimester, long-distance cortico-cortical connections are established (Ball et al., 2014). Functional connections are strengthened during this time, with increased connections between the parietal and frontal lobes and increased long-range correlations between the frontal and temporal lobes (Jakab et al., 2014). By 30

weeks GA, the major pathways associated with rich club organization can be observed using diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) (Ball et al., 2014). From 30 to 40 weeks GA, DTI indicates the existence of emerging structural connectivity between hub regions and the rest of the cortex, significantly increasing white matter connectivity across the cortex (Ball et al., 2014). The growing connectome stabilizes after 31 weeks GA in coordination with the dissolution of the subplate and the consolidation of existing networks (Jakab et al., 2014).

During the last few weeks of pregnancy, there is a five-fold increase in white matter myelination (Hüppi et al., 1998). The period right before birth is characterized by a rapid and dramatic increase in synaptic connections and cortical growth, and is considered a critical period for the development of the cortical connectome (Collin, Sporns, Mandl, & Van Den Heuvel, 2014; Garcia et al., 2018; van den Heuvel et al., 2014). Stress-related alterations during this time will likely affect cortical development and the formation and strengthening of cortical connections.

Infant Postnatal Brain Development

The rapid brain growth and complex array of neurodevelopmental processes that started during the prenatal period continue during infancy. During the first year, the brain reaches approximately 70% of its adult size (Knickmeyer et al., 2008). Cortical gray matter growth is greatest during the first year and is visible in MRI studies of development (Tau & Peterson, 2010). Synaptogenesis, which begins later in the prefrontal cortex, peaks in this region around 8 months of age (Tau & Peterson, 2010). Myelination of fiber tracts progresses rapidly during infancy, peaking during the first year (Anqi Qiu, Mori, & Miller, 2015), followed by a less pronounced increase over the second year of life (W. Gao et al., 2009). White matter maturation and short-range cortico-cortical connections also continue to develop during the postnatal period (Keunen, Counsell, & Benders, 2017). Nearly all white matter tracts and major bundles, such as the limbic and associative bundles, are observable using DTI by two years of age (Dubois et al., 2014). Pruning increases during the postnatal period, refining the neural circuitry (Tau & Peterson, 2010). The period between birth and two years of life represents a time of increasing integration between regions and decreasing functional segregation (Dubois et al., 2014). In the present work, we will not be examining brain development outside of the neonatal period since we are focusing on the role of prenatal, not postnatal influences.

Limbic System and Prefrontal Cortex Development

The limbic system and prefrontal cortex are highly interconnected both structurally and functionally (Kalin, 2019; Maclean, 1985). They play an interactive role in the interpretation and response to stress and emotion, and are associated with psychopathology (Kalin, 2019). Within the literature, there are some differences in opinion as to what structures constitute the limbic system (Kalin, 2019). In the present work, we will define the limbic system as including the amygdala, hippocampus, and cingulate cortex (Kalin, 2019; Maclean, 1985). The prefrontal cortex includes the dorsolateral, ventrolateral, ventromedial, medial, and orbitofrontal regions of the frontal lobe (Kalin, 2019).

Studies have demonstrated that the limbic system is highly responsive to biological and psychological stress (Bock et al., 2015; Callaghan, Sullivan, Howell, & Tottenham, 2014; Charil et al., 2010; Bruce S. McEwen & Gianaros, 2011), including both acute (Y. Li et al., 2017) and chronic stress (Felmingham et al., 2009; Gianaros et al., 2007; B S McEwen, 2000; Smith, 2005). This stress response results in alterations to limbic and prefrontal structures (Bock et al., 2015; Buss, Davis, et al., 2012; Callaghan et al., 2014; Charil et al., 2010; Felmingham et al., 2009; Gianaros et al., 2007; Y. Li et al., 2017; B S McEwen, 2000; Papagni et al., 2011; Sekiguchi et al., 2013; M. E. Smith, 2005) and function (Scheinost et al., 2016; Sripada et al., 2012; L. Wang, Su, Shen, & Hu, 2012; Wolf & Herringa, 2016; Xiaoyu Zhang, Zhang, Wang, Li, & Zhang, 2016) that are observable over periods as brief as 3 months (Papagni et al., 2011). Recently, studies have shown similar alterations to the structure and functional connectivity of the limbic system in infancy (Graham et al., 2016, 2019, 2018; Hendrix et al., 2020; Moog et al., 2018; A Qiu et al., 2015, 2013; Anqi Qiu et al., 2017; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2013, 2015; Scheinost et al., 2016; Soe et al., 2018, 2016; Wen et al., 2017) suggesting that these changes may be present early in development and not exclusively associated with exposure to the postnatal environment.

The limbic system may be particularly vulnerable to stress during periods of rapid growth (Buss, Entringer, Swanson, et al., 2012) such as fetal development and early childhood. Rapid development is associated with increased metabolic requirements, making the developing region more sensitive to environmental and biological influences (Hodel, 2018). The general architecture and connectivity of the limbic system is largely established before birth (Hodel, 2018), providing a window for mediators of maternal

psychological and biological stress to influence its development. Several studies have shown an association between maternal psychological and biological stress mediators during pregnancy and altered offspring limbic system development in infancy (Graham et al., 2018; Hendrix et al., 2020; A Qiu et al., 2015; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2015; Scheinost et al., 2016). Additionally, stress during pregnancy may exert a stronger influence on the limbic system than postnatally because dendritic growth and synpatic formation of the underlying neural networks are still increasing (Hodel, 2018). The vulnerability of the frontal lobe during the prenatal period is also due to the protracted nature of white matter development and the persistence of pre-myelinating oligodendrocytes, which are more susceptiable to insult (Hodel, 2018). Because the limbic system and prefrontal cortex play a central role in the regulation of stress and negative emotions, these stress-induced alterations may increase the risk for emotional and behavioral dysregulation (Bhat et al., 2015; Buss, Entringer, Swanson, et al., 2012; Lundy et al., 1999), stress reactivity (Davis et al., 2011, 2004b; Yong Ping et al., 2015), and psychopathology (Buss, Entringer, Swanson, et al., 2012; Buss, Entringer, & Wadhwa, 2012; Glynn et al., 2018), independent of the postnatal environment (Barker, Jaffee, Uher, & Maughan, 2011; Davis et al., 2004b; Korhonen, Luoma, Salmelin, & Tamminen, 2012; Lebel et al., 2016; Sandman et al., 2012; Wen et al., 2017) and genetic inheritance (Rice et al., 2010).

1.5 Resting-state Functional Connectivity MRI in

Developmental Research

Resting-state functional connectivity magnetic resonance imaging (rs-fcMRI) is a non-invasive method of examining the brain's functional organization. This technique

measures spontaneous fluctuations in brain blood flow referred to as the Blood Oxygen Level Dependent (BOLD) signal (Fox & Raichle, 2007; Logothetis & Wandell, 2004; Raichle & Mintun, 2006) and identifies spatially distinct brain regions that demonstrate repeated patterns of activity in the absence of a task or external stimulus (Fox & Raichle, 2007; Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Lin, et al., 2015; Logothetis & Wandell, 2004). The observed patterns of activity reflect shared functional properties, connectivity between regions, and information on the intrinsic functional organization of the brain (Fox & Raichle, 2007; Fox et al., 2005; W. Gao, Lin, Grewen, & Gilmore, 2017; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Elton, et al., 2015; Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Lin, et al., 2015; H. Zhang, Shen, & Lin, 2019).

Resting-state functional connectivity MRI is an especially promising tool for understanding early neurodevelopment because MRI scans can be acquired during the fetal period or shortly after birth during infant natural sleep. During the fetal period, rsfcMRI provides insight into network formation, while rs-fcMRI scans shortly after birth allow for the characterization of network development and completion (H. Zhang et al., 2019). By assessing infants shortly after birth, it is possible to begin to distinguish between the potential influences of prenatal and postnatal effects. The efforts to better characterize the role of gestational biology on neurodevelopment by examining the brain's functional organization during fetal development or shortly after birth, in order to isolate the effects of prenatal influences, are ongoing (Buss, Entringer, & Wadhwa, 2012; Emerson, Gao, & Lin, 2016; W. Gao et al., 2017; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Smith, Gilmore, & Lin, 2015; Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Lin, et al., 2015; M. E. Thomason et al., 2013; Moriah E. Thomason et al., 2015, 2018; H. Zhang et al., 2019). Resting-state functional connectivity MRI is also an important tool in studies of neurodevelopment because it has high temporal and spatial resolution that allow for the examination of systems of interest, such as the limbic system, that are related to outcomes of interest (H. Zhang et al., 2019). The organization of functional brain networks can be observed during the fetal and neonatal period, before behavioral outcomes of interest are observable, and may represent early markers of risk or resilience (Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Lin, et al., 2015). In the present study, we focus on the functional connectivity of the neonatal amygdala and hippocampus, two key structures in the limbic system that are relevant to the negative valence system, stress responsivity, and attachment.

1.6 Associated Developmental Outcomes

Negative Affect Development

A maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood is related to alterations in offspring neurobiological and socioemotional development, including increased stress reactivity and negative emotionality, emotional and behavioral dysregulation, and increased risk of neurodevelopmental and psychiatric disorders (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017; Burghy et al., 2012; Buss, Davis, et al., 2012; Collishaw et al., 2007; Davis et al., 2011; Etkin & Wager, 2007; Folger et al., 2017; Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Dominic T. Plant, Jones, Pariante, & Pawlby, 2017; Yong Ping et al., 2015). Most of these neurobiological alterations relate directly to the negative valence system, which is responsible for our responses to aversive situations and includes fear and anxiety (Carcone & Ruocco, 2017; T. R. Insel, 2014). Enlow and colleagues (2017) found that a maternal history of exposure to trauma was related to several domains of infant negative affect (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017), providing further support for the consideration of the negative valence system when examining the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment.

The development of fear and anxiety in infancy and early childhood follows a distinct trajectory (Braungart-Rieker, Hill-Soderlund, & Karrass, 2010; Brooker et al., 2013; Garstein & Rothbart, 2003; Graham et al., 2016; Partridge & Lerner, 2007; Thomas et al., 2019). Fear and anxiety increase over the first year as infants begin to explore their environments. Fear of strangers and attention to human facial expressions emerges at approximately 6 months of age, which contributes to the increasing levels of fear (Braungart-Rieker et al., 2010; Brooker et al., 2013; Graham et al., 2016; Peltola, Leppänen, Mäki, & Hietanen, 2009). Around 12 months of infant age, fear of strangers peaks (Brooker et al., 2013; Gartstein et al., 2010; Gullone, 2000), separation anxiety emerges, and fear of strange objects and heights increases (Gullone, 2000). Fear and anxiety appear to stabilize by 24 months of age as infants begin to develop regulatory skills (Gartstein et al., 2010; Lemery, Goldsmith, Klinnert, & Mrazek, 1999; Thomas et al., 2019). Fear and anxiety play an important developmental role and are thought to facilitate caregiver attachment (Ainsworth & Bell, 1970; Landers & Sullivan, 2012), support (Lemery et al., 1999), and prosocial behaviors (Graham et al., 2016). Higher levels of negative affect in infancy are associated with an increased risk of affective and behavioral disturbances later in life (Abulizi et al., 2017), highlighting the importance of this early behavioral attribute to outcomes throughout the lifespan.

Attachment

Attachment is an important part of infant development and is crucial to the acquisition of self-regulatory skills. At birth, infants lack self-awareness as well as the capacity to discriminate between needs and wants (Blaustein, Margaret Ekinninburgh, 2018). Infants develop an awareness about bodily cues and learn to communicate their needs in the context of relationships (Blaustein, Margaret Ekinninburgh, 2018). Attachment with a caretaker not only provides training on the expression and regulation of emotions, but also serves as a model for relationships (Blaustein, Margaret Ekinninburgh, 2018). Bowlby refers to this mental representation of the self and the expected reactions from others and the environment formed through early attachment patterns as the *internal working model* (Bowlby, 1982). This internal working model informs adult relationships despite its early formation.

Attachment, like exposure to childhood maltreatment, can be transmitted across generations (Chamberlain et al., 2019; Levy & Orlans, 1998). Childhood maltreatment is intentional and interpersonal; disrupting the child's relationship with the caretaker, systems of attachment, and a sense of the self (J. Herman, 2015). Children exposed to maltreatment are less likely to form a secure attachment with their caretaker (Cyr, Euser, Bakermans-Kranenburg, & Van Ijzendoorn, 2010; Khan & Renk, 2018) and, in turn, are less likely to form a secure attachment with their own children (Khan & Renk, 2018; Levy & Orlans, 1998; Savage, Tarabulsy, Pearson, Collin-Vézina, & Gagné, 2019).

The type of maltreatment experienced by the mother has also been shown to affect the nature of her attachment with her child. Emotional neglect and physical abuse have been associated with reduced maternal sensitivity (Pereira et al., 2012). Physical

abuse has also been associated with more intrusive mothers (Lyons-Ruth & Block, 1996; Riva Crugnola, Ierardi, Bottini, Verganti, & Albizzati, 2019), and sexual abuse has been associated with higher levels of parental withdrawal (Lyons-Ruth & Block, 1996) and insecure attachment (Erozkan, 2016). A maternal history of neglect is associated with infant display of avoidant strategies (Lyons-Ruth & Block, 1996). Mothers with greater PTSD symptoms (Enlow, Egeland, Carlson, Blood, & Wright, 2014) during the early postnatal period, a history of PTSD (Chamberlain et al., 2019; Enlow et al., 2014; J. S. Seng et al., 2013; Soe et al., 2018), or psychological distress, including depression (Chamberlain et al., 2019; J. S. Seng et al., 2013), were more likely to have an insecure attachment with their child.

A maternal history of exposure to maltreatment is also associated with increased infant negative affect (Lyons-Ruth & Block, 1996). Increased infant negative affect, in turn, further influences attachment security. Elevated infant negative affect has been associated with reduced maternal responsivity and sensitivity (Chamberlain et al., 2019; Haltigan, Leerkes, Supple, & Calkins, 2014). Environmental factors like socio-economic deprivation can increase parenting stress and negatively affect attachment security (Chamberlain et al., 2019). Ultimately, attachment represents a synthesis of the interaction between maternal, infant, and environmental factors.

Within this dissertation, attachment will be classified using the Strange Situation Paradigm (Ainsworth, Blehar, Waters, & Wall, 1978), a validated, reliable, and widely used measure. The Strange Situation Paradigm assesses attachment security based on infant behavior during separations and reunions with their caretaker. In the present work, attachment security is classified into one of four groups: Secure, Avoidant, Ambivalent, or Disorganized. Avoidant infants do not demonstrate distress with caretaker departure, engage in exploration and play in the presence of a stranger, and show little interest when the caretaker returns. Ambivalent infants show intense distress with the departure of the caretaker, avoid the stranger and disengage from play and exploration, and demonstrate both approach and resistant behavior when the caretaker returns. Disorganized or disoriented infants, a classification added later (Mary & Solomon, 1990), demonstrate fear or apprehension of the caretaker, freezing behavior, and contradictory behaviors. Disorganized/disoriented attachment has been associated with a maternal history of unresolved trauma or loss (Main & Hesse, 1990) and depression (Levy & Orlans, 1998). Insecure attachment includes the avoidant, ambivalent, and disorganized classifications.

Stress Reactivity

Infant stress reactivity has been associated with maternal psychological stress during pregnancy (Davis et al., 2011, 2004b; Galbally, van Rossum, Watson, de Kloet, & Lewis, 2019; Leung et al., 2010; Nazzari et al., 2019; O'Connor et al., 2013; Rash et al., 2016; Swales et al., 2018; Tollenaar, Beijers, Jansen, Riksen-Walraven, & De Weerth, 2011; Van den Bergh et al., 2017; Zietlow, Nonnenmacher, Reck, Ditzen, & Müller, 2019) and a history of maternal exposure to trauma (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017; Brand et al., 2010). As previously described, one potential pathway for this observed association could be the role of maltreatment-associated HPA axis alterations on gestational biology. Moog and colleagues found that maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood was associated with increased placental CRH production (Moog et al., 2016), potentially influencing the developing fetal HPA axis. Brand and colleagues found that a history of maternal childhood abuse was associated with lower baseline cortisol in their infants at six months of age (Brand et al., 2010). They also found that a maternal history of childhood abuse in the presence of a lifetime history of PTSD was associated with greater infant cortisol reactivity (Brand et al., 2010). Enlow and colleagues (2017) found that the level of cortisol exposure during the third trimester, high or low, modified the relationship between maternal exposure to trauma and infant reactivity (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017). In the context of attachment, greater infant cortisol stress reactivity has been associated with disruptive maternal interacting quality (Köhler-Dauner et al., 2019). Although salivary cortisol is a non-invasive and accessible measure of cortisol stress reactivity, there is evidence that cortisol reactivity in infants is most responsive to physical and not psychological stressors (Jansen, Beijers, Riksen-Walraven, & de Weerth, 2010). In the setting of physical stressors, effect sizes have been shown to decrease with infant age, potentially due to the buffering role of attachment (Jansen et al., 2010).

1.7 Goals of the Dissertation

The goal of this dissertation is to increase our understanding of the intergenerational transmission of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood by characterizing potential mechanisms, such as maternal psychological stress during pregnancy, and offspring neurobiological and socioemotional outcomes (see Figure 1.5). The present work used neonatal rs-fcMRI to examine the influence of maternal psychological stress and maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood on the offspring brain shortly after birth in order to distinguish these preconceptional and prenatal factors from postnatal factors. We focused on the limbic system because it is especially vulnerable to stress including early childhood. The general architecture and connectivity of the limbic system is largely established before birth (Hodel, 2018), suggesting potential malleability to mediators of maternal psychological and biological stress. The limbic system plays an important role in the regulation of stress; thus, stress-induced alterations may increase the risk for emotional dysregulation (Burghy et al., 2012; Buss, Davis, et al., 2012), heightened negative affect and stress reactivity (Davis et al., 2011; Yong Ping et al., 2015), and subsequent psychopathology (Etkin & Wager, 2007) in offspring. Given the susceptibility of the developing brain to environmental cues such as stress, the prenatal period likely plays an important role in the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment.

Study 1 (Chapter 2) examines how trajectories of maternal psychological stress during pregnancy affect neonatal amygdala functional connectivity and negative affect development. Maternal psychological stress during pregnancy is potentially a key mechanism for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment. The majority of studies examining maternal psychological stress during pregnancy consider the magnitude of stress as the 'risk factor;' however, psychological stress, particularly during the prenatal period, is dynamic and variable (Buss, Entringer, Swanson, et al., 2012). Fetal neurodevelopment follows a rapid and sequential progression; therefore, characterizing the timing and variability of maternal stress across pregnancy is a critical step in advancing our understanding of stress as an early influencer of offspring brain and behavioral development. The present study employs a novel, flexible, and data-driven approach to characterize individual longitudinal trajectories of maternal stress across

pregnancy and the early postpartum period. Maternal psychological stress was assessed in two independent mother-infant dyad cohorts (Total N=2,271). Maternal perinatal stress trajectories were characterized and grouped into clusters using a novel machine learning algorithm, the Functional Random Forest. Across both cohorts, the association between maternal stress trajectories and infant negative affect was examined. The relationship between neonatal amygdala functional connectivity and maternal perinatal stress trajectories was examined in the cohort with neuroimaging data. Finally, we examined the association between maternal perinatal stress clusters and maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood.

Study 2 (Chapter 3) examines the association between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and neonatal amygdala functional connectivity, motherinfant attachment security, and infant cortisol reactivity. Numerous studies have focused on the role of attachment and bonding during the postnatal period as a potential mechanism for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment, but it is possible that prenatal influences also play a role. First, we examined the association between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and offspring neonatal amygdala functional connectivity and attachment security at 12 months of infant age. Given the relationship between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and infant age. Given the relationship between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and infant age. Focusing on the neonatal brain and its associations with attachment and cortisol reactivity increases our ability to differentiate between prenatal and postnatal influences, and helps us to elucidate potential prenatal mechanisms for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment.

Study 3 (Chapter 4) examines the association between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and neonatal hippocampal functional connectivity. The hippocampus is highly sensitive to stress such as early adversity and childhood maltreatment. It also plays a regulatory role in HPA axis responsivity, which is known to be altered during pregnancy and following exposure to early adversity. In the present study, we examine neonatal hippocampal functional connectivity in relation to a history of maternal childhood maltreatment. There is evidence that the major adult network functional components are present during childhood (Damaraju, Caprihan, & Lowe, 2014; De Asis-Cruz, Bouyssi-Kobar, Evangelou, Vezina, & Limperopoulos, 2015; Emerson et al., 2016; Fransson, Aden, Blennow, & Lagercrantz, 2011; Fransson et al., 2009, 2007; W. Gao et al., 2017; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Elton, et al., 2015; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Smith, et al., 2015; Grayson & Fair, 2017; Grayson et al., 2014; Jakab et al., 2014; Keunen et al., 2017; Scheinost et al., 2017; H. Zhang et al., 2019); therefore, we leverage a template matching approach, based on a large adolescent cohort, to empirically segment the hippocampus. Finally, we examine the resulting segments from the template matching approach in relation to a maternal history of childhood maltreatment. Investigating the functional connectivity of hippocampal subregions in infants will allow us to better characterize their potential role in risk or sensitivity to future psychopathology.

The results of these studies will characterize the longitudinal heterogeneity of maternal psychological stress during pregnancy and will examine the influence of

maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood on offspring neurobiological and socioemotional outcomes. Understanding the heterogeneity of maternal psychological stress, the influence of preconceptional factors such as exposure to childhood maltreatment, and their effect on infant neurobiological and socioemotional development is critical to targeting screening and interventions.



Figure 1.5. Overview of dissertation studies. The intergenerational transmission of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood was explored by characterizing potential mechanisms and outcomes. Study 1 examined the association of maternal psychological stress trajectories during pregnancy with neonatal amygdala functional connectivity, infant negative affect development, and a maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment. Study 2 examined the association between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and neonatal amygdala functional connectivity, attachment security, and cortisol reactivity. Study 3 examined the association between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and neonatal amygdala functional connectivity, infant negative affect development, and a maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and neonatal amygdala functional connectivity, attachment security in both the whole hippocampus and hippocampal subregions identified through a template matching approach.

CHAPTER 2. MATERNAL PERINATAL STRESS AND OFFSPRING Amygdala Connectivity and Negative Affect

DEVELOPMENT

This chapter has been reformatted for inclusion in this dissertation from:

Marr MC, Graham A, Feczko E, Nolvi S, Thomas E, Sturgeon D, Schifsky E, Rasmussen J, Gilmore J, Styner M, Entringer S, Wadhwa P, Korja R, Karlsson H, Karlsson L, Buss C, Fair D. Maternal Perinatal Stress and Offspring Amygdala Connectivity and Negative Affect Development.

Support:

Funding for this work was provided by NICHD R01 HD060628 (Wadhwa; EMA Assessment of Biobehavioral Processes in Human Pregnancy), NIMH R01 MH091351 (Buss &Wadhwa; Fetal Programming of the Newborn and Infant Human Brain), Supplement to R01 MH091351 (Buss & Fair; Fetal Programming of Brain Functional Connectivity in Neonates and Infants), R00 MH091238 (Fair), R01 MH096773 (Fair), NIMH R00 MH111805 (Graham, PI), National Library of Medicine T15 LM007088 (Feczko), TL1TR002371 (Fryer & Morris, PI), ARCS Foundation Scholar (Marr), NIMH F30MH118762 (Marr), The Academy of Finland (H Karlsson # 134950 and # 253270, L Karlsson #308176), Signe and Ane Gyllenberg Foundation (H Karlsson, L Karlsson), Yrjö Jahnsson Foundation (L Karlsson), Finnish State Grants for Clinical Research/ERVA (H Karlsson, L Karlsson), and Emil Aaltonen Foundation (Saara Nolvi).

2.1. Abstract

Background: Maternal psychological stress during pregnancy is a common and potentially modifiable risk factor for offspring psychiatric disorders. Here we employ novel methods to investigate heterogeneity in maternal psychological stress and associations with infant brain and behavioral development.

Methods: Maternal psychological stress was assessed across pregnancy and early postpartum in two independent mother-infant dyad cohorts (Total N=2,271). Maternal perinatal stress trajectories were characterized and grouped into clusters using a novel machine learning algorithm, the Functional Random Forest. Across both cohorts, maternal stress trajectories were examined in relation to infant negative affect. Neonatal amygdala resting-state functional connectivity MRI was examined in the cohort with neuroimaging data.

Outcomes: In the original sample, four distinct clusters characterized by differences in the pattern of change over time (trajectory), and two characterized by overall magnitude of stress (higher versus lower) were identified. The magnitude clusters were not associated with infant brain or behavioral outcomes, but were associated with a history of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood. In contrast, the trajectory cluster characterized by increasing stress in late pregnancy was associated with altered infant negative affect development. The trajectory clusters and the association with infant negative affect were replicated in the independent cohort. In the original cohort, trajectories with increasing or peak maternal stress in late pregnancy were additionally associated with stronger offspring neonatal amygdala functional connectivity to the anterior insula and ventromedial prefrontal cortex.
Interpretation: The current report makes clear that the trajectory of perinatal stress, as opposed to purely the severity, is important for offspring brain and behavioral development. Stress late in pregnancy appears to be a highly sensitive time with effects on increased neonatal amygdala functional connectivity and negative affect development lasting over the first two years of life. Understanding the heterogeneity of perinatal stress trajectories and their influence on infant brain and behavioral development is critical to targeting future interventions.

2.2. Introduction

Maternal psychological stress during pregnancy (e.g., anxiety, depression, and perceived stress) has implications for maternal health and is a common and potentially modifiable risk factor for offspring psychiatric and other health disorders. Previous studies of maternal psychological stress during pregnancy primarily consider stress in terms of its magnitude (i.e., high, medium, or low). However, several lines of evidence highlight how the dynamic nature of psychosocial stress over the course of pregnancy might be an equally important indicator of long-term offspring health (C. M. Heim et al., 2019; Mora et al., 2009). Despite such evidence, there is a limited understanding of how individual differences or heterogeneity in maternal psychological stress across pregnancy relate to offspring neurodevelopment. Fetal neurodevelopment is a dynamic process that is differentially sensitive to environmental influences during distinct phases. Thus, it is likely that the effect of any insult, such as maternal stress, may depend just as much on the timing and rate of change of the stressor as it does on the severity.

48

The fetus receives cues about the extrauterine environment via stress-sensitive aspects of maternal-placental-fetal biology (Buss et al., 2017; C. M. Heim et al., 2019), potentially influencing brain systems sensitive to stress and commonly implicated in neuropsychiatric disorders. For example, maternal psychological and biological stress mediators during pregnancy have been associated with altered offspring limbic system development in infancy (Graham et al., 2018; A Qiu et al., 2015; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2015). Because the limbic system plays an important role in the regulation of stress and negative affect, these stress-induced alterations may increase the risk for emotional dysregulation (Burghy et al., 2012; Buss, Davis, et al., 2012), heightened negative affect and stress reactivity (Davis et al., 2011; Yong Ping et al., 2015), and subsequent psychopathology in offspring (Etkin & Wager, 2007). Offspring development of negative emotionality is of particular interest as a transdiagnostic endophenotype of susceptibility for subsequent psychiatric disorders (Damme et al., 2020; T. Insel et al., 2010).

Fetal neurodevelopment follows a rapid and sequential progression; therefore, characterizing the timing and variability of maternal stress across pregnancy is a critical step in advancing our understanding of stress as an early influencer of offspring brain and behavioral development. The present study employs a novel, flexible, and data-driven approach to characterize individual longitudinal trajectories of maternal stress across pregnancy and the early postpartum period. We characterize specified clusters of stress trajectories and then test the associations between these clusters and offspring affective development and relevant patterns of amygdala connectivity.

49

2.3. Methods and Materials

Participants

Two datasets were employed to examine maternal stress trajectories and offspring outcomes. The primary cohort included mother-infant dyads enrolled as part of a prospective longitudinal cohort study conducted at the University of California, Irvine (UCI) from February 2011 to November 2018, for details see (Moog et al., 2018). Mothers were recruited through prenatal clinics during early pregnancy. A subset of mothers (n=115) was selected based on the completion of maternal stress measures in early pregnancy and at one month postpartum. A cohort diagram indicating the number of mothers and infants participating at each stage of analysis is presented in **Figure 2.7** in the Supplemental Materials at the end of this chapter. Demographic data for participants are presented in **Table 2.1**. All procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the UCI.

	Mean (SD)
Maternal age in first trimester, Years (n=115)	28.07 (4.88)
Infant Age	
Gestational age at birth, Weeks (n=110)	39.24 (1.53)
Age at functional MRI data collection, Days (n=60)	26.22 (11.45)
Infant Sex (n=110)	No. (%)
Male	59 (54)
Female	51 (46)
Race/Ethnicity (n=105)	
Caucasian non-Hispanic	42 (40)
African American non-Hispanic	1 (1)
Asian non-Hispanic	8 (8)
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	8 (8)
Caucasian Hispanic	40 (38)
Asian Hispanic	1 (1)
Multi-racial Hispanic	5 (5)
Highest Level of Maternal Education (n=106)	
Primary, elementary, or middle school	4 (4)
High school or test equivalent	19 (18)
Vocational school or some college	44 (43)
Associates degree	6 (6)
Bachelors or graduate level degree	32 (30)
Gross Annual Household Income (n=111)	
< \$15,000	13 (12)
\$15,000 - 29,999	15 (14)
\$30,000 - 49,999	29 (26)
\$50,000 - 100,000	43 (39)
> \$100,000	11 (10)

 Table 2.1. Demographic data for University of California, Irvine cohort.

The second, replication cohort of mother-infant dyads was part of a prospective longitudinal cohort study conducted at the University of Turku as part of the FinnBrain Birth Cohort Study from December 2011 to April 2015, for details see (Karlsson et al., 2018). Briefly, mothers were recruited for the study during their first trimester of pregnancy. A subset of mother-infant dyads (n=2,156) was selected for this study based on completion of maternal prenatal depression and anxiety measures and at least one infant negative affect measure (6, 12 or 24 months). Demographic data for participants are presented in Table 2.2. Study protocols were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Southwest Finland.

	Mean (SD)
Maternal age in the due date, Years (n=2156)	31.24 (4.41)
Gestational age at birth, Weeks (n=2156)	39.77 (1.71)
Infant Sex (n=2156)	No. (%)
Male	1146 (53)
Female	1010 (47)
Race/Ethnicity (n=2156)	
Caucasian	2153 (99.9)
Highest Level of Maternal Education (n=2049)	
Primary, elementary, or middle school	37 (2)
High school or test equivalent	257 (12)
Vocational school or some college	364 (18)
Vocational tertiary/applied university	614 (30)
Bachelors or graduate level degree in university	777 (38)
Maternal Monthly Income in Pregnancy (n=2046)	
<€1000	425 (21)
€1000 - 2000	998 (49)
€2000 - 3000	530 (25)
€3000 - 4000	80 (4)
>€4000	13 (1)
Economic satisfaction in the first trimester ($N = 2044$), range 0-10	5.85 (2.45)

 Table 2.2. Demographic data for FinnBrain data, replication cohort.

Maternal Psychological Stress Measures

Maternal Psychological Stress Measures in the UCI Cohort

Participants in the UCI cohort completed the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CESD) (Radloff, 1977), Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein, 1983), and State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) (Spielberger, Gorsuch, & Lushene, 1970) in early (M: 12.84, SD: 1.83 weeks), mid (M: 20.50, SD: 1.44 weeks) and late (M: 30.48, SD: 1.39 weeks) pregnancy and at one, three, six, nine, twelve, and twenty-four months postpartum. Stress measure scores were only calculated if three or fewer items were missing. Mean scores were calculated for each scale to reduce the effect of missing items. The mean scores of the three scales were ztransformed and then combined to generate composite stress scores creating an overall indicator of maternal psychological stress at each time point from early pregnancy through early postpartum. All measures were weighted equally. Composite stress scores were created only if two out of the three scales were available. Measures at each time point were highly correlated (r: 0.331 to 0.705, all p≤0.001), supporting the creation of a composite indicator, see **Table 2.3**. We will refer to maternal stress from pregnancy through one month postpartum as perinatal stress. Postnatal maternal composite stress scores at three, six, nine, twelve, and twenty-four months were included as time-varying covariates in analyses examining infant behavior in order to adjust for the potential influence of the postnatal environment.

	Early		Mid		Late		Early	
	pregnancy		pregnancy		pregnancy		postpartum	
	PSS	STAI	PSS	STAI	PSS	STAI	PSS	STAI
CESD	(r)							
Early pregnancy	0.528	0.536						
Mid pregnancy			0.331	0.432				
Late pregnancy					0.701	0.636		
Early postpartum							0.705	0.661

 Table 2.3. Correlations for stress, anxiety, and depression measures at each time point.

Maternal childhood maltreatment history was assessed in mid-pregnancy using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) (D P Bernstein et al., 1994). The CTQ is a standardized, retrospective self-report tool that assesses five domains of childhood maltreatment: physical, sexual, and emotional abuse; and physical and emotional neglect. It is a 28-item questionnaire with 3 items making up an additional Minimization/Denial scale designed to capture potential under-reporting (Villano et al., 2004). Each item within the five maltreatment domains is scored on a 5 point scale where 1 = never and 5 = very often. The total CTQ score is a sum score of all maltreatment domains.

Maternal Psychological Stress Measures in FinnBrain Cohort

Participants in the FinnBrain cohort completed the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) (Cox, Holdenand, & Sagovsky, 1987) and the Symptom Checklist (SCL-90) (Derogatis, Lipman, & Covi, 1973) in early (M: 15.2, SD: 2.7), mid (M: 25.3, SD: 1.5 weeks) and late (M: 35.1, SD: 1.8 weeks) pregnancy, and at six, twelve, and twenty-four months postpartum. Only the anxiety subscale of the SCL-90 was examined to parallel the anxiety measure in the UCI cohort. Early-, mid-, and latepregnancy principal component scores based on these two scales were calculated to create an overall indicator of maternal psychological stress at each time point. This resulted in one component at each time point with high factor loadings (T1= 0.91, T2 = 0.91, T3= 0.90), providing support for a single composite measure of maternal psychological stress at each time point. Missing time point data (<6.8%) were handled through the default missing values replacement procedure as part of the principal component analysis in SPSS 25 (IBM Corp., 2017).

Infant Negative Affect

In the UCI cohort, mothers completed the Infant Behavior Questionnaire-Revised (IBQ) (Parade & Leerkes, 2008) to assess infant negative affect at three, six, nine, and

twelve months of infant age and The Early Childhood Behavior Questionnaire-Short Form (ECBQ) (Putnam, Gartstein, & Rothbart, 2006) at twenty-four months of age. The negative affect composite was created by computing the mean scores of completed items for each of the relevant subscales and averaging them together. A latent growth model (LGM; (Muthén & Muthén, 2017)) was used to define infant negative affect development from three to 24 months of age. Only subjects with identified maternal perinatal clusters (Model- and Correlation-based) and IBQ/ECBQ scores with a minimum of one time point were included in the LGM (n=110). The parameter estimates for the unconditional model are listed in the supplement (**Table 2.21**). The intercept and growth terms from these models were used as outcome variables in analyses examining infant behavior.

In the FinnBrain cohort, mothers completed the Infant Behavior Questionnaire-Revised (IBQ-R) (Parade & Leerkes, 2008) to assess infant negative affect at six and twelve months of infant age and The Early Childhood Behavior Questionnaire-Short Form (ECBQ) (Putnam et al., 2006) at twenty-four months age (n with complete data from all time points=1,062).

Resting-state Functional Connectivity MRI

Brain imaging was only available for the UCI cohort. Data were acquired at approximately one month of age $(28.42 \pm 13.31 \text{ days})$ during natural sleep. Data acquisition and preprocessing procedures were previously described (Graham et al., 2016, 2018; Moog et al., 2018). We previously identified patterns of increased neonatal amygdala functional connectivity with the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC) and anterior insula (aI) that predicted infant negative affect development (Graham et al., 2016; Thomas et al., 2019). In the current study, we focused on these predefined amygdala connections due to prior work indicating the vulnerability of the amygdala to early life stress exposure, beginning in the antenatal period (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012; Graham et al., 2016, 2018; A Qiu et al., 2015; Thomas et al., 2019).

Data Acquisition

A TIM Trio, Siemens Medical System 3.0T scanner was used to obtain highresolution T1-weighted (MP-RAGE TR = 2400 ms, inversion time = 1200 ms, echo time = 3.16 ms, flip angle = 8°, resolution = 1 x 1 x 1 mm, 6 min 18 secs) and T2-weighted (TR = 3200 ms, echo time = 255ms, resolution = 1 x 1 x 1 mm, 4 min 18 secs) images. Resting-state functional connectivity MRI images were obtained using a gradient-echo, echoplanar imaging (EPI) sequence sensitive to BOLD contrast (TR = 2000 ms; TE = 30 ms; FOV = 220 x 220 x 160 mm; flip angle = 77°).

fMRI Data Preprocessing

Pre-processing followed established procedures for neonatal neuroimaging (Graham et al., 2016). Briefly, brain images were isolated from surrounding head tissue and functional images were pre-processed to reduce artifacts. Atlas transformation involved calculation of a single matrix to facilitate registration to a standard infant template (0- to 2-month age range; National Institutes of Health MRI Study of Normal Brain Development) (Vladimir Fonov et al., 2011; VS Fonov, Evans, McKinstry, Almli, & Collins, 2009) and to the Talairach coordinate system (Talairach & Tournoux, 1988).

rs-fcMRI Preprocessing

Additional preprocessing steps were conducted to address potential signal stemming from non-neuronal processes including temporal low-pass filtering (0 f < 0.1 Hz) (Fair et al., 2012; Fox & Raichle, 2007). These included regression of rigid body head motion parameters in 6 directions, regression of whole brain signal, regression of average ventricular signal, regression of white matter signal, and regression of first order derivative terms for the whole brain, ventricular, and white matter signals (Graham et al., 2016; Rudolph et al., 2018). To correct for motion, an examination of frame-wise displacement (FD) was conducted and volumes with greater than 0.3 mm FD plus the preceding volume and subsequent 3 volumes were removed (J. D. Power et al., 2011). Following volume removal for motion, scan length for the remaining infants (n=60) was about five and half minutes (M: 5.66 minutes, range: 4.27 - 6.37 minutes) with a remaining FD of 0.085 (M: 0.085, range: 0.048 - 0.135).

Amygdala Connections

Automatic amygdala segmentation was performed using a multi-template, multimodality-based method that combined T1 and T2 weighted high-resolution images (J. Wang et al., 2014). Following anterior-posterior realignment, amygdala segmentations were manually corrected using ITK-Snap (Yushkevich et al., 2006). For rs-fcMRI analyses, amygdalae were transformed to atlas space based on the previously computed atlas transformation (Graham et al., 2018).

Analytic Approach

The Functional Random Forest

The Functional Random Forest is a novel approach designed to capture unknown heterogeneity in samples (Feczko et al., 2017, 2019), and is extended here to characterize the heterogeneity of maternal perinatal stress trajectories. The approach integrates three validated techniques, Functional Data Analysis, Random Forest, and community detection (i.e., Infomap). Community detection is applied in two ways to identify (1) "Model-based clusters" or (2) "Correlation-based clusters." Both approaches capture longitudinal symptom heterogeneity in a flexible and data-driven manner, see **Figure 2.1**. Mothers from the UCI cohort were included in the model if they had data for at least three of the four assessments, including the first and the last time point.



Figure 2.1. Functional Random Forest. The FRF combines Functional Data Analysis, the Random Forest, and Infomap to characterize subgroups within populations. Self-report measures of maternal perinatal stress (MPS) were used to create Model and Correlation clusters.

Post-hoc analyses (see Supplement) were conducted to examine the validity of identified clusters and further characterize differences in clusters (chi-square and ANOVAs). Modularity permutation tests (see Supplemental Materials **Tables 2.5 – 2.7**) show that all clusters had significantly greater modularity than random assignments, suggesting that the clusters represent stable subgroups. The modularity associated with the lowest edge density is reported below. Modularity values at each edge density and by community are reported in the Supplemental Materials at the end of the chapter.

Association between Maternal Clusters and Brain and Behavioral

Outcomes

A simple multiple regression approach was used to examine maternal stress clusters in relation to infant amygdala connections and negative affect development. Covariates for gestational age (GA) at birth and infant age at scan were included in all analyses to account for neonatal brain maturity at the time of MRI scan acquisition. Additional covariates were also tested to ensure that model results remained consistent, including infant sex, maternal annual income, and maternal obstetric risk factors.

A latent growth model (LGM) in MPlus 8 (Muthén & Muthén, 2017) was used to define infant negative affect development from three to twenty-four-months-of-age. Only subjects with identified maternal perinatal clusters (Model- and Correlation-based) and IBQ/ECBQ scores with a minimum of one time point were included in the LGM (n=110). The intercept and growth terms from these models were used as outcome variables in analyses examining infant behavior.

Replication in FinnBrain Cohort

For the replication study in the FinnBrain cohort, we first extracted trajectory model parameters for clusters based on the "Correlation-based clusters" using multinomial logistic regression on the UCI maternal composite stress scores. Specifically, the maternal stress cluster classification served as the dependent variable, and the maternal stress composite scores for each of the three time points served as independent variables in the logistic regression. The intercept and parameters for the early, mid, and late pregnancy composite scores were extracted from this model. The UCI early, mid, and late pregnancy composite score parameters were then mapped onto the early, mid, and late antenatal FinnBrain principal component scores. To assign FinnBrain subjects to UCI maternal stress cluster classification again serving as the dependent variable and the mapped FinnBrain stress scores serving as independent variables. Classification of FinnBrain subjects was based on the fit of the FinnBrain early, mid, and late antenatal stress scores with the maternal stress trajectories identified in the UCI cohort.

A repeated measures ANCOVA was used to examine infant negative affect growth over time accounting for infant sex, gestational age, and maternal postnatal depression. An ANCOVA was used to model negative affect growth because there were not enough time points in the FinnBrain cohort to include a quadratic term in the LGM, which we have found to be necessary to capture the trajectory of infant negative affect development across the first two-years of life (Partridge & Lerner, 2007). Infant negative affect scores were residualized for postnatal depression at each time point to more closely match the time-varying covariate approach used in the LGM model as described in the supplement.

2.4. Results

Maternal Trajectories of Perinatal Stress Approach 1. Model-based Clustering Captures Magnitude

Maternal perinatal composite stress scores in the UCI cohort were entered into the FRF algorithm. The Model-based approach identified two clusters, divided nearly evenly, with a third cluster containing only one subject who was excluded from analysis. The two remaining clusters had significantly greater modularity than random assignments (Q=0.729, p<0.001, see Supplement) and captured magnitude differences in maternal perinatal stress (t(1998)=113.47, p<0.001, CI 0.414, 0.429), see Figure 2.2A. These clusters differed significantly at every time point in a two-way ANOVA (all p<0.001), and reflected mothers with high and low mean composite scores. We refer to these clusters, hereafter as *"magnitude clusters."* We next plotted the associated trajectories of the magnitude clusters, which clearly reflected the high/low split, in Figure 2.2B. The mean velocities of the two clusters were similar and mostly flat because they encompassed participants with varying trajectories (see Approach 2 below).



Maternal Perinatal Stress Magnitude Clusters in the Primary Cohort

Figure 2.2. Functional Random Forest identified distinct subgroups related to the magnitude of maternal stress. Maternal perinatal stress measures were completed during early (0), mid (1), and late (2) pregnancy, and 1 month postnatal (3). (A) Sorted proximity matrix for model-based approach. Two distinct clusters were identified. (B) Two distinct trajectories reflecting high/low maternal perinatal stress from model-based approach. Top row shows individual stress trajectories with central tendency of each cluster in bold. Group 1 (red) had lower maternal perinatal stress scores. Group 2 (blue) had higher scores and greater variability. Bottom row shows the velocity of perinatal stress (rate of change in maternal stress) with central tendency of each cluster in bold. The clusters did not show clearly divergent patterns in terms of velocity. Clusters are labeled in the upper right hand corner (1, 2). Far left column of both rows shows the central tendency of all clusters.

Although our primary analysis focuses on overall maternal psychological stress, we also examined the mean and standard deviation for each individual measure (CESD, PSS and STAI), see **Tables 2.9 - 2.12** in Supplemental Materials. We additionally plotted these results by magnitude cluster assignment to examine whether the overall trends were the same for each contributing measure (see **Figure 2.8** in Supplemental Materials).

Approach 2. Correlation-based Clustering Captures Shape and Velocity of Maternal Perinatal Stress

This analysis utilized the same participants as above and identified four Correlation-based clusters (Q=0.811, p<0.001, see **Figure 2.3A**) with distinct trajectories defined by the shape and velocity of changes in maternal perinatal stress, see **Figure 2.3B**. We hereafter refer to these clusters as "*trajectory clusters*." Clusters with less than 10 subjects were not considered reliable and were excluded from further analyses. The final trajectory clusters accounted for 102 mothers. The 13 mother-infant dyads that belonged to clusters excluded from the analyses did not differ significantly from those included, see missing data analysis section in supplement.

Trajectory 1 (late gestation peak) demonstrated a horizontal s-shape with lower stress at second trimester and a peak stress at the third trimester, see **Figure 2B**. The velocity for Trajectory 1 was highest between the second and third trimester indicating the greatest change in stress level across this period. The opposite pattern was present in Trajectory 2 (midgestation peak), which showed an early peak in stress at the second trimester followed by a decrease in stress in the third trimester. This trajectory also showed the greatest change between the second and third trimester, but in a direction opposite to Trajectory 1, indicating a decrease in stress. Trajectory 3 (late gestation increase) was u-shaped with a trough at the second trimester increasing across the third trimester. The velocity of Trajectory 3 demonstrated increasing stress across the third trimester to the first postnatal month. Finally, the shape and velocity of Trajectory 4 (postnatal decline) reflected a shallow initial rise followed by a drop-off in stress from the third trimester to the first postnatal month.

Maternal Perinatal Stress Trajectory Clusters in the Primary Cohort



Figure 2.3. Functional Random Forest identified distinct subgroups. Maternal perinatal stress measures were completed during early (0), mid (1), and late (2) pregnancy, and 1 month postnatal (3). (A) **Sorted proximity matrix for correlation-based approach.** Four clusters were identified. (B) **Four distinct trajectories reflecting differences in peak stress and velocity of stress over time from correlation-based approach.** Top row shows individual stress trajectories with central tendency of each cluster in bold. Bottom row shows the velocity (rate of change in maternal stress) of perinatal stress with central tendency of each cluster in bold. Clusters are labeled in the upper right hand corner (1-4). Far left column shows central tendency of all clusters.

As with the magnitude clusters, we examined mean total scores and standard deviations on the three measures at each perinatal time point (see **Tables 2.13 – 2.16** in Supplemental Materials). We also plotted scores for individual measures by trajectory cluster assignment to examine whether trends remain consistent for each contributing measure (see **Figure 2.9** in Supplemental Materials).

Maternal Perinatal Stress Clusters are Associated with Infant Negative Affect Development

We next examined the association between maternal clusters and infant negative affect development by adding dummy-coded magnitude and trajectory clusters as predictors, along with relevant covariates, to the LGM model of negative affect from three to 24 months ofage, see Supplemental Materials for analytic approach. The magnitude and trajectory clusters were included in the same model to evaluate their independent contributions to infant negative affect development.

Magnitude clusters. The magnitude clusters predicted the intercept term (B=0.339, p=0.008) suggesting that higher maternal perinatal stress throughout pregnancy is related to elevated infant negative affect at 3 months of age, **Table 2.21** in Supplemental Materials. However, when adjusting the models for maternal postnatal stress scores using time varying covariates, the magnitude clusters no longer predicted the intercept, suggesting that postnatal maternal stress explains the association between maternal perinatal stress and infant negative affect.

Trajectory clusters. Maternal trajectory clusters did not predict intercept. However, Trajectory 3 (late gestation increase) predicted less linear growth (*B*=-0.918,

67

p=0.032) of infant negative affect (**Table 2.21** in Supplement; **Figure 2.4A**, bottom left). When adjusting for maternal postnatal stress scores, Trajectory 3 continued to significantly predict the linear term of infant negative affect development (B=-0.921, p=0.031). The plot of infant negative affect development (**Figure 2.4a**, bottom left) suggests that infants of mothers in the Trajectory 3 (late gestation increase) show an overall divergent pattern of negative affect development, beginning at approximately 12 months of age. The level of negative affect was found to be significantly different between Trajectory 3 and the others clusters at 12 months (t=2.841, df=69, p=0.01).





Figure 2.4. Infant negative affect growth has an inverted u-shaped trajectory. A. *Top.* **Negative affect growth in the UCI cohort (Primary).** The quadratic shape in this model reflects an increase in negative affect mean scores until 12 months of age with scores then decreasing through 24 months of age. *Bottom.* **Trajectory 3 independently predicts slope of infant negative affect growth in the UCI cohort (Primary).** Trajectory 3 (orange) differs significantly (*) from the other clusters at 12 months of age (t=-2.841, p=0.01). **B.** *Top.* **Negative affect growth in the FinnBrain cohort (Replication).** Mean scores show negative affect increasing through 12 months of age then decreasing through 24 months of age. *Bottom.* **Trajectory clusters are associated with infant negative affect growth in the FinnBrain cohort (Replication).** Mean scores show negative affect scores at different time points of age then decreasing through 24 months of age. *Bottom.* **Trajectory clusters are associated with infant negative affect growth in the FinnBrain cohort** (**Replication).** Trajectory clusters are associated **with infant negative affect growth in the FinnBrain cohort** (**Replication).** Trajectory 3 (orange) differed significantly from all other clusters (*) and has lower negative affect mean scores compared to the other clusters.

We also examined the association between composite stress scores at each perinatal time point and infant negative affect development (See Supplemental Materials, **Tables 2.22-2.25**).

Replication in FinnBrain Cohort

Maternal Trajectory Clusters

To examine whether the maternal clusters could be replicated in an independent sample, we applied the parameters for the UCI trajectory clusters to maternal antenatal stress principal component scores from the FinnBrain cohort (**Figure 2.5**). FinnBrain Trajectory 1 showed the same decreasing then increasing stress found in the original sample Trajectory 1. Trajectory 2 similarly mimicked the increasing then decreasing stress observed in the original sample Trajectory 2. Trajectory 3 also showed an overall decline in stress followed by a flattening similar to the original Trajectory 3. In contrast, Trajectory 4 diverged from the original sample Trajectory 4 showing increasing then flattening stress. The antenatal FinnBrain trajectories are shown beside UCI trajectories in **Figure 2.5**.



Maternal Stress Across Pregnancy in the Primary and Replication Cohort

Figure 2.5. Maternal stress correlation-based trajectories are similar between primary and replication cohorts. Maternal stress measures were completed during early, mid, and late pregnancy in both cohorts. (**A**) Four distinct trajectories reflecting differences in antenatal stress from the correlation-based approach in the UCI cohort (Primary). (**B**) Four similar trajectories reflecting differences in antenatal stress were identified in the FinnBrain cohort (Replication) using the model parameters from the UCI cohort.

FinnBrain Cohort Maternal Antenatal Stress Clusters are Associated with Infant Negative Affect Trajectories

We next modeled infant negative affect development over the first two years of life. Consistent with the UCI cohort, a repeated measures ANOVA suggested that there was a statistically significant change in negative affect between 6 and 24 months (F = 111.319, p < 0.001). Bonferroni-corrected post-hoc tests revealed that negative affect increased from six (M = 3.02, SD = 0.75) to 12 months (M = 3.28, SD = 0.73) and decreased from 12 to 24 months (M = 2.91, SD = 0.55). This mimics the quadratic pattern of change identified with the LGM in the original sample, representing increasing negative affect, which peaked at 12 months of infant age, before decreasing (see **Figure 2.4B**).

We then examined the association between FinnBrain maternal antenatal stress clusters and infant negative affect development using a repeated measures ANCOVA with relevant covariates. Consistent with the results from the UCI cohort, maternal trajectory clusters showed a significant main effect of group on infant negative affect over time (F=3.04, p=0.028). This effect remained significant after adjusting for infant sex, length of gestation, and postnatal depression (F=3.23, p=0.022). Post-hoc analyses examining the contribution of specific trajectories also demonstrated a similar pattern to that identified in the original cohort. Specifically, there was a significant difference between Trajectory 3 and all other clusters for infant negative affect at 6 months (F=4.423, p=0.004), 12 months (F=6.674, p<0.001), and 24 months (F=6.011, p<0.001). The difference between Trajectories 3 and 4 remained significant when controlling for maternal postnatal depression, infant sex, and gestational age (12m: B= -0.202, p=0.020;

24m: B=-0.151, p=0.018). This suggests that, as in the UCI cohort, infants of mothers in the Trajectory 3 cluster show a divergent pattern of negative affect development beginning at approximately 12 months of age.

Maternal Perinatal Stress Clusters are Associated with Neonatal Functional Connectivity

To examine the effects of the maternal magnitude and trajectory clusters on the infant brain, we evaluated neonatal offspring functional connectivity in the UCI cohort. Maternal trajectory clusters were dummy coded and included as predictors in all analyses.

The **magnitude clusters**, capturing symptom severity, were not associated with neonatal Am-vmPFC (B=0.015, p=0.746) or Am-aI (B=0.008, p=0.841) functional connectivity; however, the **trajectory clusters** showed significant associations with amygdala connectivity. Trajectory 1 (late gestation peak), was significantly associated with stronger Am-vmPFC (B=0.173, p=0.011) and Am-aI (B=0.166, p=0.006) connectivity (see **Figure 2.6**). Trajectory 3 (late gestation increase in stress) also significantly predicted stronger Am-vmPFC connectivity (B=0.172, p=0.011). Trajectory 2 (midgestation peak) and 4 (postnatal decline) were not associated with alterations in Am-vmPFC or Am-aI connectivity.

We also examined the association between composite stress scores at each perinatal time point and neonatal functional connectivity (See Supplemental Materials, **Table 2.26**).



Figure 2.6. Maternal perinatal stress trajectory clusters are associated with neonatal infant amygdala connectivity. Both panels show results for the left amygdala using regions of interest (ROIs) identified in a prior study (Graham et al., 2016) and displayed here. Covariates for gestational age at birth and infant age at scan were included to account for neonatal brain maturity at the time of MRI scan acquisition. Correlation values are reported for amygdala functional connectivity (r). Circles represent cluster means. Bolded color bars represent interquartile range (25th to 75th percentile) and thin lines represent data from the 2.5th to 97.5th percentile. (A) Maternal trajectory clusters 1 and 3 were associated with stronger infant amygdala connectivity to the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC). Infant amygdala-vmPFC connectivity for mothers in the

1 2 3 4 Trajectory Cluster Trajectory 2 cluster appeared to be stronger compared to cluster 4, but did not reach statistical significance (B=0.127, p=0.069). (**B**) Maternal trajectory cluster 1 was associated with increased infant amygdala connectivity to the bilateral anterior insula (aI).

Maternal Perinatal Stress Clusters are Associated with Maternal History of Childhood Maltreatment

Finally, we examined the relationship between a history of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and maternal perinatal stress clusters in the UCI cohort. Total scores for each maltreatment subscale and the overall CTQ score were examined by maternal stress clusters using an ANOVA. The **magnitude clusters**, capturing symptom severity, were significantly associated with a history of maternal childhood maltreatment (see **Table 2.4**). The **trajectory clusters** did not show a significant association with a history of maternal childhood maltreatment (see **Table 2.4**).

	Group 1 (Low)		Group 2 (High)			
	Ν	Mean (SD)	Ν	Mean (SD)	F	Sig*
Emotional Abuse	56	6.68 (3.05)	57	8.58 (4.52)	6.829	0.010
Physical Abuse	56	5.55 (0.89)	57	7.28 (4.22)	8.965	0.003
Sexual Abuse	56	5.38 (1.32)	57	7.61 (5.29)	9.466	0.003
Emotional Neglect	56	7.91 (3.52)	57	10.82 (4.33)	15.364	< 0.001
Physical Neglect	56	5.80 (1.33)	57	7.82 (3.30)	18.163	< 0.001
Overall CTQ score	56	31.32 (7.39)	57	42.12 (18.18)	17.007	< 0.001

Table 2.4. Magnitude clusters are significantly associated with a history of maternalchildhood maltreatment.

*Bolded font indicates significant after Bonferroni correction

2.5. Discussion

In the current report, we found that trajectories of maternal perinatal stress were related to infant brain phenotypes and negative affect development over the first two years of life. Offspring of mothers with increasing or peak stress late in pregnancy showed increased amygdala functional connectivity at one month of age and altered negative affect development over the first two years of life. Interestingly, the overall magnitude of perinatal stress was not associated with offspring brain or behavioral development when considered in the same models with information about the trajectory of stress. The relationship between the trajectory of maternal stress during pregnancy and infant negative affect development was replicated in an independent cohort comprising more than 2,000 mother-infant dyads. Overall, the data highlight that the trajectory of maternal stress may contribute to both offspring brain and affective development in a manner that is independent of overall stress magnitude. We also found

that the magnitude of maternal stress during pregnancy was significantly related to a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood.

To many in the field, the finding that maternal psychological stress during pregnancy is related to infant emotional development, especially negative emotionality, is not surprising given the extant literature in this area. However, the large majority of these prior studies only consider the magnitude of stress. In the current report, we show that heterogeneity exists in maternal stress trajectories during pregnancy with regard to timing and rate of change, and this variance in trajectories is an important characteristic affecting offspring brain and behavioral outcomes. When grouping women by overall magnitude of stress versus the timing and rate of change in stress (trajectory), the trajectory appears to be more important for offspring brain and behavioral development.

Sampling Maternal Stress in Mid or Late Pregnancy may be Important to Reveal Associations with Infant Negative Affect Development

Our overall findings can be considered in two ways in the context of the current literature: (1) that the entire trajectory is an important parameter for offspring development that needs to be considered, and (2) in the absence of the trajectory (i.e. when studies only sample one time point), the time when that sample was taken is also critically important. To highlight this point, we followed our trajectory analyses by examining each antenatal time point separately (see **Tables 2.18 – 2.20**). Maternal stress, examined at single time points, during pregnancy and does not predict neonatal amygdala functional connectivity suggesting that the entire trajectory is an important parameter with regard to the observed brain outcomes. Maternal stress during mid and late pregnancy was associated with infant negative affect growth over the first two years of life indicating that sampling in mid or late pregnancy may be more likely to reveal associations between antenatal stress and infant negative affect development.

Maternal Stress Trajectories, as Opposed to Stress Magnitudes, are Related to Neonatal Amygdala Connectivity

In the UCI cohort, trajectories with either peaks or increases in maternal stress in late pregnancy, such as Trajectories 1 (late gestation peak) and 3 (late gestation increase), related strongly to offspring amygdala connectivity and negative affect development in offspring, even when accounting for the overall magnitude of maternal stress. The distinct effects of maternal psychological stress during late pregnancy on offspring limbic system development is in line with previous findings on maternal anxiety and infant hippocampal development, suggesting that the timing of stress may play a role in infant developmental outcomes (A Qiu et al., 2013; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2018). It is worth noting that Trajectory 3 (late gestation increase) was associated with distinct patterns of both offspring amygdala connectivity and infant negative affect development despite a pattern of lower magnitude of stress during pregnancy, further highlighting the importance of considering changes in stress across pregnancy and not the magnitude of maternal stress alone. The lower levels of maternal stress seen in Trajectory 3 were also found in the FinnBrain cohort. In both cohorts, Trajectory 3 was associated with an altered trajectory of infant negative affect, indicating the robustness of this finding.

Maternal-Placental-Fetal Biology During Mid to Late Pregnancy may Explain the Importance of Maternal Psychological Stress for Offspring Brain Outcomes

There is growing evidence to suggest that the fetus may be especially sensitive to extrauterine cues transmitted via stress-sensitive aspects of maternal-placental-fetal biology during late pregnancy. Cortisol bioavailability, which is altered during increased psychological stress, plays a key role in fetal maturation and is associated with risk for offspring psychopathology (Graham et al., 2019). Cortisol is involved in fetal brain neurogenesis, synaptogenesis, and axonal growth through glucocorticoid receptors (Graham et al., 2019). Although maternal cortisol levels vary across pregnancy, there is a surge during late pregnancy (Stoye et al., 2020). Several studies have shown that maternal cortisol during late pregnancy is associated with infant reactivity and negative emotionality (Braithwaite et al., 2017), a finding potentially explained by the high concentration of glucocorticoid receptors present in the amygdala (Graham et al., 2019). Increased psychological stress is also associated with increasing levels of inflammatory markers such as IL-6 and other cytokines that activate inflammatory processes in the fetal brain through both direct and indirect pathways (Graham et al., 2018). Like cortisol, IL-6 and other cytokines are important for fetal brain development, but can disrupt cellular survival and proliferation, and synaptogenesis if the levels are too high (Graham et al., 2019). Spann and colleagues (2018) found that higher levels of immune activation during the third trimester were associated with the strength of neonatal functional connectivity within the salience network including the medial prefrontal cortex (Spann et al., 2018). Similarly, Rudolph and colleagues (2018) showed that elevated maternal IL-6

concentrations during the third trimester were the most strongly associated with reduced infant working memory at two years of age (Rudolph et al., 2018). The period right before birth is characterized by a rapid and dramatic increase in total physical connections between neurons of the cerebral cortex and is therefore considered a critical period for development of the cortical connectome (van den Heuvel et al., 2014). Rapid cortical maturation, circuit formation, and increased neuronal connectivity are hallmarks of third trimester neurodevelopment, and may explain why this period is particularly sensitive to increases in maternal stress (Andescavage et al., 2017; Tau & Peterson, 2010; Moriah E. Thomason et al., 2015).

Maternal Stress Magnitudes, as Opposed to Stress Trajectories, are Related to Maternal Exposure to Childhood Maltreatment

In the UCI cohort, magnitude clusters representing greater stress severity across the perinatal period were significantly associated with a history of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood. Several studies have reported on the association between childhood maltreatment and greater psychological stress during pregnancy (Lara et al., 2015; River, Narayan, Atzl, Rivera, & Lieberman, 2019; J. S. Seng et al., 2009, 2013). Greater levels of depression and PTSD symptoms during pregnancy have been associated with higher levels of reported maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood (River et al., 2019), which is consistent with the present findings. Maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood is a chronic and distal stressor, and may affect stress levels more consistently across pregnancy instead of during a specific trimester. Given the known association between stress severity during pregnancy and maternal childhood maltreatment history, it is not surprising that maltreatment history was associated with magnitude and not trajectory clusters.

Limitations and Additional Considerations

There are several limitations to consider. First, maternal stress was characterized using self-report measures. Although not a diagnostic interview, the use of self-report measures to characterize stress is clinically relevant given that this is how depression and anxiety are typically monitored during routine antenatal care. Similarly, infant behavior was based on maternal-report measures. Infant emotions are difficult to assess and could reflect maternal mood, expectations, or recall. We addressed this limitation by including maternal stress at each infant behavior time point as a covariate. In addition, the replication of findings across two independent cohorts increases our level of confidence in the capacity of these measures to detect meaningful variation in the constructs of interest.

The FRF requires the user to specify the set and number of basis functions used to measure trajectories. In this study, such functions were chosen *a priori* based on the number of time points per participant. Such an approach limits the potential for overfitting the trajectories. While our selection is consistent with prior literature in Functional Data Analysis, tweaking these parameters may alter the trajectories and uncover different clusters. A future study of the FRF approach may seek to identify the best practices and standards for basis function selection. Second, while a supervised FRF can identify subtypes tied to a specific question (e.g. maternal health outcomes), an unsupervised RF was used to generate proximity matrices here (which was subsequently

81

used to identify subtypes). As a result, identified clusters are not tied to a specific question. This limitation is mitigated by the fact that the clusters themselves appeared biologically relevant. Nevertheless, future studies may want to use a supervised RF to better tie clusters to a specific or alternative clinical outcome.

The neuroimaging component of this study focused on the resting state functional connectivity between the amygdala and two regions of interest. The processing, interpretation, and expression of negative affect involves multiple brain regions and networks beyond those explored in the present study. Future work will be required to explore the full extent of how maternal perinatal stress trajectories relate to the structure and function of the neonatal brain. Future studies are also needed to explore the role of maternal stress in the postnatal environment. We were not powered to test the role of functional connectivity as a mediator in our model of maternal perinatal stress on the growth of infant negative affect. However, based on the current literature it is likely that alterations in the limbic system associated with stress exposure during pregnancy might explain some of the observed differences in the growth of infant negative affect over the first two years of life observed here.

The prevalence of maternal exposure to childhood maltreatment in the UCI cohort was low. Mothers with a history of childhood maltreatment were distributed across all of the perinatal stress clusters, making it difficult to probe the potential interaction between stress during pregnancy and maltreatment history. To better understand the interaction between stress during pregnancy and childhood maltreatment history, future work will need a larger cohort or a cohort enriched for a history of childhood maltreatment.

82

2.6. Conclusions

The identified trajectories provide information on the timing and variability of stress during pregnancy. Importantly, the trajectory clusters identified by the FRF differed in terms of the timing of peak stress and changes in the rate of stress across pregnancy. Recognizing the sequential process of neurodevelopment, it is likely that alterations in psychological stress have a differential impact on brain development depending on the timing of peak stress or change. Consistent with this conceptualization, we found that maternal perinatal stress trajectories were related to both infant neurodevelopment and psychosocial development in a manner independent of the overall magnitude of stress exposure. This work highlights the importance of considering variability in maternal perinatal stress over time, as opposed to focusing predominantly on stress severity. Advancing understanding of heterogeneity in perinatal psychological stress represents an important step towards identifying contributing factors to the experience of stress and the implications for offspring development. Finally, gaining a more nuanced understanding of perinatal stress and its influence on infant neurobiological and psychosocial development is critical for refining and improving preventive interventions designed to support maternal and infant mental health.
2.7. Supplemental Materials



Figure 2.7. UCI study cohort diagram. Boxes with white backgrounds represent excluded subjects. Reason for exclusion is described within each box. Boxes with a colored background represent included subjects and related analyses. IBQ: Infant Behavior Questionnaire-Revised scores, rsFC: resting-state Functional Connectivity, ^a Indicates infant data.

The Functional Random Forest

Using two approaches, the FRF identified different symptom-associated clusters. Because the FRF makes few assumptions about the nature of the data, these clusters represent trajectories that cannot be captured using a single parametric model, such as mixture modelling used in LGMs. LGMs are very powerful approaches to identifying clusters, but require specifying how many clusters to find and the shape of the trajectories. The FRF can identify varying trajectory shapes that are not specified or explored via multiple model comparisons. Though the FRF can be a hybrid approach to identify clusters tied to a developmental or clinical outcome (Feczko et al., 2017, 2019), our study used the FRF in an unsupervised manner to explore several potential outcomes.

Approach 1: Model-Based Clusters

The Model-based approach to identify clusters is a *hybrid approach*, where a Random Forest (RF) model evaluates whether real trajectories based on the symptom data provided to the algorithm can be dissociated from artificially generated trajectories. The approach uses a combination of Functional Data Analysis (FDA), RF, and Infomap. First, FDA is employed to capture underlying trajectories present in the longitudinal data (Brumback & Rice, 1998; Hall & Heckman, 2002; James, Hastie, & Sugar, 2000; Malfait & Ramsay, 2003; Ramsay, 2002). Specifically, 4th order cubic B-splines are fit to each individual's dataset and the coefficients (weights) for each individual are extracted from the best fit solution. Knots, fixed values with respect to time, are set at each of the observed time points. To limit the potential for unrealistic values (e.g. as shown by Runge's phenomenon) 2nd order cubic B-splines form a set of cost functions to penalize

coefficients where limited data may be available. Finally, unrealistic fits are evaluated by generating a dense timeseries from the basis functions per individual. This dense timeseries represents the "trajectory" of a given individual, and timeseries that do not fall within realistic values for the measures (i.e. between X or Y) are rejected and the individual is excluded from subsequent analysis. For each individual with acceptable data, the model's coefficients are passed to the Random Forest (RF) which classifies multiple patterns or pathways in these weights using decision trees (Breiman, 2001). Here, we used an unsupervised approach, meaning that the subject's stress scores were not linked to a specific outcome variable of interest, to classify between fake and real trajectories, using a 10-fold cross validation strategy repeated thrice. Fake trajectories were simulated by randomly shuffling the weights across the subjects, such that fake trajectories show only random fluctuations with time. Null models are generated by randomly permuting the labels between fake and real trajectories and performing the same 10-fold cross-validation. The null model measures performance under the assumption that trajectories are random. If the observed model performs better than expected by the null model, then it is likely that the observed trajectories are non-random. The RF produces a similarity matrix, which represents the number of times pairs of participants traveled the same paths throughout the forest. This proximity matrix is passed into Infomap (Feczko et al., 2017; Rosvall & Bergstrom, 2008) (see Figure 2.3A). To generate consensus communities, the proximity matrix was thresholded at multiple edge densities, from 20 to 100 percent in steps of 5 percent. Per threshold, communities were identified and a consensus community matrix was formed, where each cell

represents the proportion of times two participants were in the same community.

Consensus communities were identified by running Infomap on this consensus matrix.

Approach 2: Correlation-based Clusters

The Model-based, hybrid approach described above represents one way to identify putative trajectory subtypes. However, it is possible that other, equally valid subtypes may be identified with other approaches. We wanted to contrast the Modelbased cluster approach with another approach to examine potential differences in identified subtypes. Therefore, an alternate correlation-based approach was also used and compared with the model-based approach to see whether identified subgroups overlap, or whether it could identify new subtypes that may be important to potentially different outcomes. With the correlation-based approach, the trajectories of participants derived from FDA can be correlated from every participant to every other participant and passed into Infomap instead. From correlation-based clusters the FRF identified distinct trajectory clusters based on changes in maternal stress during the prenatal and perinatal period.

Modularity Analysis

Post-hoc analyses were conducted to examine the validity of identified clusters and further characterize differences in clusters (chi-square and ANOVAs). Modularity (Q) is a measure of clustering stability that can be unrelated to Infomap-identified subtypes. Specifically, modularity measures the proportion of edges within clusters to the total number of edges across all s nodes. Modularity is the difference between this

proportion and the mean proportion found in a series of randomly re-wired graphs, and therefore represents the cluster stability greater than what is observed in similarly structured but random graphs. Modularity was calculated on both of the model-based and correlation-based subtypes and significance was calculated via a permutation test, where 10,000 permutations were run. Per permutation, subtype assignment was shuffled across cases and modularity was calculated as above, forming a null distribution across all 10,000 permutations. The significance of the observed modularity is its proportional rank on the null distribution. Here, we additionally measured modularity for each cluster, by calculating the proportion of edges within each cluster relative to the total possible number of edges across all the given cluster's nodes. Though modularity is typically an overall metric, the per-network metric allows us to assess differences in cluster stability post hoc. Modularity permutation tests show that all clusters had significantly greater modularity than random assignments, suggesting that the clusters represent stable subgroups. The modularity associated with the lowest edge density and modularity values at each edge density and by community are reported in the Tables 2.5 - 2.7.

Edge		
Density	Q	p value
0.20	0.729	< 0.001
0.25	0.718	< 0.001
0.30	0.709	< 0.001
0.35	0.696	< 0.001
0.40	0.676	< 0.001
0.45	0.660	< 0.001
0.50	0.639	< 0.001
0.55	0.617	< 0.001
0.60	0.596	< 0.001
0.65	0.572	< 0.001
0.70	0.545	< 0.001
0.75	0.514	< 0.001
0.80	0.481	< 0.001
0.85	0.451	< 0.001
0.90	0.421	< 0.001
0.95	0.385	< 0.001
1.00	0.291	< 0.001

Table 2.5. Overall modularity for magnitude clusters by density.

Table 2.6. Community modularity for magnitude clusters by density.

Edge	Clu	Cluster 1 ^a		Cluster 2 ^a		ster 3
Density	Q	p value	Q	p value	Q	p value
0.20	0.959	< 0.001	0.961	< 0.001	0.498	0.083
0.25	0.939	< 0.001	0.937	< 0.001	0.494	0.115
0.30	0.922	< 0.001	0.920	< 0.001	0.492	0.118
0.35	0.901	< 0.001	0.894	< 0.001	0.488	0.161
0.40	0.863	< 0.001	0.856	< 0.001	0.487	0.177
0.45	0.830	< 0.001	0.821	< 0.001	0.487	0.131
0.50	0.788	< 0.001	0.782	< 0.001	0.485	0.131
0.55	0.747	< 0.001	0.739	< 0.001	0.484	0.357
0.60	0.705	< 0.001	0.697	< 0.001	0.482	0.609
0.65	0.659	< 0.001	0.649	< 0.001	0.480	0.790
0.70	0.604	< 0.001	0.595	< 0.001	0.480	0.745
0.75	0.542	< 0.001	0.537	< 0.001	0.478	0.915
0.80	0.476	< 0.001	0.472	< 0.001	0.477	0.990
0.85	0.415	< 0.001	0.413	< 0.001	0.477	0.975
0.90	0.355	< 0.001	0.352	< 0.001	0.478	0.954
0.95	0.281	< 0.001	0.280	< 0.001	0.478	0.946
1.00	0.091	< 0.001	0.091	< 0.001	0.481	0.645

^a Cluster has greater than 10 subjects and included in analyses

Table 2.7. Overall modularity for trajectory clusters by density.

Edge						
Density	0.05	0.06	0.07	0.08	0.09	0.10
Q	0.811	0.793	0.774	0.746	0.729	0.704
p value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001

 Table 2.8. Community modularity for trajectory clusters by density.

	Edge Density											
	0.	05	0.	.06	0.	.07	0.	08	0.	.09	0.	10
Cluster	Q	р	Q	р	Q	р	Q	р	Q	р	Q	р
1 ^a	0.949	< 0.001	0.916	< 0.001	0.897	< 0.001	0.863	< 0.001	0.850	< 0.001	0.818	< 0.001
2 a	0.839	< 0.001	0.828	< 0.001	0.810	< 0.001	0.800	< 0.001	0.788	< 0.001	0.775	< 0.001
3 ^a	0.730	< 0.001	0.727	< 0.001	0.699	< 0.001	0.660	< 0.001	0.645	< 0.001	0.614	< 0.001
4	0.574	< 0.001	0.563	< 0.001	0.561	< 0.001	0.545	< 0.001	0.535	< 0.001	0.528	< 0.001
5 ^{ab}	0.629	< 0.001	0.630	< 0.001	0.621	< 0.001	0.615	< 0.001	0.606	< 0.001	0.590	< 0.001
6	0.510	< 0.001	0.504	< 0.001	0.502	< 0.001	0.496	0.004	0.492	0.014	0.491	0.010
7	0.510	< 0.001	0.509	< 0.001	0.508	< 0.001	0.507	< 0.001	0.506	< 0.001	0.504	< 0.001
8	0.500	0.009	0.496	0.085	0.496	0.071	0.495	0.089	0.494	0.080	0.493	0.109

^a Cluster has greater than 10 subjects and included in analyses

^b Referred to as cluster 4 in all analyses

Maternal Stress, Anxiety, and Depression by Cluster

Participants in the UCI cohort completed the CESD, PSS, and STAI in early (M:

12.84, SD: 1.83 weeks), mid (M: 20.50, SD: 1.44 weeks) and late (M: 30.48, SD: 1.39

weeks) pregnancy and at one month postpartum. Mean total scores and standard

deviations on the three measures at each perinatal time point are provided by cluster in

Tables 2.9-2.12 and plotted in Figure 2.8.

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Stress Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Magnitude Cluster 1	27.75 (7.56)	8.88 (4.35)	8.77 (4.63)
Magnitude Cluster 2	37.96 (8.39)	15.13 (5.89)	18.18 (9.17)

Table 2.9. Maternal psychological stress by magnitude clusters in early pregnancy.

Table 2.10. Materna	l psychological	l stress by magnitud	le clusters in mid	pregnancy.
---------------------	-----------------	----------------------	--------------------	------------

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Stress Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Magnitude Cluster 1	25.38 (5.06)	8.65 (4.58)	5.86 (3.54)
Magnitude Cluster 2	39.96 (10.08)	15.06 (5.85)	17.98 (9.11)

Table 2.11. Maternal psychological stress by magnitude clusters in in late pregnancy.

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Stress Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Magnitude Cluster 1	28.053 (6.05)	9.81 (5.10)	8.40 (5.08)
Magnitude Cluster 2	41.11 (9.24)	16.63 (6.34)	19.98 (8.14)

Table 2.12. Maternal psychological stress by magnitude clusters in earlypostpartum.

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Stress Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Magnitude Cluster 1	26.53 (6.35)	11.00 (4.94)	6.84 (4.69)
Magnitude Cluster 2	37.36 (10.23)	18.21 (5.58)	17.05 (9.97)



Figure 2.8. Maternal psychological stress mean scores by magnitude clusters across

pregnancy.

	Table 2.13. Maternal	psychological stress	by trajectory	v clusters in early pregnancy
--	----------------------	----------------------	---------------	-------------------------------

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Stress Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Trajectory Cluster 1	32.29 9.64)	11.74 (5.91)	13.94 (9.83)
Trajectory Cluster 2	34.63 (11.33)	14.35 (7.01)	15.15 (10.10)
Trajectory Cluster 3	31.58 (9.22)	9.84 (4.60)	11.64 (5.02)
Trajectory Cluster 4	33.86 (8.67)	10.92 (5.05)	15.79 (8.34)

Table 2.14. Maternal	psychological	stress by t	trajectory	clusters in mid	pregnancy.
					F . O

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Stress Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Trajectory Cluster 1	30.03 (7.94)	11.70 (5.54)	10.94 (8.46)
Trajectory Cluster 2	42.28 (13.37)	15.12 (6.94)	18.63 (11.56)
Trajectory Cluster 3	27.30 (5.59)	8.73 (4.41)	7.38 (4.43)
Trajectory Cluster 4	31.36 (8.67)	13.64 (4.78)	13.67 (7.19)

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Stress Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Trajectory Cluster 1	37.34 (9.98)	14.33 (6.73)	17.86 (9.71)
Trajectory Cluster 2	34.37 (11.47)	15.78 (6.59)	14.93 (8.44)
Trajectory Cluster 3	28.50 (5.49)	10.56 (5.86)	8.92 (4.81)
Trajectory Cluster 4	40.43 (9.42)	13.14 (6.68)	17.29 (8.85)

Table 2.15. Maternal psychological stress by trajectory clusters in late pregnancy.

Table 2.16. Maternal psychological stress by trajectory clusters in early postpartum.

	Anxiety	Stress	Depression
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Trajectory Cluster 1	32.46 (10.99)	14.86 (6.15)	11.60 (7.97)
Trajectory Cluster 2	34.00 (11.81)	15.63 (6.20)	14.04 (10.54)
Trajectory Cluster 3	30.35 (7.36)	14.73 (6.47)	10.46 (6.58)
Trajectory Cluster 4	29.36 (7.87)	12.14 (6.97)	10.07 (8.42)



Figure 2.9. Maternal psychological stress mean scores by trajectory clusters across pregnancy.

Maternal Psychological Stress Measures in the Replication Cohort

Participants in the FinnBrain cohort completed the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) (Cox et al., 1987) and the Symptom Checklist (SCL-90) (Derogatis et al., 1973) in early (M: 15.2, SD: 2.7 weeks), mid (M: 25.3, SD: 1.5 weeks) and late (M: 35.1, SD: 1.8 weeks) pregnancy, and at six, twelve, and twenty-four months postpartum. Averages of mean total scores and standard deviations on the two measures at each antenatal time point are provided below, see **Tables 2.17 – 2.19**.

 Table 2.17. Replication Cohort: Maternal anxiety and depression by trajectory

 clusters in early pregnancy.

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Whole sample	3.21 (3.94)	4.99 (3.94)
Trajectory Cluster 1	3.26 (3.79)	5.05 (3.91)
Trajectory Cluster 2	3.57 (4.30)	5.36 (3.99)
Trajectory Cluster 3	2.96 (3.91)	4.67 (4.09)
Trajectory Cluster 4	2.76 (3.14)	4.62 (3.11)

Table 2.18. Replication Cohort: Maternal anxiety and depression by trajectory

clusters in mid pregnancy.

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Whole sample	3.81 (4.28)	4.79 (4.04)
Trajectory Cluster 1	3.12 (3.38)	3.84 (3.26)
Trajectory Cluster 2	6.36 (5.11)	7.68 (4.26)
Trajectory Cluster 3	1.84 (2.47)	2.63 (2.57)
Trajectory Cluster 4	6.17 (5.09)	7.88 (3.60)

Table 2.19. Replication Cohort: Maternal anxiety and depression by trajectory

	Anxiety Mean (SD)	Depression Mean (SD)
Whole sample	3.11 (3.91)	4.74 (4.00)
Trajectory Cluster 1	4.91 (4.67)	7.08 (4.02)
Trajectory Cluster 2	2.70 (3.34)	4.15 (3.54)
Trajectory Cluster 3	1.24 (1.90)	2.27 (2.32)
Trajectory Cluster 4	5.30 (4.57)	7.98 (3.63)

clusters in late pregnancy.

Potential Confounders Relevant for Maternal Clusters and Infant

Outcomes

Potential confounders relevant to neonatal brain and negative affect development were examined to determine whether any identified associations between maternal psychological stress during pregnancy and infant brain and behavioral development could be better explained by other aspects of the prenatal or postnatal environment. These included annual household income, obstetric risk, and postnatal maternal psychological stress. Annual income was assessed during the first prenatal visit using standardized structured interviews. Income was captured as a categorical variable: Below \$15,000; \$15,000-29,999; \$30,000-49,999; \$50,000-100,000; and over \$100,000. Obstetric risk includes the presence of major medical complications during pregnancy such as placenta abruption, preeclampsia, and gestational diabetes. Complications were identified through medical chart review and coded as a binary variable capturing the presence or absence of a risk factor.

We first examined how magnitude and trajectory clusters related to potential confounds using IBM SPSS Statistics 25 (IBM Corp., 2017). The magnitude clusters

differed significantly by annual income with lower annual household income associated with higher perinatal stress ($\chi 2(4)=11.975$, p=0.018). Magnitude clusters did not differ significantly by maternal age (F=0.420, p=0.518), infant gestational age at birth (F=0.663, p=0.417), infant sex ($\chi 2(1)=0.141$, p=0.707), race/ethnicity ($\chi 2(7)=9.443$, p=0.222), obstetric risk ($\chi 2(4)=2.763$, p=0.598), or level of maternal education ($\chi 2(7)=9.161$, p=0.241). The trajectory clusters did not differ significantly by maternal age (F=0.174, p=0.914), infant gestational age at birth (F=0.987, p=0.402), infant sex ($\chi 2(3)=0.341$, p=0.952), race/ethnicity ($\chi 2(21)=14.245$, p=0.859), level of maternal education ($\chi 2(21)=16.616$, p=0.734), or annual income ($\chi 2(12)=16.823$, p=0.156). Trajectory clusters differed by obstetric risk ($\chi 2(8)=1.000$, p=0.042).

Given the observed differences in maternal annual income and obstetric risk between clusters, we included them in our initial model to assess their contribution to infant outcome measures. Maternal annual income (Am-vmPFC: B=0.018, p=0.811; AmaI: B= -0.001, p=0.184), obstetric risk (Am-vmPFC: B= -0.002, p=0.318; Am-aI: B=0.020, p=0.616), and infant sex (Am-vmPFC: B= -0.044, p=0.369; Am-aI: B= -0.070, p=0.098) were not associated with amygdala functional connectivity and were not included in the final model. Although magnitude groups differed significantly by maternal annual income, maternal annual income did not significantly predict the parameters of infant negative affect development (see **Table 2.20**) and therefore was not included in the model. Obstetric risk and infant sex were not associated with infant negative affect development and therefore were not included in the final model (see **Table 2.20**).

 Table 2.20. Annual income, obstetric risk, and infant sex do not predict the

 parameters of infant negative affect development.

	Intercept		Sle	ope	Quadratic	
	Beta	p-value	Beta	p-value	Beta	p-value
Annual income	-0.002	0.236	0.001	0.236	-0.001	0.693
Obstetric risk	0.107	0.467	-0.172	0.467	0.019	0.895
Infant sex	0.042	0.747	0.039	0.881	-0.081	0.481

Latent Growth Model

Infant negative affect growth from 3 to 24 months of age was defined using a quadratic growth curve model with intercept factor loadings fixed at 0 (3 months) and linear factor loadings fixed at 3, 6, 9, 12, and 24 months. In order to improve the fit of the model, q was restricted due to limited variance, and the means at 9 and 12 months were allowed to covary because they were highly correlated, AIC = 721.553, χ^2 (8) = 13.252, p = 0.104, CFI = 0.966, TLI = 0.957, RMSEA = 0.077. Consistent with our prior work and the literature (Braungart-Rieker et al., 2010; Brooker et al., 2013; Garstein & Rothbart, 2003; Graham et al., 2016; Partridge & Lerner, 2007; Thomas et al., 2019), infant negative affect increases over the first year of life and then decreases to 24 months of age, forming an inverted u-shaped trajectory defined by a quadratic term with a significant negative mean (M= - 0.452, p<0.001; Figure 2.4A). The slope (M=1.061, p<0.001) was positive and significant, reflecting an overall increase in negative affect over time, see Figure 2.4A, top left. The mean (M=2.990, p<0.001) and variance (σ^2 = 0.304, p<0.001) of the intercept term were also significant indicating large interindividual differences in infant negative affect at 1 month of age (see **Table 2.21**). The

intercept and growth terms from these models were used as outcome variables in analyses examining infant behavior. Missing data was estimated in MPlus using Full Information Maximum Likelihood (FIML).

For the conditional models, variables describing membership in each Correlationbased cluster were created by dummy coding clusters 1 through 3 (membership=1). Cluster 4 was used as the referent cluster. Maternal perinatal stress clusters were examined with the LGM parameters capturing infant negative affect development as the outcome of interest. The same forward selection approach was used here as described for the linear regression models. Maternal postnatal stress can have an impact on infant negative affect development and may affect maternal report of infant behavior. Therefore, the final model included maternal postnatal stress as a time-varying covariate at each time point when negative affect was assessed to account for its role as a possible contributing factor to infant negative affect growth in subsequent analyses. We were not powered to test the role of functional connectivity as a mediator in our model of maternal perinatal stress on the growth of infant negative affect. Unstandardized estimates (*B*) are reported for all growth models unless otherwise noted.

 Table 2.21. Infant negative affect growth reflects significant individual differences

 and is associated with maternal perinatal stress clusters.

	Uncondi	tional	Perinatal	Clusters	Perina Clusters Postnatal	ital s and Stress
	Estimate	SE	Estimate	SE	Estimate	SE
Intercept Mean	2.990***	0.064	2.363***	0.284	2.613***	0.304
Intercept Variance	0.304***	0.056	0.272***	0.052	0.254***	0.051
Slope Mean	1.061***	0.125	1.267*	0.546	0.664	0.620
Slope Variance	0.062	0.035	0.069*	0.034	0.070*	0.033
Quadratic Mean	-0.452***	0.056	-0.434	0.242	-0.256	0.272
Quadratic Variance	restric	cted	restri	cted	restric	ted
Predictors of intercept						
Magnitude clusters			0.339**	0.127	0.179	0.145
Trajectory group 1			0.043	0.214	0.024	0.207
Trajectory group 2			0.187	0.220	0.177	0.208
Trajectory group 3			0.192	0.229	0.198	0.219
Predictors of slope						
Magnitude clusters			-0.006	0.251	0.369	0.314
Trajectory group 1			0.070	0.408	0.140	0.411
Trajectory group 2			0.067	0.412	0.127	0.410
Trajectory group 3			-0.918*	0.428	-0.921*	0.427
Predictors of quadratic						
Magnitude clusters			-0.023	0.110	-0.132	0.137
Trajectory group 1			-0.115	0.181	-0.137	0.181
Trajectory group 2			-0.134	0.183	-0.156	0.180
Trajectory group 3			0.359	0.190	0.360	0.187

*** p< 0.001 **p<=0.01 *p<0.05

Single Time Point Analysis of Infant Negative Affect Development

Latent growth curve models (LGM) were performed using perinatal composite stress scores at a single time point and infant negative affect growth over the first two years as the outcome. Maternal stress at early, mid, and late pregnancy is associated with the intercept of infant negative affect. In early pregnancy this association disappears when maternal postnatal stress is accounted for within the model (**Table 2.22**). Maternal stress in mid pregnancy is additionally associated with the quadratic term of infant negative affect growth. When maternal postnatal stress is accounted for within the model, mid pregnancy stress is associated with the linear and quadratic terms of infant negative affect growth (**Table 2.23**). Similar results are observed in late pregnancy, late pregnancy stress is associated with the linear and quadratic term of infant negative affect growth the linear and quadratic term of infant negative affect growth when postnatal stress is included in the model (**Table 2.24**). Model fit indices for perinatal composite stress scores at each pregnancy time point and in the presence of time-varying covariates of maternal postnatal stress are shown in **Table 2.25**. Table 2.22. Infant negative affect growth and maternal psychological stress in earlypregnancy.

	Early pregnancy composite		Early pregnancy	with postnatal
			time-varying	g covariates
	Estimate	p-value	Estimate	p-value
Intercept Mean	2.980	0.0001	2.984	0.0001
Intercept Variance	0.257	0.0001	0.239	0.0001
Slope Mean	1.083	0.0001	1.077	0.0001
Slope Variance	0.060	0.082	0.069	0.050
Quadratic Mean	-0.460	0.0001	-0.456	0.0001
Quadratic Variance	restri	cted	restri	cted
Predictors of intercept				
Composite stress score (t0)	0.256	0.001	0.161	0.076
Predictors of slope				
Composite stress score (t0)	-0.057	0.716	0.121	0.560
Predictors of quadratic				
Composite stress score (t0)	-0.006	0.929	-0.047	0.609

 Table 2.23. Infant negative affect growth and maternal psychological stress in mid

pregnancy.

	Mid pregnancy composite		Mid pregnancy with postnata time-varying covariates	
	Estimate	p-value	Estimate	p-value
Intercept Mean	2.987	0.0001	2.992	0.0001
Intercept Variance	0.251	0.0001	0.228	0.0001
Slope Mean	1.103	0.0001	1.077	0.0001
Slope Variance	0.053	0.114	0.050	0.156
Quadratic Mean	-0.470	0.0001	-0.459	0.0001
Quadratic Variance	restri	cted	restricted	
Predictors of intercept				
Composite stress score (t1)	0.197	0.003	0.104	0.182
Predictors of slope				
Composite stress score (t1)	0.224	0.108	0.471	0.007
Predictors of quadratic				
Composite stress score (t1)	-0.129	0.038	-0.208	0.009

Table 2.24. Infant negative affect growth and maternal psychological stress in late pregnancy.

	Late pregnancy composite		Late pregnancy with postnatal time-varying covariates	
	Estimate	p-value	Estimate	p-value
Intercept Mean	2.974	0.0001	2.984	0.0001
Intercept Variance	0.261	0.0001	0.235	0.0001
Slope Mean	1.075	0.0001	1.056	0.0001
Slope Variance	0.056	0.093	0.055	0.105
Quadratic Mean	-0.455	0.0001	-0.449	0.0001
Quadratic Variance	restri	icted	restricted	
Predictors of intercept				
Composite stress score (t2)	0.187	0.008	0.064	0.443
Predictors of slope				
Composite stress score (t2)	0.206	0.146	0.535	0.003
Predictors of quadratic				
Composite stress score (t2)	-0.122	0.051	-0.236	0.004

Table 2.25. Fit indices for maternal prenatal composite stress scores and infant

negative affect growth with time-varying covariates of maternal postnatal stress.

	Early pregnancy (n=110)	Mid pregnancy (n=110)	Late pregnancy (n=110)
Maternal composite st			
AIC	985.346	999.058	1001.959
χ2 (10), pvalue	15.624, 0.111	10.818, 0.372	11.073, 0.352
RMSEA	0.072	0.027	0.031
CFI	0.966	0.995	0.993
TLI	0.948	0.993	0.990
Maternal composite st	tress scores with time-va	arying covariates	
AIC	2328.938	2313.920	2319.575
χ2 (53), pvalue	299.574, 0.0001	284.557, 0.0001	290.211
RMSEA	0.206	0.816	0.202
CFI	0.393	0.422	0.414
TLI	0.278	0.313	0.304

Single Time Point Analysis of Neonatal Functional Connectivity

We also examined the association between composite stress scores at each perinatal time point to neonatal amygdala functional connectivity (see **Table 2.26**). Regression models with perinatal composite stress scores at a single time point and neonatal functional connectivity as the outcome were performed. Each model included one pregnancy time point with infant age at scan and gestational age as covariates. Perinatal composite stress scores at single time points during pregnancy do not predict neonatal functional connectivity (see **Table 2.26**).

 Table 2.26. Perinatal composite stress scores at single time points during pregnancy

 do not predict neonatal functional connectivity.

			Standardized	
	Beta	p-value	Beta	p-value
Amygdala to vmPFC (N=60)				
Early (M: 12.84, SD: 1.83 weeks)	0.006	0.854	0.024	0.854
Mid (M: 20.50, SD: 1.44 weeks)	0.013	0.614	0.066	0.613
Late (M: 30.48, SD: 1.39 weeks)	-0.006	0.816	-0.030	0.816
Amygdala to aI (n=60)				
Early (M: 12.84, SD: 1.83 weeks)	-0.009	0.733	-0.044	0.733
Mid (M: 20.50, SD: 1.44 weeks)	-0.032	0.149	-0.182	0.143
Late (M: 30.48, SD: 1.39 weeks)	0.006	0.802	0.032	0.802

Childhood Maltreatment

We examined the relationship between a history of maternal exposure to

maltreatment during childhood and maternal perinatal stress clusters in the UCI cohort.

Total scores for the maltreatment subscale and the overall CTQ score were analyzed by

maternal stress clusters using an ANOVA. The **magnitude clusters**, capturing symptom severity, were significantly associated with a history of maternal childhood maltreatment (see **Table 2.4**). The **trajectory clusters** did not show a significant association with a history of maternal childhood maltreatment (see **Table 2.27**).

	Trajectory Group 1		Trajectory Group 2			Trajectory Group 3		Trajectory Group 4		
	Ν	Mean (SD)	N	Mean (SD)	N	Mean (SD)	Ν	Mean (SD)	F	Sig
Emotional Abuse	34	8.32 (4.20)	27	8.26 (4.61)	26	6.19 (2.28)	14	8.64 (5.54)	1.79	0.15
Physical Abuse	34	6.12 (2.32)	27	7.33 (4.85)	26	5.58 (0.81)	14	8.14 (5.56)	2.22	0.09
Sexual Abuse	34	6.24 (3.47)	27	8.26 (6.69)	26	5.27 (0.83)	14	7.50 (5.30)	2.25	0.09
Emotional Neglect	34	10.0 (4.07)	27	10.33 (4.54)	26	7.50 (3.49)	14	9.36 (4.36)	2.56	0.06
Physical Neglect	34	6.41 (2.02)	27	7.78 (3.21)	26	6.50 (2.45)	14	7.21 (3.95)	1.47	0.23
Overall CTQ score	34	37.09 (12.76)	27	41.96 (20.59)	26	31.04 (7.29)	14	40.86 (21.90)	2.41	0.07

 Table 2.27. Trajectory clusters are not significantly associated with a history of

 maternal childhood maltreatment.

Missing Data Analysis

All missing data analysis was completed using IBM SPSS Statistics 25 and compared excluded subjects to the full sample (n=115). The Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CESD), Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), State-Trait Anxiety

Inventory (STAI) were only calculated if three or fewer items were missing. Mean scores were calculated for each scale to reduce the effect of missing items. Averages across the perinatal time period are reported for each measure below.

Maternal Psychological Stress Measures

The 135 mother-infant dyads excluded from the analyses based on missing early pregnancy or early postpartum maternal psychological stress measures did not differ significantly from those included by maternal age (F=0.590, p=0.443), infant gestational age at birth (F=0.662, p=0.431), infant sex (χ 2(1)<0.001, p=0.974), race/ethnicity (χ 2(9)=16.699, p=0.054), level of maternal education (χ 2(7)=7.404, p=0.388), obstetric risk (χ 2(2)=1.547, p=0.461), maternal stress composite scores (early trimester F=0.158, p=0.692; mid F=0.157, p=0.692, late pregnancy F=0.964, p=0.327; 1 month postnatal F=0.301, p=0.584) average depression (F=1.011, p=0.316), average perceived stress (F=1.715, p=0.192), or average anxiety (F=0.008, p=0.930), see **Table 2.28**. The excluded mother-infant dyads differed by infant age at MRI scan (F=4.598, p=0.035), excluded neonates were scanned at a younger age, and by annual income (χ 2(4)=10.145, p=0.038), a great number of excluded mothers reported income over \$100,000 and fewer reported income below \$15,000 compared to included mothers. The PSS was added after the CESD and STAI, thus more women are missing that measure during pregnancy.

Table 2.28. Comparison of demographics for full sample versus sample excluded

from Functional Random Forest analysis.

	Full Sample	Excluded Sample
	(n=115) Mean (SD)	(n=135) Mean (SD)
Maternal age in first trimester, Years	28.07 (4.88)	27.54 (5.85)
Infant Age		
Gestational age at hirth Weeks	39.24 (1.53)	39.42 (1.58)
Gestational age at onth, weeks	(n=110)	(n=97)
Age at functional MRI data collection Days	26.22 (11.45)	19.63 (12.60)
	(n=60)	(n=16)
Average depression (early pregnancy – early	0.65 (0.39)	0.73 (0.44)
postpartum)	()	(n=35)
Average perceived stress (early pregnancy –	1.32 (0.55)	1.22(0.58)
Avarage any intra (apply program on a party)		(n=131) 1.64 (0.20)
nostpartum)	1.64 (0.43)	(n=35)
posipartanij	No (%)	<u>(n 55)</u> No (%)
Infant Sex	(n=110)	(n=95)
Male	59 (54)	51(54)
Female	51 (46)	44 (46)
Race/Ethnicity	(n=105)	(n=35)
Caucasian non-Hispanic	42 (40)	15 (43)
African American non-Hispanic	1(1)	1 (3)
Asian non-Hispanic	8 (8)	0
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	8 (8)	1 (3)
Caucasian Hispanic	40 (38)	11 (31)
Asian Hispanic	1(1)	1 (3)
Multi-racial Hispanic	5 (5)	1 (3)
Other	0	5 (14)
Highest Level of Maternal Education	(n=106)	(n=35)
Primary, elementary, or middle school	4 (4)	2(6)
High school or test equivalent	19 (18)	2(23)
A sussistant de suss	44 (43)	14(39)
Associates degree	0(0) 22(20)	2(0) 0(26)
Gross Annual Household Income	52(50)	9(20)
< \$15 000	(II-III) 13 (12)	(II=125) 7 (6)
< \$15,000 \$15,000 - 29,999	15(12) 15(14)	7(0) 27(22)
\$30,000 - 49,999	29 (26)	27(22) 20(16)
\$50,000 - 100,000	43 (39)	49 (39)
> \$100,000	11 (10)	22 (18)

Maternal Trajectory Clusters

The 13 mother-infant dyads that belonged to trajectory clusters excluded from the analyses did not differ significantly from those included by maternal age (F=2.320, p=0.131), infant gestational age at birth (F=0.128, p=0.722), infant age at MRI scan (F=0.557, p=0.458), infant sex (χ 2(1)<0.001, p=0.996), race/ethnicity (χ 2(7)=7.121, p=0.416), level of maternal education (χ 2(7)=3.440, p=0.842), annual income (χ 2(4)=4.702, p=0.319), obstetric risk (χ 2(2)=0.830, p=0.660), maternal stress composite scores (early trimester F=2.235, p=0.138; mid F=2.865, p=0.093, late pregnancy F=3.813, p=0.053; 1 month postnatal F=0.117, p=0.732) average depression (F=1.411, p=0.237), average perceived stress (F=0.203, p=0.653), or average anxiety (F=0.511, p=0.476), see **Table 2.29**.

Table 2.29. Comparison of demographics for analytic sample versus sample

excluded from trajectory clusters.

	Analytic Sample	Excluded
	(N=102)	Sample (N-13)
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Maternal age in first trimester. Years	27.82 (5.02)	30.00 (3.08)
Infant Age	27.02 (0.02)	20.00 (0.00)
Gestational age at birth Weeks	39.27 (1.51)	39.11 (1.40)
Costational age at ontal, works	26 99 (11 84)	24 00 (9 39)
Age at MRI data collection, Days—Functional	(n=73)	(n=10)
Average depression (early pregnancy – early		
postpartum)	0.57 (0.39)	0.44 (0.34)
Average perceived stress (early pregnancy –		
early postpartum)	1.11 (0.55)	1.04 (0.70)
Average anxiety (early pregnancy – early	1 40 (0 41)	1 40 (0 25)
postpartum)	1.48 (0.41)	1.40 (0.35)
· · · ·	No. (%)	No. (%)
Infant Sex		(· · · /
Male	55 (54)	7 (54)
Female	47 (46)	6 (46)
Race/Ethnicity	(n=94)	(n=11)
Caucasian non-Hispanic	40 (43)	2 (18)
African American non-Hispanic	1 (1)	0
Asian non-Hispanic	7 (7)	1 (9)
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	8 (9)	0
Caucasian Hispanic	32 (34)	8 (73)
Asian Hispanic	1 (1)	0
Multi-racial Hispanic	5 (5)	0
Highest Level of Maternal Education	(n=94)	(n=12)
Primary, elementary, or middle school	3 (3)	1 (8)
High school or test equivalent	18 (19)	1 (8)
Vocational school or some college	39 (42)	6 (50)
Associates degree	6 (6)	0
Bachelors or graduate level degree	28 (30)	4 (33)
Gross Annual Household Income	(n=98)	(n=13)
< \$15,000	13 (13)	0
\$15,000 - 29,999	13 (13)	2 (15)
\$30,000 - 49,999	25 (26)	4 (31)
50,000 - 100,000	39 (40)	4 (31)
> \$100,000	8 (8)	3 (23)

MRI Scan

The 55 mother-infant dyads excluded from the MRI scan did not differ significantly from those included by maternal age (F=0.113, p=0.737), infant gestational age at birth (F=1.107, p=0.295), infant sex (p=0.709, Fischer's exact test, 2-sided), race/ethnicity (χ 2(7)=11.186, p=0.131), level of maternal education (χ 2(7)=6.347, p=0.500), annual income (χ 2(4)=1.812, p=0.770), obstetric risk (χ 2(2)=1.816, p=0.403), maternal stress composite scores (early trimester F=0.287, p=0.593; mid F=0.030, p=0. 628, late pregnancy F=0.862, p=0.355; 1 month postnatal F=0.755, p=0.387), average depression (F=0.518, p=0.473), average perceived stress (F=0.740, p=0.392), or average anxiety (F=0.658, p=0.419), see **Table 2.30**.

Table 2.30. Comparison of demographics for analytic sample versus sample

excluded from MRI scan.

	Analytic	
	Sample	Excluded
	(N=60)	Sample (N=55)
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Maternal age in first trimester, Years	28.22 (4.75)	27.91 (5.06)
Infant Age		
Gestational age at birth, Weeks	39.11 (1.56)	39.40 (1.42)
Aga at MPI data collection Dava Eurotional	26.22 (11.45)	27.70 (13.01)
Age at MRI data conection, Days—Functional	(n=60)	(n=23)
Average depression (early pregnancy – early	0.58 (0.30)	0.53(0.37)
postpartum)	0.58 (0.57)	0.55 (0.57)
Average perceived stress (early pregnancy – early	1 15 (0 57)	1.05 (0.56)
postpartum)	1.15 (0.57)	1.05 (0.50)
Average anxiety (early pregnancy – early	1 50 (0 38)	1 44 (0 43)
postpartum)	1.50 (0.58)	1.++ (0.+3)
	No.(%)	No.(%)
Infant Sex		
Male	31 (52)	31 (56)
Female	29 (48)	24 (44)
Race/Ethnicity	(n=59)	(n=46)
Caucasian non-Hispanic	25 (42)	17 (37)
African American non-Hispanic	1 (2)	0
Asian non-Hispanic	6 (10)	2 (4)
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	5 (9)	3 (7)
Caucasian Hispanic	16 (27)	24 (52)
Asian Hispanic	1 (2)	0
Multi-racial Hispanic	5 (9)	0
Highest Level of Maternal Education	(n=60)	(n=46)
Primary, elementary, or middle school	2 (3)	2 (4)
High school or test equivalent	12 (20)	7 (15)
Vocational school or some college	24 (40)	21 (46)
Associates degree	2 (3)	4 (9)
Bachelors or graduate level degree	20 (33)	12 (26)
Gross Annual Household Income	(n=58)	(n=53)
< \$15,000	6 (10)	7 (13)
\$15,000 - 29,999	8 (14)	7 (13)
\$30,000 - 49,999	17 (29)	12 (23)
50,000 - 100,000	23 (40)	20 (38)
> \$100,000	4 (7)	7 (13)

Infant Negative Affect

The 5 mother-infant dyads excluded from the infant negative affect analyses did not differ significantly from those included by maternal age (F=0.386, p=0.535), infant gestational age at birth (F=0.100, p=0.752), infant sex (p=1.000, Fischer's exact test, 2-sided), race/ethnicity (χ 2(7)=2.631, p=0.917), level of maternal education (χ 2(7)=6.985, p=0.430), annual income (χ 2(4)=1.066, p=0.900), obstetric risk (χ 2(2)=0.255, p=0.880), maternal stress composite scores (early trimester F=0.876, p=0.351; mid F=0.295, p=0.588, late pregnancy F=0.067, p=0.796; 1 month postnatal F=0.025, p=0.876), average depression (F=0.105, p=0.746), average perceived stress (F=2.633, p=0.107), or average anxiety (F=0.499, p=0.481), see **Table 2.31**.

Table 2.31. Comparison of demographics for analytic sample versus sample

excluded	from	infant	negative	affect	growth	models.

-	Analytic Sample	Excluded
	(N=110)	Sample (N=5)
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Maternal age in first trimester. Years	28.01 (4.85)	29.40 (6.03)
Infant Age		
Gestational age at birth. Weeks	39.24 (1.50)	39.46 (0.26)
	26.37 (11.87)	37.00 (0.00)
Age at functional MRI data collection, Days	(n=81)	(n=2)
Average depression (early pregnancy – early		
postpartum)	0.55 (0.38)	0.61 (0.37)
Average perceived stress (early pregnancy –	1 12 (0 5 (0.71(0.41)
early postpartum)	1.12 (0.56)	0.71 (0.41)
Average anxiety (early pregnancy – early	1 47 (0 40)	160(0.46)
postpartum)	1.47 (0.40)	1.00 (0.40)
	No.(%)	No.(%)
Infant Sex		
Male	59 (54)	3 (60)
Female	51 (46)	2 (40)
Race/Ethnicity	(n=101)	(n=4)
Caucasian non-Hispanic	41 (41)	1 (25)
African American non-Hispanic	1 (1)	0
Asian non-Hispanic	7 (7)	1 (25)
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	8 (8)	0
Caucasian Hispanic	38 (38)	2 (50)
Asian Hispanic	1 (1)	0
Multi-racial Hispanic	5 (5)	0
Highest Level of Maternal Education	(n=102)	(n=4)
Primary, elementary, or middle school	3 (3)	1 (25)
High school or test equivalent	19 (19)	0
Vocational school or some college	43 (42)	2 (50)
Associates degree	6 (6)	0
Bachelors or graduate level degree	31 (30)	1 (25)
Gross Annual Household Income	(n=106)	(n=5)
< \$15,000	12 (11)	1 (20)
\$15,000 - 29,999	14 (13)	1 (20)
\$30,000 - 49,999	28 (26)	1 (20)
50,000 - 100,000	41 (39)	2 (40)
> \$100,000	11 (10)	0

Finn Data, Replication Sample Missing Data Analysis

In comparison with the mothers in the baseline cohort (N = 3,808), mothers who reported infant negative affect (NA) for at least one time point were older (7.34, p <0.001), more highly educated ($\chi 2 = 90.33$, p <0.001) and more satisfied with their economic situation (T = -3.95, p <0.001). They also reported slightly fewer symptoms (Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale M = 4.47-4.97, SD = 3.93-4.04, SCL M = 3.10-3.80, SD = 3.81-4.29) than those who did not report infant NA at any postnatal time points (EPDS M = 5.51-5.61, SD = 4.14-4.38, Symptom Checklist M = 3.51-4.27, SD = 3.90-4.4.24), p <0.001).

The sample with complete NA data (N = 1,062) did not differ from the main study sample used in the present study (N = 2,156) in terms of infant NA at any time point (p > 0.20) tested using both raw scores and residualized scores. The complete NA sample also did not differ from the main sample (N = 2,156) in terms of infant gestational age, but the responders reported less depressive symptoms at 1st (T = 2.025, p = 0.043) and 3rd trimester (T = 2.45, p = 0.014). There were no differences regarding the symptoms at any other time point or regarding anxiety symptoms. There was no significant difference in the prenatal trajectory group distributions between those who reported the complete NA data and those who did not (χ 2= 4.56, p = 0.217).

CHAPTER 3. INTERGENERATIONAL EFFECT OF MATERNAL EXPOSURE TO CHILDHOOD MALTREATMENT AND ASSOCIATIONS WITH NEONATAL AMYGDALA FUNCTIONAL CONNECTIVITY AND INFANT BIOBEHAVIORAL OUTCOMES

3.1 Abstract

Background: Childhood maltreatment, such as abuse or neglect, is a pervasive public health problem with devastating and lasting consequences for psychological well-being and overall health across the lifespan. Although previously thought to be limited to a single individual, the negative effects of childhood maltreatment may be transmitted across generations, increasing the risk for behavioral and psychiatric disorders in the offspring. An increased understanding of the mechanisms underlying intergenerational effects is important for the development of preventive interventions. The present study, therefore, aims to examine the associations between maternal childhood maltreatment and offspring brain and biobehavioral outcomes employing a study design that increases the capacity to disentangle the effects of the pre-versus postnatal environment. We employ a prospective study design examining maternal reports of childhood maltreatment history in relation to offspring neonatal amygdala functional connectivity. We further examine whether alterations in neonatal amygdala connectivity may serve as a potential pathway through which maternal childhood maltreatment history relates to maternalinfant attachment style and infant cortisol reactivity at 12 months of infant age.

Methods: Maternal childhood maltreatment history was assessed during pregnancy using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) in 64 women. Shortly after birth (M=26.48 \pm 11.43 days), their offspring underwent a resting state functional connectivity (rsFC) MRI scan during natural sleep. A whole-brain voxel-wise regression model was performed with the log of the total CTQ score predicting offspring amygdala functional connectivity. Neonatal amygdala connections that remained significantly associated with maternal childhood maltreatment after adjusting for potential confounds were considered as potential candidate neural phenotypes to examine in relation to infant attachment classification and cortisol reactivity. A structural equation model was used to test for mediation by examining the indirect path from maternal childhood maltreatment history to infant biobehavioral outcomes via the selected newborn neural phenotype.

Results: Neonates of mothers with a history of childhood maltreatment showed altered amygdala functional connectivity to several brain regions including the pars opercularis, parahippocampus, temporal pole, dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (dACC), occipital cortex, fusiform, precentral gyrus, and cuneus. Follow up analyses focused on amygdaladACC functional connectivity, due to its role in stress reactivity and regulation. Stronger amygdala-dACC functional connectivity related to increased likelihood of infants developing an insecure attachment at 12 months of age after adjusting for key potential confounds in the postnatal environment. Interestingly, stronger neonatal amygdala-dACC connectivity also mediated the association between maternal history of childhood maltreatment and increased risk of insecure attachment. Infant cortisol reactivity at twelve months of age was not related to neonatal amygdala-dACC functional connectivity.

Conclusion: The results of this study suggest a neural phenotype related to a maternal history of childhood maltreatment. The findings further suggest that the intrauterine period is important for the intergenerational transmission of the effects of maternal childhood maltreatment, even in a cohort with relatively low rates of reported childhood maltreatment. Given the role of the anterior cingulate cortex as a potential biomarker for both risk and resilience, and its clear sensitivity to environmental influences, it is imperative to explore how prenatal and preconceptional interventions can best support maternal and infant mental health.

3.2 Introduction

Childhood maltreatment, such as abuse or neglect, is a pervasive public health problem with devastating and lasting consequences for psychological well-being and overall health across the lifespan. These effects include alterations in affective and cognitive processing, changes in physiological and behavioral states, heightened stress responsivity (Grant et al., 2011; Marusak et al., 2015; van Nierop et al., 2018), and an increased risk for psychopathology (Afifi et al., 2009; Duncan et al., 1996; Edwards et al., 2003; Felitti et al., 1998; C. Heim et al., 2008; Min, Minnes, et al., 2013; Navalta et al., 2006; Shonk & Cicchetti, 2001; Teicher & Samson, 2013). Additionally, there is growing evidence demonstrating the distinct impact of childhood maltreatment on maternal health during pregnancy. A history of childhood maltreatment has been shown to increase the odds of antenatal depression (Barrios et al., 2015; Bouvette-Turcot et al., 2017; Choi et al., 2015; Gartland et al., 2016; Lara et al., 2015; Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Mezey et al., 2005; Robertson-Blackmore et al., 2013) in a dose-dependent manner (Blackmore et al., 2016), even when accounting for sociodemographic and psychosocial factors (Choi & Sikkema, 2016). Anxiety (Gartland et al., 2016; Lara et al., 2015), poor mental health, and intimate partner violence during pregnancy (Gartland et al., 2016; Huth-Bocks et al., 2013) are also associated with a maternal history of childhood maltreatment. Several studies suggest that pregnancy itself may trigger reminders of relational trauma (Huth-Bocks et al., 2013), be re-traumatizing (Lev-Wiesel et al., 2009; Mezey et al., 2005; Montgomery, 2013), and increase symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Choi et al., 2015; Lev-Wiesel et al., 2009; Mezey et al., 2005).

Although previously thought to be limited to a single individual, the negative effects of childhood maltreatment may be transmitted across generations, increasing the risk for behavioral and psychiatric disorders in the offspring (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017; Collishaw et al., 2007; H Dubowitz et al., 2001; Folger et al., 2017; Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Min, Singer, et al., 2013; Miranda et al., 2011; Moog et al., 2018; Dominic T Plant et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2017; Thompson, 2007). Recently, Hendrix and colleagues (2020) found that maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood was associated with stronger offspring amygdala functional connectivity to the dACC and ventromedial prefrontal cortex at one month of age (Hendrix et al., 2020). Alterations in infant neurobiological and psychosocial development may eventually explain the observed relationship between a history of maternal childhood maltreatment and increased developmental risk (Folger et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2017), altered cortisol levels and stress reactivity (Brand et al., 2010), emotional and behavioral dysregulation (Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Min, Singer, et al., 2013; Miranda et al., 2011; Thompson, 2007), negative emotionality (Bosquet Enlow et al., 2017), and altered

attachment security in offspring (Khan & Renk, 2018; Levy & Orlans, 1998; Savage et al., 2019).

The existing paradigm posits that the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment primarily occurs in the context of postnatal maternal-infant attachment and maternal mood; however, there is growing evidence that the intergenerational transmission of maltreatment may also occur during the prenatal period. Maternalplacental-fetal biology likely plays a key role in the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment through alterations in maternal stress biology resulting from a history of maltreatment (Buss et al., 2017). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis dysregulation is one of the long-lasting effects of childhood maltreatment (Buss, Entringer, & Wadhwa, 2012; Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006; Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004). In a study comparing pregnant women with and without a history of sexual abuse, sexual abuse history was associated with increasing waking cortisol across pregnancy and the absence of a dampening response in late pregnancy (Bublitz & Stroud, 2012). Maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood has also been associated with an increase in placental CRH production during the second half of pregnancy, again reflecting HPA dysregulation during late pregnancy (Moog et al., 2016).

However, many study designs make it difficult to disentangle the effects of maternal childhood maltreatment history on offspring development that is transmitted during pregnancy from effects due to postnatal exposure to maternal mood and parenting. A recent study by Moog and colleagues made some headway in this regard by examining infant brain structure shortly after birth in relation to maternal childhood maltreatment history. They showed that maternal childhood maltreatment was associated with global

differences in infants' cortical gray matter and reduced intracranial volume at one month of age (Moog et al., 2018). Similarly, Hendrix and colleagues found that a maternal history of maltreatment during childhood was associated with stronger neonatal amygdala functional connectivity to regions associated with fear and stress processing (Hendrix et al., 2020). The results of these studies provide support for an intergenerational effect of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood on offspring neurodevelopment prior to exposure to the postnatal environment.

We are seeking to build on these findings by examining maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood in relation to the neonatal amygdala with a focus on functional connectivity. Studies have shown an association between maternal psychological and biological stress mediators during pregnancy and altered offspring limbic system development in infancy (Graham et al., 2018; A Qiu et al., 2015; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2015). It is currently hypothesized that the vulnerability of this system is due to its rapid growth during the fetal period. The amygdala contains a high density of glucocorticoid receptors that detect and respond to stress hormones (Herzog et al., 2020) making it susceptible to stress mediators associated with maternal-placental-fetal gestational biology (Buss, Entringer, Swanson, et al., 2012). The amygdala also plays an important role in emotional responses and stress-induced alterations may increase the risk for altered stress reactivity and attachment insecurity in offspring. Therefore, we will examine how potential amygdala alterations, already evident in the neonatal brain, relate to the subsequent formation of maternal-infant attachment and infant stress reactivity.

Childhood maltreatment is pervasive, and an increased understanding of the mechanisms underlying intergenerational effects is important for the development and
implementation of preventive interventions. The present study, therefore, aims to examine the associations between maternal childhood maltreatment and offspring brain and behavioral outcomes employing a study design that increases capacity to disentangle effects of the pre-versus postnatal environment. We specifically employ a prospective study design examining maternal report of childhood maltreatment history, from prior to the birth of their infant, in relation to offspring neonatal amygdala functional connectivity. We further examine whether alterations in neonatal amygdala functional connectivity may serve as a potential pathway through which maternal childhood maltreatment history relates to maternal-infant attachment style and infant cortisol reactivity at 12 months of infant age. Focusing on the neonatal brain and its associations with attachment and cortisol reactivity increases our ability to differentiate between prenatal and postnatal influences and helps us to elucidate potential prenatal mechanisms for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment.

3.3 Methods and Materials

Participants

Mother-infant dyads (n=64) enrolled as part of a prospective longitudinal cohort conducted at the University of California, Irvine (UCI) were recruited through prenatal clinics during early pregnancy from February 2011 to November 2018, for details see (Moog et al., 2018). Exclusionary criteria included use of psychotropic medications or systemic corticosteroids during pregnancy, premature birth (before 34 weeks' gestation), and infant genetic, congenital, or neurological disorder (Graham et al., 2018). For detailed demographic data; see **Table 3.1**. Biobehavioral data was obtained from infants at 12 months of age (attachment: mean = 11.33, SD = 3.35; cortisol: M: 11.76, SD=2.61

months). All procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the

University of California, Irvine.

	Mean (SD)
	(n=64)
Maternal age in first trimester, Years	28.53 (5.23)
Infant Age	
Gestational age at birth, Weeks	39.19 (1.50)
Age at functional MRI data collection, Days	26.48 (11.43)
Infant Sex	No. (%)
Male	34 (53)
Female	30 (47)
Race/Ethnicity	(n=60)
Caucasian non-Hispanic	27 (45)
African American non-Hispanic	1 (2)
Asian non-Hispanic	5 (8)
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	5 (8)
Caucasian Hispanic	17 (28)
Asian Hispanic	1 (2)
Multi-racial Hispanic	4 (7)
Highest Level of Maternal Education	(n=60)
Primary, elementary, or middle school	1 (2)
High school or test equivalent	9 (15)
Vocational school or some college	30 (50)
Associates degree	2 (3)
Bachelors or graduate level degree	18 (30)
Gross Annual Household Income	(n=60)
< \$15,000	6 (10)
\$15,000 - 29,999	13 (21)
\$30,000 - 49,999	15 (24)
\$50,000 - 100,000	23 (37)
> \$100,000	5 (8)

Table 3.1. Demographics for study cohort.

Maternal Measures

Maternal childhood maltreatment history was assessed in mid-pregnancy using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) (D P Bernstein et al., 1994). The CTQ is a standardized, retrospective self-report tool that assesses five domains of childhood maltreatment: physical, sexual, and emotional abuse; and physical and emotional neglect. It is a 28-item questionnaire with 3 items making up an additional Minimization/Denial scale designed to capture potential under-reporting (Villano et al., 2004). Each item within the five maltreatment domains is scored on a 5 point scale where 1 = never and 5 = very often. The total CTQ score is a sum score of all maltreatment domains (range 25 – 125), see **Table 3.2**. In the present study, the total CTQ score was log-transformed to normalize the distribution of the data and used as the principal predictor in statistical analyses.

 Table 3.2. Mean (SD) scores on the CTQ scales and number (%) of women meeting

 cut-off for maltreatment classification.

		Moderate	Severe
	Mean (SD)	N (%)	N (%)
Emotional Abuse Subscale (range= 1-5)	1.52 (0.80)	8 (15.4)	3 (5.3)
Physical Abuse Subscale (range= 1-5)	1.29 (0.68)	5 (10.2)	4 (6.9)
Sexual Abuse Subscale (range= 1-5)	1.21 (0.64)	8 (15.4)	3 (5.3)
Emotional Neglect Subscale (range= 1-5)	1.86 (0.86)	8 (15.4)	5 (8.5)
Physical Neglect Subscale (range= 1-5)	1.39 (0.60)	11 (20.0)	4 (6.6)
CTQ Total Score (range = 25-125)	36.31 (14.52)		

Mothers completed the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CESD) (Radloff, 1977) in early, mid, and late pregnancy and at one, three, six, nine, twelve, and twenty-four months postpartum. During pregnancy, 37 (57.8%) of the women reported at least one clinically elevated mean CESD score (CESD≥0.8). Maternal postnatal depression was included in analyses examining infant attachment in order to adjust for the potential influence of the postnatal environment.

MRI and fMRI Data Acquisition and Processing

Data Acquisition

Data were acquired at approximately one month of age $(26.48 \pm 11.43 \text{ days})$ during natural sleep. High-resolution T1-weighted (MP-RAGE TR = 2400 ms, inversion time = 1200 ms, echo time = 3.16 ms, flip angle = 8°, resolution = 1 x 1 x 1 mm, 6 min 18 secs) and T2-weighted (TR = 3200 ms, echo time = 255ms, resolution = 1 x 1 x 1 mm, 4 min 18 secs) images were obtained using a TIM Trio, Siemens Medical System 3.0T scanner. Resting-state functional connectivity (rs-FC) magnetic resonance images (MRI) were obtained using a gradient-echo, echoplanar imaging (EPI) sequence sensitive to blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) contrast (TR = 2000 ms; TE = 30 ms; FOV = 220 x 220 x 160 mm; flip angle = 77°). Steady-state magnetization was assumed after 4 frames (8 ~ s).

fMRI Data Preprocessing

All functional MRIs were processed using a modified version of the Human Connectome Project (HCP) processing pipeline (DCAN-Labs, 2020b; Glasser et al.,

2013). Several modifications were made to improve the segmentation and parcellation of neonatal images. ANTs DenoiseImage (Manjón, Coupé, Martí-Bonmatí, Collins, & Robles, 2010) and N4BiasFieldCorrection (Tustison et al., 2010) were applied to model Rician scanner noise and bias field inhomogeneities respectively. Next, we performed a rigid body transform to anterior commissure - posterior commissure (AC-PC)-align both T1w and T2w structural images to the neonate template from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) pediatric template (0- to 2-month age range; National Institutes of Health MRI Study of Normal Brain Development) (Almli, Rivkin, & McKinstry, 2007). For brain extraction, a T2w nonlinear warp from atlas-space to native space was performed to the binarized the NIH age-specific atlas in MNI space. A rigid body registration of the T2w to T1w image was used to convert the resulting T2w brain mask to a T1w brain mask. Following T1w masking, we have the initial skull-stripped T1w and T2w infant brain in native volume space. Extracted brains are refined by computing tissue classes in the T2w brain using the ANTs Atropos (Avants, Tustison, Wu, Cook, & Gee, 2011; Avants, Tustison, & Song, 2009) algorithm and applying the gray matter/white matter (GM/WM) masks to the T1w brain. The masked T1w and T2w are then nonlinearly registered to the MNI infant atlas. Segmentation was completed based on the T1 with ANTS Joint Label Fusion (H. Wang et al., 2013) and employing 10 infant atlases with labeled brain regions, which had been refined through manual correction. Finally, the mean intensity of the resulting cortical white and grey matter labels were shifted to match the FreeSurfer adult atlas. This hyper-normalization procedure facilitates the use of HCP's FreeSurfer recon-all to generate white and pial surfaces necessary for surfacebased analyses.

rs-fcMRI Preprocessing

DCAN-BOLDproc (DCAN-Labs, 2020a) was used to correct time courses. These steps included resting state time course detrending and processing with mean whole brain, ventricle, and white matter signal as well as displacement on the 6 degrees of freedom, rigid body registration, and their derivatives (Ciric et al., 2017; Friston, Mechelli, Turner, & Price, 2000; Hermosillo et al., 2020; J. D. J. D. Power et al., 2014). Time courses were then filtered using a first order Butterworth band pass filter between 9 and 80 mHz backwards and forwards using MATLAB's *filtfilt* function (MathWorks, n.d.). To correct for motion, an examination of frame-wise displacement (FD) was conducted and volumes with greater than 0.3 mm FD plus the preceding volume and subsequent 3 volumes were removed. Following frame removal for motion, scan length was about 5.80 minutes (range: 4.23 – 6.40 minutes) with a remaining FD of 0.089 (range: 0.056-0.127).

Amygdala Connections

We focused on amygdala connectivity due to prior work indicating the vulnerability of the amygdala to maternal-placental-fetal gestational biology and its role in emotion regulation (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012; Graham et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2019). Individual amygdalae segmentation was performed using a multi-template, multimodality based method that combined T1 and T2 weighted high-resolution images (J. Wang et al., 2014). Following anterior-posterior realignment, amygdala segmentations were manually corrected using ITK-Snap (Yushkevich et al., 2006) as described in (Graham et al., 2019). For rs-fcMRI analyses, amygdalae were transformed to atlas space based on the previously computed atlas transformation (Graham et al., 2018).

Attachment at 12 months of age

The well-established Strange Situation Paradigm (SSP) was used to assess attachment at 12 months of age (Ainsworth et al., 1978). The administration of the SSP followed established procedures, including two episodes of separation and reunion with mothers and an interaction with a stranger (Ainsworth et al., 1978). SSP coding of videotapes followed established procedures for classifying mother-infant dyads as Secure, Insecure-Avoidant, Insecure-Ambivalent/Resistant, and Insecure-Disorganized (Ainsworth et al., 1978). Coding was conducted by V. Alhusen, who underwent extensive training with L.A. Sroufe and E. Carlson at the Institute of Child Development, University of Minnesota and attachment classification of the study cohort is presented in the supplement Table 5. A dichotomous variable indicating secure (51.9%) versus insecure (48.1%) attachment classification was used for analyses in the present study. Secure attachment was coded as 1 and insecure attachment was coded as 0. Within the insecure group, the majority of infants were classified as anxious-avoidant and no infants were coded as disorganized, see **Table 3.3**.

		N (%)
		(n=52)
Insecure	A1	4 (7.69)
Avoidant	A2	16 (30.77)
Secure	B1	8 (15.38)
	B2	11 (21.15)
	B3	5 (9.62)
	B4	3 (5.77)
Insecure	C1	3 (5.77)
Resistant	C2	2 (3.85)

Table 3.3. Attachment classification on the Strange Situation Paradigm for mother-infant dyads at 12 months of infant age.

Infant Cortisol Reactivity

Cortisol reactivity was assessed by examining the change in salivary cortisol concentrations in response to a potential stressor, the SSP. At 12 months of age (M: 11.76, SD=2.61), three saliva samples were collected from infants by lab assistants on arrival to the lab (baseline), immediately after finishing the SSP (sample 1), and 10 minutes after the SSP (sample 2). Research assistants placed a Salivette (Sarstedt, Newton, NC) directly from a plastic vial into the children's mouths. Once saturated, the Salivette was returned to the vial. The samples were stored at -20 °C until being mailed to the laboratory for assay. Salivary cortisol concentrations were measured using a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) from Salimetrics (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Ten percent of the samples were assayed in duplicate. The lower limit of sensitivity of the assay was 0.007 µg/dl with a standard curve range from 0.012 µg/dl to 3.0 µg/dl. The assay had an average intra-assay coefficient of variation of 5.42% and an

average inter-assay coefficient of variation of <10%. Outliers were winsorized at +/-3 SD. Many infants had peak cortisol levels at baseline, likely as a result of coming to the laboratory setting (see **Figure 3.1**). Cortisol Samples 1 and 2 were averaged because 37.5% of infants had a cortisol increase immediately after the SSP (Sample 1) and 50% had their peak 10 minutes after (Sample 2). The remaining 12.5% of infants had no change in cortisol between sample 1 and 2. Cortisol percent increase was calculated by subtracting the baseline sample from this mean, dividing that value by the baseline sample and multiplying the resulting value by 100.

	M (SD) (n=48)
Cortisol measures	
Pre-stressor	0.1377 (0.1049)
Post-stressor (Sample 1)	0.1233 (0.0951)
Post-stressor (Sample 2)	0.1406 (0.1097)
Reactivity ([((Avg post1 and post2) – pre) \div pre])	0.4154 (1.1353)
Age at Collection	11.76 (2.61)

Table 3.4. Mean (SD) of infant cortisol levels and age at collection.



Figure 3.1. Infant cortisol reactivity during the Strange Situation Paradigm. Many infants had peak cortisol levels at baseline. Of those infants who showed an increase in cortisol during the post-stressor assessment times, 37.5% showed an increase immediately after the Strange Situation Paradigm (SSP) and 50% had their peak 10 minutes after (Sample 2). The remaining 12.5% of infants had no change in cortisol between sample 1 and 2.

Potential confounds relevant for neonatal brain and infant biobehavioral

outcomes

Potential confounds relevant to neonatal brain development, infant attachment and cortisol reactivity were examined to determine whether any identified associations between a history of maternal childhood maltreatment and neonatal brain and biobehavioral outcomes could be better explained by other aspects of the prenatal or postnatal environment. These included annual household income, obstetric risk, infant sex, and maternal depression. Annual income was assessed during the first prenatal visit using standardized structured interviews. Income was initially captured as a categorical variable: Below \$15,000; \$15,000-29,999; \$30,000-49,999; \$50,000-100,000; and over \$100,000. Obstetric risk includes the presence of major medical complications during pregnancy such as placenta abruption, preeclampsia, and gestational diabetes. Complications were identified through medical chart review and coded as a binary variable capturing the presence or absence of a risk factor. Maternal depression was assessed using the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CESD) (Radloff, 1977), which was completed at early, mid, and late pregnancy; and at 1, 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of infant age.

Analytic Approach

Left and right amygdalae were examined separately because of the evidence for sexual dimorphism in the neonatal brain (Gilmore et al., 2007). The log-transformed total CTQ score served as the independent variable, infant gestational age at birth (GA), infant sex, and age at scan as covariates, and left and right amygdala whole-brain voxelwise connectivity as the dependent variable in regression models using MPlus (Muthén & Muthén, 2017). The test statistic was spatially normalized across the brain using a z score-transformation. The estimates from the regression models were the inputs for a cluster-extent based thresholding procedure using PALM ("PALM/UserGuide - FslWiki," n.d.). A threshold value of 3.1 was applied to the z-score statistic image. The extent of the cluster was used as the test statistic. Clusters of contiguous supra-threshold voxels were identified from the thresholded image and ordered by size. A permutation test was conducted under the assumptions of Gaussian random field theory, where the z-score statistical map was shuffled and the largest identified cluster size was stored. A p-value was calculated for each cluster based on size using 1000 permutations as the null distribution. A threshold of 3.1 has been shown to be conservative enough to avoid excessive false positive rates (Eklund, Nichols, & Knutsson, 2016). Post hoc analyses were conducted with the correlation coefficients (r) representing the strength of amygdala connection to clusters identified in the whole-brain analyses.

Post hoc regressions examined the role of potential confounders including maternal depression during pregnancy, income, obstetric risk, and infant sex. Neonatal amygdala connections that remained significantly associated with maternal childhood maltreatment after adjusting for potential confounds were considered as potential candidate neural phenotypes, representing distinct patterns of functional connectivity, to examine in relation to infant attachment classification and cortisol reactivity. A structural equation model was used to test for mediation by examining the indirect path from maternal childhood maltreatment history to infant outcomes via the selected newborn neural phenotype (Hayes, 2017).

131

3.4 Results

Amygdala Connectivity

Maternal childhood maltreatment was significantly associated with neonatal amygdala connectivity, with different patterns of connectivity present for the left and right amygdalae. For the left amygdala, higher CTQ scores were associated with stronger positive connectivity to the pars opercularis, left parahippocampus, temporal pole, and dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (dACC); and negative connectivity to occipital cortex, fusiform, left parahippocampus, and cuneus (see **Table 3.5, Figure 3.2A**). For the right amygdala, higher CTQ scores were associated with stronger positive connectivity to the parabippocampus, and cuneus (see **Table 3.5, Figure 3.2A**).



Figure 3.2. Left and right neonatal amygdala functional connectivity. Results for left (A) and right (B) amygdala whole-brain regressions. The log of the total CTQ score was the independent variable and covariates for sex, gestational age at birth, and infant age at scan were included to account for neonatal brain maturity at the time of MRI scan acquisition. Z score-transformed estimates above a threshold of $z = \pm 3.1$ are shown.

Table 3.5. Maternal childhood maltreatment history is associated with neonatal amygdala connectivity. Regions are in ascending order based on cluster extent size. The Pearson correlation between the maternal log-transformed total CTQ score and the extracted connection between the amygdala and each identified region was examined. The direction (positive or negative) is indicated for childhood maltreatment (CM) in the last column. All associations reached statistical significance.

Region	Hem	X	y	Z	Cluster size	CM*
Left Amygdala			-			
Frontal inferior gyrus, opercular	L	-53	11	6	50	+
Calcarine	L	-15	-72	18	54	-
Fusiform	L	-34	-31	-27	66	-
Parahippocampal, uncus	L	-22	0	-31	77	+
Dorsal anterior cingulate cortex	L	-3	13	28	81	+
Parahippocampal gyrus	L	-34	-38	-13	87	-
Parahippocampal, uncus	R	24	7	-34	109	+
Cuneus	L	-9	-91	27	133	-
Right Amygdala						
Precentral gyrus	L	-52	16	8	53	+

* p<0.01 for all associations

The effect of maternal childhood maltreatment remained significant for all identified amygdala connections, except the left parahippocampus (β = 0.270, p=0.057), after adjusting for potential confounds.

Neonatal Amygdala Connectivity is Associated with Attachment

Alterations to the anterior cingulate cortex in the context of maltreatment is one of the most consistently reported findings (Teicher & Samson, 2016) suggesting a sensitivity to mediators of psychological stress; therefore, we focused on this region for our post hoc analyses. Employing a logistic regression model, neonatal left amygdaladorsal anterior cingulate cortex functional connectivity was significantly associated with infant security (β = -0.316, p=0.026) at 12 months of age in the model including covariates for sex (β = 0.136, p=0.324) and prenatal depression (β = 0.105, p=0.451). Specifically, stronger functional connectivity was associated with increased likelihood of having an insecure attachment. Due to the limited sample size, we did not examine potential interactions between sex or CTQ subscales. The association between neonatal left amygdala-dorsal anterior cingulate cortex functional connectivity and infant attachment security remained significant when controlling for mean maternal postnatal depression over the first 12 months of infant life, maternal responsivity, and household income using a stepwise logistic regression (β = -0.291, p=0.042). Stronger neonatal left amygdala-dorsal anterior cingulate cortex functional connectivity mediated an association between maternal history of childhood maltreatment and attachment security (indirect effect= -1.314 [95% confidence interval (CI) = -3.971 to -0.673] based on 10,000 bootstrap samples) (see Figure 3.3). These analyses identified another pathway from maternal childhood maltreatment to attachment security via stronger neonatal left amygdala-dorsal anterior cingulate cortex connectivity.



Figure 3.3. Neonatal left amygdala to dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (LA-dACC) mediates between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and mother-infant attachment security. Coefficients are unstandardized and derived from the full mediation model. The indirect effect of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood on maternal-infant attachment security through LA-dACC functional connectivity was -1.314, and mediation was supported based on 10,000 bootstrap samples (95% CI: - 3.971, -0.673). *= $p \le 0.05$, ns=non-significant. Arrows indicate hypothesized direction of effects.

Neonatal Amygdala Connectivity is Not Associated with Infant Cortisol

Reactivity

Cortisol samples were taken before and after the strange situation to measure infant cortisol reactivity to a psychological stressor. Neonatal left amygdala-anterior cingulate cortex functional was significantly associated with blunted infant cortisol reactivity (β = -0.314, p=0.021). However, the association did not remain significant when covariates for time of sample collection and sex were included in the model (β = -0.228, p=0.111). Due to the limited sample size, we did not examine potential interactions based on sex.

3.5 Discussion

In the current study, we found that maternal childhood maltreatment was related to neonatal amygdala functional connectivity. Neonates of mothers with a history of childhood maltreatment showed altered amygdala functional connectivity to several brain regions including the pars opercularis, parahippocampus, temporal pole, dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, occipital cortex, fusiform, precentral gyrus, and cuneus. Follow up analyses focused on amygdala-dACC connectivity, due to the involvement of the dACC in effects of maltreatment in older samples and its role in stress reactivity and regulation. Stronger amygdala-dACC related to increased likelihood of infants developing an insecure attachment at 12 months of age after adjusting for key potential confounds in the postnatal environment. Interestingly, stronger neonatal amygdala-dACC connectivity also mediated an association between maternal history of childhood maltreatment and

137

increased risk of insecure attachment. Infant cortisol reactivity at twelve months of age was also inversely related to neonatal amygdala-dACC connectivity.

Brain Regions and Networks Involved and Relation to Childhood Maltreatment

The results of this study reveal a pattern of altered neonatal amygdala functional connectivity in association with a history of maternal childhood maltreatment potentially representing a neural phenotype related to intergenerational exposure to maltreatment. The majority of the regions associated with stronger amygdala functional connectivity in the present study are part of the limbic system including the parahippocampus, temporal pole, and dorsal anterior cingulate cortex. Importantly, the association between stronger neonatal amygdala-dACC functional connectivity and maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment supports the findings of a recent study by Hendrix and colleagues (Hendrix et al., 2020). Alterations to the cuneus, fusiform, and occipital cortex; areas involved in the visual processing of faces, have also been previously associated with maltreatment (Cassiers et al., 2018; Edmiston & Blackford, 2013; Neukel et al., 2019; Puetz et al., 2016). The fact that these regions have been previously associated with exposure to childhood maltreatment suggests that they may be sensitive to environment influences such as stress. There is evidence that the fetal limbic system is responsive to physiological and biological stress mediators in utero (Graham et al., 2018; A Qiu et al., 2015; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2015), representing a potential pathway for the intergenerational transmission of maternal childhood maltreatment.

138

Anterior Cingulate Cortex may Represent a Key Brain Region

The anterior cingulate cortex has been identified as a key region in studies of childhood maltreatment, early life stress, child and adult PTSD, and PTSD recovery and treatment responsiveness (Demers et al., 2015; Hamner, Lorberbaum, & George, 1999; Hart et al., 2018; Stevens et al., 2016; Teicher, Anderson, Ohashi, & Polcari, 2014; Teicher & Samson, 2016) suggesting that this region may be especially sensitive to biological mediators of psychological stress. The anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) is involved in emotional learning and regulation, expression of internal states, and the assignment of emotional valence to stimuli including fear acquisition and inhibition (Jovanovic et al., 2011; Palomero-Gallagher, Mohlberg, Zilles, & Vogt, 2008). In a review of 41 published studies on childhood maltreatment with brain morphological data, alterations to the ACC were the most consistently reported finding (Teicher & Samson, 2016). The most commonly observed alteration to this region is attenuated development and volume reduction potentially due to neuronal loss (Teicher & Samson, 2016; Thomaes et al., 2010). Previous studies further suggest that alterations to the structure and function of the anterior cingulate cortex are enduring and may reflect the additive effects of child maltreatment and adult trauma (Stevens et al., 2016). The ACC has also been identified as a potential biomarker for PTSD as well as a marker of resilience and PTSD treatment responsiveness (Stevens et al., 2016).

Additionally, there is also evidence that the developing ACC is sensitive to environmental stressors. Graham and colleagues found that higher inter-parental, nonphysical conflict during pregnancy was associated with increased activation of the ACC in infants between 6 and 12 months of age when listening to angry vs. neutral voices

(Graham, Fisher, & Pfeifer, 2013). Similar to the present study, Hendrix and colleagues found that stronger amygdala-dACC functional connectivity in offspring at one month of age was related to a maternal history of emotional neglect during childhood after accounting for maternal stress during pregnancy, highlighting the importance of this region and its sensitivity to prenatal and preconceptional influences (Hendrix et al., 2020). Although we were not powered to examine the distinct contributions of different types of maltreatment exposure, the emotional neglect subscale had the highest mean score of all of the CTQ subscales within our sample, potentially influencing our findings. The long-lasting nature of alterations to the ACC, its role in HPA axis regulation (James P. Herman, Ostrander, Mueller, & Figueiredo, 2005), and its responsiveness to environmental influences make it a key region for consideration when evaluating the question of intergenerational transmission of maltreatment. Given the ACC's potential as a risk and resiliency marker for trauma-related psychopathology, it is especially important to consider how alterations to this brain region beginning during the fetal period may affect an infant's sensitivity and responsiveness to early life stress.

Maternal Childhood Maltreatment Exposure, Attachment Security, and the Anterior Cingulate Cortex

Mothers with a history of childhood maltreatment are at a greater risk of having difficulties forming secure attachments with their infants (Khan & Renk, 2018). Maternal-infant interactions and attachment security have also been shown to differ by maltreatment type. Emotional neglect and physical abuse have been associated with reduced maternal sensitivity (Pereira et al., 2012). Physical abuse has also been associated with more intrusive mothers (Riva Crugnola et al., 2019), and sexual abuse has been associated with higher levels of parental withdrawal (Lyons-Ruth & Block, 1996) and insecure attachment (Erozkan, 2016). Like many studies in this area, we did not find a direct association between maternal childhood maltreatment and infant attachment security (Vaillancourt, Pawlby, & Fearon, 2017). Studies on maternal childhood maltreatment, caregiving behavior, and infant attachment often report indirect or partial associations with maltreatment history highlighting the complexity of the factors involved in maternal and infant attachment behaviors (Vaillancourt et al., 2017).

The majority of studies focus on the effect of maternal maltreatment history on parenting behaviors and how the quality of parenting and associated behaviors influence maternal-infant attachment (Vaillancourt et al., 2017). We found that alterations to offspring amygdala-dACC functional connectivity mediated the association between maternal childhood maltreatment history and attachment security. The role of the anterior cingulate cortex as a neural correlate of attachment has been previously reported. Zhang and colleagues (2018) found that attachment anxiety was associated with decreased regional ACC volume (Xing Zhang et al., 2018) and functional connectivity studies in women have demonstrated an association between stronger ACC activation and avoidant attachment styles (Vrtička, Bondolfi, Sander, & Vuilleumier, 2012; Vrtička et al., 2014). In the present study, we found that stronger amygdala-dACC functional connectivity in offspring was associated with insecure attachment, which includes avoidant attachment styles. Given that attachment is by nature dyadic, it is likely that the brain regions associated with attachment in adults are also reflected in infants. In the present study, stronger amygdala to dACC functional connectivity was associated with insecure attachment in the offspring of mothers with a history childhood maltreatment. This association suggests a potential prenatal, instead of postnatal, role for maternal childhood maltreatment in infant attachment security and adds to the growing literature demonstrating prenatal influences on offspring behavior. It also suggests the need to consider how earlier, prenatal influences, might affect later attachment security through the developmental programming of brain function in regions relevant to social development and attachment.

One potential mechanism for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment is via stress-sensitive aspects of maternal-placental-fetal biology. Like other regions that make up the limbic system, the ACC is sensitive to stress, particularly given its role in the regulation of autonomic and endocrine function (Palomero-Gallagher et al., 2008). Dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is an enduring effect of childhood maltreatment (Gonzalez, 2013). Additionally, the HPA axis changes dramatically during pregnancy resulting in elevated levels of circulating cortisol that can overcome the placenta's protective barrier and influence fetal development (Duthie & Reynolds, 2013). Evidence suggests that maternal HPA axis dysregulation alters the fetal HPA axis (Duthie & Reynolds, 2013), which may explain the observed alterations to amygdala-dACC functional connectivity.

While cortisol response is known to be altered in the setting of childhood maltreatment (Buss et al., 2017; Gerritsen et al., 2017; Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006; Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004; Yehuda & Meaney, 2018; Yehuda & Seckl, 2011) and has been shown to be altered in the setting of maternal stress during pregnancy (Schepanski

142

et al., 2018), the influence of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood on offspring cortisol response is less clear. Previous studies have identified both the presence (Ben-Dat Fisher et al., 2007; Brand et al., 2010) and lack (Köhler-Dauner et al., 2019; Martinez-Torteya et al., 2014) of an association between maternal history of childhood maltreatment and infant cortisol response. O'Connor and colleagues found that higher levels of cortisol in the amniotic fluid at 17 weeks gestation were associated with higher baseline cortisol levels in infants and a blunted response to the Strange Situation Paradigm (O'Connor, 2013). It is possible that the severity of maternal childhood maltreatment, which is related to maternal HPA axis dysregulation (Alink, Cicchetti, Kim, & Rogosch, 2012) influences whether there is intergenerational effect. Another possibility is that the quality of maternal interactions in response to infant stress, which is more proximal than the history of maternal childhood maltreatment, plays a stronger role in infant cortisol reactivity. This is supported by the work of Kohler-Dauner et al (2019), which found that maternal interacting quality, and not maternal history of childhood maltreatment, better predicted infant cortisol reactivity in response to the SSP (Köhler-Dauner et al., 2019).

Limitations and additional considerations

There are several limitations to consider. First, maternal childhood maltreatment was assessed retrospectively using a self-report measure, which could be influenced by event recall and reporting as well as a desire for non-disclosure. Previous studies suggest that mood at the time of assessment and awareness or denial of the events can also affect reporting (Hardt & Rutter, 2004). Self-reported rates of childhood maltreatment are

generally lower than research-defined rates of maltreatment (Silvern, Waelde, Baughan, Karyl, & Kaersvang, 2000) suggesting that the results presented here would most likely reflect under-reporting. Similarly, depression was assessed by self-report and not by a diagnostic interview, which is in line with how it is assessed in clinical settings during routine antenatal and postnatal care. Second, our sample size is small which limits our ability to test the role of specific types of childhood maltreatment on offspring brain and biobehavioral outcomes. The type, timing, chronicity, and allostatic load of childhood maltreatment is associated with differential alterations to brain structure (Herzog et al., 2020; Teicher et al., 2018) and function (Teicher, Samson, Anderson, & Ohashi, 2016), and divergent behavioral outcomes (Hahm, Lee, Ozonoff, & van Wert, 2010; Savage et al., 2019). As described above, different types of maternal childhood maltreatment have been associated with specific attachment styles. Future studies are needed to better characterize the distinct contributions of different types of maternal childhood maltreatment on infant attachment security. Additionally, our cohort was not enriched for a history of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood, which must be considered when comparing to other studies. Although the rates of childhood maltreatment were low, the prevalence in our cohort is similar to that of several large, population-based samples suggesting that the results may generalize to community samples (Gerdner & Allgulander, 2009; Walker et al., 1999).

The follow-up behavioral analyses in the present study focused on resting state functional connectivity between the amygdala and a single region of interest, the dACC. Attachment and cortisol reactivity involve multiple brain regions and networks beyond those explored in the present study. Additionally, amygdala functional connectivity clusters identified in the whole-brain analysis as being associated with a maternal history of childhood maltreatment were not fully explored in the present study to reduce multiple comparisons. Future work is needed to gain a more comprehensive understanding of how maternal childhood maltreatment relates to the functional organization of the neonatal brain. The amygdala and ACC are comprised of multiple subregions that were not examined in the present study (G. Bush, Luu, & Posner, 2000; LeDoux, 2007; Rosell & Siever, 2015; Sah, Faber, De Armentia, & Power, 2003; Shenhav, Cohen, & Botvinick, 2016). These subregions are functionally and structurally heterogeneous and demonstrate differential responsivity to stress (Nogovitsyn et al., 2020; Oshri et al., 2019; Veer et al., 2015). Thus, it is likely that specific subregions will have distinct associations with a history of maternal childhood maltreatment and offspring behavioral outcomes. RsfcMRI reference atlases that define amygdala subregions have been used in studies of infants and children. However, they are currently based on adult cytoarchitectural patterns (K. Amunts et al., 2005; Katrin Amunts, Mohlberg, Bludau, & Zilles, 2020) and may not accurately reflect the relative proportion of amygdala subregions in children and neonates (Kim et al., 2010). Future work is needed to elucidate the association between alterations to amygdala and ACC subregions associated with a history of childhood maltreatment and the potential relevance for neonatal functional connectivity and child behavioral outcomes. Finally, future studies with larger study cohorts should explore the potential role of sex in mediating infant cortisol reactivity and amygdala-dACC functional connectivity.

3.6 Conclusions

The results of this study suggest a neural phenotype related to a maternal history of childhood maltreatment. The findings further suggest that the intrauterine period is important for the intergenerational transmission of the effects of maternal childhood maltreatment, even in a cohort with relatively low rates of reported childhood maltreatment. Given the role of the ACC as a potential biomarker for both risk and resilience and its clear sensitivity to environmental influences, it is imperative to explore how prenatal interventions can best support maternal and infant mental health.

3.7 Supplemental Materials

Missing data analysis

All missing data analysis was completed using IBM SPSS Statistics 25 (IBM Corp.,

2017) and compared excluded subjects to subjects included in the imaging cohort (n=64).

Full Sample

The 67 mother-infant dyads not included in the imaging cohort data did not differ significantly from those included by maternal age (F=1.742, p=0.189), infant gestational age at birth (F=0.228, p=0.634), infant age at MRI scan (F=1.949, p=0.167), infant sex (p=1.000, Fischer's exact test, 2-sided), race/ethnicity ($\chi 2(8)=5.715$, p=0.679), level of maternal education ($\chi 2(7)=7.200$, p=0.408), annual income ($\chi 2(4)=1.080$, p=0.897), obstetric risk ($\chi 2(2)=2.171$, p=0.338), total CTQ score (F=0.739, p=0.392), mean maternal depression during pregnancy (F=2.327, p=0.130), or mean postnatal depression through 12 months of infant age (F=0.306, p=0.392), see **Table 3.6.**

	Full Sample (n=67) Mean (SD)	Imaging Sample (n=64) Mean (SD)
Maternal age in first trimester, Years	27.28 (5.35)	28.53 (5.23)
Tu found A	n=6/	
Infant Age		20 10 (1 50)
Gestational age at hirth Weeks	39.19 (1.41)	39.19 (1.30)
destational age at onth, weeks	n=66	
	23.71 (12.13)	26.48 (11.43)
Age at functional MRI data collection, Days	n=31	
Infant Sex	No. (%)	No. (%)
Male	37 (56)	34 (53)
Female	29 (44)	30 (47)
Race/Ethnicity	(N=66)	(n=60)
Caucasian non-Hispanic	24 (36)	27 (45)
African American non-Hispanic	1 (2)	1 (2)
Asian non-Hispanic	3 (5)	5 (8)
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	5 (7)	5 (8)
Caucasian Hispanic	30 (45)	17 (28)
Asian Hispanic	1 (2)	1 (2)
Multi-racial Hispanic	2 (3)	4 (7)
Highest Level of Maternal Education	(n=67)	(n=60)
Primary, elementary, or middle school	4 (6)	1 (2)
High school or test equivalent	9 (13)	9 (15)
Vocational school or some college	31 (46)	30 (50)
Associates degree	4 (6)	2 (3)
Bachelors or graduate level degree	19 (28)	18 (30)
Gross Annual Household Income	(n=63)	(n=60)
< \$15,000	7 (11)	6 (10)
\$15,000 - 29,999	11 (18)	13 (21)
\$30,000 - 49,999	14 (22)	15 (24)
\$50,000 - 100,000	22 (35)	23 (37)
> \$100,000	9 (14)	5 (8)

Table 3.6. Demographic data for mother-infant dyads included and excluded fromthe imaging sample.

Attachment

The 12 mother-infant dyads without attachment classification did not differ significantly from those included by maternal age (F=0.021, p=0.886), infant gestational age at birth (F=2.150, p=0.148), infant age at MRI scan (F=2.234, p=0.140), infant sex (p=1.000, Fischer's exact test, 2-sided), race/ethnicity (χ 2(7)=3.860, p=0.696), level of maternal education (χ 2(7)=9.760, p=0.203), annual income (χ 2(4)=4.667, p=0.323), obstetric risk (χ 2(2)=2.615, p=0.270), total CTQ score (F=0.097, p=0.756), mean maternal depression during pregnancy (F=0.333, p=0.566), or mean postnatal depression through 12 months of infant age (F=0.282, p=0.597), see **Table 3.7**.

Table 3.7. Comparison of demographics for sample with and without attachment
classification.

	With	Without
	Attachment	Attachment
	Data	Data
	(n=52)	(n=12)
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Maternal age in first trimester, Years	28.58 (5.23)	28.33 (5.42)
Infant Age		
Gestational age at birth, Weeks	39.32 (1.45)	38.62 (1.67)
Age at functional MRI data collection, Days	27.50 (11.25)	22.08 (11.63)
Infant Sex	No. (%)	No. (%)
Male	28 (53)	6 (50)
Female	24 (47)	6 (50)
Race/Ethnicity (n=60)		
Caucasian non-Hispanic	21 (41)	6 (67)
African American non-Hispanic	1 (2)	0
Asian non-Hispanic	5 (10)	0
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	4 (8)	1 (11)
Caucasian Hispanic	16 (31)	1 (11)
Asian Hispanic	1 (2)	0
Multi-racial Hispanic	3 (6)	1 (11)
Highest Level of Maternal Education (n=60)		
Primary, elementary, or middle school	0	1 (11)
High school or test equivalent	9 (18)	0
Vocational school or some college	25 (48)	5 (56)
Associates degree	2 (4)	0
Bachelors or graduate level degree	15 (30)	3 (33)
Gross Annual Household Income (n=60)		
< \$15,000	4 (8)	2 (17)
\$15,000 - 29,999	9 (18)	4 (33)
\$30,000 - 49,999	14 (28)	1 (8)
\$50,000 - 100,000	18 (36)	5 (42)
> \$100,000	5 (10)	0

Cortisol Reactivity

The 16 mother-infant dyads with missing cortisol reactivity data did not differ significantly from those included by maternal age (F=0.272, p=0.604), infant gestational age at birth (F=0.360, p=0.550), infant age at MRI scan (F=4.045, p=0.049), infant sex (p=0.405, Fischer's exact test, 2-sided), race/ethnicity (χ 2(7)=2.885, p=0.823), level of maternal education (χ 2(7)=4.293, p=0.745), annual income (χ 2(4)=5.584, p=0.232), obstetric risk (χ 2(2)=0.756, p=0.685), total CTQ score (F=0.047, p=0.829), mean maternal depression during pregnancy (F=3.343, p=0.072), or mean postnatal depression through 12 months of infant age (F=3.539, p=0.065). Infant age at MRI scan (F=4.045, p=0.049) differed significantly between groups. Infants with cortisol reactivity data were significantly older compared to those without reactivity data, see **Table 3.8**.

Table 3.8. Comparison of demographics for sample with and without cortisol

reactivity data.

	With Cortisol Data (n=48) Mean (SD)	Without Cortisol Data (n=16) Mean (SD)
Maternal age in first trimester. Years	28.73 (5.04)	27.94 (5.87)
Infant Age		
Gestational age at birth, Weeks	39.25 (1.47)	38.99 (1.64)
Age at functional MRI data collection, Days	28.10 (11.61)	21.63 (9.62)
Infant Sex	No. (%)	No. (%)
Male	27 (56)	7 (44)
Female	21 (44)	9 (56)
Race/Ethnicity (n=60)		
Caucasian non-Hispanic	19 (42)	8 (53)
African American non-Hispanic	1 (2)	0
Asian non-Hispanic	5 (11)	0
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	4 (8)	1 (7)
Caucasian Hispanic	12 (27)	5 (33)
Asian Hispanic	1 (2)	0
Multi-racial Hispanic	3(7)	1 (7)
Highest Level of Maternal Education (n=60)		
Primary, elementary, or middle school	0	1 (7)
High school or test equivalent	7 (16)	2 (14)
Vocational school or some college	23 (51)	7 (45)
Associates degree	1 (2)	1 (7)
Bachelors or graduate level degree	14 (31)	4 (27)
Gross Annual Household Income (n=60)		
< \$15,000	4 (8)	2 (17)
\$15,000 - 29,999	9 (18)	4 (33)
\$30,000 - 49,999	14 (28)	1 (8)
\$50,000 - 100,000	18 (36)	5 (42)
> \$100,000	5 (10)	0

Potential confounds relevant for neonatal brain and infant biobehavioral

outcomes

Potential confounds relevant to neonatal brain development, infant attachment and cortisol reactivity were examined to determine whether any identified associations between a history of maternal childhood maltreatment and neonatal brain and biobehavioral outcomes could be better explained by other aspects of the prenatal or postnatal environment. These included annual household income, obstetric risk, infant sex, and maternal depression. Annual income was assessed during the first prenatal visit using standardized structured interviews. Income was initially captured as a categorical variable: Below \$15,000; \$15,000-29,999; \$30,000-49,999; \$50,000-100,000; and over \$100,000. Obstetric risk includes the presence of major medical complications during pregnancy such as placenta abruption, preeclampsia, and gestational diabetes. Complications were identified through medical chart review and coded as a binary variable capturing the presence or absence of a risk factor. Maternal depression was assessed using the CESD, which was completed at early, mid, and late pregnancy; and at 1, 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of infant age.

Post hoc analyses were conducted with the correlation coefficients (r) representing the strength of amygdala connection to clusters identified in the whole-brain analyses. We first examined how LA-dACC functional connectivity (r) related to potential confounds using IBM SPSS Statistics 25.²⁶ Annual income (β = -0.047, p=0.720), obstetric risk (β = 0.053, p=0.680), infant sex (β = 0.022, p=0.860), and maternal depression during pregnancy (β = 0.004, p=0.975) were not significantly related to LA-dACC functional connectivity.

153

We examined the relationship between potential confounds and infant security at 12 months of age. Annual income (β = 0.025, p=0.861), infant sex (β = 0.106, p=0.453), maternal depression during pregnancy (β = 0.163, p=0.253), maternal postnatal depression over the first 12 months (β = 0.021, p=0.886), and maternal responsivity (β = 0.147, p=0.314) were not significantly related to infant attachment security at 12 months using a stepwise logistic regression model.

We examined the relationship between potential confounds and infant cortisol reactivity. Annual income (β = -0.191, p=0.198), obstetric risk (β = 0.139, p=0.340), infant sex (β = 0.161, p=0.246), and maternal depression during pregnancy (β = -0.117, p=0.442) were not significantly related to infant cortisol reactivity at 12 months.

CHAPTER 4. INTERGENERATIONAL EFFECT OF MATERNAL EXPOSURE TO CHILDHOOD MALTREATMENT AND ASSOCIATIONS WITH NEONATAL HIPPOCAMPAL FUNCTIONAL CONNECTIVITY

4.1 Abstract

Background: Childhood maltreatment, such as abuse or neglect, is a pervasive public health problem with devastating and lasting consequences for psychological well-being and overall health across the lifespan. Although previously thought to be limited to a single individual, the negative effects of childhood maltreatment may be transmitted across generations, increasing the risk for behavioral and psychiatric disorders in the offspring. An increased understanding of the mechanisms underlying intergenerational effects is important for the development of preventive interventions. The present study, therefore, aims to examine the associations between maternal childhood maltreatment and offspring hippocampal functional connectivity employing a study design that attempts to disentangle effects of the pre-versus postnatal environment. We employ a prospective study design examining maternal report of childhood maltreatment history in relation to offspring neonatal hippocampal functional connectivity.

Methods: Maternal CM history was assessed during pregnancy using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) in 64 women. Shortly after birth (M=26.48 \pm 11.43 days), their offspring underwent a resting state functional connectivity (rsFC) MRI scan during natural sleep. A whole-brain voxel-wise regression model was performed with the log of

155
the total CTQ score predicting offspring hippocampal functional connectivity. The template matching approach was used to empirically segment the hippocampus in a large adolescent cohort and the resulting subregions were applied to infant hippocampi. The resulting hippocampal subregions in infants and their association with a maternal history of childhood maltreatment were examined.

Results: Neonates of mothers with a history of childhood maltreatment showed stronger hippocampal functional connectivity to the primary visual cortex, dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, and multiple regions associated with the default mode network; and weaker connectivity to the orbitofrontal cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, parahippocampus, cuneus, and insula. Using the template matching approach to empirically segment the hippocampus in a large adolescent sample, we identified a bilateral posterior hippocampal cluster. We applied this posterior hippocampal cluster to our infant cohort as a seed region and examined the association between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and neonatal posterior hippocampal functional connectivity. There was no association between maternal history of childhood maltreatment and neonatal posterior hippocampal functional connectivity.

Conclusion: The results of this study suggest a neural phenotype related to a maternal history of childhood maltreatment. The findings further suggest that the intrauterine period is important for the intergenerational transmission of the effects of maternal childhood maltreatment, even in a cohort with relatively low rates of reported childhood maltreatment.

4.2 Introduction

Maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood is associated with psychopathology during pregnancy (Barrios et al., 2015; Bouvette-Turcot et al., 2017; Choi et al., 2015; Gartland et al., 2016; Lang & Gartstein, 2018; Lara et al., 2015; Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Mezey et al., 2005; River et al., 2019; Robertson-Blackmore et al., 2013; J. S. Seng et al., 2009, 2013), and increased severity of PTSD and depression symptoms (River et al., 2019). Although the existing paradigm posits that maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood is transmitted to the next generation through the postnatal environment, there is growing evidence that the negative effects of maternal childhood maltreatment may be transmitted during pregnancy through maternalplacental-fetal biology (Buss et al., 2017). One of the long-lasting effects of childhood maltreatment is hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis dysregulation (Buss et al., 2017; Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006; Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004), which may be transmitted through gestational biology affecting stress-sensitive structures of the fetal brain. Moog and colleagues found that maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood was associated with an increase in placental cortiocotropin-release hormone (CRH) production demonstrating HPA axis dysregulation during pregnancy (Moog et al., 2016).

The sensitivity of the hippocampus to stress exposure has been well established in animal models (Tottenham & Sheridan, 2009). Human studies also demonstrate consistent associations between early life adversity, particularly childhood maltreatment, and the hippocampus (Dahmen et al., 2018; Riem, Alink, Out, Van Ijzendoorn, & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2015). Decreased hippocampal volumes have been associated

with early life stress (Dahmen et al., 2018), childhood maltreatment (Riem et al., 2015), and psychiatric disorders such as depression (Barch et al., 2019; McKinnon, Yucel, Nazarov, & MacQueen, 2009; M. A. O. Santos, Bezerra, Carvalho, & Brainer-Lima, 2018; Schmaal et al., 2016), and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Bromis, Calem, Reinders, Williams, & Kempton, 2018; O'Doherty, Chitty, Saddiqui, Bennett, & Lagopoulos, 2015; Szeszko, Lehrner, & Yehuda, 2018). The vulnerability of the hippocampus to stress is expected given the high density of glucocorticoid receptors (Herzog et al., 2020), and its role in HPA axis regulation (Jankord & Herman, 2008). There is growing evidence that prenatal, and even preconceptional, events can affect the development of stress-sensitive regions of the developing fetal brain (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012; Davis et al., 2013; Pallarés & Antonelli, 2017; A Qiu et al., 2013; Angi Qiu et al., 2017; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2013; Wen et al., 2017). Hippocampal neurogenesis begins during the first trimester of pregnancy and continues through birth (Hodel, 2018), which means that the developing fetal hippocampi are exposed to potential mediators of maternal stress for most of the prenatal period. Several studies have shown that maternal stress during pregnancy is associated with decreased offspring hippocampal volumes (A Qiu et al., 2013; Angi Qiu et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2020) and altered functional connectivity (Scheinost, Spann, McDonough, Peterson, & Monk, 2020). Given that alterations in hippocampal volume and connectivity can be observed shortly after birth, this effect may originate during fetal development, reflecting a potential pathway for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment.

In addition to being highly responsive to stress, there is a wealth of evidence from both animal and human studies demonstrating that the hippocampus is functionally and

structurally heterogeneous. The posterior hippocampus is connected to the neocortex and is associated with cognitive functions, spatial learning and memory, and reward processing (Chase et al., 2015; Goosens, 2011; Sheldon, McAndrews, Pruessner, & Moscovitch, 2016). Gene expression in this region is associated with information processing in cortical regions (Fanselow & Dong, 2010). The anterior hippocampus is directly connected to subcortical structures, including the amygdala, and is associated with regulating, processing, and responding to emotions and stress, context coding, and autobiographical memory representations (Chase et al., 2015; Decker, Duncan, Finn, & Mabbott, 2020; Goosens, 2011; Nadel, Hoscheidt, & Ryan, 2013; Sheldon et al., 2016). Lesions to the anterior hippocampus have been shown to decrease social anxiety, impair fear, and reduce freezing after fear conditioning (Goosens, 2011). In resting-state functional connectivity studies, the anterior hippocampus demonstrates stronger connectivity to the orbitofrontal and temporal cortex (Goosens, 2011), as well as a stronger association with the default mode network (Chase et al., 2015). The differential functional connectivity patterns of the anterior and posterior hippocampus are especially evident in studies of anxiety. Using the State Trait Anxiety Inventory, Satpute and colleagues (2012) found that state anxiety was more strongly associated with the anterior hippocampus, while trait anxiety was more strongly associated with the posterior hippocampus (Satpute, Mumford, Naliboff, & Poldrack, 2012). Studies of individuals with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) also demonstrate differences in posterior hippocampal functional connectivity (Lazarov, Zhu, Suarez-Jimenez, Rutherford, & Neria, 2017; Malivoire, Girard, Patel, & Monson, 2018). The clear evidence of structural and functional differences between the anterior and posterior hippocampus supports the

need for a more specialized approach when examining the role of the hippocampus in studies of functional connectivity.

Emerging evidence indicates the importance of considering these distinct subregions in order to better understand the effects of early adversity and childhood maltreatment. In a recent study by Wang and colleagues (2019) looking at the functional connectivity of both the anterior and posterior hippocampus, maternal sensitivity at 6 months of infant age was associated with anterior hippocampus functional connectivity at 4 and 6 years of age, and there was no association with posterior hippocampal functional connectivity (Q. Wang et al., 2019). The heterogeneity of the hippocampus as evidenced by the structural and functional diversity of the subregions may explain why many studies have reported null effects when looking at the hippocampus as a whole (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012). It is possible that the effects of maternal stress during pregnancy on the developing hippocampus are partially masked in studies looking at the hippocampus as a whole. Failure to capture the distinct effects of maternal stress or exposure to childhood maltreatment on hippocampal subregions will make it difficult to truly characterize their unique associations with offspring biobehavioral outcomes and subsequent psychopathology.

Advances in neuroimaging techniques are increasing the capacity to differentiate hippocampal subregions empirically. There is evidence that the major adult network functional components are already present during infancy (Blankenship, Redcay, Dougherty, & Riggins, 2017; Damaraju et al., 2014; De Asis-Cruz et al., 2015; Emerson et al., 2016; Fransson et al., 2011, 2009, 2007; W. Gao et al., 2017; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Elton, et al., 2015; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Smith, et al., 2015; Grayson & Fair, 2017;

Grayson et al., 2014; Jakab et al., 2014; Keunen et al., 2017; Scheinost et al., 2017; H. Zhang et al., 2019). Therefore, it is possible to apply advanced neuroimaging techniques based on functional networks from adolescents and adults populations to infants. This creates a unique opportunity to leverage large existing datasets available for older populations and to employ advanced brain mapping methods to understand the functional organization of the brain. One exciting advanced method is template matching developed by Gordon and colleagues (Gordon et al., 2016). Template matching compares the wholebrain connectivity of each grayordinate to a series of group network templates in order to assign that grayordinate to a network (Gordon et al., 2016). Importantly, this method provides an empirical approach for the identification of subregions based on their participation in large scale brain systems based on a large adolescent cohort.

In the present study, we examine neonatal hippocampal functional connectivity in relation to a history of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood. Next, we leverage the template matching approach to empirically segment the hippocampus in a large adolescent cohort. Finally, we examine the resulting hippocampal subregions in infants and their association with a maternal history of childhood maltreatment. Examining the functional connectivity of hippocampal subregions in infants will allow us to better investigate the granular mechanistic role of these subregions and their potential role in risk or sensitivity to future psychopathology.

4.3 Methods and Materials

Participants

Infant Cohort

Mother-infant dyads (n=64) enrolled as part of a prospective longitudinal cohort conducted at the University of California, Irvine (UCI) were recruited through prenatal clinics during early pregnancy from February 2011 to November 2018; for details see (Moog et al., 2018). Exclusionary criteria included use of psychotropic medications or systemic corticosteroids during pregnancy, premature birth (before 34 weeks' gestation), and infant genetic, congenital, or neurological disorder (Graham et al., 2018). All procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of California, Irvine. For detailed demographic data, see **Table 4.1**.

	Mean (SD)	
	(n=64)	
Maternal age in first trimester, Years	28.53 (5.23)	
Infant Age		
Gestational age at birth, Weeks	39.19 (1.50)	
Age at functional MRI data collection, Days	26.48 (11.43)	
Infant Sex	No. (%)	
Male	34 (53)	
Female	30 (47)	
Race/Ethnicity	(n=60)	
Caucasian non-Hispanic	27 (45)	
African American non-Hispanic	1 (2)	
Asian non-Hispanic	5 (8)	
Multi-racial non-Hispanic	5 (8)	
Caucasian Hispanic	17 (28)	
Asian Hispanic	1 (2)	
Multi-racial Hispanic	4 (7)	
Highest Level of Maternal Education	(n=60)	
Primary, elementary, or middle school	1 (2)	
High school or test equivalent	9 (15)	
Vocational school or some college	30 (50)	
Associates degree	2 (3)	
Bachelors or graduate level degree	18 (30)	
Gross Annual Household Income	(n=60)	
< \$15,000	6 (10)	
\$15,000 - 29,999	13 (21)	
\$30,000 - 49,999	15 (24)	
\$50,000 - 100,000	23 (37)	
> \$100,000	5 (8)	

Table 4.1. Demographic data for University of California, Irvine cohort (n=64).

Maternal Psychological Measures

Maternal childhood maltreatment history was assessed in mid-pregnancy using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) (D P Bernstein et al., 1994). The CTQ is a standardized, retrospective self-report tool that assesses five domains of childhood maltreatment: physical, sexual, and emotional abuse; and physical and emotional neglect. It is a 28-item questionnaire with 3 items making up an additional Minimization/Denial scale designed to capture potential under-reporting (Villano et al., 2004). Each item within the five maltreatment domains is scored on a 5 point scale where 1 = never and 5 = very often. The total CTQ score is a sum score of all maltreatment domains (range 25 – 125). In the present study, the total CTQ score was log-transformed to normalize the distribution of the data and used as the principal predictor in statistical analyses. Mothers completed the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CESD) (Radloff, 1977) in early, mid, and late pregnancy.

Adolescent Cohort

Children from 9 to 10 years of age through adolescence were recruited as part of the Adolescent Brain Cognitive Development (ABCD) study, a longitudinal on brain development; for details see (Casey et al., 2018). Demographic data are presented in **Table 4.2**.

	Group 1 Mean (SD) (N=2995)	Template Group Mean (SD) (N=161)		
Age (in months)	119.64 (7.48)	118.37 (7.73)		
Grade level	4.27 (0.78)	4.20 (0.76)		
Highest parent education	17.38 (2.85)	16.83 (2.90)		
Combined income (in thousands).	7.51 (2.24) 7.08 (2.35)			
	Group 1 (N=2995) N (%)	Template Group (N=161) N (%)		
# Female*	1411 (47.10)	78 (48.45)		
Anesthesia exposure	966 (32.2)	42 (26.1)		
Right handed	2401 (80.2)	136 (84.5)		
Race/Ethnicity				
White	2399 (80.10)	106 (65.84)		
Black	539 (18.00)	30 (18.63)		
American Indian/Alaska Native	94 (3.14)	4 (2.48)		
Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander	19 (0.63)	4 (2.48)		
Asian	173 (5.78)	9 (5.59)		
Other	143 (4.77)	21 (13.04)		
Unknown	23 (0.77)	4 (2.48)		
Latino/Latina	544 (18.16)	28 (17.39)		

Table 4.2. Demographic data for Adolescent Cohort.

* Self-identified non-binary gender

MRI and fMRI Data Acquisition and Processing

Adolescent Cohort

The MRI data acquisition and processing are extensively described in (Casey et

al., 2018). Methods will be briefly described here.

Data acquisition

Three-dimensional T1-weighted MRI (1mm isotropic, TR=(either 2500 or 6100 ms, TE=2-2.9 ms, 8° flip angle, 256 x 256 FOV), T2-weighted MRI (1mm isotropic, TR=2500 or 3200ms, TE=60–565ms, variable flip angle, 256 x 256 FOV), and 1-2 runs of rs-fMRI (1mm isotropic, TR=800ms, TE=30, variable flip angle= 52° , 216 x 216 FOV) , and a randomized order of Monetary inceptive delay, Stop Signal task, and emotional n-back tasks were obtained using Siemens, Philips, and GE 3T scanners. Sequences were harmonized across scanners. Resting-state functional connectivity magnetic resonance images (MRI) were obtained using a gradient-echo, echoplanar imaging sequence sensitive to blood oxygen level-dependent contrast (TR =800 ms, TE =30 ms, flip angle = 90°, voxel size = 2.4 mm3, 60 slices). Head motion was monitored in real time using Framewise Integrated Real-time MRI Monitor (FIRMM) software at Siemens sites (Dosenbach et al., 2017). Participants were instructed to lie still and focus on a crosshair at the center of their visual field for the resting state scans.

fMRI Data Processing

All functional MRIs were processed using a modified version of the HCP processing pipeline that is publicly available ABCD-HCP pipeline (DCAN-Labs, 2020a). Following denoising and bias field correction of the anatomical T1 and/or T2 weighted images, brain extraction was performed by PreFreesurfer. ANTs DenoiseImage and ANTs N4BiasFeildCorrection (Advanced Normalization Tools) (Avants et al., 2009; Tustison et al., 2010) were applied to improve structural clarity and reduce field bias (Marek et al., 2019).

rs-fcMRI Processing

DCAN-BOLDproc (DCAN-Labs, 2020a) was used to correct time courses. These steps included resting state time course detrending and processing with mean whole brain, ventricle, and white matter signal as well as displacement on the 6 degrees of freedom, rigid body registration, and their derivatives (Ciric et al., 2017; Friston et al., 2000; Hermosillo et al., 2020; J. D. J. D. Power et al., 2014). Time courses were then filtered using a first order Butterworth band pass filter between 9 and 80 mHz backwards and forwards using MATLAB's *filtfilt* function (v2016-2018x The MathWorks, Cambridge, UK). To correct for motion, an examination of frame-wise displacement (FD) was conducted and volumes with greater than 0.2 mm FD plus the 5 contiguous volumes were removed. Only subjects with greater than 10 minutes of data post-motion correction were included.

Hippocampal Segmentation and Region of Interest

The hippocampi were segmented using FreeSurfer automated subcortical segmentation, which uses atlas-based probabilistic information on structure location (Filipek, Richelme, Kennedy, & Caviness, 1994; Glasser et al., 2013). The hippocampal segmentations derived from the Template Matching procedure in the adolescent cohort, described below, were extracted as a label and applied to each infant subject using ciftiparcellate. The resulting hippocampal segmentations, now applied to the infant cohort, were used as seed regions. These seed regions and the resting-state time series scans were used to calculate Pearson's correlation for all 91,282 grayordinates; for details see (Hermosillo et al., 2020).

Infant Cohort

Data Acquisition

Data were acquired at approximately one month of age $(26.48 \pm 11.43 \text{ days})$ during natural sleep. High-resolution T1-weighted (MP-RAGE TR = 2400 ms, inversion time = 1200 ms, echo time = 3.16 ms, flip angle = 8°, resolution = 1 x 1 x 1 mm, 6 min 18 secs) and T2-weighted (TR = 3200 ms, echo time = 255ms, resolution = 1 x 1 x 1 mm, 4 min 18 secs) images were obtained using a TIM Trio, Siemens medical System 3.0T scanner. Resting-state functional connectivity (rs-FC) magnetic resonance images (MRI) were obtained using a gradient-echo, echoplanar imaging (EPI) sequence sensitive to blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) contrast (TR = 2000 ms; TE = 30 ms; FOV = 220 x 220 x 160 mm; flip angle = 77°). Steady-state magnetization was assumed after 4 frames (8 ~ s).

fMRI Data Preprocessing

All functional MRIs were processed using a modified version of the HCP processing pipeline (DCAN-Labs, 2020b; Glasser et al., 2013). Several modifications were made to improve the segmentation and parcellation of neonatal images. ANTs DenoiseImage (Manjón et al., 2010) and N4BiasFieldCorrection (Tustison et al., 2010) were applied to model Rician scanner noise and bias field inhomogeneities respectively. Next, we performed a rigid body transform to AC-PC-align both T1w and T2w structural images to the neonate template from the NIH pediatric template (0- to 2-month age range; National Institutes of Health MRI Study of Normal Brain Development) (Almli et al., 2007). For brain extraction, a T2w nonlinear warp from atlas-space to native space was performed to the binarized the NIH age-specific atlas in MNI space. A rigid body registration of the T2w to T1w image was used to convert the resulting T2w brain mask to a T1w brain mask. Following T1w masking, we have the initial skull-stripped T1w and T2w infant brain in native volume space. Extracted brains are refined by computing tissue classes in the T2w brain using the ANTs Atropos (Avants et al., 2011, 2009) algorithm and applying the GM/WM masks to the T1w brain. The masked T1w and T2w are then nonlinearly registered to the MNI infant atlas. Segmentation was completed based on the T1 with ANTS Joint Label Fusion (H. Wang et al., 2013) and employing 10 infant atlases with labeled brain regions, which had been refined through manual correction. Finally, the mean intensity of the resulting cortical white and grey matter labels were shifted to match the FreeSurfer adult atlas. This hyper-normalization procedure facilitates the use of HCP's FreeSurfer recon-all to generate white and pial surfaces necessary for surface-based analyses.

rs-fcMRI Preprocessing

DCAN-BOLDproc (DCAN-Labs, 2020a) was used to correct time courses. These steps included resting state time course detrending and processing with mean whole brain, ventricle, and white matter signal as well as displacement on the 6 degrees of freedom, rigid body registration, and their derivatives (Ciric et al., 2017; Friston et al., 2000; Hermosillo et al., 2020; J. D. J. D. Power et al., 2014). Time courses were then filtered using a first order Butterworth band pass filter between 9 and 80 mHz backwards and forwards using MATLAB's *filtfilt* function (MathWorks, n.d.). To correct for motion, an examination of frame-wise displacement (FD) was conducted and volumes with greater than 0.3 mm FD plus the preceding volume and subsequent 3 volumes were removed. Following frame removal for motion, scan length was about 5.80 minutes (range: 4.23 - 6.40 minutes) with a remaining FD of 0.089 (range: 0.056-0.127).

Whole Hippocampus Segmentation

We focused on hippocampal connectivity due to prior work indicating the vulnerability of the hippocampus to early life stress exposure, beginning in the antenatal period (A Qiu et al., 2013; Anqi Qiu et al., 2017). In the infant cohort, individual hippocampal segmentation was performed using a multi-template, multi-modality based method that combined T1 and T2 weighted high-resolution images (J. Wang et al., 2014). Following anterior-posterior realignment, hippocampal segmentations were manually corrected using ITK-Snap (Yushkevich et al., 2006) as described in (Graham et al., 2019). For rs-fcMRI analyses, hippocampi were transformed to atlas space based on the previously computed atlas transformation (Graham et al., 2018).

Hippocampus Subregion Identification

The adolescent template was generated using a set of network parcellations that assigns each grayordinate to one of 14 functional networks based on the similarity of whole-brain connectivity the networks (Gordon et al., 2017). A seed reflecting each network was created by averaging the resting state data for all greyordinates contained within a given network. These network seed regions were next compared to the restingstate time series data and used to calculate Pearson's correlation for all 91,282 grayordinates; for details see (Hermosillo et al., 2020). The seed –based correlation values were then averaged across subjects, for each network, resulting in a network vector that was averaged independently across subjects to generate seed-based network templates. The network templates were z-score transformed and thresholded at $Z \ge 1$.

Precision brain mapping was then implemented on all the subjects in group1 using the following technique. For each subject in the group1, a whole brain connectivity matrix was generated using the motion-censoring described above. The correlation matrix was then Z-scored within each cortical hemisphere and subcortex to normalize the signal-noise bias in connectivity between regions. Then for each greyordinate, wholebrain connectivity was examined, and each grayordinate was assigned to the network which it most strongly resembled (using the maximum η^2). Regions of networks that were smaller than 30 contiguous greyordinates were incorporated into neighboring networks starting with the largest networks first. After all adolescent subjects underwent this mapping procedure, probabilistic maps were generated for subjects in group1 by calculating the probability of observing a given network at each greyordinate. A minimal region size of 30 and a probability threshold of 80% was used for the probabilistic regions of interest. Within the hippocampus, only the posterior aspect showed consistent network concordance (>80%) and it was within the medial temporal network.

Potential confounders relevant for neonatal brain outcomes

Potential confounders relevant to neonatal brain development were examined to determine whether any identified associations between a history of maternal childhood maltreatment and neonatal brain outcomes could be better explained by other aspects of the prenatal environment. These included annual household income, obstetric risk, infant sex, and maternal depression. Annual income was assessed during the first prenatal visit using standardized structured interviews. Income was initially captured as a categorical variable: Below \$15,000; \$15,000-29,999; \$30,000-49,999; \$50,000-100,000; and over \$100,000. Obstetric risk includes the presence of major medical complications during pregnancy such as placenta abruption, preeclampsia, and gestational diabetes. Complications were identified through medical chart review and coded as a binary variable capturing the presence or absence of a risk factor. Maternal depression was assessed using the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression (CESD), which was completed at early, mid, and late pregnancy.

Analyses

In all analyses, left and right hippocampi were examined separately because of the evidence for sexual dimorphism in the neonatal brain (Gilmore et al., 2007)and differences in the volume and structure of the hippocampus (Persson et al., 2014). The log-transformed total CTQ score served as the independent variable, infant gestational age at birth (GA), infant sex, and age at scan as covariates, and left and right hippocampal whole-brain voxelwise connectivity as the dependent variable in regression models using MPlus (Muthén & Muthén, 2017). The test statistic was spatially normalized across the brain using a z score-transformation. The estimates from the regression models were the inputs for a cluster-extent based thresholding procedure using PALM ("PALM/UserGuide - FslWiki," n.d.). A threshold value of 3.1 was applied to the z-score statistic image. The extent of the cluster was used as the test statistic. Clusters of contiguous supra-threshold voxels were identified from the thresholded image and

ordered by size. A permutation test was conducted under the assumptions of Gaussian random field theory, where the z-score statistical map was shuffled and the largest identified cluster size was stored. A p-value was calculated for each cluster based on size using 1000 permutations as the null distribution. A threshold of 3.1 has been shown to be conservative enough to avoid excessive false positive rates (Eklund et al., 2016). Post hoc analyses were conducted with the correlation coefficients (r) representing the strength of hippocampal connection to clusters identified in the whole-brain analyses.

4.4 **Results**

Whole Hippocampal Connectivity is associated with a History of Maternal Childhood Maltreatment

Maternal childhood maltreatment was significantly associated with neonatal hippocampal connectivity, with different patterns of connectivity present for the left and right hippocampus. For the left hippocampus, higher CTQ scores were associated with stronger positive connectivity to the primary visual cortex and dorsal medial prefrontal cortex; and negative connectivity to the orbitofrontal cortex, parahippocampus, and cuneus (see **Table 4.3, Figure 4.1A**). For the right hippocampus, higher CTQ scores were associated with stronger positive connectivity to the lateral parietal cortex, posterior cingulate cortex and temporoparietal junction; and weaker connectivity to the insula and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (see **Table 4.3, Figure 4.1B**).

Table 4.3. Maternal childhood maltreatment history is associated with neonatal

hippocampal connectivity. Regions are in ascending order based on cluster extent size. The Pearson correlation between the maternal log-transformed total CTQ score and the extracted connection between the hippocampus and each identified region was examined. The direction (positive or negative) is indicated for childhood maltreatment (CM) in the last column. All associations reached statistical significance.

					Cluster	
Region	Hem	Х	У	Z	size	CM*
Left Hippocampus						
Primary visual cortex (V1)	L	-9	-80	-8	78	+
Parahippocampus	R	20	-14	-24	87	-
Orbitofrontal cortex	R	8	66	-8	113	-
Dorsal medial prefrontal cortex	R	6	26	40	154	+
Cuneus	R	7	-88	26	324	-
Right Hippocampus						
Lateral parietal cortex	R	47	-61	38	88	+
Insula	L	-34	-25	18	101	-
Ventromedial prefrontal cortex	R	5	63	-3	126	-
Temporoparietal junction	L	-51	-58	21	179	+
Posterior cingulate cortex	R	7	-53	28	190	+

* p<0.01 for all associations



Figure 4.1. Left and right neonatal hippocampal functional connectivity. Results for left (A) and right (B) hippocampal whole-brain regressions are displayed here. The log of the total CTQ score was the independent variable and covariates for sex, gestational age at birth, and infant age at scan were included to account for neonatal brain maturity at the time of MRI scan acquisition. Z score-transformed estimates above a threshold of $z=\pm$ 3.1 are shown.

The effect of maternal childhood maltreatment remained significant for all identified hippocampal connections after adjusting for potential confounding covariates including maternal depression during pregnancy, annual income, and obstetric risk.

Template matching identified a posterior hippocampal subregion only

The template matching procedure resulted in a posterior hippocampal cluster (see **Figure 4.2**) at a probability mapping threshold of 80% across all participants in group 1 (n=2,995). This posterior cluster was associated with the medial temporal lobe (MTL) functional network (see **Figures 4.3 & 4.4**). The posterior hippocampal cluster was bilateral and the only hippocampal cluster identified (see **Figure 4.5**).



Figure 4.2. Individual hippocampi reflecting functional network participation.

Individual hippocampi for subjects in the ABCD cohort are outlined in black. The colors represent the association of a given grayordinate with a functional network. The anterior hippocampus has several different associated colors representing heterogeneous network participation. The posterior hippocampus is consistently bright green, which is associated with the medial temporal network, reflecting functional homogeneity.



Figure 4.3. Medial temporal lobe surface probabilistic map. The probabilistic map for the medial temporal lobe (n=2,995) is shown on the surface of the brain. The colors represent probability values. Brighter colors reflect higher probability.



Figure 4.4. Medial temporal lobe volume probabilistic maps. The probabilistic map for the medial temporal lobe showing subcortical structures in three planes. The colors represent probability values. Brighter colors reflect higher probability.



Figure 4.5. Posterior hippocampal cluster identified with template matching approach. The posterior hippocampus (shown in aqua) is based on the 80% probability map of Group 1 (n=2,995) compared to ABCD template group (n=161) and was the only cluster present in the hippocampus.

Posterior hippocampal Connectivity is not associated with a History of Maternal Childhood Maltreatment

Maternal childhood maltreatment was not significantly associated with neonatal posterior hippocampal connectivity. No significant brain associations were identified using the left and right posterior hippocampal clusters identified through the template matching procedure.

4.5 Discussion

In the current study, we found that maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood was related to neonatal whole-brain hippocampal functional connectivity. Children of mothers with a history of childhood maltreatment showed stronger neonatal hippocampal functional connectivity to the primary visual cortex, dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, and multiple regions associated with the default mode network; and weaker connectivity to the orbitofrontal cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, parahippocampus, cuneus, and insula. Using the template matching approach to empirically segment the hippocampus in a large adolescent sample, we identified a bilateral posterior hippocampal cluster. We applied this posterior hippocampal cluster to our infant cohort as a seed region and examined the association between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and neonatal posterior hippocampal functional connectivity. There was no association between maternal history of childhood maltreatment and neonatal posterior hippocampal functional connectivity.

Brain Regions and Networks Involved and Relation to Childhood Maltreatment

The results of this study reveal a pattern of altered hippocampal functional connectivity in association with a history of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood potentially representing an early neural phenotype. These finding are consistent with previous studies demonstrating an association between hippocampal connectivity and childhood maltreatment (Birn et al., 2013; Herringa et al., 2013; McLaughlin, Weissman, & Bitrán, 2019). More specifically, alterations to the cuneus, primary visual cortex, and occipital cortex; areas involved in the processing of visual information, have been associated with maltreatment (Aas et al., 2017; Teicher & Samson, 2016).

The posterior cingulate cortex, lateral parietal cortex, and temporoparietal junction are part of the default mode network (DMN) (Raichle et al., 2001; Rebello, Moura, Pinaya, Rohde, & Sato, 2018). A "proto-default network," which includes the lateral parietal cortex and posterior cingulate cortex, is observable in infancy (Fransson et al., 2011, 2009, 2007; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Elton, et al., 2015; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Smith, et al., 2015, 2015; Wei Gao et al., 2014, 2009; Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Carpenter, et al., 2015; Smyser et al., 2010). The DMN is also altered in the setting of childhood maltreatment (Philip et al., 2013; Teicher & Samson, 2016) and early life stress (Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Carpenter, et al., 2015). Graham and colleagues found that non-physical, interparental conflict during pregnancy was associated with stronger DMN functional connectivity during the first year of infant life (Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Carpenter, et al., 2015). These studies suggest that DMN is sensitive to environmental influences, including stress experienced by the mother during the prenatal period. In the present study, we found that a maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment was associated with increased offspring hippocampal integration into the DMN.

Many of the regions associated with altered hippocampal functional connectivity in the present study are part of the limbic system and prefrontal cortex, highly interconnected structures that include the orbitofrontal cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, parahippocampus, posterior cingulate cortex, and insula. The limbic system is not only important for emotion processing and memory, but is highly responsive to stress hormones due to the high concentration of glucocorticoid receptors in the hippocampus, amygdala, and prefrontal region (Graham et al., 2019; Herzog et al., 2020). Importantly, there is evidence that the fetal limbic system is

responsive to physiological and biological stress mediators in utero (Graham et al., 2018; A Qiu et al., 2015; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2015) and that stress-related alterations to the developing brain are long-lasting (Blankenship, Botdorf, Riggins, & Dougherty, 2019), representing a potential pathway for the intergenerational transmission of maternal childhood maltreatment.

Anterior and Posterior Hippocampal are Heterogeneous

The template matching procedure only identified a posterior hippocampal cluster. Past studies segmenting the hippocampus in adults found that the anterior portion of the hippocampus was associated with weaker connectivity across multiple regions of interest and greater differences in signal and shape (Frank, Bowman, & Zeithamova, 2019), which might explain why a probability-based cluster was not identified in anterior hippocampus in the present study. While the anterior and posterior segmentation approach makes sense for infant studies, where brain regions are still growing rapidly and may be harder to segment more finely, adult studies of hippocampal segmentation using functional topography suggest three to six functional subregions (Robinson et al., 2015; Zhong et al., 2019). There is also evidence of variation in hippocampal anterior and posterior connectivity by age in adolescents. One study found that younger boys demonstrated greater posterior connections, while older boys and younger girls demonstrated greater anterior connections (Riley et al., 2018). Girls over 11 years of age showed weaker and widely distributed connectivity (Riley et al., 2018). Another study looking at changes in the hippocampus associated with development in preadolescent children found that the age-associated changes were strongest in girls (Lin et al., 2013).

In the present study, we performed the template matching procedures using resting-state functional connectivity scans from preadolescents and adolescents. The age-associated changes in the distribution of hippocampal connections during this age range may also explain why we were only able to identify a posterior cluster. Future studies should attempt the template matching approach using infant data given that the cortical connectivity of neonates is still highly variable at this age. Convolutional neural networks is another potential approach that has already been used to segment infant cortical and subcortical structures (Ding et al., 2020; G. G. Li, Chen, Li, Wu, Lian, et al., 2019). Convolutional neural networks can overcome some of the issues associated with the heterogeneity of the hippocampal functional subregions by building on both local and contextual information to segment structures (G. G. Li, Chen, Li, Wu, Lian, et al., 2019; G. G. Li, Chen, Li, Wu, Sun, et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2019).

Anterior, not Posterior Hippocampus, is Usually Associated with Stress-Related Changes and Childhood Maltreatment

The identified posterior hippocampal cluster was not associated with maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood. The posterior hippocampus is associated with cognitive functions, and spatial learning and memory; and may be less effected by stress. In fact, both animal and human studies suggest that the anterior hippocampus is more sensitive to stress than the posterior hippocampus. Studies of chronic stress in rodents demonstrate decreased neurogenesis resulting in reduced anterior hippocampal volume (Hawley, Morch, Christie, & Leasure, 2012; Szeszko et al., 2006), while studies of acute stress show distinct stress-related response patterns at the molecular level

(Floriou-Servou et al., 2018). Stress-associated volume reduction in the anterior hippocampus has also been demonstrated in human studies of stress and PTSD (Szeszko et al., 2006; Vythilingam et al., 2005) and early life stress has been associated with reduced anterior hippocampal to entorhinal cortex functional connectivity (Xu, Guan, Li, Zhang, & Xu, 2020). The anterior hippocampus is associated with regulating, processing, and responding to emotions and stress; has greater subcortical connectivity; and plays a role in HPA axis regulation (Chase et al., 2015; Goosens, 2011; Sheldon et al., 2016). It is possible that the alterations associated with a maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment identified in relation to neonatal functional connectivity in the full hippocampus were driven by alterations to the anterior hippocampus. The stress susceptibility of this subregion, and its association with the HPA axis, potentially make it vulnerable to altered cortisol levels associated with a maternal history of childhood maltreatment during the gestational period. Indeed, the anterior hippocampus's heterogeneous network participation (relative to the posterior hippocampus), suggests that stress-related responses have the potential have to cause widespread alterations in connectivity (as was observed in whole-hippocampus findings).

Limitations and Additional Considerations

There are several limitations to consider. First, maternal childhood maltreatment was assessed retrospectively using a self-report measure, which could be influenced by event recall and reporting as well as a desire for non-disclosure. Previous studies suggest that mood at the time of assessment and awareness or denial of the events can also affect reporting (Hardt & Rutter, 2004). Self-reported rates of childhood maltreatment are

generally lower than research-defined rates of maltreatment (Silvern et al., 2000) suggesting that the results presented here would most likely reflect under-reporting. Second, our sample size is small which limits our ability to test the role of specific types of childhood maltreatment on offspring brain development. The type, timing, chronicity, and allostatic load of childhood maltreatment is associated with differential alterations to brain structure (Herzog et al., 2020; Teicher et al., 2018) and function (Teicher et al., 2016), which we were not able to explore here. Additionally, our cohort was not enriched for a history of childhood maltreatment and the rates of childhood maltreatment were low, which must be considered when comparing to other studies. The identified clusters associated with a maternal history of childhood maltreatment were not fully explored in the present study to reduce multiple comparisons. Future work is needed to examine the full extent to which maternal childhood maltreatment is related to the structure and function of the neonatal brain. While a promising approach, applying a label derived from adolescent hippocampal segmentation to infants may not be the best way to capture the functional differences of the hippocampus in infancy. Future work should explore the template matching approach using an infant template. Finally, future studies are needed to elucidate the association between alterations to hippocampal subfields associated with a history of childhood maltreatment and the potential relevance for the functional organization of the neonatal brain and child behavioral outcomes.

Conclusion

The results of this study suggest a neural phenotype related to a maternal history of childhood maltreatment. The findings further suggest that the intrauterine period is

important for the intergenerational transmission of the effects of maternal childhood maltreatment. Given the centrality of the hippocampus in memory and emotional processing and its clear sensitivity to environmental influences, it is imperative to explore how prenatal interventions can best support maternal and infant mental health.

CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION

5.1 Summary of Findings

The goal of this dissertation was to characterize mechanisms and outcomes relevant to the intergenerational transmission of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood. We started by considering a potential mechanism. We characterized the longitudinal of heterogeneity of maternal psychological stress during pregnancy and examined its relationship to a maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment as well as infant brain and behavioral outcomes. Recognizing that many study designs make it difficult to disentangle the effects of maternal childhood maltreatment history on offspring development transmitted during pregnancy versus effects due to the postnatal environment, we examined neonatal functional connectivity within one month of birth.

Alterations in maternal psychological stress during pregnancy is potentially a key mechanism for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment. In Study 1, we characterized the longitudinal trajectories of maternal psychological stress during pregnancy using a novel, flexible, and data-driven approach, the Functional Random Forest, in two independent mother-infant dyad cohorts (Total N=2,271). We identified four distinct clusters characterized by differences in the pattern of change over time (trajectory), and two characterized by overall magnitude of stress (higher versus lower). The magnitude clusters were not associated with infant neonatal amygdala functional connectivity or negative affect development, but were associated with a history of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood. Offspring of mothers with increasing or peak stress late in pregnancy showed increased amygdala functional connectivity at one month of age and altered negative affect development over the first

two years of life. The trajectory clusters were replicated in an independent cohort. Importantly, the association between trajectory cluster 3 and altered negative affect development was also replicated in the independent cohort. This study is unique due to the replication sample. Overall, the data highlight that the trajectory of maternal perinatal stress may contribute to both offspring brain and affective development in a manner that is independent of overall stress magnitude.

The amygdala plays an important role emotional responses, and stress-induced alterations may increase the risk for increased stress reactivity and attachment insecurity in offspring. Therefore, in Study 2, we examined how potential amygdala alterations, already evident in the neonatal brain, relate to the subsequent formation of maternalinfant attachment and infant stress reactivity. We found that neonates of mothers with a history of childhood maltreatment showed distinct patterns of amygdala functional connectivity to several brain regions including the pars opercularis, parahippocampus, temporal pole, dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, occipital cortex, fusiform, precentral gyrus, and cuneus. Follow up analyses focused on amygdala-dACC functional connectivity, due to its role in stress reactivity and regulation. Since numerous studies have focused on the role of attachment and bonding during the postnatal period as a potential mechanism for the intergenerational transmission of maternal childhood maltreatment, we examined the relationship between neonatal amygdala-dACC functional connectivity and mother-infant attachment security. Stronger amygdala-dACC functional connectivity related to increased likelihood of infants developing an insecure attachment at 12 months of age after adjusting for key potential confounds in the postnatal environment. Interestingly, stronger neonatal amygdala-dACC connectivity also

mediated the association between maternal history of childhood maltreatment and increased risk of insecure attachment. Given the involvement of the dACC in stress reactivity, we examined infant cortisol reactivity during the Strange Situation Paradigm. Infant cortisol reactivity at twelve months of age was not related to neonatal amygdaladACC connectivity. The results of this study suggest a potential neural phenotype related to a maternal history of childhood maltreatment. The findings further suggest that the intrauterine period is important for the intergenerational transmission of the effects of maternal childhood maltreatment, even in a cohort with relatively low rates of reported childhood maltreatment. Finally, the findings suggest that in utero alterations to offspring functional connectivity potentially influence later patterns of attachment.

The hippocampus is highly sensitive to stress such as childhood maltreatment and plays a regulatory role in HPA axis responsivity, which is known to be altered during pregnancy. In study 3, we found that neonates of mothers with a history of exposure to childhood maltreatment showed stronger neonatal hippocampal functional connectivity to the primary visual cortex, dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, and multiple regions associated with the default mode network; and weaker connectivity to the orbitofrontal cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, parahippocampus, cuneus, and insula. The hippocampus is composed of subregions, which are functionally distinct and differentially responsive to stress. Recognizing that these subregions may differ in their response to in utero stress exposure, we next examined hippocampal subregions. Using the template matching approach to empirically segment the hippocampus in a large adolescent sample, we identified a bilateral posterior hippocampal cluster. We applied this posterior hippocampal cluster to our infant cohort as a seed region and examined the association

between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and neonatal posterior hippocampal functional connectivity. There was no association between maternal history of childhood maltreatment and neonatal posterior hippocampal functional connectivity. The results of this study support potential hippocampal neural phenotype related to a maternal history of childhood maltreatment.

These studies provide evidence of the intergenerational effects of childhood maltreatment. The findings support the hypothesis that the intrauterine period is important for the intergenerational transmission of the effects of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood. They suggest a neural phenotype involving alterations in amygdala and hippocampal functional connectivity that is observable in offspring as early as one month of age and related to a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood. The results highlight the importance of considering both preconceptional and prenatal influences on fetal neurodevelopment. Finally, the results of these studies also demonstrate the importance of characterizing the longitudinal heterogeneity of maternal psychological stress during pregnancy and its association with a maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment and infant brain and negative affect development. .

5.2 Characterizing Maternal Psychological Stress During Pregnancy

Psychological stress is a complex construct encompassing stress severity, chronicity, and variability. However, maternal psychological stress during pregnancy has frequently been examined as a static construct. While a handful of studies have examined
the trajectories of maternal psychological stress during the prenatal and postnatal periods (Ahmed et al., 2019; Baron et al., 2017; Fredriksen et al., 2017; Kingston et al., 2018; Lahti et al., 2017; Mora et al., 2009; Mughal et al., 2018; H. Santos et al., 2017; van der Waerden et al., 2015), few studies have focused on the prenatal period. Those studies that have examined maternal stress during pregnancy primarily consider the magnitude of stress (i.e., high, medium, or low). However, there are several lines of evidence that highlight how psychosocial stress is dynamic and heterogeneous over the course of pregnancy (Ahmed et al., 2019; Buss, Entringer, Swanson, et al., 2012; Mora et al., 2009). Despite the evidence suggesting considerable within-person variability over the course of pregnancy and the early postpartum period, there is limited understanding of how trajectories, as opposed to magnitudes, of maternal psychological stress relate to offspring neurobiological and socioemotional development. New methods are needed to truly capture the longitudinal heterogeneity of maternal psychological stress during the prenatal and postnatal periods. Because pre- and postnatal neurodevelopment occurs sequentially, is dynamic, and is differentially sensitive to environmental influences at various periods; the effect of any insult, such as maternal psychological stress, depends just as much on timing and rate of change as it does on severity.

The existing literature is limited in four ways. First, sampling often includes only one or two time points, limiting our ability to examine stress trajectories. Second, even when multiple time points are available, prior work has primarily focused on the severity or magnitude of stress, as opposed to patterns of change over time. Third, previous studies have not replicated their findings in an independent sample, especially one with a very large sample size. Finally, prior work has not taken a data driven approach to

identifying potential heterogeneity with regard to both magnitude and patterns of change over time. No study to date has empirically tested and characterized the heterogeneity or patterns of individual maternal stress trajectories and examined their association with both infant brain and behavioral outcomes.

Maternal psychological health during pregnancy and postpartum has been increasingly recognized as a public health priority and represents a potential mechanism for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment. Decades of research have made clear that early prevention and intervention efforts related to maternal stress and its effects of offspring mental health outcomes will not be one size fits all. It is therefore critical to advance the understanding of heterogeneity in maternal psychological stress and the implications of individual differences for offspring development in order to maximize these efforts. In this prospective longitudinal cohort study of mothers and their infants, we found associations between the trajectory of maternal psychological stress during the perinatal period and negative affect in offspring out to 2-years of age using a novel machine learning algorithm. The Functional Random Forest, a flexible, data-driven approach, allowed us to characterize the longitudinal heterogeneity in maternal psychological stress during pregnancy. Patterns of offspring amygdala functional connectivity were affected by maternal stress trajectories. In other words, the trajectory, as opposed to the magnitude, of perinatal stress appears to be critical in determining how maternal perinatal stress affects offspring brain and behavioral development. These findings represent an important addition to the literature because they suggest that variability in the trajectory, including the timing of increases and peaks in maternal perinatal stress, influences infant brain and behavioral outcomes.

We found that increasing or peak maternal psychological stress during late pregnancy was associated with offspring brain and behavioral outcomes in the primary cohort. Although maternal cortisol levels vary across pregnancy, there is a surge during late pregnancy (Stoye et al., 2020). Several studies have shown that maternal cortisol during late pregnancy is associated with infant reactivity and negative emotionality (Braithwaite et al., 2017), a finding potentially explained by the high concentration of glucocorticoid receptors present in the amygdala (Matthews, 2000). Cortisol is involved in fetal brain neurogenesis, synaptogenesis, and axonal growth through these glucocorticoid receptors (Matthews, 2000; Moisiadis & Matthews, 2014). The period right before birth is especially important for the developing brain. This period is characterized by a rapid and dramatic increase in total physical connections between neurons of the cerebral cortex and is therefore considered a critical period for development of the cortical connectome (van den Heuvel et al., 2014). Rapid cortical maturation, circuit formation, and increased neuronal connectivity are hallmarks of third trimester neurodevelopment, and may explain why this period is particularly sensitive to alterations in maternal stress (Andescavage et al., 2017; Tau & Peterson, 2010; Moriah E. Thomason et al., 2015).

Given the sequential process of neurodevelopment, it is possible that alterations in maternal psychological stress have a differential impact on brain development depending on the timing of peaks or changes in stress. Screening for psychological stress at a single time point will therefore likely be insufficient for understanding women's risk trajectories and potential impacts on offspring neurodevelopment. Our results suggest that in the context of scarce resources in clinical and research settings, it may be particularly

important to focus on signs of increasing stress in later gestation. There is growing evidence to suggest that the fetus may be especially sensitive to extrauterine cues transmitted via stress-sensitive aspects of maternal-placental-fetal biology during late pregnancy. This research lays a foundation for future work focused on factors contributing to heterogeneity and changes in levels of maternal psychological stress, which will be critical for providing an empirical basis for effectively supporting maternal and infant health.

5.3 Maternal History of Exposure to Maltreatment During Childhood and the Functional Organization of the Offspring's Limbic System

Childhood maltreatment is associated with lasting alterations to neurobiology, stress physiology, and immunity (Buss et al., 2017). Maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood has been associated with an increase in placental CRH production during the second half of pregnancy, reflecting HPA dysregulation during late pregnancy (Moog et al., 2016). Similarly, pregnant women with a history of sexual abuse had increasing waking cortisol across pregnancy and did not demonstrate a dampening response in late pregnancy (Bublitz & Stroud, 2012). Cortisol bioavailability, which is affected by maltreatment-related HPA axis dysregulation (Gerritsen et al., 2017; Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006; Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004), plays a key role in fetal maturation and is associated with risk for offspring psychopathology (Buss et al., 2017; Graham et al., 2019). Several studies have shown that maternal cortisol during late pregnancy is associated with infant reactivity and negative emotionality (Braithwaite et al., 2017). Additionally, there is evidence that cortisol and other mediators of stress resulting from exposure to childhood maltreatment affect the development of specific brain regions sensitive to stress (Teicher & Samson, 2016). The limbic system is one of these regions and there is extensive evidence that it is altered in the setting of exposure to childhood maltreatment (Gerritsen et al., 2017; Hodel, 2018; Teicher & Samson, 2016). These alterations have been observed in childhood, adolescence, and have been shown to persist into adulthood (Hodel, 2018).

The limbic system is not only important for emotion processing and memory, but is highly responsive to stress hormones due to the high concentration of glucocorticoid receptors in the hippocampus, amygdala, and prefrontal region (Herzog et al., 2020; Matthews, 2000). These stress-induced alterations may increase the risk for emotional dysregulation (Burghy et al., 2012; Buss, Davis, et al., 2012), heightened negative affect and stress reactivity (Davis et al., 2011; Yong Ping et al., 2015), and subsequent psychopathology (Etkin & Wager, 2007) in offspring. Increased amygdala volume and connectivity have been associated with increased fear (Graham et al., 2016; Thomas et al., 2019) and affective problems in children (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012), while decreased hippocampal volumes have been associated with behavioral problems (Hanson et al., 2015) in children.

The general architecture and connectivity of the limbic system is largely established before birth (Hodel, 2018), suggesting potential malleability to mediators of maternal psychological and biological stress. There is evidence that the fetal limbic system is responsive to physiological and biological stress mediators in utero (Graham et

al., 2018; A Qiu et al., 2015; Rifkin-Graboi et al., 2015), representing a potential pathway for the intergenerational transmission of maternal childhood maltreatment. We therefore focused on the functional connectivity of the neonatal limbic system because of its vulnerability to stress and its role in emotion regulation and expression. Additionally, in an effort to link the brain and behavioral outcomes, we examined negative affect development, stress reactivity, and mother-infant attachment security.

Amygdala

In the present work, we found that a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood was associated with offspring stronger positive amygdala connectivity to the parahippocampus, temporal pole, pars opercularis, precentral gyrus, and dorsal anterior cingulate cortex; and negative functional connectivity to the occipital cortex, fusiform, left parahippocampus, and cuneus. The results of this study reveal a pattern of altered neonatal amygdala functional connectivity in association with a history of maternal childhood maltreatment potentially representing a neural phenotype related to intergenerational exposure to maltreatment.

In examining one of the amygdala connections associated with maternal history of exposure to maltreatment, we found that stronger amygdala to dorsal anterior cortex functional connectivity was related to increased risk of insecure attachment in infants. Previously, studies have focused exclusively on the influence of postnatal factors such as maternal mood, infant temperament, and socio-economic status on attachment security. In the present study, we found that stronger amygdala to dorsal anterior cortex functional connectivity mediated the relationship between maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood and infant attachment security. This suggests the need to consider how earlier, prenatal influences might affect later attachment security through the developmental programming of brain function in regions relevant to social development and attachment. The findings further support the importance of the intrauterine period for its role in the intergenerational transmission of the effects of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood.

Hippocampus

The sensitivity of the hippocampus to stress exposure has been well established in animal models (Bruce S. McEwen, 1999; Tottenham & Sheridan, 2009). Human studies also demonstrate consistent associations between early life adversity, particularly childhood maltreatment, and the hippocampus (Dahmen et al., 2018; Riem et al., 2015). Decreased hippocampal volumes have been associated early life stress (Dahmen et al., 2018), childhood maltreatment (Riem et al., 2015), and psychiatric disorders such as depression (Barch et al., 2019; McKinnon et al., 2009; M. A. O. Santos et al., 2018; Schmaal et al., 2016), and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Bromis et al., 2018; O'Doherty et al., 2015; Szeszko et al., 2018). The vulnerability of the hippocampus to stress is expected given the high density of glucocorticoid receptors (Herzog et al., 2020), and its role in HPA axis regulation (Jankord & Herman, 2008). Several studies have shown that maternal stress during pregnancy is associated with decreased offspring hippocampal volumes (A Qiu et al., 2013; Angi Qiu et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2020) and altered functional connectivity (Scheinost et al., 2020). Given that alterations in hippocampal volume and connectivity can be observed shortly after birth, this effect may

originate during fetal development, reflecting a potential pathway for the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment that begins before birth.

In the present study, we found that a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood was associated with altered hippocampal functional connectivity to the orbitofrontal cortex, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, parahippocampus, posterior cingulate cortex, and insula; all of which are part of the limbic system or prefrontal cortex. We also found a number of regions association with the default mode network, including the posterior cingulate cortex, lateral parietal cortex, and temporoparietal junction. There is evidence that a "proto-default network," which includes the lateral parietal cortex and posterior cingulate cortex, is observable in infancy (Fransson et al., 2011, 2009, 2007; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Elton, et al., 2015; Wei Gao, Alcauter, Smith, et al., 2015, 2015; Wei Gao et al., 2014, 2009; Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Carpenter, et al., 2015; Smyser et al., 2010). Importantly, the DMN is known to be altered in the setting of childhood maltreatment (Philip et al., 2013; Teicher & Samson, 2016) and early life stress (Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Carpenter, et al., 2015). Graham and colleagues found that non-physical, interparental conflict during pregnancy was associated with stronger DMN functional connectivity during the first year of infant life (Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Carpenter, et al., 2015) suggesting that this functional network may be susceptible to prenatal influences. Similar to the study of interparental conflict during the prenatal period, we found that a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood was associated with increased offspring hippocampal integration into the DMN. These results suggest that the influence of the early environment on the organization of the DMN may begin before birth. This finding has important implications

for how we interpret prior results focused on the role of the postnatal environment because it shows that the functional organization of the brain is established during the prenatal period. This functional organization likely influences infant responses to the postnatal environment as well as behavioral development.

5.4 Leveraging MRI to Examine Functional Heterogeneity

Resting-state functional connectivity MRI is an especially promising tool for understanding early neurodevelopment because MRI scans can be acquired shortly after birth during infant natural sleep (Graham et al., 2013; H. Zhang et al., 2019). By assessing infants shortly after birth, it is possible to begin to distinguish between the potential influences of prenatal and postnatal effects. Resting-state functional connectivity MRI is an especially important tool because it has high temporal and spatial resolution that allow for the examination of systems of interest, such as the limbic system, that are related to outcomes of interest (H. Zhang et al., 2019). Advances in neuroimaging techniques are improving spatial resolution and increasing the capacity to differentiate stress-sensitive subregions. In the present study, we leveraged a large existing dataset to empirically segment the hippocampus and examine the relationship between subregions and associations of interest.

Extending the capacity for infant neuroimaging is of considerable importance because it allows us to observe the organization of functional brain networks, before behavioral outcomes of interest are observable (Graham, Pfeifer, Fisher, Lin, et al., 2015). Increasing our understanding of the developing brain and its relationship to stress and other environmental factors could help us to identify early markers of risk or

resilience. These early markers will allow for early intervention with mothers during pregnancy as well as their infants. The timing of early interventions are especially important given of the plastic nature of the brain during the fetal period and early childhood. The sensitivity of the brain during this period will likely make it more responsive to therapeutic interventions and protective factors.

Advances in neuroimaging methods and the increasing number of consortium studies with large sample sizes are creating exciting opportunities to understand the functional organization of the brain. The template matching approach, which was used in the present study, can empirically segment structures such as the hippocampus based on their affiliation with different large scale networks. We leveraged the large ABCD dataset to segment the hippocampus and identified a posterior hippocampal cluster, which we then applied to an infant cohort. Although the identified posterior hippocampal cluster was not related to a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood, template matching remains an important avenue to pursue. Future studies should attempt the template matching approach using infant data given that the cortical connectivity of neonates is still highly variable at this age.

In addition to being highly responsive to stress, there is a wealth of evidence from both animal and human studies demonstrating that the hippocampus is functionally and structurally heterogeneous. The heterogeneity of the hippocampus as evidenced by the structural and functional diversity of the subregions may explain why many studies have reported null effects when looking at the hippocampus as a whole (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012). It is possible that the alterations associated with a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood identified in relation to neonatal functional connectivity in

the full hippocampus were driven by alterations to the anterior hippocampus. Indeed, the anterior hippocampus's heterogeneous network participation (relative to the posterior hippocampus), suggests that stress-related responses have the potential have to cause widespread alterations in connectivity (as was observed in whole-hippocampus findings). Failure to capture the distinct effects of maternal stress or exposure to maltreatment during childhood on hippocampal subregions will make it difficult to truly characterize their unique associations with offspring biobehavioral outcomes and subsequent psychopathology. Emerging evidence indicates the potential importance of considering these distinct subregions in order to better understand the effects of early adversity and childhood maltreatment.

5.5 Additional Consideration

The Timing of Maltreatment and Intergenerational Transmission

There is a wealth of evidence that the timing of maltreatment is important (Caldji et al., 1998; J. Herman, 2015; Teicher et al., 2018, 2016; Teicher & Samson, 2016). Early life stress and maltreatment during sensitive windows of development seem to have a greater impact (Teicher et al., 2018; Teicher & Samson, 2016) than stress that occurs later in life. Similarly, chronic maltreatment, especially at the hands of a caretaker, has a different effect than a single acute trauma that is impersonal and unintentional (J. Herman, 2015). It is likely that the timing and chronicity of childhood maltreatment will also prove relevant in whether or not transmission to the next generation occurs. There is already evidence that the association between a maternal history of physical victimization and offspring behavioral outcomes is more pronounced when the victimization occurred during the mothers' childhood compared with victimization experienced in adulthood (Thompson, 2007). As studies seek to better understand and characterize the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment, the timing and chronicity of maltreatment needs to be considered.

Trauma-Related Symptoms and Symptom Burden

A history of exposure to childhood maltreatment has been shown to increase the odds of perinatal depression (Barrios et al., 2015; Bouvette-Turcot et al., 2017; Choi et al., 2015; Gartland et al., 2016; Lara et al., 2015; Mcdonnell & Valentino, 2016; Mezey et al., 2005; Robertson-Blackmore et al., 2013), anxiety (Gartland et al., 2016; Lara et al., 2015), and intimate partner violence during pregnancy (Gartland et al., 2016; Huth-Bocks et al., 2013). Several studies suggest that pregnancy itself may trigger reminders of relational trauma (Huth-Bocks et al., 2013), be re-traumatizing (Lev-Wiesel et al., 2009; Mezey et al., 2005; Montgomery, 2013), and increase symptoms of PTSD (Choi et al., 2015; Lev-Wiesel et al., 2009; Mezey et al., 2005).

The present study considered maternal anxiety, depression, and perceived stress; but did not consider maltreatment-related or PTSD symptoms. It is likely that the trajectory of maltreatment-related symptoms will show heterogeneity as was observed in the patterns of depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms in the present cohort. These maltreatment-related symptoms will likely interact with symptoms of depression, anxiety, and stress in important ways that are relevant for both maternal and fetal health. The present cohort demonstrated lower levels of depression, anxiety, and stress symptom severity compared to clinical cohorts. It is telling that infant neurobehavioral outcomes

were observed in association with a maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment in a cohort with low levels of maltreatment exposure and lower depression, anxiety, and stress symptom severity. It is possible that women with a greater symptom burden, including maltreatment-related symptoms, will experience the stress of pregnancy differently in ways that distinctly affect infant development.

Heterogeneity of Maltreatment Response and Stress

There is considerable variability in how people respond to childhood maltreatment both physiologically and psychologically. For example, HPA axis alterations have been shown to vary, depending on the type and timing of maltreatment (Tarullo & Gunnar, 2006; Van Voorhees & Scarpa, 2004). The current version of the DSM recognized the heterogeneity of trauma-related responses in the most recent revisions by removing PTSD from Anxiety Disorders and creating a new category "Trauma and Stress-Related Disorders" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) that included a range of potential stress responses including, but not limited to, PTSD. In an attempt the address the variability within the PTSD diagnosis itself, they added a dissociative and preschool subtype to the existing diagnostic criteria (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Consideration of the heterogeneity of neurobiological and physiological responses is imperative when examining the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment. At the individual level, there is substantial evidence that the response to maltreatment and the resulting symptoms are more important than the exposure itself (Yehuda & Meaney, 2018). This suggests that the mother's response to maltreatment,

more than the exposure itself, is likely to be relevant when considering the potential for intergenerational effects. In the present work, our cohort was not enriched for a history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood; therefore, we were not able to fully explore the individual variation in responses and symptom trajectories. It is possible that maltreatment-related trajectories will demonstrate distinct patterns. Women with more avoidance and numbing symptoms or a history of past or current dissociation may have blunted stress trajectories; while women with greater trauma-related arousal and reactivity or intrusion symptoms may demonstrate greater magnitude and variability over time. Future work with cohorts enriched for maltreatment exposure will need to examine the role of maltreatment-related symptom heterogeneity in maternal and infant outcomes.

There is also variability in fetal outcomes related to maternal mediators of biological and psychological stress. Exposure to cytokines during the prenatal period, which are associated with stress-and inflammatory states, have been shown to decrease (Schepanski et al., 2018) and increase amygdala volume (Graham et al., 2018); while exposure to higher levels of cortisol, also associated with stress, are related to an increase in total neurons within the amygdala (Schepanski et al., 2018). There is also variability in how the hippocampus responds to stress. In animal models, short-term, mild stress during the prenatal period enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis and maturation; whereas, severe, long-lasting stress suppressed the morphology of hippocampal neurons (Fujioka, Fujioka, Ishida, Maekawa, & Nakamura, 2006). Higher levels of cortisol during pregnancy are necessary to meet increased maternal metabolic demands (Duthie & Reynolds, 2013; Schepanski et al., 2018) and for fetal organ maturation (Aboustate & Baune, 2020; Moisiadis & Matthews, 2014; Schepanski et al., 2018). Alterations in cortisol levels, either too high or too low, may distinctly affect infant brain development. The differential impact of stress mediators on fetal brain development highlight the importance of characterizing maternal stress heterogeneity during the prenatal period.

Framing Conversations about Maltreatment-Related Outcomes

There is a long-standing history of blaming survivors of childhood maltreatment, including mothers (Breckenridge, 2006), who experienced maltreatment during childhood. Judith Herman discusses how it is easier for society to blame the survivor than wrestle with what it means for society to allow childhood maltreatment and violence to occur unchecked (J. Herman, 2015). She describes society's dissociative amnesia around trauma and how there are periods of awareness and activism followed by periods of denial and shifting the blame to survivors (J. Herman, 2015). As we consider the findings of any study related to childhood maltreatment, we must be thoughtful in our interpretation. Yehuda and Meaney discuss the importance of distinguishing the consequences of maltreatment from the consequences of maltreatment-related symptoms in studies of intergenerational transmission (Yehuda & Meaney, 2018). They highlight how physiological responses to maltreatment may be adaptive in adverse environments. They further discuss how childhood adversity may be protective from later psychopathology in stress-filled environments (Yehuda & Meaney, 2018). This reasoning is supported by studies in animal models and humans examining differential susceptibility and differential sensitivity to context (Belsky, Bakermans-Kranenburg, & van IJzendoorn, 2007; Belsky & Pluess, 2009, 2013; N. R. Bush & Boyce, 2016; N. R.

Bush et al., 2017; Hartman, Freeman, Bales, & Belsky, 2018; Pluess & Belsky, 2011; Pluess, Bolten, Pirke, & Hellhammer, 2010).

In the present study, we found that a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood was associated with distinct offspring neonatal neural phenotypes related to the amygdala and hippocampus. The presence of this phenotype could be considered in the context of transmission of risk based on maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood, as it is often framed in the literature. Another way of thinking about this finding is that prenatal influences, such as maternal stress, program postnatal developmental plasticity making infants more sensitive and responsive to later environmental influences both positive and negative (Belsky et al., 2007; Belsky & Pluess, 2009, 2013; N. R. Bush & Boyce, 2016; N. R. Bush et al., 2017; Hartman et al., 2018; Pluess & Belsky, 2011; Pluess et al., 2010). Given the rapid brain development that occurs during early childhood, this increased developmental plasticity may enhance infant sensitivity and responsiveness to positive environmental factors. It further suggests the potential for increased responsivity to therapeutic interventions delivered during early childhood (Belsky et al., 2007). The present work only identified potential neural phenotypes associated with limbic functional connectivity without evaluating their responsivity or sensitivity to postnatal influences. Future studies should follow children during early development and investigate whether these neural phenotypes are associated with enhanced sensitivity and responsivity to the postnatal environment.

Therapeutic Potential of Considering the Intergenerational Transmission of Childhood Maltreatment

Screening for anxiety and depression is common in clinical settings, but there is often resistance to screening for childhood maltreatment or PTSD because of a fear of opening "Pandora's Box" (Havens, Ford, Grasso, & Marr, 2012). The failure to assess for maltreatment history in clinical practice may also reflect a lack of awareness of the relevance of childhood maltreatment for current, reproductive, and offspring health. Survivors are unlikely to report a history of exposure to childhood maltreatment unless asked and most physicians do not ask (Springer et al., 2003). Importantly, studies suggest that women with a history of childhood maltreatment want their physicians to ask about this history (Springer et al., 2003). The present work highlights the importance of screening for childhood maltreatment and trauma-related symptoms before or during pregnancy. If we do not ask about maltreatment history, we cannot provide support or address its lasting effects when it is present; and more importantly, we continue to perpetuate the blame and stigma associated with abuse and neglect by being silent (Havens et al., 2012; J. Herman, 2015; Springer et al., 2003). The present work also demonstrates the importance of screening for maternal psychological stress across pregnancy and attending to changes in symptoms, not symptom severity alone.

Identifying a history of childhood maltreatment and changes in symptom severity during pregnancy through screening provides opportunities for timely, evidence-based therapeutic interventions. For example, maternal interventions could be delivered during pregnancy such as Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy for Perinatal Depression, which has been shown to be reduce distress and depressive symptoms in pregnant women

(Dimidjian et al., 2016; Tomfohr-Madsen et al., 2016); or even preconception to reduce symptoms and health outcomes related to exposure to maltreatment during childhood. Given the plasticity of the infant brain and its potential responsivity to positive environmental factors, therapeutic interventions could also be delivered after birth. Attachment and Biobehavioral Catch-Up is designed for families with a history of childhood maltreatment, and has been shown to improve attachment security and alter neural processing in regions associated with social cognition (Valadez, Tottenham, Tabachnick, & Dozier, 2020; Zajac, Lee Raby, & Dozier, 2019). The Attachment and Biobehavioral Catch-Up intervention is especially promising since there is evidence that it affects patterns of hippocampal activation and attachment security in children, both offspring outcomes identified as related to the intergenerational transmission of childhood maltreatment in the present work. Clinicians should screen for a history of childhood maltreatment and trauma-related symptoms as a routine part of prenatal care. An awareness of maternal childhood maltreatment history and current symptom severity will help clinicians identify which interventions will best support maternal and infant health.

5.6 Limitations and Future Work

There are several limitations, beyond the additional considerations described above, to consider. We will discuss these limitations, their relevance to future studies, and potential future work below.

Self-Report Measures

A history of maternal exposure to childhood maltreatment was assessed retrospectively using a self-report measure, which could be influenced by event recall and reporting as well as a desire for non-disclosure. Previous studies suggest that mood at the time of assessment and awareness or denial of the events can also affect reporting (Hardt & Rutter, 2004). Self-reported rates of childhood maltreatment are generally lower than research-defined rates of maltreatment (Silvern et al., 2000) suggesting that the results presented here would most likely reflect under-reporting. Similarly, depression and anxiety were assessed by self-report and not by a diagnostic interview, which is in line with how it is assessed in clinical settings during routine antenatal and postnatal care. Finally, we did not ask about maltreatment-related symptoms or history of past or present PTSD, which is an important consideration in distinguishing between the influence of exposure versus symptomology resulting from that exposure. Future work should explore the influence of maltreatment-related symptoms and a diagnosis of past or present PTSD on offspring biobehavioral outcomes and subsequent psychopathology. Additionally, understanding the interaction between maltreatment-related symptoms and maternal stress during pregnancy, and how this interaction relates to offspring brain and behavioral outcomes, is also an important future direction.

Sample Size and Maltreatment Prevalence

Our sample size is small, which limits our ability to test specific aspects of childhood maltreatment exposure on child brain and biobehavioral outcomes. The type, timing, chronicity, and allostatic load of childhood maltreatment is associated with differential alterations to brain structure (Herzog et al., 2020; Teicher et al., 2018), function (Teicher et al., 2016), and divergent behavioral outcomes (Hahm et al., 2010; Savage et al., 2019). Future studies are needed to better characterize the distinct contributions of maternal childhood maltreatment history and related symptoms on maternal psychological stress during pregnancy and infant outcomes. Our cohort was not enriched for a history of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood, which must be considered when comparing to other studies. Although the rates of childhood maltreatment were low, the prevalence in our cohort is similar to that of several large, population-based samples suggesting that the results may generalize to community samples (Gerdner & Allgulander, 2009; Walker et al., 1999). Future work should examine the associations between maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment and offspring brain and behavioral outcomes in a cohort enriched for childhood maltreatment.

Functional Connectivity Clusters

The neuroimaging component of this study focused on the resting state functional connectivity between the amygdala and specific regions of interest. The other amygdala and hippocampal functional connectivity clusters associated with a maternal history of childhood maltreatment were not fully explored in the present study to reduce multiple comparisons. The processing, interpretation, and expression of negative affect, attachment, and reactivity involves multiple brain regions and networks beyond those explored in the present study. Future work is needed to explore the full extent to which

maternal childhood maltreatment is related to the structure and function of the neonatal brain.

Subregion Heterogeneity

There is significant structural and functional heterogeneity in the limbic regions examined in the present work. In all of our studies, we averaged across the amygdala and hippocampus when creating regions of interest, potentially obscuring the contributions of subnuclei and subregions. Subregions play a key role in the neurobiology of the amygdala, hippocampus, and anterior cingulate cortex. The functional differences of subregions, as well as their differential susceptibility to stress, are especially relevant to understanding the effects of stress and maltreatment. We averaged across these regions in the present work because we lacked the neonatal rs-fcMRI reference atlases necessary to explore the distinct contributions of specific amygdala, hippocampal, and anterior cingulate cortex subregions. Although we lacked the appropriate methods to examine the role of subregions in rs-fcMRI data in infants, emerging evidence suggests that differential patterns of subregion connectivity are evident as early as the neonatal period (Gabard-Durnam et al., 2018). Significant challenges remain in examining limbic system subregion connectivity in neonates; however, we recognize that understanding the contributions of subregions is an important area of future work. Therefore, we briefly discuss the neurobiology and connectivity of amygdala, hippocampal, and anterior cingulate cortex subregions for context, even though this is not a focus of the present work.

Amygdala Neurobiology and Connectivity

Amygdala subnuclei are a key part of the neurobiology of the amygdala and have differential structural and functional connectivity. Studies of amygdala subnuclei in adolescents and adults demonstate that the subnuclei play distinct roles in emotional and fear responses, memory, learning, and psychiatric disorders (LeDoux, 2007; Rosell & Siever, 2015; Sah et al., 2003). There is also evidence that amygdala subnuclei are differentially responsive to the effects of adversity, maltreatment, and trauma (Nogovitsyn et al., 2020; Oshri et al., 2019; Veer et al., 2015). Given the clear relevance of amygdala subnuclei to our understanding of the effects of stress and maltreatment, and behavioral and psychiatric outcomes; we briefly discuss the neurobiology and connectivity of the subnclei below.

There are several approaches to describing the subregions and nuclei of the amygdala (LeDoux, 2007; Tyszka & Pauli, 2016). For the purposes of this dissertation, three major subdivisions of the amygdala will be described based on subdivisions identifiable using in vivo MRI in humans (Rosell & Siever, 2015). The first subdivision is the basolateral complex, which includes the lateral, basolateral, basomedial (accessory basal), and paralaminar nuclei (Rosell & Siever, 2015; Tyszka & Pauli, 2016). The lateral amygdala primarily receives sensory inputs such as sight, sound, and pain (LeDoux, 2007). Overall, the basolaternal complex projects to the prefrontal cortex, thalamus, memory system of the medial temporal lobe, hippocampus, perirhinal cortex, and nucleus accumbens (Sah et al., 2003). The basolateral complex plays a role in the storage of memories associated with fear and the regulation of fear extinction (Nogovitsyn et al., 2020). The second subdivision is the centromedial complex, which includes the medial

and central nuclei, and the amygdaloid portion of the bed nucleus of strai terminalis (Rosell & Siever, 2015; Sah et al., 2003). The central nucleus is involved in the expression of emotional responses and is primarily involved in output, passing information from the amygdala to nuclei of the midbrain, pons, and medulla oblongata; the hypothalamus; and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (Sah et al., 2003). These areas are involved in arousal, reactivity, and autonomic nervous system activation (LeDoux, 2007; Rosell & Siever, 2015; Sah et al., 2003). The third subdivision is the corticomedial (superficial) group, which includes the cortical nuclei, the nucleus of the lateral olfactory tract, the bed nucleus of the accessory olfactory tract, and the periamygdaloid cortex (Sah et al., 2003). The role of the corticomedial group is not fully understood (Rosell & Siever, 2015).

Rs-fcMRI reference atlases that define amygdala subregions have been used in studies of infants and children. However, they are currently based on adult cytoarchitectural patterns (K. Amunts et al., 2005; Katrin Amunts, Mohlberg, Bludau, & Zilles, 2020) and may not accurately reflect the relative proportion of amygdala subregions in children and neonates (Kim et al., 2010). Age-specific reference atlases segmenting the amygdala by subnuclei are not publically available for neonates. Adapting adult amygdala reference atlases to neonates obscures the developmental changes within this region, which are especially important to consider during the neonatal period since this is a time of rapid growth and expansion of structural and functional connectivity.

Even when reference atlases are available, it can be difficult to accurately and consistently segment all of the different amygdala subnuclei (Tyszka & Pauli, 2016).

Thus, the existing studies generally focus on alterations to the volume of larger amygdala subdivisions, which can be delineated more consistently. Nogovitsyn and colleagues (2020) found that greater childhood trauma was associated with smaller bilateral basolateral complex volume in adolescents. Looking at specific types of trauma, they found that physical abuse was associated with significant reduction in the basolateral complex volume bilaterally. A history of sexual abuse was also associated with reduced volumes in the basolateral complex as well as reduced right cortical nucleus volume. Adolescents who reported sexual abuse lasting greater than one year had smaller lateral nuclei bilaterally compared to those who reported sexual abuse lasting less than one year (Nogovitsyn et al., 2020). Although none of the adolescents met the criteria for a clinical diagnosis of depression or anxiety, they found that reduced right basolateral and cortical nuclei volume mediated the association between greater childhood sexual abuse and higher levels of depression and anxiety (Nogovitsyn et al., 2020). Oshri and colleagues (2019) found that adverse childhood experiences were associated with reduced basolateral and centromedial volumes in emerging adults. Like Nogovitsyn and colleagues, they found that reduced right basolateral volumes mediated the association between adverse childhood experiences and greater anxiety and depression symptom severity (Oshri et al., 2019). Veer and colleagues (2015) also found reduced right basolateral and superficial nuclei volumes in adults with PTSD following childhood trauma compared to controls (Veer et al., 2015). In addition, they found the severity of sexual abuse during childhood was inversely associated with right amygdala volume (Veer et al., 2015). The lasting effects of childhood adversity and maltreatment on the

amygdala and specific amygdala subregions highlights the sensitivity of this structure to stress.

Two studies have attempted to examine differences in amygdala subnuclei functional connectivity in infants. Hansen and colleagues (2020) found less differentiated patterns of basolateral amygdala functional connectivity in neonates. While adults showed varying levels of connections between regions associated with face and object processing and primary sensory regions, neonates demonstrated undifferentiated basolateral amygdala connectivity across all functional regions examined (Hansen, Li, & Saygin, 2020). Unlike adults, neonates demonstrated greater amygdala to primary visual and auditory cortex functional connectivity (Hansen et al., 2020). In a sample of children ages 3 months to 5 years of age, Gabard-Durnam and colleagues found that the basolateral amygdala had stronger positive functional connectivity with the frontal, ventral cortical, and subcortical regions; and stronger negative connectivity with the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, fusiform gyrus, visual cortex, caudate, and pre- and post-central gyri (Gabard-Durnam et al., 2018). The basolateral amygdala demonstrated positive linear changes in sensory and motor cortical regions with increasing age. The superficial subregion had stronger positive connectivity to the thalamus and striatum, and stronger negative connectivity to the rostral ventromedial prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, dorsal cingulate, precentral gyrus, precuneus, cuneus, posterior cingulate, fusiform gyrus, hippocampus, parahippocampal gyri, thalamus, as well as several other regions (Gabard-Durnam et al., 2018). The superficial subregion demonstrated negative linear changes in subcortical and cortical sensory and motor region connectivity with increasing age (Gabard-Durnam et

al., 2018). The ongoing development of the amygdala during infancy and early childhood, as evidenced by the changing strength, direction, and specificity of amygdala subregion functional connectivity, suggests that the amygdala likely remains sensitive to environmental influences, such as stress, across early childhood with the potential for long-lasting effects. When developmentally appropriate reference atlases are available, studies should examine the relationship between maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment and offspring amygdala subregion functional connectivity. They should further examine how these functional connections relate to offspring biobehavioral development and psychopathology.

Hippocampus Neurobiology and Connectivity

There is a wealth of evidence from animal and human studies demonstrating the functional and structural heterogeneity of the hippocampus. The heterogeneity of the hippocampus, which is due to the structural and functional diversity of the hippocampal subregions, may explain why many studies have reported null effects when looking at the hippocampus as a whole (Buss, Davis, et al., 2012). It is possible that the effects of maternal stress during pregnancy on the developing hippocampus are partially masked in studies looking at the hippocampus as a whole. Failure to capture the distinct effects of maternal stress or exposure to childhood maltreatment on hippocampal subregions will make it difficult to truly characterize their unique associations with offspring biobehavioral outcomes and subsequent psychopathology.

There are multiple ways to divide the hippocampus into regions. Broadly, the hippocampus can be divided along its longitudinal axis into posterior (dorsal), body

(intermediate), and anterior (ventral) regions (Strange, Witter, Lein, & Moser, 2014; Zheng et al., 2020). There is debate about the specificity of these regions functionally and whether they are starkly demarcated or organized along a longitudinal axis gradient (Strange et al., 2014). The differences in how the hippocampus is divided largely depends on the methods with which it is studied. Gene expression studies of the hippocampus demonstrate clear functional boundaries, while electrophysiological and anatomical studies demonstrate a long-axis gradient (Strange et al., 2014).

The anterior hippocampus is directly connected to subcortical structures, including the amygdala, and is associated with regulating, processing, and responding to emotions and stress, context coding, and autobiographical memory representations (Chase et al., 2015; Decker et al., 2020; Goosens, 2011; Nadel et al., 2013; Sheldon et al., 2016). In resting-state functional connectivity studies, the anterior hippocampus demonstrates stronger connectivity to the orbitofrontal and temporal cortex (Goosens, 2011), as well as a stronger association with the default mode network (Chase et al., 2015). Studies of chronic stress in rodents demonstrate decreased neurogenesis resulting in reduced anterior hippocampal volume (Hawley et al., 2012; Szeszko et al., 2006), while studies of acute stress show distinct stress-related response patterns at the molecular level (Floriou-Servou et al., 2018). Stress-associated volume reduction in the anterior hippocampus has also been demonstrated in human studies of stress and PTSD (Szeszko et al., 2006; Vythilingam et al., 2005) and early life stress has been associated with reduced anterior hippocampal to entorhinal cortex functional connectivity (Xu et al., 2020). It is possible that the alterations associated with a maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment identified in relation to neonatal functional connectivity in the

full hippocampus in the present work were driven by alterations to the anterior hippocampus. Indeed, the anterior hippocampus's heterogeneous network participation (relative to the posterior hippocampus), suggests that stress-related responses have the potential have to cause widespread alterations in connectivity (as was observed in wholehippocampus findings). The stress susceptibility of this subregion, and its association with the HPA axis, potentially make it vulnerable to altered cortisol levels associated with a maternal history of childhood maltreatment during the gestational period.

The posterior hippocampus is connected to the neocortex and is associated with cognitive functions, spatial learning and memory, and reward processing (Chase et al., 2015; Goosens, 2011; Sheldon et al., 2016). Gene expression in this region is associated with information processing in cortical regions (Fanselow & Dong, 2010). Studies of individuals with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) demonstrate differences in posterior hippocampal functional connectivity (Lazarov et al., 2017; Malivoire et al., 2018).

Emerging evidence highlights the importance of considering these distinct subregions in order to better understand the effects of early adversity and childhood maltreatment. In a recent study by Wang and colleagues (2019) looking at the functional connectivity of both the anterior and posterior hippocampus, maternal sensitivity at 6 months of infant age was associated with anterior hippocampus functional connectivity at 4 and 6 years of age, and there was no association with posterior hippocampal functional connectivity (Q. Wang et al., 2019). While the anterior and posterior segmentation approach makes sense for infant studies, where brain regions are still growing rapidly and may be harder to segment more finely, adult studies of hippocampal segmentation using

functional topography suggest three to six functional subregions (Robinson et al., 2015; Zhong et al., 2019).

The functional subregions identified in adolescent and adult imaging studies reflect distinct underlying neurobiology, connectivity, and histology. The hippocampus proper can be divided into the cornu ammonis (CA) fields (CA1-CA4) and dentate gyrus (Wible, 2013), which form a trisynaptive loop (Yang & Wang, 2017). The major input to the hippocampus is the dentate gyrus, which receives projections from the entorhinal cortex (Wible, 2013). In turn, the entorhinal cortex receives output from the dorsal CA1, which also projects to the subiculum (Yang & Wang, 2017). The ventral subiculum is involved in HPA axis inhibition following psychological stress and behavioral responses to stress (J. P. Herman, Dolgas, & Carlson, 1998; Teicher, Anderson, & Polcari, 2012). The ventral subiculum is also a primary output of the hippocampus (Teicher et al., 2012). The dorsal CA1 is associated with episodic and spatial learning and memory (Chase et al., 2015; Goosens, 2011; Sheldon et al., 2016). Given its projections to the amygdala, nucleus accumbens, and medical prefrontal cortex; the ventral CA1 is associated with affective behaviors and regulating, processing, and responding to emotions and stress (Chase et al., 2015; Decker et al., 2020; Goosens, 2011; Nadel et al., 2013; Sheldon et al., 2016; Yang & Wang, 2017). The ventral CA1 also receives inputs from the basolateral amygdala and is involved in emotion-associated memory and anxiety (Yang & Wang, 2017).

The lack of age-specific reference atlases make it difficult to accurately segment the hippocampus into subregions in infants. Age-specific reference atlases segmenting the hippocampus by functional subregions are not publically available for neonates.

Adapting adult hippocampal reference atlases to neonates obscures the developmental changes within this region, which is especially important given the existing evidence of age and sex-associated hippocampal variation. Riley and colleagues found that younger boys demonstrated greater posterior connections, while older boys and younger girls demonstrated greater anterior connections (Riley et al., 2018). Girls over 11 years of age showed weaker and widely distributed connectivity (Riley et al., 2018). It is possible that age and sex-related hippocampal subregion variation is also present in infancy, and that hippocampal subregions follow different developmental growth trajectories. Developing age and sex-specific hippocampal reference atlases for infancy and early childhood is an important area of future work.

As with the amygdala, existing studies generally focus on alterations to the volume of larger hippocampal subregions in adolescents and adults, where the subregions can be delineated more consistently. Teicher and colleagues (2012) found that childhood maltreatment was associated with volume reductions in the left CA2-CA3 and CA4, dentate gyrus subfields, and the subiculum, independent of a history of major depressive disorder and PTSD (Teicher et al., 2012). Dahmen and colleagues found reduced CA1, CA3, and dentate gryrus subfield volumes were associated with early life adversity (Dahmen et al., 2018). Aghamohammadi-Sereshki and colleagues found that childhood maltreatment was associated with reductions in volume of CA subregions 1-3 and the anterior hippocampus in patients with major depressive disorder (Aghamohammadi-Sereshki et al., 2021). Future studies should examine the relationship between maternal history of exposure to childhood maltreatment and adversity and offspring hippocampal subregion functional connectivity. Future work should also examine how these functional

connections relate to offspring biobehavioral development and subsequent psychopathology.

Anterior Cingulate Cortex Neurobiology and Connectivity

Like the limbic structures we have discussed previously, there is significant structural and functional heterogeneity in the ACC. In adolescents and adults, the ACC subregions play distinct roles in the processing, control, and regulation of cognitive and emotional information, attention, and response selection (G. Bush et al., 2000; Shenhav et al., 2016). There is also evidence that the ACC subregions are differentially sensitive to the effects of adversity, maltreatment, and trauma (Demers et al., 2015). Therefore, we briefly explore the potential contributions of ACC subregions to offspring behavioral outcomes and their vulnerability to maltreatment and stress below.

There are two major subdivisions of the ACC as well as numerous smaller subregions reflecting structural and functional differences. The first major subdivision is the dorsal ACC (also called the anterior mid-cingulate), which is associated with the processing and control of cognitive information, attention, and response selection (G. Bush et al., 2000; Shenhav et al., 2016). The dorsal ACC is connected to the lateral prefrontal cortex, parietal cortex, and motor cortex (G. Bush et al., 2000; Shenhav et al., 2016). Studies suggest that the dorsal ACC and lateral prefrontal cortex coordinate in situations requiring high mental effort (G. Bush et al., 2000). Importantly, the dorsal ACC has been implicated as a critical region in studies of early adversity and PTSD (Demers et al., 2015; Teicher et al., 2016). This region appears to be uniquely vulnerable

to the effects of childhood trauma, demonstrating reduced neuronal integrity and volume in individuals with a history of childhood maltreatment (Demers et al., 2015).

The rostral ACC is associated with the processing, integration, and regulation of emotional information (G. Bush et al., 2000; Shenhav et al., 2016). The ventral ACC is connected to the amygdala, nucleus accumbens, anterior insula, hypothalamus, periaqueductal gray, and orbitofrontal cortex (G. Bush et al., 2000); and can be further divided into the pregenual and subgenual regions (Stevens et al., 2016). The subgenual region has the most connectivity to the limbic system and areas related to the autonomic nervous system, and plays a role in autonomic control and conditioned learning (Stevens et al., 2016). The pregenual ACC is involved in emotion regulation and emotional responses to pain (Stevens et al., 2016). Neuroimaging studies suggest that activation of the pregenual ACC is associated with the suppression of early limbic system responses (Stevens et al., 2016). In a study of adults with a history of childhood maltreatment, only those adults with current PTSD demonstrated an inhibition deficiency associated with ventral ACC activity (Stevens et al., 2016).

The ACC subregions demonstrate specific responses to stress and maltreatment exposure, as well as distinct associations with outcomes such as psychopathology. Future studies are needed to elucidate the association between alterations to specific ACC subregions associated with a history of exposure to childhood maltreatment and the potential relevance for offspring brain functional organization and behavioral outcomes.

Seed-Based Connectivity and Artifacts

Functional connectivity relies on correlation estimates, which can be sensitive to multiple types of artifacts (Fair et al., 2020; Maknojia, Churchill, Schweizer, & Graham, 2019; J. D. Power, Barnes, Snyder, Schlaggar, & Petersen, 2012; J. D. Power et al., 2018; Satterthwaite et al., 2012). Motion artifacts are commonly addressed during processing through the removal of frames associated with high motion and motion correction algorithms, which were used in the present work (Maknojia et al., 2019; J. D. Power et al., 2018). An important approach to addressing motion during acquisition is by using real-time motion analytics such as Framewise Integrated Real-time MRI Monitoring Attenuation, which allow the operator to track infant head motion and monitor scan quality during the scan (Dosenbach et al., 2017). By tracking motion during scan acquisition, the operator can ensure that an adequate amount of low movement data are collected and adjust infant positioning to reduce motion if necessary. Attenuation artifacts due to magnetic field inhomogeneity are another important consideration in studies using seed-based functional connectivity since attenuated signals may be averaged into a region of interest (Peer, Abboud, Hertz, Amedi, & Arzy, 2016). One approach to deal with attenuated signals is intensity-based masking (Peer et al., 2016). In this approach, maximum BOLD voxel intensity values are modeled as a bimodal Guassian distribution separating low and high intensity voxels. A threshold is applied at the midpoint to create a mask and only high intensity voxels representing white or gray matter with limited signal attenuation are used for future steps in the approach. After the mask is applied, activity is averaged by predefined regions to create regional time-courses. This approach limits the effect of signal from low-intensity voxels from influencing correlation and

improves cluster detection by revealing distant connections that would not be incorporated in the traditional averaging approach (Peer et al., 2016). In the present work, we did not use intensity-based masking. It is possible that using this approach would increase the likelihood of identifying additional clusters associated with the amygdala or hippocampus because of reduced signal inhomogeneity in cortical regions. There is also a possibility that it would not affect the results. One of the primary sources of signal attenuation is air in the sinuses and brain cavities (Peer et al., 2016). The presence of air creates magnetic field inhomogeneity in nearby cortical regions (Peer et al., 2016). Inhomogeneity from this source is less of a concern in neonates where there are fewer air cavities than in adolescents and adults. Additionally, we used subcortical structures for our seed regions in all of the aims. The amygdala and hippocampus do not directly border air cavities and are therefore less likely to be affected by related inhomogeneity.

Reproducibility, Reliability, and Resting-State Functional Connectivity

The present study was conducted with a limited amount of resting state data. The ability to identify functional networks in the context of individual heterogeneity improves with longer scan times. Twelve to twenty minutes of resting-state data are recommended as a minimum (Birn et al., 2013; Gordon et al., 2017). Gordon and colleagues found that 10 to 80 minutes of rs-fcMRI were needed to reliability characterize individual rs-fcMRI correlations and network assignments, and cautioned against using scans with less than 10 minutes of data (Gordon et al., 2017). It is difficult to acquire scans of this length during a single session in infants who may wake up in response to MRI sounds or due to

hunger. Longer scan times and multiple scanning sessions are often required to ensure 10-20 minutes of low-motion rs-fcMRI data.

The present study was also conducted in a small sample. The size of the cohort is an important limitation to consider. A recent paper by Marek and colleagues (2020) suggested that small sample sizes, such as the cohort size in the present study, are underpowered to identify meaningful associated between brain function and behavioral outcomes. They found that smaller samples had inflated effect sizes and were more likely to be irreproducible (Marek et al., 2020). They found that the associations between brain and behavioral outcomes stabilize with sample size of around 2,000 participants or more. They suggest turning to large, consortium-level cohorts to overcome the issue of reproducibility in neuroimaging (Marek et al., 2020). Recognizing this limitation, we leveraged the ABCD dataset in the present study to empirically segment the hippocampus.

While the need for larger cohorts is undisputed, the applicability of large childhood, adolescent, and adult cohorts to early development is less clear. In the present study, it is possible that heterogeneity in the developing hippocampus, specific to adolescence; limited its generalizability to our infant cohort. The difference in brain development over a lifespan will also limit our ability to use large adolescent and adult cohorts for replication studies of developmental findings unique to infancy. In many ways, we have come full circle. Previously, adolescent and adult structural and functional scans were applied to infant datasets and used to make inferences about infant development. As infant scanning became more feasible, there was a push to look at infant brain development directly to avoid potential assumptions that might arise by working

from adolescent and adult brains. In the past several years, image acquisition and processing procedures specific to infants have been developed. These procedures allowed for the characterization of developing structural and functional organization of the infant and even fetal brain. Unfortunately, it is difficult to enroll and retain large cohorts of pregnant women and infants at a single site. As the field turns towards larger datasets, there is a need for consortia that focus on infant MRI.

Leveraging infant data from large consortia is not without its own set of limitations. Infant heart and breathing rates, which are already more rapid than that of adults, change in an age-dependent way (H. Zhang et al., 2019). The changing heart and breathing rates adds an additional level of variability to infant scans. During natural sleep, infants cycle between quiet and active sleep stages, which affects the organization of functional networks (Lee et al., 2020; Tokariev et al., 2019). These stages are associated with further changes in heart rate and breathing, which adds artifacts during the acquisition of resting-state scans (Litscher, Pfurtscheller, Bes, & Poiseau, 1993). Future studies should use physiologic measures during scanning to allow for more precise approaches to the removal of respiratory artifacts during resting-state functional connectivity (Fair et al., 2020). Motion represents another important source of artifacts in infant scans that must be considered during acquisition and addressed during processing and post-processing (H. Zhang et al., 2019). The increased variability inherent in infant scanning due to development and motion, coupled with the variability introduced by the use of different scanners, and potentially scanning protocols, may make it more difficult to combine infant scans across multiple sites in a meaningful way.
The deep, prospective biobehavioral characterization possible in small studies is also an important consideration as the field moves towards large consortia studies. The in-depth collection of prospective, biobehavioral data may not be possible in larger studies across multiple sites because of the time commitment for participants; instead, interviews may be replaced by surveys. Shifting to survey data may also affect outcomes. The recommended administration for many psychological assessments is verbal delivery, not written response or survey, because the method of administration changes how the participant responds (First, Williams, Karg, & Spitzer, n.d.; Steinberg & Beyerlein, 2013). Small studies that are able to characterize biobehavioral phenotypes remain important for hypothesis generation. In the present study, we used a small cohort to characterize potential mechanisms and neurobehavioral outcomes related to the intergenerational transmission of maternal exposure to maltreatment during childhood in a flexible and exploratory way.

5.7 Conclusions

The results of these studies demonstrate the importance of characterizing the longitudinal heterogeneity of maternal psychological stress during pregnancy and its association with a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood and infant brain and negative affect development. They also suggest a neural phenotype observable in offspring that is related to a maternal history of exposure to maltreatment during childhood. The findings further suggest that the intrauterine period is important for the intergenerational transmission of the effects of maternal childhood maltreatment, even in a cohort with relatively low rates of reported childhood maltreatment.

Understanding the heterogeneity of maternal psychological stress, the influence of preconceptional factors such as exposure to childhood maltreatment, and their effect on infant neurobiological and socioemotional development is critical to targeting screening and interventions.

REFERENCES

- Aas, M., Kauppi, K., Brandt, C. L., Tesli, M., Kaufmann, T., Steen, N. E., ... Melle, I. (2017). Childhood trauma is associated with increased brain responses to emotionally negative as compared with positive faces in patients with psychotic disorders. *Psychological Medicine*, 47(4), 669–679. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716002762
- Aboustate, N., & Baune, B. T. (2020). Developmental Programming During Psychological Stress in Pregnancy: A Neurobiological Perspective. In A. L.
 Teixeira, D. Macedo, & T. B. Bernhard (Eds.), *Perinatal Inflammation and Adult Psychopathology: From Preclinical Models to Humans* (pp. 11–32). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-39335-9_2
- Abulizi, X., Pryor, L., Michel, G., Melchior, M., van der Waerden, J., & EDEN Mother– Child Cohort Study Group, on behalf of T. E. M. C. S. (2017). Temperament in infancy and behavioral and emotional problems at age 5.5: The EDEN mother-child cohort. *PloS One*, *12*(2), e0171971. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171971
- Afifi, T. O., Boman, J., Fleisher, W., & Sareen, J. (2009). The relationship between child abuse, parental divorce, and lifetime mental disorders and suicidality in a nationally representative adult sample. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *33*(3), 139–147.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.12.009
- Aghamohammadi-Sereshki, A., Coupland, N., Silverstone, P., Huang, Y., Hegadoren, K., Carter, R., ... Malykhin, N. (2021). Effects of childhood adversity on the volumes of the amygdala subnuclei and hippocampal subfields in individuals with major

depressive disorder. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience : JPN*, 46(1). https://doi.org/10.1503/JPN.200034

- Ahmed, A., Bowen, A., Feng, C. X., & Muhajarine, N. (2019). Trajectories of maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms from pregnancy to five years postpartum and their prenatal predictors. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 19(1), 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2177-y
- Ainsworth, M. D. S., & Bell, S. M. (1970). Attachment, Exploration, and Separation:
 Illustrated by the Behavior of One-Year-Olds in a Strange Situation. *Child Development*, 41(1), 49. https://doi.org/10.2307/1127388
- Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978). *Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation*. Hillsdale, NJ: Earlbaum.
- Alink, L. R. A., Cicchetti, D., Kim, J., & Rogosch, F. A. (2012). Longitudinal associations among child maltreatment, social functioning, and cortisol regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(1), 224–236. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024892
- Almli, C. R., Rivkin, M. J., & McKinstry, R. C. (2007). The NIH MRI study of normal brain development (Objective-2): Newborns, infants, toddlers, and preschoolers. *NeuroImage*, 35(1), 308–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.08.058
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Amunts, K., Kedo, O., Kindler, M., Pieperhoff, P., Mohlberg, H., Shah, N. J., ... Zilles,K. (2005). Cytoarchitectonic mapping of the human amygdala, hippocampal region and entorhinal cortex: Intersubject variability and probability maps. *Anatomy and*

Embryology, 210(5–6), 343–352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-005-0025-5

- Amunts, Katrin, Mohlberg, H., Bludau, S., & Zilles, K. (2020). Julich-Brain: A 3D probabilistic atlas of the human brain's cytoarchitecture. *Science*, *369*(6506), 988–992. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abb4588
- Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Bremner, J. D., Walker, J. D., Whitfield, C., Perry, B. D., ...
 Giles, W. H. (2006). The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. A convergence of evidence from neurobiology and epidemiology. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 256(3), 174–186.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4
- Andescavage, N. N., Du Plessis, A., McCarter, R., Serag, A., Evangelou, I., Vezina, G.,
 ... Limperopoulos, C. (2017). Complex Trajectories of Brain Development in the
 Healthy Human Fetus. *Cerebral Cortex*, 27(11), 5274–5283.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhw306
- Avants, B. B., Tustison, N. J., Wu, J., Cook, P. A., & Gee, J. C. (2011). An open source multivariate framework for N-tissue segmentation with evaluation on public data. *Neuroinformatics*, 9(4), 381–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12021-011-9109-y
- Avants, B. B., Tustison, N., & Song, G. (2009). Advanced Normalization Tools (ANTS). Insight Journal, 1–35.
- Ball, G., Aljabar, P., Zebari, S., Tusor, N., Arichi, T., Merchant, N., ... Counsell, S. J.
 (2014). Rich-club organization of the newborn human brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(20), 7456–7461. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1324118111

- Barch, D. M., Tillman, R., Kelly, D., Whalen, D., Gilbert, K., & Luby, J. L. (2019).
 Hippocampal volume and depression among young children. *Psychiatry Research Neuroimaging*, 288, 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2019.04.012
- Barker, E. D., Jaffee, S. R., Uher, R., & Maughan, B. (2011). The contribution of prenatal and postnatal maternal anxiety and depression to child maladjustment. *Depression and Anxiety*, 28(8), 696–702. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20856
- Baron, E., Bass, J., Murray, S. M., Schneider, M., & Lund, C. (2017). A systematic review of growth curve mixture modelling literature investigating trajectories of perinatal depressive symptoms and associated risk factors. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 223, 194–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.07.046
- Barrios, Y. V., Gelaye, B., Zhong, Q., Nicolaidis, C., Rondon, M. B., Garcia, P. J., ...
 Williams, M. A. (2015). Association of Childhood Physical and Sexual Abuse with Intimate Partner Violence, Poor General Health and Depressive Symptoms among Pregnant Women. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(1), e0116609.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0116609

- Belsky, J., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., & van IJzendoorn, M. H. (2007). For Better and For Worse. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 16(6), 300–304. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2007.00525.x
- Belsky, J., & Pluess, M. (2009). Beyond Diathesis Stress: Differential Susceptibility to
 Environmental Influences. *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(6), 885–908.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017376

Belsky, J., & Pluess, M. (2013). Beyond risk, resilience, and dysregulation: Phenotypic

plasticity and human development. *Development and Psychopathology*, 25(4 PART 2), 1243–1261. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095457941300059X

- Ben-Dat Fisher, D., Serbin, L. A., Stack, D. M., Ruttle, P. L., Ledingham, J. E., & Schwartzman, A. E. (2007). Intergenerational predictors of diurnal cortisol secretion in early childhood. *Infant and Child Development*, *16*(2), 151–170. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.474
- Bergman, K., Sarkar, P., O'Connor, T. G., Modi, N., & Glover, V. (2007). Maternal stress during pregnancy predicts cognitive ability and fearfulness in infancy. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 46(11), 1454–1463. https://doi.org/10.1097/chi.0b013e31814a62f6
- Bernstein, D P, Fink, L., Handelsman, L., Foote, J., Lovejoy, M., Wenzel, K., ...
 Ruggiero, J. (1994). Initial reliability and validity of a new retrospective measure of child abuse and neglect. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *151*(8), 1132–1136.
 https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.151.8.1132
- Bernstein, David P., Stein, J. A., Newcomb, M. D., Walker, E., Pogge, D., Ahluvalia, T.,
 ... Zule, W. (2003). Development and validation of a brief screening version of the
 Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 27(2), 169–190.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Bhat, A., Chowdayya, R., Selvam, S., Khan, A., Kolts, R., & Srinivasan, K. (2015).
 Maternal prenatal psychological distress and temperament in 1–4 month old infants
 A study in a non-western population. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *39*, 35–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INFBEH.2014.12.002

- Bierer, L., Bader, H., Daskalakis, N., Lehrner, A., Makotkine, I., Seckl, J., & Yehuda, R. (2014). Elevation of 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 activity in Holocaust survivor offspring: evidence for an intergenerational effect of maternal trauma exposure. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 48, 1–10. https://doi.org/doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.06.001
- Birn, R. M., Molloy, E. K., Patriat, R., Parker, T., Meier, T. B., Kirk, G. R., ... Prabhakaran, V. (2013). The effect of scan length on the reliability of resting-state fMRI connectivity estimates. *Neuroimage*, 83(December 2013), 550–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/
- Blackmore, E. R., Putnam, F. W., Pressman, E. K., Rubinow, D. R., Putnam, K. T.,
 Matthieu, M. M., ... O'Connor, T. G. (2016). The Effects of Trauma History and
 Prenatal Affective Symptoms on Obstetric Outcomes. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*,
 29(3), 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22095
- Blankenship, S. L., Botdorf, M., Riggins, T., & Dougherty, L. R. (2019). Lasting effects of stress physiology on the brain: Cortisol reactivity during preschool predicts hippocampal functional connectivity at school age. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2019.100736
- Blankenship, S. L., Redcay, E., Dougherty, L. R., & Riggins, T. (2017). Development of hippocampal functional connectivity during childhood. *Human Brain Mapping*, 38(1), 182–201. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23353
- Blaustein, Margaret Ekinninburgh, K. M. (2018). *Treating Traumatic Stress in Children* and Adolescents (Second). Guilford Press.

- Bock, J., Wainstock, T., Braun, K., & Segal, M. (2015, September 1). Stress In Utero:
 Prenatal Programming of Brain Plasticity and Cognition. *Biological Psychiatry*, Vol. 78, pp. 315–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.02.036
- Bosquet Enlow, M., Devick, K. L., Brunst, K. J., Lipton, L. R., Coull, B. A., Wright, R. J., ... Wright, R. J. (2017). Maternal Lifetime Trauma Exposure, Prenatal Cortisol, and Infant Negative Affectivity. *Infancy*, 22(4), 492–513. https://doi.org/10.1111/infa.12176
- Bouvette-Turcot, A.-A., Unternaehrer, E., Gaudreau, H., Lydon, J. E., Steiner, M., Meaney, M. J., & MAVAN Research Team. (2017). The joint contribution of maternal history of early adversity and adulthood depression to socioeconomic status and potential relevance for offspring development. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 207, 26–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAD.2016.08.012
- Bowlby, J. (1982). Attachment and Loss: Retrospect and Prospect. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 52(4), 664–678. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.1982.tb01456.x
- Braithwaite, E. C., Pickles, A., Sharp, H., Glover, V., O'Donnell, K. J., Tibu, F., & Hill, J. (2017). Maternal prenatal cortisol predicts infant negative emotionality in a sex-dependent manner. *Physiology and Behavior*, *175*, 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.017
- Brand, S. R., Brennan, P. A., Newport, D. J., Smith, A. K., Weiss, T., & Stowe, Z. N. (2010). The impact of maternal childhood abuse on maternal and infant HPA axis function in the postpartum period. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *35*(5), 686–693.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.10.009

- Braungart-Rieker, J. M., Hill-Soderlund, A. L., & Karrass, J. (2010). Fear and anger reactivity trajectories from 4 to 16 months: The roles of temperament, regulation, and maternal sensitivity. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(4), 791–804. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019673
- Breckenridge, J. (2006, May 10). "Speaking of mothers. . ." How does the literature portray mothers who have a history of child sexual abuse? *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, Vol. 15, pp. 57–74. https://doi.org/10.1300/J070v15n02_05
- Breiman, L. (2001). Random forests. *Machine Learning*, 45(1), 5–32. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010933404324
- Bromis, K., Calem, M., Reinders, A. A. T. S., Williams, S. C. R., & Kempton, M. J. (2018). Meta-Analysis of 89 Structural MRI studies in posttraumatic stress disorder and comparison with major depressive disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *175*(10), 989–998. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17111199
- Brooker, R. J., Buss, K. A., Lemery-Chalfant, K., Aksan, N., Davidson, R. J., & Goldsmith, H. H. (2013). The development of stranger fear in infancy and toddlerhood: normative development, individual differences, antecedents, and outcomes. *Dev Sci.*, *16*(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12058
- Brumback, B. A., & Rice, J. A. (1998). Smoothing Spline Models for the Analysis of Nested and Crossed Samples of Curves. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 93(443), 961. https://doi.org/10.2307/2669837

Bublitz, M. H., & Stroud, L. R. (2012). Childhood sexual abuse is associated with

cortisol awakening response over pregnancy: Preliminary findings. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *37*(9), 1425–1430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.01.009

- Burghy, C. A., Stodola, D. E., Ruttle, P. L., Molloy, E. K., Armstrong, J. M., Oler, J. A., ... Birn, R. M. (2012). Developmental pathways to amygdala-prefrontal function and internalizing symptoms in adolescence. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(12), 1736– 1741. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3257
- Bush, G., Luu, P., & Posner, M. I. (2000, June 1). Cognitive and emotional influences in anterior cingulate cortex. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, Vol. 4, pp. 215–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01483-2
- Bush, N. R., & Boyce, W. T. (2016). Differential Sensitivity to Context: Implications for
 Developmental Psychopathology. In *Developmental Psychopathology* (pp. 1–31).
 https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119125556.devpsy203
- Bush, N. R., Jones-Mason, K., Coccia, M., Caron, Z., Alkon, A., Thomas, M., ... Epel, E.
 S. (2017). Effects of pre-and postnatal maternal stress on infant temperament and autonomic nervous system reactivity and regulation in a diverse, low-income population. *Development and Psychopathology*, 29(5), 1553–1571. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417001237
- Buss, C., Davis, E. P., Muftuler, L. T., Head, K., & Sandman, C. A. (2010). High pregnancy anxiety during mid-gestation is associated with decreased gray matter density in 6–9-year-old children. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 35(1), 141–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.07.010

- Buss, C., Davis, E. P., Shahbaba, B., Pruessner, J. C., Head, K., & Sandman, C. A. (2012). Maternal cortisol over the course of pregnancy and subsequent child amygdala and hippocampus volumes and affective problems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(20), E1312-9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1201295109
- Buss, C., Entringer, S., Moog, N. K., Toepfer, P., Fair, D. A., Simhan, H. N., ...
 Wadhwa, P. D. (2017). Intergenerational Transmission of Maternal Childhood
 Maltreatment Exposure: Implications for Fetal Brain Development. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(5), 373–382.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAC.2017.03.001
- Buss, C., Entringer, S., Swanson, J. M., & Wadhwa, P. D. (2012). The Role of Stress in Brain Development: The Gestational Environment's Long-Term Effects on the Brain. *Cerebrum : The Dana Forum on Brain Science*, 2012, 4. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23447790
- Buss, C., Entringer, S., & Wadhwa, P. D. (2012). Fetal programming of brain development: intrauterine stress and susceptibility to psychopathology. *Science Signaling*, 5(245), pt7. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2003406
- Caldji, C., Tannenbaum, B., Sharma, S., Francis, D., Plotsky, P. M., Meaney, M. J., ...
 Tottenham, N. (1998). Maternal care during infancy regulates the development of neural systems mediating the expression of fearfulness in the rat. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(9), 5335–5340.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.9.5335

Callaghan, B. L., Sullivan, R. M., Howell, B., & Tottenham, N. (2014). The international society for developmental psychobiology Sackler symposium: early adversity and the maturation of emotion circuits--a cross-species analysis. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 56(8), 1635–1650. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21260

Carcone, D., & Ruocco, A. C. (2017, March 3). Six years of research on the national institute of mental health's research domain criteria (RDoC) initiative: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, Vol. 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00046

Casey, B. J., Cannonier, T., Conley, M. I., Cohen, A. O., Barch, D. M., Heitzeg, M. M.,
... Dale, A. M. (2018, August 1). The Adolescent Brain Cognitive Development
(ABCD) study: Imaging acquisition across 21 sites. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, Vol. 32, pp. 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2018.03.001

- Cassiers, L. L. M., Sabbe, B. G. C., Schmaal, L., Veltman, D. J., Penninx, B. W. J. H., & Eede, F. Van Den. (2018). Structural and functional brain abnormalities associated with exposure to different childhood trauma subtypes: A systematic review of neuroimaging findings. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9(AUG), 329. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00329
- Chamberlain, C., Gee, G., Harfield, S., Campbell, S., Brennan, S., Clark, Y., ... Dyall, D. (2019, March 1). Parenting after a history of childhood maltreatment: A scoping review and map of evidence in the perinatal period. *PLoS ONE*, Vol. 14, p. 18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213460

Charil, A., Laplante, D. P., Vaillancourt, C., & King, S. (2010, October). Prenatal stress

and brain development. *Brain Research Reviews*, Vol. 65, pp. 56–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2010.06.002

- Chase, H. W., Clos, M., Dibble, S., Fox, P., Grace, A. A., Phillips, M. L., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2015). Evidence for an anterior-posterior differentiation in the human hippocampal formation revealed by meta-analytic parcellation of fMRI coordinate maps: Focus on the subiculum. *NeuroImage*, *113*(Neurosci.), 44–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.02.069
- Choi, K. W., & Sikkema, K. J. (2016). Childhood Maltreatment and Perinatal Mood and Anxiety Disorders: A Systematic Review. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse*, *17*(5), 427– 453. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838015584369
- Choi, K. W., Sikkema, K. J., Velloza, J., Marais, A., Jose, C., Stein, D. J., ... Joska, J. A. (2015). Maladaptive coping mediates the influence of childhood trauma on depression and PTSD among pregnant women in South Africa. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 18(5), 731–738. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-015-0501-8
- Ciric, R., Wolf, D. H., Power, J. D., Roalf, D. R., Baum, G. L., Ruparel, K., ... Satterthwaite, T. D. (2017). Benchmarking of participant-level confound regression strategies for the control of motion artifact in studies of functional connectivity. *NeuroImage*, 154(March), 174–187.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.03.020

Clancy, B., Darlington, R. B., & Finlay, B. L. (2001). Translating developmental time across mammalian species. *Neuroscience*, 105(1), 7–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(01)00171-3 Class, Q. A., Abel, K. M., Khashan, A. S., Rickert, M. E., Dalman, C., Larsson, H., ... D'Onofrio, B. M. (2014). Offspring psychopathology following preconception, prenatal and postnatal maternal bereavement stress. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(1), 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713000780

Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A Global Measure of Perceived Stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 24(4), 385. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404

- Collin, G., Sporns, O., Mandl, R. C. W., & Van Den Heuvel, M. P. (2014). Structural and functional aspects relating to cost and benefit of rich club organization in the human cerebral cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(9), 2258–2267. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht064
- Collishaw, S., Dunn, J., O'Connor, T. G., Golding, J., & Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children Study Team. (2007). Maternal childhood abuse and offspring adjustment over time. *Development and Psychopathology*, *19*(2), 367–383. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579407070186
- Cox, J. L., Holdenand, J. M., & Sagovsky, R. (1987). Detection of Postnatal Depression
 Development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. In *British Journal of Psychiatry* (Vol. 150).
- Cyr, C., Euser, E. M., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., & Van Ijzendoorn, M. H. (2010). Attachment security and disorganization in maltreating and high-risk families: A series of meta-analyses. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(1), 87–108. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579409990289

- D 'andrea, W., Ford, J., Stolbach, B., Spinazzola, J., & Van Der Kolk, B. A. (2012).
 Understanding Interpersonal Trauma in Children: Why We Need a Developmentally
 Appropriate Trauma Diagnosis. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 82(2), 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.2012.01154.x
- Dahmen, B., Puetz, V. B., Scharke, W., von Polier, G. G., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., & Konrad, K. (2018). Effects of Early-Life Adversity on Hippocampal Structures and Associated HPA Axis Functions. *Developmental Neuroscience*, 40(1), 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1159/000484238
- Damaraju, E., Caprihan, A., & Lowe, J. (2014). Functional connectivity in the developing brain: A longitudinal study from 4 to 9 months of age. *NeuroImage*, 84, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.08.038.Functional
- Damme, K. S. F., Wakschlag, L. S., Briggs-Gowan, M. J., Norton, E. S., Mittal, V. A., & Damme, K. (2020). Developmental Patterning of Irritability Enhances Prediction of Psychopathology in Pre-adolescence: Improving RDoC with Developmental Science. *BioRxiv*, 2020.04.30.070714. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.04.30.070714
- Dannlowski, U., Stuhrmann, A., Beutelmann, V., Zwanzger, P., Lenzen, T., Grotegerd,
 D., ... Kugel, H. (2012). Limbic scars: Long-term consequences of childhood
 maltreatment revealed by functional and structural magnetic resonance imaging. *Biological Psychiatry*, 71(4), 286–293.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.10.021

Davis, E. P., Glynn, L. M., Waffarn, F., & Sandman, C. A. (2011). Prenatal maternal stress programs infant stress regulation. *Journal of Child Psychology and*

Psychiatry, 52(2), 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02314.x

- Davis, E. P., Sandman, C. A., Buss, C., Wing, D. A., & Head, K. (2013). Fetal glucocorticoid exposure is associated with preadolescent brain development. *Biological Psychiatry*, 74(9), 647–655.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.03.009
- Davis, E. P., Snidman, N., Wadhwa, P. D., Glynn, L. M., Schetter, C. D., & Sandman, C.
 A. (2004a). Prenatal maternal anxiety and depression predict negative behavioral reactivity in infancy. *Infancy*, 6(3), 319–331.
 https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327078in0603_1
- Davis, E. P., Snidman, N., Wadhwa, P. D., Glynn, L. M., Schetter, C. D., & Sandman, C. A. (2004b). Prenatal maternal anxiety and depression predict negative behavioral reactivity in infancy. *Infancy*, 6(3), 319–331. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327078in0603_1
- DCAN-Labs. (2020a). DCAN-HCP: The DCAN Lab's version of the minimal preprocessing pipeline for the Human Connectome Project. Retrieved November 4, 2020, from https://github.com/DCAN-Labs/DCAN-HCP
- DCAN-Labs. (2020b). Infant-abcd-bids-pipeline: Human infant pipeline, based on abcdhcp-pipeline, to process fMRI data. Retrieved November 4, 2020, from https://github.com/DCAN-Labs/infant-abcd-bids-pipeline
- De Asis-Cruz, J., Bouyssi-Kobar, M., Evangelou, I., Vezina, G., & Limperopoulos, C. (2015). Functional properties of resting state networks in healthy full-term newborns. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17755

- Decker, A. L., Duncan, K., Finn, A. S., & Mabbott, D. J. (2020). Children's family income is associated with cognitive function and volume of anterior not posterior hippocampus. *Nature Communications*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17854-6
- Demers, L. A., Olson, E. A., Crowley, D. J., Rauch, S. L., Rosso, I. M., & Elhai, J. D. (2015). Dorsal anterior cingulate thickness is related to alexithymia in childhood trauma-related PTSD. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0139807
- Department of Health, U., Services Administration for Children, H., Administration on Children Youth, F., & Children, F. (2018). *Child Maltreatment 2018*. Retrieved from https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/research-data-technology
- Derogatis, L. R., Lipman, R. S., & Covi, L. (1973). SCL-90: an outpatient psychiatric rating scale--preliminary report. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin*, 9(1), 13–28.
 Retrieved from https://europepmc.org/article/med/4682398
- Dimidjian, S., Goodman, S. H., Felder, J. N., Gallop, R., Brown, A. P., & Beck, A. (2016). Staying well during pregnancy and the postpartum: A pilot randomized trial of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for the prevention of depressive relapse/recurrence. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 84(2), 134–145. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000068
- Ding, Y., Acosta, R., Enguix, V., Suffren, S., Ortmann, J., Luck, D., ... Lodygensky, G.
 A. (2020). Using Deep Convolutional Neural Networks for Neonatal Brain Image
 Segmentation. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 14, 207.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00207

- Dosenbach, N. U. F., Koller, J. M., Earl, E. A., Miranda-Dominguez, O., Klein, R. L., Van, A. N., ... Fair, D. A. (2017). Real-time motion analytics during brain MRI improve data quality and reduce costs. *NeuroImage*, *161*, 80–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.08.025
- Doyle, J. J., & Aizer, A. (2018, August 2). Economics of Child Protection: Maltreatment, Foster Care, and Intimate Partner Violence. *Annual Review of Economics*, Vol. 10, pp. 87–108. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-economics-080217-053237
- Dubois, J., Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Kulikova, S., Poupon, C., Hüppi, P. S., & Hertz-Pannier, L. (2014, September 12). The early development of brain white matter: A review of imaging studies in fetuses, newborns and infants. *Neuroscience*, Vol. 276, pp. 48–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.12.044
- Dubowitz, H, Black, M. M., Kerr, M. A., Hussey, J. M., Morrel, T. M., Everson, M. D., & Starr, R. H. (2001). Type and timing of mothers' victimization: effects on mothers and children. *Pediatrics*, 107(4), 728–735. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11335751
- Dubowitz, Howard, & Newberger, E. (1989). Pediatrics and child abuse. In D. Cicchetti
 & V. Carlson (Eds.), *Child maltreatment: Theory and research on the causes and consequences of child abuse and neglect* (pp. 76–94). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Duncan, R. D., Saunders, B. E., Kilpatrick, D. G., Hanson, R. F., & Resnick, H. S. (1996). Childhood physical assault as a risk factor for PTSD, depression, and

substance abuse: findings from a national survey. *The American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 66(3), 437–448. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8827267

- Duthie, L., & Reynolds, R. M. (2013). Changes in the maternal hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis in pregnancy and postpartum: Influences on maternal and fetal outcomes. *Neuroendocrinology*, *98*(2), 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1159/000354702
- Edmiston, E. K., & Blackford, J. U. (2013). Childhood maltreatment and response to novel face stimuli presented during functional magnetic resonance imaging in adults. *Psychiatry Research - Neuroimaging*, 212(1), 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2012.11.009
- Edwards, V. J., Holden, G. W., Felitti, V. J., & Anda, R. F. (2003). Relationship between multiple forms of childhood maltreatment and adult mental health in community respondents: results from the adverse childhood experiences study. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(8), 1453–1460.

https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.8.1453

- Eklund, A., Nichols, T. E., & Knutsson, H. (2016). Cluster failure: Why fMRI inferences for spatial extent have inflated false-positive rates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(28), 7900–7905. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1602413113
- Emerson, R. W., Gao, W., & Lin, W. (2016). Longitudinal Study of the Emerging Functional Connectivity Asymmetry of Primary Language Regions during Infancy. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(42), 10883–10892.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3980-15.2016

- Enlow, M. B., Egeland, B., Carlson, E., Blood, E., & Wright, R. J. (2014). Mother-infant attachment and the intergenerational transmission of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Development and Psychopathology*, 26(1), 41–65. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579413000515
- Entringer, S., Buss, C., & Wadhwa, P. D. (2015). Prenatal stress, development, health and disease risk: A psychobiological perspective—2015 Curt Richter Award Paper. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 62, 366–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSYNEUEN.2015.08.019
- Erozkan, A. (2016). The Link between Types of Attachment and Childhood Trauma.
 Universal Journal of Educational Research, 4(5), 1071–1079.
 https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2016.040517
- Etkin, A., & Wager, T. D. (2007). Functional neuroimaging of anxiety: a meta-analysis of emotional processing in PTSD, social anxiety disorder, and specific phobia. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *164*(10), 1476–1488.
 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07030504
- Fair, D. A., Miranda-Dominguez, O., Snyder, A. Z., Perrone, A., Earl, E. A., Van, A. N., ... Dosenbach, N. U. F. (2020). Correction of respiratory artifacts in MRI head motion estimates. *NeuroImage*, 208, 116400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116400
- Fair, D. A., Nigg, J. T., Iyer, S., Bathula, D., Mills, K. L., Dosenbach, N. U. F., ...Milham, M. P. (2012). Distinct neural signatures detected for ADHD subtypes after

controlling for micro-movements in resting state functional connectivity MRI data. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, *6*, 80. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2012.00080

- Fanselow, M. S., & Dong, H. W. (2010, January 14). Are the Dorsal and Ventral Hippocampus Functionally Distinct Structures? *Neuron*, Vol. 65, pp. 7–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.11.031
- Feczko, E., Balba, N. M., Miranda-Dominguez, O., Cordova, M., Karalunas, S. L., Irwin, L., ... Fair, D. A. (2017). Subtyping cognitive profiles in Autism Spectrum Disorder using a Functional Random Forest algorithm. *NeuroImage*, *172*, 674–688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.044
- Feczko, E., Miranda-Dominguez, O., Marr, M., Graham, A. M., Nigg, J. T., & Fair, D. A. (2019). The Heterogeneity Problem: Approaches to Identify Psychiatric Subtypes. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TICS.2019.03.009
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V.,
 ... Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. The Adverse Childhood
 Experiences (ACE) Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 14(4), 245–258. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9635069
- Felmingham, K., Williams, L. M., Whitford, T. J., Falconer, E., Kemp, A. H., Peduto, A., & Bryant, R. A. (2009). Duration of posttraumatic stress disorder predicts hippocampal grey matter loss. *NeuroReport*, 20(16), 1402–1406. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283300fbc

Filipek, P. A., Richelme, C., Kennedy, D. N., & Caviness, V. S. (1994). The young adult

human brain: An MRI-based morphometric analysis. *Cerebral Cortex*, *4*(4), 344–360. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/4.4.344

- First, M., Williams, J., Karg, R., & Spitzer, R. (n.d.). Overview of SCID-5 Training Materials | Columbia University Department of Psychiatry. Retrieved November 11, 2020, from https://www.columbiapsychiatry.org/scid-5-training-media-0
- Floriou-Servou, A., von Ziegler, L., Stalder, L., Sturman, O., Privitera, M., Rassi, A., ...
 Bohacek, J. (2018). Distinct Proteomic, Transcriptomic, and Epigenetic Stress
 Responses in Dorsal and Ventral Hippocampus. *Biological Psychiatry*, 84(7), 531–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.02.003
- Folger, A. T., Putnam, K. T., Putnam, F. W., Peugh, J. L., Eismann, E. A., Sa, T., ...
 Ammerman, R. T. (2017). Maternal Interpersonal Trauma and Child SocialEmotional Development: An Intergenerational Effect. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, *31*(2), 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppe.12341
- Fonov, Vladimir, Evans, A. C., Botteron, K., Almli, C. R., McKinstry, R. C., Collins, D. L., & Brain Development Cooperative Group. (2011). Unbiased average ageappropriate atlases for pediatric studies. *NeuroImage*, 54(1), 313–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2010.07.033
- Fonov, VS, Evans, A., McKinstry, R., Almli, C., & Collins, D. (2009). Unbiased nonlinear average age-appropriate brain templates from birth to adulthood. *NeuroImage*, 47, S102. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1053-8119(09)70884-5
- Fox, M. D., & Raichle, M. E. (2007). Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *8*(9),

700-711. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2201

- Fox, M. D., Snyder, A. Z., Vincent, J. L., Corbetta, M., Van Essen, D. C., & Raichle, M.
 E. (2005). The human brain is intrinsically organized into dynamic, anticorrelated functional networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(27), 9673–9678. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0504136102
- Frank, L. E., Bowman, C. R., & Zeithamova, D. (2019). Differential Functional Connectivity along the Long Axis of the Hippocampus Aligns with Differential Role in Memory Specificity and Generalization. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *31*(12), 1958–1975. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_01457
- Fransson, P., Aden, U., Blennow, M., & Lagercrantz, H. (2011). The Functional Architecture of the Infant Brain as Revealed by Resting-State fMRI. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21, 145--154. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhq071
- Fransson, P., Skiöld, B., Engström, M., Hallberg, B., Mosskin, M., Åden, U., ... Blennow, M. (2009). Spontaneous brain activity in the newborn brain during natural sleep-an fMRI study in infants born at full term. *Pediatric Research*, 66(3), 301– 305. https://doi.org/10.1203/PDR.0b013e3181b1bd84
- Fransson, P., Skiöld, B., Horsch, S., Nordell, A., Blennow, M., Lagercrantz, H., & Aden, U. (2007). Resting-state networks in the infant brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(39), 15531–15536. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704380104
- Fredriksen, E., von Soest, T., Smith, L., & Moe, V. (2017). Patterns of pregnancy and postpartum depressive symptoms: Latent class trajectories and predictors. *Journal of*

Abnormal Psychology, 126(2), 173–183. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000246

- Friston, K. J., Mechelli, a, Turner, R., & Price, C. J. (2000). Nonlinear responses in fMRI: the Balloon model, Volterra kernels, and other hemodynamics. *NeuroImage*, 12(4), 466–477. https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2000.0630
- Fujioka, A., Fujioka, T., Ishida, Y., Maekawa, T., & Nakamura, S. (2006). Differential effects of prenatal stress on the morphological maturation of hippocampal neurons. *Neuroscience*, 141(2), 907–915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.04.046
- Gabard-Durnam, L. J., O'Muircheartaigh, J., Dirks, H., Dean, D. C., Tottenham, N., & Deoni, S. (2018). Human amygdala functional network development: A crosssectional study from 3 months to 5 years of age. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, *34*, 63–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2018.06.004
- Galbally, M., van Rossum, E. F. C., Watson, S. J., de Kloet, E. R., & Lewis, A. J. (2019). Trans-generational stress regulation: Mother-infant cortisol and maternal mental health across the perinatal period. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *109*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104374
- Gao, W., Lin, W., Chen, Y., Gerig, G., Smith, J. K., Jewells, V., & Gilmore, J. H. (2009).
 Temporal and spatial development of axonal maturation and myelination of white matter in the developing brain. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, *30*(2), 290–296. https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A1363
- Gao, W., Lin, W., Grewen, K., & Gilmore, J. H. (2017). Functional Connectivity of the Infant Human Brain: Plastic and Modifiable. *Neuroscientist*, 23(2), 169–184. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858416635986

- Gao, Wei, Alcauter, S., Elton, A., Hernandez-Castillo, C. R., Smith, J. K., Ramirez, J., & Lin, W. (2015). Functional network development during the first year: Relative sequence and socioeconomic correlations. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(9), 2919–2928. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhu088
- Gao, Wei, Alcauter, S., Smith, J. K., Gilmore, J. H., & Lin, W. (2015). Development of human brain cortical network architecture during infancy. *Brain Structure and Function*, 220(2), 1173–1186.
- Gao, Wei, Elton, A., Zhu, H., Alcauter, S., Smith, J. K., Gilmore, J. H., & Lin, W.
 (2014). Intersubject variability of and genetic effects on the brain's functional connectivity during infancy. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *34*(34), 11288–11296.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5072-13.2014
- Gao, Wei, Zhu, H., Giovanello, K. S., Smith, J. K., Shen, D., Gilmore, J. H., & Lin, W. (2009). Evidence on the emergence of the brain's default network from 2-week-old to 2-year-old healthy pediatric subjects. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *106*(16), 6790–6795. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811221106
- Garcia, K. E., Robinson, E. C., Alexopoulos, D., Dierker, D. L., Glasser, M. F., Coalson, T. S., ... Bayly, P. V. (2018). Dynamic patterns of cortical expansion during folding of the preterm human brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *115*(12), 3156–3161.
 - https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1715451115

- Garstein, M., & Rothbart, M. K. (2003). Studying infant temperament via a revision of the Infant Behavior Questionnaire. *Infant Behavior & Development*, 26, 64–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(02)00169-8
- Gartland, D., Woolhouse, H., Giallo, R., McDonald, E., Hegarty, K., Mensah, F., ...
 Brown, S. J. (2016). Vulnerability to intimate partner violence and poor mental health in the first 4-year postpartum among mothers reporting childhood abuse: an Australian pregnancy cohort study. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *19*(6), 1091–1100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-016-0659-8
- Gartstein, M. A., Bridgett, D. J., Rothbart, M. K., Robertson, C., Iddins, E., Ramsay, K., & Schlect, S. (2010). A latent growth examination of fear development in infancy: Contributions of maternal depression and the risk for toddler anxiety. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(3), 651–668. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018898
- Gelaye, B., Kajeepeta, S., Zhong, Q.-Y., Borba, C. P. C., Rondon, M. B., Sánchez, S. E., ... Williams, M. A. (2015). Childhood abuse is associated with stress-related sleep disturbance and poor sleep quality in pregnancy. *Sleep Medicine*, *16*(10), 1274– 1280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2015.07.004
- Gerdner, A., & Allgulander, C. (2009). Psychometric properties of the Swedish version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire - Short Form (CTQ-SF). *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 63(2), 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039480802514366
- Gerritsen, L., Milaneschi, Y., Vinkers, C. H., Van Hemert, A. M., Van Velzen, L., Schmaal, L., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2017). HPA axis genes, and their interaction with childhood maltreatment, are related to cortisol levels and stress-related

phenotypes. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 42(12), 2446–2455. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2017.118

- Gianaros, P. J., Jennings, J. R., Sheu, L. K., Greer, P. J., Kuller, L. H., & Matthews, K. A. (2007). Prospective reports of chronic life stress predict decreased grey matter volume in the hippocampus. *NeuroImage*, *35*(2), 795–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.045
- Gilmore, J. H., Lin, W., Prastawa, M. W., Looney, C. B., Vetsa, Y. S. K., Knickmeyer, R.
 C., ... Gerig, G. (2007). Regional gray matter growth, sexual dimorphism, and
 cerebral asymmetry in the neonatal brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *27*(6), 1255–1260. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3339-06.2007
- Giovannoni, J. (1989). Definitional issues in child maltreatment. In D. Cicchetti & V.
 Carlson (Eds.), *Child maltreatment: Theory and research on the causes and consequences of child abuse and neglect* (pp. 3–37). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Glasser, M. F., Sotiropoulos, S. N., Wilson, J. A., Coalson, T. S., Fischl, B., Andersson, J. L., ... Jenkinson, M. (2013). The minimal preprocessing pipelines for the Human Connectome Project. *NeuroImage*, 80, 105–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.04.127
- Glynn, L. M., Howland, M. A., Sandman, C. A., Davis, E. P., Phelan, M., Baram, T. Z., & Stern, H. S. (2018). Prenatal maternal mood patterns predict child temperament and adolescent mental health. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 228, 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAD.2017.11.065

- Gonzalez, A. (2013, October). The impact of childhood maltreatment on biological systems: Implications for clinical interventions. *Paediatrics and Child Health* (*Canada*), Vol. 18, pp. 415–418. https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/18.8.415
- Goosens, K. A. (2011). Hippocampal regulation of aversive memories. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, Vol. 21, pp. 460–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2011.04.003
- Gordon, E. M., Laumann, T. O., Adeyemo, B., Huckins, J. F., Kelley, W. M., & Petersen,
 S. E. (2016). Generation and Evaluation of a Cortical Area Parcellation from
 Resting-State Correlations. *Cerebral Cortex*, 26(1), 288–303.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhu239
- Gordon, E. M., Laumann, T. O., Gilmore, A. W., Newbold, D. J., Greene, D. J., Berg, J.
 J., ... Dosenbach, N. U. F. (2017). Precision Functional Mapping of Individual
 Human Brains. *Neuron*, 95(4), 791-807.e7.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.07.011
- Graham, A. M., Buss, C., Rasmussen, J. M., Rudolph, M. D., Demeter, D. V., Gilmore, J. H., ... Fair, D. A. (2016). Implications of newborn amygdala connectivity for fear and cognitive development at 6-months-of-age. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 18, 12–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DCN.2015.09.006
- Graham, A. M., Fisher, P. A., & Pfeifer, J. H. (2013). What sleeping babies hear: a functional MRI study of interparental conflict and infants' emotion processing. *Psychological Science*, 24(5), 782–789. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612458803
- Graham, A. M., Pfeifer, J. H., Fisher, P. A., Carpenter, S., Fair, D. A., Pfiefer, J., ... Fair,D. A. (2015). Early life stress is associated with default system integrity and

emotionality during infancy. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, *56*(11), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12409

- Graham, A. M., Pfeifer, J. H., Fisher, P. A., Lin, W., Gao, W., & Fair, D. A. (2015). The potential of infant fMRI research and the study of early life stress as a promising exemplar. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, *12*, 12–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2014.09.005
- Graham, A. M., Rasmussen, J. M., Entringer, S., Ben Ward, E., Rudolph, M. D.,
 Gilmore, J. H., ... Buss, C. (2019). Maternal Cortisol Concentrations During
 Pregnancy and Sex-Specific Associations With Neonatal Amygdala Connectivity
 and Emerging Internalizing Behaviors. *Biological Psychiatry*, 85(2), 172–181.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2018.06.023
- Graham, A. M., Rasmussen, J. M., Rudolph, M. D., Heim, C. M., Gilmore, J. H., Styner, M., ... Buss, C. (2018). Maternal Systemic Interleukin-6 During Pregnancy Is
 Associated With Newborn Amygdala Phenotypes and Subsequent Behavior at 2
 Years of Age. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83(2), 109–119.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.05.027
- Graignic-Philippe, R., Dayan, J., Chokron, S., Jacquet, A.-Y. Y., & Tordjman, S. (2014).
 Effects of prenatal stress on fetal and child development: A critical literature review.
 Neurosci Biobehav Rev., 43, 137–162. Retrieved from
 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0149763414000797
- Grant, M. M., Cannistraci, C., Hollon, S. D., Gore, J., & Shelton, R. (2011). Childhood trauma history differentiates amygdala response to sad faces within MDD. *Journal*

of Psychiatric Research, 45(7), 886–895.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.12.004

- Gray, S. A. O. O., Jones, C. W., Theall, K. P., Glackin, E., & Drury, S. S. (2017).
 Thinking Across Generations: Unique Contributions of Maternal Early Life and
 Prenatal Stress to Infant Physiology. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(11), 922–929.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAC.2017.09.001
- Grayson, D. S., & Fair, D. A. (2017). Development of large-scale functional networks from birth to adulthood: A guide to the neuroimaging literature. *NeuroImage*, 160, 15–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.01.079
- Grayson, D. S., Ray, S., Carpenter, S., Iyer, S., Dias, T. G. C., Stevens, C., ... Fair, D. A. (2014). Structural and functional rich club organization of the brain in children and adults. *PLoS ONE*, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088297
- Guardino, C. M., Schetter, C. D., Saxbe, D. E., Adam, E. K., Ramey, S. L., & Shalowitz, M. U. (2016). Diurnal salivary cortisol patterns prior to pregnancy predict infant birth weight. *Health Psychology*, *35*(6), 625–633. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000313
- Gullone, E. (2000). The development of normal fear: A century of research. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 20(4), 429–451. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(99)00034-3
- Gustafsson, H., Doyle, C., Gilchrist, M., Werner, E., & Monk, C. (2017, August 1). Maternal abuse history and reduced fetal heart rate variability: Abuse-related sleep

disturbance is a mediator. *Development and Psychopathology*, Vol. 29, pp. 1023–1034. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579416000997

- Hahm, H. C., Lee, Y., Ozonoff, A., & van Wert, M. J. (2010). The impact of multiple types of child maltreatment on subsequent risk behaviors among women during the transition from adolescence to young adulthood. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *39*(5), 528–540. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-009-9490-0
- Hall, P., & Heckman, N. E. (2002). Estimating and depicting the structure of a distribution of random functions. *Biometrika*, 89(1), 145–158.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/89.1.145
- Haltigan, J. D., Leerkes, E. M., Supple, A. J., & Calkins, S. D. (2014). Infant negative affect and maternal interactive behavior during the still-face procedure: The moderating role of adult attachment states of mind. *Attachment and Human Development*, *16*(2), 149–173. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2013.863734
- Hamner, M. B., Lorberbaum, J. P., & George, M. S. (1999, January 1). Potential role of the anterior cingulate cortex in PTSD: Review and hypothesis. *Depression and Anxiety*, Vol. 9, pp. 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6394(1999)9:1<1::AID-DA1>3.0.CO;2-4
- Hansen, H. A., Li, J., & Saygin, Z. M. (2020). Adults vs. neonates: Differentiation of functional connectivity between the basolateral amygdala and occipitotemporal cortex. *PLOS ONE*, 15(10), e0237204. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237204
- Hanson, J. L., Nacewicz, B. M., Sutterer, M. J., Cayo, A. A., Schaefer, S. M., Rudolph,K. D., ... Davidson, R. J. (2015). Behavioral Problems After Early Life Stress:

Contributions of the Hippocampus and Amygdala. *Biological Psychiatry*, 77(4), 314–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2014.04.020

- Hardt, J., & Rutter, M. (2004, February 1). Validity of adult retrospective reports of adverse childhood experiences: Review of the evidence. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, Vol. 45, pp. 260–273. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00218.x
- Hart, H., Lim, L., Mehta, M. A., Simmons, A., Mirza, K. A. H., & Rubia, K. (2018, May 1). Altered fear processing in adolescents with a history of severe childhood maltreatment: An fMRI study. *Psychological Medicine*, Vol. 48, pp. 1092–1101. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716003585
- Hartman, S., Freeman, S. M., Bales, K. L., & Belsky, J. (2018). Prenatal Stress as a Risk—and an Opportunity—Factor. *Psychological Science*, 29(4), 572–580. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797617739983
- Havens, J. F., Ford, J., Grasso, D., & Marr, M. (2012). Opening Pandora's Box: The Importance of Trauma Identification and Intervention in Hospitalized and Incarcerated Adolescent Populations. *Adolescent Psychiatry*, 2(4), 309–312. https://doi.org/10.2174/2210676611202040309
- Hawley, D. F., Morch, K., Christie, B. R., & Leasure, J. L. (2012). Differential Response of Hippocampal Subregions to Stress and Learning. *PLoS ONE*, 7(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0053126
- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach (2nd ed.). New York: Guilford

Publications.

- Heim, C. M., Entringer, S., & Buss, C. (2019, July 1). Translating basic research knowledge on the biological embedding of early-life stress into novel approaches for the developmental programming of lifelong health. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, Vol. 105, pp. 123–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.12.011
- Heim, C., Newport, D. J., Mletzko, T., Miller, A. H., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2008). The link between childhood trauma and depression: insights from HPA axis studies in humans. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *33*(6), 693–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.03.008
- Heim, C., Shugart, M., Craighead, W. E., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2010). Neurobiological and psychiatric consequences of child abuse and neglect. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 52(7), 671–690. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20494
- Held, P. K., Bird, I. M., & Heather, N. L. (2020, August 23). Newborn Screening for Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia: Review of Factors Affecting Screening Accuracy. *International Journal of Neonatal Screening*, Vol. 6, p. 67. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJNS6030067
- Hendrix, C. L., Dilks, D. D., McKenna, B. G., Dunlop, A. L., Corwin, E. J., & Brennan,
 P. A. (2020). Maternal childhood adversity associates with frontoamygdala connectivity in neonates. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2020.11.003
- Herman, J. (2015). *Trauma and recovery: The aftermath of violence—from domestic abuse to political terror*. Basic Books.

- Herman, J. P., Dolgas, C. M., & Carlson, S. L. (1998). Ventral subiculum regulates hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical and behavioural responses to cognitive stressors. *Neuroscience*, 86(2), 449–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(98)00055-4
- Herman, James P., Ostrander, M. M., Mueller, N. K., & Figueiredo, H. (2005, December
 1). Limbic system mechanisms of stress regulation: Hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical axis. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, Vol. 29, pp. 1201–1213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.08.006
- Hermosillo, R. J. M., Mooney, M. A., Fezcko, E., Earl, E., Marr, M., Sturgeon, D., ...
 Fair, D. A. (2020). Polygenic Risk Score–Derived Subcortical Connectivity
 Mediates Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Diagnosis. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 5(3), 330–341.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2019.11.014
- Herringa, R. J., Birn, R. M., Ruttle, P. L., Burghy, C. A., Stodola, D. E., Davidson, R. J., & Essex, M. J. (2013). Childhood maltreatment is associated with altered fear circuitry and increased internalizing symptoms by late adolescence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(47), 19119–19124. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1310766110
- Herzog, J. I., Thome, J., Demirakca, T., Koppe, G., Ende, G., Lis, S., ... Schmahl, C. (2020). Influence of Severity of Type and Timing of Retrospectively Reported
 Childhood Maltreatment on Female Amygdala and Hippocampal Volume. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-57490-0

- Higgins, D. J., & McCabe, M. P. (2001, November 1). Multiple forms of child abuse and neglect: Adult retrospective reports. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, Vol. 6, pp. 547–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-1789(00)00030-6
- Hodel, A. S. (2018, June 1). Rapid infant prefrontal cortex development and sensitivity to early environmental experience. *Developmental Review*, Vol. 48, pp. 113–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2018.02.003

Humphrey, T. (1968). The development of the human amygdala during early embryonic life,. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 132(1), 135–165. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901320108

- Humphreys, K. L., LeMoult, J., Wear, J. G., Piersiak, H. A., Lee, A., & Gotlib, I. H.
 (2020). Child maltreatment and depression: A meta-analysis of studies using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *102*, 104361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104361
- Hüppi, P. S., Warfield, S., Kikinis, R., Barnes, P. D., Zientara, G. P., Jolesz, F. A., ...
 Volpe, J. J. (1998). Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging of brain development in premature and mature newborns. *Annals of Neurology*, *43*(2), 224–235.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410430213

Huth-Bocks, A. C., Krause, K., Ahlfs-Dunn, S., Gallagher, E., & Scott, S. (2013).
Relational Trauma and Posttraumatic Stress Symptoms among Pregnant Women. *Psychodynamic Psychiatry*, 41(2), 277–301.
https://doi.org/10.1521/pdps.2013.41.2.277

Huttenlocher, P. R., & Dabholkar, A. S. (1997). Regional differences in synaptogenesis
in human cerebral cortex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *387*(2), 167–178. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19971020)387:2<167::AID-CNE1>3.0.CO;2-Z

IBM Corp. (2017). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.

- Insel, T., Cuthbert, B., Garvey, M., Heinssen, R., Pine, D. S., Quinn, K., ... Wang, P. (2010). Research Domain Criteria (RDoC): Toward a New Classification
 Framework for Research on Mental Disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 167(7), 748–751. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09091379
- Insel, T. R. (2014). The NIMH Research Domain Criteria (RDoC) Project: Precision Medicine for Psychiatry. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 171(4), 395–397. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.14020138
- Jakab, A., Schwartz, E., Kasprian, G., Gruber, G. M., Prayer, D., Schöpf, V., & Langs, G. (2014). Fetal functional imaging portrays heterogeneous development of emerging human brain networks. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8(OCT), 852. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00852
- James, G., Hastie, T., & Sugar, C. (2000). Principal component models for sparse functional data. *Biometrika*, 87(3), 587–602. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/87.3.587
- Jankord, R., & Herman, J. P. (2008). Limbic regulation of hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical function during acute and chronic stress. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1148*, 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1410.012

Jansen, J., Beijers, R., Riksen-Walraven, M., & de Weerth, C. (2010, April 1). Cortisol

reactivity in young infants. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, Vol. 35, pp. 329–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.07.008

- Jedd, K., Hunt, R. H., Cicchetti, D., Hunt, E., Cowell, R. A., Rogosch, F. A., ... Thomas, K. M. (2015). Long-term consequences of childhood maltreatment: Altered amygdala functional connectivity. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(4 0 2), 1577–1589. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579415000954
- Jovanovic, T., Smith, A., Kamkwalala, A., Poole, J., Samples, T., Norrholm, S. D., ... Bradley, B. (2011). Physiological markers of anxiety are increased in children of abused mothers. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 52(8), 844–852. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02410.x
- Kalin, N. H. (2019). Prefrontal Cortical and Limbic Circuit Alterations in Psychopathology. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *176*(12), 971–973. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19101036
- Karlsson, L., Tolvanen, M., Scheinin, N. M., Uusitupa, H. M., Korja, R., Ekholm, E., ...
 Karlsson, H. (2018). Cohort Profile: The FinnBrain Birth Cohort Study (FinnBrain). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 47(1), 15-16j.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyx173
- Keunen, K., Counsell, S. J., & Benders, M. J. N. L. (2017). The emergence of functional architecture during early brain development. *NeuroImage*, *160*, 2–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.01.047
- Khan, M., & Renk, K. (2018). Understanding the Pathways between Mothers' Childhood Maltreatment Experiences and Patterns of Insecure Attachment with Young

Children via Symptoms of Depression. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 49(6), 928–940. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-018-0808-6

- Kim, J. E., Lyoo, I. K., Estes, A. M., Renshaw, P. F., Shaw, D. W., Friedman, S. D., ... Dager, S. R. (2010). Laterobasal amygdalar enlargement in 6- to 7-year-old children with autism spectrum disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 67(11), 1187–1197. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.148
- King, S., Dancause, K., Turcotte-Tremblay, A.-M., Veru, F., & Laplante, D. P. (2012).
 Using natural disasters to study the effects of prenatal maternal stress on child health and development. *Birth Defects Research*, 96(4), 273–288.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/bdrc.21026
- Kingston, D., Kehler, H., Austin, M.-P., Mughal, M. K., Wajid, A., Vermeyden, L., ...
 Giallo, R. (2018). Trajectories of maternal depressive symptoms during pregnancy and the first 12 months postpartum and child externalizing and internalizing behavior at three years. *PloS One*, *13*(4), e0195365.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0195365
- Knickmeyer, R. C., Gouttard, S., Kang, C., Evans, D., Wilber, K., Smith, J. K., ...
 Gilmore, J. H. (2008). A structural MRI study of human brain development from birth to 2 years. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(47), 12176–12182.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3479-08.2008
- Köhler-Dauner, F., Fegert, J. M., Buchheim, A., Krause, S., Gündel, H., Waller, C., ...
 Ziegenhain, U. (2019). Maternal Behavior Affects Child's Attachment-Related
 Cortisol Stress Response. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 1(1), 46–60.

https://doi.org/10.14302/issn.2643-6655.jcap-19-2737

- Korhonen, M., Luoma, I., Salmelin, R., & Tamminen, T. (2012). A longitudinal study of maternal prenatal, postnatal and concurrent depressive symptoms and adolescent well-being. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *136*(3), 680–692.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAD.2011.10.007
- Lahti, M., Savolainen, K., Tuovinen, S., Pesonen, A.-K., Lahti, J., Heinonen, K., ...
 Räikkönen, K. (2017). Maternal Depressive Symptoms During and After Pregnancy and Psychiatric Problems in Children. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(1), 30-39.e7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27993226
- Landers, M. S., & Sullivan, R. M. (2012). The development and neurobiology of infant attachment and fear. *Developmental Neuroscience*, 34(2–3), 101–114. https://doi.org/10.1159/000336732

Lang, A. J., & Gartstein, M. A. (2018). Intergenerational transmission of traumatization: Theoretical framework and implications for prevention. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation : The Official Journal of the International Society for the Study of Dissociation (ISSD)*, 19(2), 162–175. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2017.1329773

Laplante, D. P., Brunet, A., Schmitz, N., Ciampi, A., & King, S. (2008). Project Ice
Storm: Prenatal Maternal Stress Affects Cognitive and Linguistic Functioning in 52Year-Old Children. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 47(9).
https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e31817eec80

Lara, M. A., Navarrete, L., Nieto, L., & Le, H.-N. N. (2015). Childhood abuse increases the risk of depressive and anxiety symptoms and history of suicidal behavior in Mexican pregnant women. *Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria*, 37(3), 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2014-1479

Lazarov, A., Zhu, X., Suarez-Jimenez, B., Rutherford, B. R., & Neria, Y. (2017). Resting-state functional connectivity of anterior and posterior hippocampus in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 94, 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.06.003

- Lebel, C., Walton, M., Letourneau, N., Giesbrecht, G. F., Kaplan, B. J., & Dewey, D. (2016). Prepartum and Postpartum Maternal Depressive Symptoms Are Related to Children's Brain Structure in Preschool. *Biological Psychiatry*, 80(11), 859–868. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2015.12.004
- LeDoux, J. (2007, October 23). The amygdala. *Current Biology*, Vol. 17, pp. R868– R874. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.08.005
- Lee, C. W., Blanco, B., Dempsey, L., Chalia, M., Hebden, J. C., Caballero-Gaudes, C.,
 ... Cooper, R. J. (2020). Sleep State Modulates Resting-State Functional
 Connectivity in Neonates. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 14.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00347

Lemery, K. S., Goldsmith, H. H., Klinnert, M. D., & Mrazek, D. A. (1999).
Developmental models of infant and childhood temperament. *Developmental Psychology*, *35*(1), 189–204. https://doi.org/10.1037//0012-1649.35.1.189

Lenroot, R. K., & Giedd, J. N. (2006). Brain development in children and adolescents:

Insights from anatomical magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 30(6), 718–729. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0149763406000455?via%3Dihu b

Leung, E., Tasker, S. L., Atkinson, L., Vaillancourt, T., Schulkin, J., & Schmidt, L. A. (2010). Perceived maternal stress during pregnancy and its relation to infant stress reactivity at 2 days and 10 months of postnatal life. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 49(2), 158–165. https://doi.org/10.1177/0009922809346570

Lev-Wiesel, R., Daphna-Tekoah, S., & Hallak, M. (2009). Childhood sexual abuse as a predictor of birth-related posttraumatic stress and postpartum posttraumatic stress. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 33(12), 877–887. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.05.004

- Levy, T. M., & Orlans, M. (1998). Attachment, Trauma, and Healing: Understanding and Treating Attachment Disorder in Children and Families. Annapolis Junction: Child Welfare League of America.
- Li, G. G., Chen, M. H., Li, G. G., Wu, D., Lian, C., Sun, Q., ... Wang, L. (2019). A Longitudinal MRI Study of Amygdala and Hippocampal Subfields for Infants with Risk of Autism. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Including Subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, 11849 LNCS, 164–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-35817-4_20
- Li, G. G., Chen, M. H., Li, G. G., Wu, D., Sun, Q., Shen, D., & Wang, L. (2019). A preliminary volumetric mri study of amygdala and hippocampal subfields in autism

during infancy. *Proceedings - International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging*, 2019-April, 1052–1056. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISBI.2019.8759439

- Li, Y., Hou, X., Wei, D., Du, X., Zhang, Q., Liu, G., & Qiu, J. (2017). Long-Term
 Effects of Acute Stress on the Prefrontal-Limbic System in the Healthy Adult. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(1), e0168315. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0168315
- Lin, M., Fwu, P. T., Buss, C., Davis, E. P., Head, K., Muftuler, L. T., ... Su, M. (2013).
 Developmental changes in hippocampal shape among preadolescent children. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, *31*(7), 473–481.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2013.06.001
- Litscher, G., Pfurtscheller, G., Bes, F., & Poiseau, E. (1993). Respiration and heart rate variation in normal infants during quiet sleep in the first year of life. *Klinische Padiatrie*, 205(3), 170–175. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-1025222
- Logothetis, N. K., & Wandell, B. A. (2004). Interpreting the BOLD signal. *Annual Review of Physiology*, Vol. 66, pp. 735–769. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.physiol.66.082602.092845
- Lundy, B. L., Jones, N. A., Field, T., Nearing, G., Davalos, M., Pietro, P. A., ... Kuhn, C. (1999). Prenatal depression effects on neonates. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 22(1), 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(99)80009-5
- Lyons-Ruth, K., & Block, D. (1996). The Disturbed Caregiving System: Relations among Childhood Trauma, Maternal Caregiving, and Infant Affect and Attachment. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *17*(3), 257–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0355(199623)17:3<257::AID-IMHJ5>3.0.CO;2-L

Maclean, P. D. (1985). Brain Evolution Relating to Family, Play, and the Separation Call. Archives of General Psychiatry, 42(4), 405–417. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1985.01790270095011

Main, M., & Hesse, E. (1990). Parents' unresolved traumatic experiences are related to infant disorganized attachment status: Is frightened and/or frightening parental behavior the linking mechanism? In M. T. Greenberg, D. Cicchetti, & E. M. Cummings (Eds.), *Attachment in the preschool years: Theory, research, and intervention* (pp. 161–182). University of Chicago Press.

- Maknojia, S., Churchill, N. W., Schweizer, T. A., & Graham, S. J. (2019, August 13).
 Resting state fMRI: Going through the motions. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, Vol. 13, p. 825. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00825
- Malfait, N., & Ramsay, J. 0. (2003). The historical functional linear model. *Canadian Journal of Statistics La Wvue Canadienneh Statistique VOI*, 31(2), 115–128.
 Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.2307/3316063
- Malivoire, B. L., Girard, T. A., Patel, R., & Monson, C. M. (2018). Functional connectivity of hippocampal subregions in PTSD: Relations with symptoms. *BMC Psychiatry*, 18(1), 129. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1716-9

Manjón, J. V., Coupé, P., Martí-Bonmatí, L., Collins, D. L., & Robles, M. (2010).
Adaptive non-local means denoising of MR images with spatially varying noise levels. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, *31*(1), 192–203.
https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.22003

Marek, S., Tervo-Clemmens, B., Calabro, F. J., Montez, D. F., Kay, B. P., Hatoum, A. S.,

... Dosenbach, N. (2020). Towards Reproducible Brain-Wide Association Studies Affiliations. *BioRxiv*, *11*, 15–18. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.08.21.257758

Marek, S., Tervo-Clemmens, B., Nielsen, A. N., Wheelock, M. D., Miller, R. L., Laumann, T. O., ... Dosenbach, N. U. F. (2019). Identifying reproducible individual differences in childhood functional brain networks: An ABCD study. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 40, 100706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2019.100706

Marr, M. (2020). Neurodevelopmental Timing.

https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.3678836

- Martinez-Torteya, C., Dayton, C. J., Beeghly, M., Seng, J. S., McGinnis, E., Broderick,
 A., ... Muzik, M. (2014). Maternal parenting predicts infant biobehavioral
 regulation among women with a history of childhood maltreatment. *Development and Psychopathology*, 26(2), 379–392. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579414000017
- Martini, J., Petzoldt, J., Knappe, S., Garthus-Niegel, S., Asselmann, E., & Wittchen, H.-U. (2017). Infant, maternal, and familial predictors and correlates of regulatory problems in early infancy: The differential role of infant temperament and maternal anxiety and depression. *Early Human Development*, *115*, 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EARLHUMDEV.2017.08.005
- Marusak, H. A., Martin, K. R., Etkin, A., & Thomason, M. E. (2015). Childhood Trauma Exposure Disrupts the Automatic Regulation of Emotional Processing. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(5), 1250–1258. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.311

Mary, M., & Solomon, J. (1990). Procedures for identifying infants as

disorganised/disoriented during the Ainsworth Strange Situation. In M. T. Greenberg, D. Cicchetti, & E. M. Cummings (Eds.), *Attachment in the preschool years* (pp. 121–160). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

MathWorks, T. (n.d.). MATLAB. Cambridge, UK: The MathWorks Inc.

- Matthews, S. G. (2000). Antenatal glucocorticoids and programming of the developing CNS. *Pediatric Research*, 47(3), 291–300. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-200003000-00003
- Mcdonnell, C. G., & Valentino, K. (2016). Intergenerational Effects of Childhood Trauma: Evaluating Pathways Among Maternal ACEs, Perinatal Depressive Symptoms, and Infant Outcomes. *Child Maltreatment*, *21*(4), 317–326. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559516659556
- McEwen, B S. (2000). Effects of adverse experiences for brain structure and function. *Biological Psychiatry*, 48(8), 721–731. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11063969
- McEwen, Bruce S. (1999). Stress and hippocampal plasticity. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, Vol. 22, pp. 105–122. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.22.1.105
- McEwen, Bruce S., & Gianaros, P. J. (2011). Stress- and Allostasis-Induced Brain Plasticity. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 62(1), 431–445. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-052209-100430
- McKinnon, M. C., Yucel, K., Nazarov, A., & MacQueen, G. M. (2009). A meta-analysis examining clinical predictors of hippocampal volume in patients with major depressive disorder. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience*, *34*(1), 41–54.

Retrieved from /pmc/articles/PMC2612082/?report=abstract

- McLaughlin, K. A., Weissman, D., & Bitrán, D. (2019). Childhood Adversity and Neural Development: A Systematic Review. *Annual Review of Developmental Psychology*, 1(1), 277–312. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-devpsych-121318-084950
- Mezey, G., Bacchus, L., Bewley, S., & White, S. (2005). Domestic violence, lifetime trauma and psychological health of childbearing women. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *112*(2), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2004.00307.x
- Min, M. O., Minnes, S., Kim, H., & Singer, L. T. (2013). Pathways linking childhood maltreatment and adult physical health. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(6), 361–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.09.008
- Min, M. O., Singer, L. T., Minnes, S., Kim, H., & Short, E. (2013). Mediating links between maternal childhood trauma and preadolescent behavioral adjustment. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 28(4), 831–851. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512455868
- Miranda, J. K., de la Osa, N., Granero, R., & Ezpeleta, L. (2011). Maternal experiences of childhood abuse and intimate partner violence: Psychopathology and functional impairment in clinical children and adolescents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *35*(9), 700–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.05.008
- Moisiadis, V. G., & Matthews, S. G. (2014). Glucocorticoids and fetal programming part
 2: Mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, Vol. 10, pp. 403–411.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2014.74

- Montgomery, E. (2013). Feeling Safe: A Metasynthesis of the Maternity Care Needs of Women Who Were Sexually Abused in Childhood. *Birth*, 40(2), 88–95.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12043
- Moody, G., Cannings-John, R., Hood, K., Kemp, A., & Robling, M. (2018). Establishing the international prevalence of self-reported child maltreatment: a systematic review by maltreatment type and gender. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 1164. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6044-y
- Moog, N. K., Buss, C., Entringer, S., Shahbaba, B., Gillen, D. L., Hobel, C. J., &
 Wadhwa, P. D. (2016). Maternal Exposure to Childhood Trauma Is Associated
 During Pregnancy With Placental-Fetal Stress Physiology. *Biological Psychiatry*, 79(10), 831–839. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2015.08.032
- Moog, N. K., Entringer, S., Rasmussen, J. M., Styner, M., Gilmore, J. H., Kathmann, N.,
 ... Buss, C. (2018). Intergenerational Effect of Maternal Exposure to Childhood
 Maltreatment on Newborn Brain Anatomy. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83, 120–127.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.07.009
- Mora, P. A., Bennett, I. M., Elo, I. T., Mathew, L., Coyne, J. C., & Culhane, J. F. (2009).
 Distinct trajectories of perinatal depressive symptomatology: evidence from growth mixture modeling. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *169*(1), 24–32.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwn283
- Mughal, M. K., Giallo, R., Arnold, P., Benzies, K., Kehler, H., Bright, K., & Kingston,D. (2018). Trajectories of maternal stress and anxiety from pregnancy to three years and child development at 3 years of age: Findings from the All Our Families (AOF)

pregnancy cohort. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 234, 318–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.02.095

- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (2017). *Mplus User's Guide* (Eighth). Retrieved from www.StatModel.com
- Nadel, L., Hoscheidt, S., & Ryan, L. R. (2013). Spatial cognition and the hippocampus: The anterior-posterior axis. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 25(1), 22–28. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_00313
- Navalta, C. P., Polcari, A., Webster, D. M., Boghossian, A., & Teicher, M. H. (2006).
 Effects of childhood sexual abuse on neuropsychological and cognitive function in college women. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *18*(1), 45–53. https://doi.org/10.1176/jnp.18.1.45
- Nazzari, S., Fearon, P., Rice, F., Dottori, N., Ciceri, F., Molteni, M., & Frigerio, A. (2019). Beyond the HPA-axis: Exploring maternal prenatal influences on birth outcomes and stress reactivity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *101*, 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.11.018
- Neukel, C., Herpertz, S. C., Hinid-Attar, C., Zietlow, A. L., Fuchs, A., Moehler, E., ... Bertsch, K. (2019). Neural processing of the own child's facial emotions in mothers with a history of early life maltreatment. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 269(2), 171–181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-018-0929-8
- Nogovitsyn, N., Addington, J., Souza, R., Placsko, T. J., Stowkowy, J., Wang, J., ... MacQueen, G. (2020). Childhood trauma and amygdala nuclei volumes in youth at risk for mental illness. *Psychological Medicine*, 1–8.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291720003177

- Noll, J. G., Trickett, P. K., Harris, W. W., & Putnam, F. W. (2009). The cumulative burden borne by offspring whose mothers were sexually abused as children:
 Descriptive results from a multigenerational study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *24*(3), 424–449. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508317194
- O'Connor, T. G., Bergman, K., Sarkar, P., & Glover, V. (2013). Prenatal cortisol exposure predicts infant cortisol response to acute stress. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 55(2), 145–155. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21007
- O'Connor, T. G., Heron, J., Golding, J., Beveridge, M., & Glover, V. (2002). Maternal antenatal anxiety and children's behavioural/emotional problems at 4 years. Report from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 180(JUNE), 502–508. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.180.6.502
- O'Connor, T. G., Heron, J., Golding, J., & Glover, V. (2003). Maternal antenatal anxiety and behavioural/emotional problems in children: A test of a programming hypothesis. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 44(7), 1025–1036. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00187
- O'Doherty, D. C. M., Chitty, K. M., Saddiqui, S., Bennett, M. R., & Lagopoulos, J. (2015, April 30). A systematic review and meta-analysis of magnetic resonance imaging measurement of structural volumes in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatry Research Neuroimaging*, Vol. 232, pp. 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2015.01.002

Oates, K. (2015). Some reflections from the past and some ideas for the future: The 2014

Kempe Oration. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *43*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.03.017

- Oshri, A., Gray, J. C., Owens, M. M., Liu, S., Duprey, E. B., Sweet, L. H., & MacKillop, J. (2019). Adverse Childhood Experiences and Amygdalar Reduction: High-Resolution Segmentation Reveals Associations With Subnuclei and Psychiatric Outcomes. *Child Maltreatment*, 24(4), 400–410. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559519839491
- Pallarés, M. E., & Antonelli, M. C. (2017). Prenatal Stress and Neurodevelopmental Plasticity: Relevance to Psychopathology. In R. von Bernhardi, J. Eugenín, & K. J. Muller (Eds.), *The Plastic Brain* (Vol. 1015, pp. 117–129). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62817-2_7
- PALM/UserGuide FslWiki. (n.d.). Retrieved November 8, 2020, from https://fsl.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl/fslwiki/PALM/UserGuide
- Palomero-Gallagher, N., Mohlberg, H., Zilles, K., & Vogt, B. (2008). Cytology and receptor architecture of human anterior cingulate cortex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 508(6), 906–926. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21684
- Papagni, S. A., Benetti, S., Arulanantham, S., McCrory, E., McGuire, P., & Mechelli, A. (2011). Effects of stressful life events on human brain structure: A longitudinal voxel-based morphometry study. *Stress*, *14*(2), 227–232. https://doi.org/10.3109/10253890.2010.522279
- Parade, S. H., & Leerkes, E. M. (2008). The reliability and validity of the Infant Behavior Questionnaire-Revised. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *31*(4), 637–646.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2008.07.009

- Partridge, T., & Lerner, J. V. (2007). A latent growth-curve approach to difficult temperament. *Infant and Child Development*, 16(3), 255–265. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.465
- Peer, M., Abboud, S., Hertz, U., Amedi, A., & Arzy, S. (2016). Intensity-based masking:
 A tool to improve functional connectivity results of resting-state fMRI. *Human Brain Mapping*, *37*(7), 2407–2418. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23182
- Peltola, M. J., Leppänen, J. M., Mäki, S., & Hietanen, J. K. (2009). Emergence of enhanced attention to fearful faces between 5 and 7 months of age. *Social Cognitive* and Affective Neuroscience, 4(2), 134–142. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsn046
- Pereira, J., Vickers, K., Atkinson, L., Gonzalez, A., Wekerle, C., & Levitan, R. (2012).
 Parenting stress mediates between maternal maltreatment history and maternal sensitivity in a community sample. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *36*(5), 433–437.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.01.006
- Persson, J., Spreng, R. N., Turner, G., Herlitz, A., Morell, A., Stening, E., ... Söderlund,
 H. (2014). Sex differences in volume and structural covariance of the anterior and
 posterior hippocampus. *NeuroImage*, *99*, 215–225.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.05.038
- Peterson, C., Florence, C., & Klevens, J. (2018). The economic burden of child maltreatment in the United States, 2015. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 86, 178–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.09.018

Philip, N. S., Sweet, L. H., Tyrka, A. R., Price, L. H., Bloom, R. F., & Carpenter, L. L.

(2013). Decreased default network connectivity is associated with early life stress in medication-free healthy adults. *European Neuropsychopharmacology : The Journal of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23(1), 24–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2012.10.008

Plant, D. T., Barker, E. D., Waters, C. S., Pawlby, S., & Pariante, C. M. (2013). Intergenerational transmission of maltreatment and psychopathology: The role of antenatal depression. *Psychological Medicine*, 43(3), 519–528. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291712001298

- Plant, Dominic T., Jones, F. W., Pariante, C. M., & Pawlby, S. (2017). Association
 between maternal childhood trauma and offspring childhood psychopathology:
 Mediation analysis from the ALSPAC cohort. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 211(3), 144–150. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.117.198721
- Plant, Dominic T, Pawlby, S., Pariante, C. M., & Jones, F. W. (2017). When one childhood meets another - maternal childhood trauma and offspring child psychopathology: A systematic review. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 1359104517742186. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104517742186
- Pluess, M., & Belsky, J. (2011). Prenatal programming of postnatal plasticity? *Development and Psychopathology*, 23(1), 29–38.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579410000623
- Pluess, M., Bolten, M., Pirke, K.-M., & Hellhammer, D. (2010). Maternal trait anxiety, emotional distress, and salivary cortisol in pregnancy. *Biological Psychology*, 83(3), 169–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2009.12.005

- Power, J. D., Barnes, K. A., Snyder, A. Z., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2012). Spurious but systematic correlations in functional connectivity MRI networks arise from subject motion. *NeuroImage*, 59(3), 2142–2154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.10.018
- Power, J. D., Cohen, A. L., Nelson, S. M., Wig, G. S., Barnes, K. A., Church, J. A., ... Petersen, S. E. (2011). Functional network organization of the human brain. *Neuron*, 72(4), 665–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.006
- Power, J. D. J. D., Mitra, A., Laumann, T. O. T. O., Snyder, A. Z. A. Z., Schlaggar, B. L.
 B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2014). Methods to detect, characterize, and remove motion artifact in resting state fMRI. *NeuroImage*, *84*, 320–341.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.08.048
- Power, J. D., Plitt, M., Gotts, S. J., Kundu, P., Voon, V., Bandettini, P. A., & Martin, A. (2018). Ridding fMRI data of motion-related influences: Removal of signals with distinct spatial and physical bases in multiecho data. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(9), E2105–E2114. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1720985115
- Puetz, V. B., Viding, E., Palmer, A., Kelly, P. A., Lickley, R., Koutoufa, I., ... McCrory,
 E. J. (2016). Altered neural response to rejection-related words in children exposed to maltreatment. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 57(10), 1165–1173. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12595
- Putnam, S. P., Gartstein, M. A., & Rothbart, M. K. (2006). Measurement of fine-grained aspects of toddler temperament: The Early Childhood Behavior Questionnaire.

Infant Behavior and Development, 29(3), 386–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2006.01.004

- Qiu, A, Anh, T. T., Li, Y., Chen, H., Rifkin-Graboi, A., Broekman, B. F. P., ... Meaney, M. J. (2015). Prenatal maternal depression alters amygdala functional connectivity in 6-month-old infants. *Translational Psychiatry*, 5(2), e508. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2015.3
- Qiu, A, Rifkin-Graboi, A., Chen, H., Chong, Y.-S., Kwek, K., Gluckman, P. D., ... Meaney, M. J. (2013). Maternal anxiety and infants' hippocampal development: timing matters. *Translational Psychiatry*, 3(9), e306–e306. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2013.79
- Qiu, Anqi, Mori, S., & Miller, M. I. (2015). Diffusion tensor imaging for understanding brain development in early life. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *66*, 853–876. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015340
- Qiu, Anqi, Shen, M., Buss, C., Chong, Y.-S., Kwek, K., Saw, S.-M., ... Meaney, M. J. (2017). Effects of Antenatal Maternal Depressive Symptoms and Socio-Economic Status on Neonatal Brain Development are Modulated by Genetic Risk. *Cerebral Cortex*, 27(5), 3080–3092. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhx065
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 1(3), 385–401.
 Retrieved from

https://conservancy.umn.edu/bitstream/handle/11299/98561/v01n3p385.pdf?sequen ce=1 Raichle, M. E., MacLeod, A. M., Snyder, A. Z., Powers, W. J., Gusnard, D. A., &
Shulman, G. L. (2001). A default mode of brain function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(2), 676–682.
https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.98.2.676

Raichle, M. E., & Mintun, M. A. (2006). Brain work and brain imaging. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, Vol. 29, pp. 449–476.
https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.112819

- Ramsay, T. (2002). Spline smoothing over difficult regions. *J. R. Statist. Soc. B*, 64(2), 307–319. Retrieved from https://rss.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/1467-9868.00339
- Rash, J. A., Thomas, J. C., Campbell, T. S., Letourneau, N., Granger, D. A., Giesbrecht,
 G. F., ... Singhal, N. (2016). Developmental origins of infant stress reactivity
 profiles: A multi-system approach. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 58(5), 578–599.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21403
- Rebello, K., Moura, L. M., Pinaya, W. H. L., Rohde, L. A., & Sato, J. R. (2018). Default Mode Network Maturation and Environmental Adversities During Childhood. *Chronic Stress*, 2, 247054701880829. https://doi.org/10.1177/2470547018808295
- Rice, F., Harold, G. T., Boivin, J., van den Bree, M., Hay, D. F., & Thapar, A. (2010).
 The links between prenatal stress and offspring development and psychopathology:
 disentangling environmental and inherited influences. *Psychological Medicine*,
 40(02), 335. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291709005911

Rieger, M., Pirke, K. M., Buske-Kirschbaum, A., Wurmser, H., Papoušek, M., &

Hellhammer, D. H. (2004). Influence of stress during pregnancy on HPA activity and neonatal behavior. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1032*, 228– 230. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1314.026

- Riem, M. M. E., Alink, L. R. A., Out, D., Van Ijzendoorn, M. H., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2015). Beating the brain about abuse: Empirical and metaanalytic studies of the association between maltreatment and hippocampal volume across childhood and adolescence. *Development and Psychopathology*, 27(2), 507– 520. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579415000127
- Rifkin-Graboi, A., Bai, J., Chen, H., Hameed, W. B. B., Sim, L. W., Tint, M. T., ... Qiu,
 A. (2013). Prenatal maternal depression associates with microstructure of right amygdala in neonates at birth. *Biological Psychiatry*, 74(11), 837–844.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.06.019
- Rifkin-Graboi, A., Meaney, M. J., Chen, H., Bai, J., Hameed, W. B., Tint, M. T., ... Qiu, A. (2015). Antenatal Maternal Anxiety Predicts Variations in Neural Structures
 Implicated in Anxiety Disorders in Newborns. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(4), 313-321.e2.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAC.2015.01.013
- Rifkin-Graboi, A., Quan, J., Richmond, J., Goh, S. K. Y., Sim, L. W., Chong, Y. S., ...
 Qiu, A. (2018). Greater caregiving risk, better infant memory performance? *Hippocampus*, 28(7), 497–511. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22949
- Riley, J. D., Chen, E. E., Winsell, J., Davis, E. P., Glynn, L. M., Baram, T. Z., ... Solodkin, A. (2018). Network specialization during adolescence: Hippocampal

effective connectivity in boys and girls. *NeuroImage*, *175*, 402–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.04.013

- Riva Crugnola, C., Ierardi, E., Bottini, M., Verganti, C., & Albizzati, A. (2019).
 Childhood experiences of maltreatment, reflective functioning and attachment in adolescent and young adult mothers: Effects on mother-infant interaction and emotion regulation. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *93*, 277–290.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.03.024
- River, L. M., Narayan, A. J., Atzl, V. M., Rivera, L. M., & Lieberman, A. F. (2019). Past
 Made Present: The Legacy of Childhood Maltreatment for Romantic Relationship
 Quality and Psychopathology During Pregnancy. *Psychology of Violence*, *10*(3),
 324–333. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000273
- Robertson-Blackmore, E., Putnam, F. W., Rubinow, D. R., Matthieu, M., Hunn, J. E., Putnam, K. T., ... O'Connor, T. G. (2013). Antecedent Trauma Exposure and Risk of Depression in the Perinatal Period. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 74(10), e942–e948. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.13m08364
- Robinson, J. L., Barron, D. S., Kirby, L. A. J., Bottenhorn, K. L., Hill, A. C., Murphy, J. E., ... Fox, P. T. (2015). Neurofunctional topography of the human hippocampus. *Human Brain Mapping*, *36*(12), 5018–5037. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22987
- Rosell, D. R., & Siever, L. J. (2015, February 25). The neurobiology of aggression and violence. *CNS Spectrums*, Vol. 20, pp. 254–279. https://doi.org/10.1017/S109285291500019X

Rosvall, M., & Bergstrom, C. T. (2008). Maps of random walks on complex networks

reveal community structure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *105*(4), 1118–1123. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0706851105

- Rudolph, M. D., Graham, A. M., Feczko, E., Miranda-Dominguez, O., Rasmussen, J. M., Nardos, R., ... Fair, D. A. (2018). Maternal IL-6 during pregnancy can be estimated from newborn brain connectivity and predicts future working memory in offspring. *Nature Neuroscience*, 21(5), 765–772. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0128-y
- Sah, P., Faber, E. S. L., De Armentia, M. L., & Power, J. (2003). The amygdaloid complex: Anatomy and physiology. *Physiological Reviews*, Vol. 83, pp. 803–834. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00002.2003
- Sandman, C. A., Davis, E. P., Buss, C., & Glynn, L. M. (2012). Exposure to prenatal psychobiological stress exerts programming influences on the mother and her fetus. *Neuroendocrinology*, 95(1), 7–21. https://doi.org/10.1159/000327017
- Santos, H., Tan, X., & Salomon, R. (2017). Heterogeneity in perinatal depression: how far have we come? A systematic review. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 20(1), 11–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-016-0691-8
- Santos, M. A. O., Bezerra, L. S., Carvalho, A. R. M. R., & Brainer-Lima, A. M. (2018, October 1). Global hippocampal atrophy in major depressive disorder: A metaanalysis of magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy*, Vol. 40, pp. 369–378. https://doi.org/10.1590/2237-6089-2017-0130
- Satpute, A. B., Mumford, J. A., Naliboff, B. D., & Poldrack, R. A. (2012). Human anterior and posterior hippocampus respond distinctly to state and trait anxiety.

Emotion, 12(1), 58-68. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026517

- Satterthwaite, T. D., Wolf, D. H., Loughead, J., Ruparel, K., Elliott, M. A., Hakonarson, H., ... Gur, R. E. (2012). Impact of in-scanner head motion on multiple measures of functional connectivity: Relevance for studies of neurodevelopment in youth. *NeuroImage*, 60(1), 623–632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.12.063
- Savage, L. É., Tarabulsy, G. M., Pearson, J., Collin-Vézina, D., & Gagné, L. M. (2019).
 Maternal history of childhood maltreatment and later parenting behavior: A metaanalysis. *Development and Psychopathology*, *31*(1), 9–21.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579418001542
- Scheinost, D., Kwon, S. H., Lacadie, C., Sze, G., Sinha, R., Constable, R. T., & Ment, L. R. (2016). Prenatal stress alters amygdala functional connectivity in preterm neonates. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, *12*, 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NICL.2016.08.010
- Scheinost, D., Sinha, R., Cross, S. N., Kwon, S. H., Sze, G., Constable, R. T., & Ment, L.
 R. (2017). Does prenatal stress alter the developing connectome? *Pediatric Research*, 81(1–2), 214–226. https://doi.org/10.1038/pr.2016.197
- Scheinost, D., Spann, M. N., McDonough, L., Peterson, B. S., & Monk, C. (2020). Associations between different dimensions of prenatal distress, neonatal hippocampal connectivity, and infant memory. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 45(8), 1272–1279. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-020-0677-0
- Schepanski, S., Buss, C., Hanganu-Opatz, I. L., & Arck, P. C. (2018). Prenatal Immune and Endocrine Modulators of Offspring's Brain Development and Cognitive

Functions Later in Life. *Frontiers in Immunology*, Vol. 9, p. 2186. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02186

- Schmaal, L., Veltman, D. J., Van Erp, T. G. M., Smann, P. G., Frodl, T., Jahanshad, N.,
 ... Hibar, D. P. (2016). Subcortical brain alterations in major depressive disorder:
 Findings from the ENIGMA Major Depressive Disorder working group. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 21(6), 806–812. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2015.69
- Schmid, M., Petermann, F., & Fegert, J. M. (2013). Developmental trauma disorder: Pros and cons of including formal criteria in the psychiatric diagnostic systems. *BMC Psychiatry*, 13, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-13-3
- Sekiguchi, A., Sugiura, M., Taki, Y., Kotozaki, Y., Nouchi, R., Takeuchi, H., ... Kawashima, R. (2013). Brain structural changes as vulnerability factors and acquired signs of post-earthquake stress. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18(5), 618–623. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2012.51
- Seng, J., Low, L., Sperlich, M., Ronis, D., & Liberzon, I. (2011). Post-traumatic stress disorder, child abuse history, birthweight and gestational age: a prospective cohort study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *118*(11), 1329–1339. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2011.03071.x
- Seng, J. S., Low, L. K., Sperlich, M., Ronis, D. L., & Liberzon, I. (2009). Prevalence, Trauma History, and Risk for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Among Nulliparous Women in Maternity Care. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *114*(4), 839–847. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181b8f8a2

Seng, J. S., Sperlich, M., Low, L. K., Ronis, D. L., Muzik, M., & Liberzon, I. (2013).

Childhood Abuse History, Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, Postpartum Mental Health, and Bonding: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 58(1), 57–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-2011.2012.00237.x

- Sheldon, S., McAndrews, M. P., Pruessner, J., & Moscovitch, M. (2016). Dissociating patterns of anterior and posterior hippocampal activity and connectivity during distinct forms of category fluency. *Neuropsychologia*, 90, 148–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.06.028
- Shelman, E. A., & Lazoritz, S. (2005). The Mary Ellen Wilson Child Abuse Case and the Beginning of Children's Rights in 19th Century America. Jefferson: McFarland & Company, Inc.
- Shenhav, A., Cohen, J. D., & Botvinick, M. M. (2016, October 1). Dorsal anterior cingulate cortex and the value of control. *Nature Neuroscience*, Vol. 19, pp. 1286– 1291. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4384
- Shonk, S. M., & Cicchetti, D. (2001). Maltreatment, competency deficits, and risk for academic and behavioral maladjustment. *Developmental Psychology*, 37(1), 3–17. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11206431
- Silvern, L., Waelde, L. C., Baughan, B. M. C., Karyl, J., & Kaersvang, L. L. (2000). Two formats for eliciting retrospective reports of child sexual and physical abuse: effects on apparent prevalence and relationships to adjustment. *Child Maltreatment*, 5(3), 236–250. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559500005003004
- Smith, M. E. (2005). Bilateral hippocampal volume reduction in adults with posttraumatic stress disorder: A meta-analysis of structural MRI studies. *Hippocampus*,

15(6), 798-807. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20102

- Smith, M. V., Gotman, N., & Yonkers, K. A. (2016). Early Childhood Adversity and Pregnancy Outcomes. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 20(4), 790–798. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-015-1909-5
- Smyser, C. D., Inder, T. E., Shimony, J. S., Hill, J. E., Degnan, A. J., Snyder, A. Z., & Neil, J. J. (2010). Longitudinal analysis of neural network development in preterm infants. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(12), 2852–2862. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhq035
- Soe, N. N., Wen, D. J., Poh, J. S., Chong, Y.-S., Broekman, B. F., Chen, H., ... Qiu, A. (2018). Perinatal maternal depressive symptoms alter amygdala functional connectivity in girls. *Human Brain Mapping*, *39*(2), 680–690. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23873
- Soe, N. N., Wen, D. J., Poh, J. S., Li, Y., Broekman, B. F. P., Chen, H., ... Qiu, A. (2016). Pre- and Post-Natal Maternal Depressive Symptoms in Relation with Infant Frontal Function, Connectivity, and Behaviors. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(4), e0152991. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0152991
- Spann, M. N., Monk, C., Scheinost, D., & Peterson, B. S. (2018). Maternal immune activation during the third trimester is associated with neonatal functional connectivity of the salience network and fetal to toddler behavior. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 38(11), 2877–2886. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2272-17.2018
- Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., & Lushene, R. E. (1970). *Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

- Springer, K. W., Sheridan, J., Kuo, D., & Carnes, M. (2003, October 1). The Long-term Health Outcomes of Childhood Abuse: An Overview and a Call to Action. *Journal* of General Internal Medicine, Vol. 18, pp. 864–870. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2003.20918.x
- Sripada, R., King, A., Garfinkel, S., Wang, X., Sripada, C., Welsh, R., & Liberzon, I. (2012). Altered resting-state amygdala functional connectivity in men with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 37(4), 241– 249. https://doi.org/10.1503/jpn.110069

Steinberg, A., & Beyerlein, B. (2013). Administration and Scoring of the UCLA PTSD Reaction Index for DSM-5 Video | The National Child Traumatic Stress Network. Retrieved November 11, 2020, from https://www.nctsn.org/resources/administration-and-scoring-ucla-ptsd-reaction-

Stevens, J. S., Ely, T. D., Sawamura, T., Guzman, D., Bradley, B., Ressler, K. J., & Jovanovic, T. (2016). Childhood maltreatment predicts reduced inhibition-related activity in the rostral anterior cingulate in PTSD, but not trauma-exposed controls. *Depression and Anxiety*, 33(7), 614–622. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22506

index-dsm-5-video

Stoye, D. Q., Andrew, R., Grobman, W. A., Adam, E. K., Wadhwa, P. D., Buss, C., ...
Reynolds, R. M. (2020). Maternal Glucocorticoid Metabolism Across Pregnancy: A
Potential Mechanism Underlying Fetal Glucocorticoid Exposure. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *105*(3). https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgz313

Strange, B. A., Witter, M. P., Lein, E. S., & Moser, E. I. (2014). Functional organization

of the hippocampal longitudinal axis. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3785

- Su, Y., D'Arcy, C., & Meng, X. (2020). Intergenerational Effect of Maternal Childhood Maltreatment on Next Generation's Vulnerability to Psychopathology: A Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838020933870
- Sun, J., Patel, F., Rose-Jacobs, R., Frank, D. A., Black, M. M., & Chilton, M. (2017).
 Mothers' Adverse Childhood Experiences and Their Young Children's
 Development. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 53(6), 882–891.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AMEPRE.2017.07.015
- Sutton, E. F., Gilmore, L. A., Dunger, D. B., Heijmans, B. T., Hivert, M. F., Ling, C., ... Ravussin, E. (2016). Developmental programming: State-of-the-science and future directions-Summary from a Pennington Biomedical symposium. *Obesity*, 24(5), 1018–1026. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21487
- Swales, D. A., Winiarski, D. A., Smith, A. K., Stowe, Z. N., Newport, D. J., & Brennan,
 P. A. (2018). Maternal depression and cortisol in pregnancy predict offspring
 emotional reactivity in the preschool period. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 60(5),
 557–566. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21631
- Szeszko, P. R., Betensky, J. D., Mentschel, C., Gunduz-Bruce, H., Lencz, T., Ashtari, M., ... Bilder, R. M. (2006). Increased stress and smaller anterior hippocampal volume. *NeuroReport*, 17(17), 1825–1828. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.wnr.0000246322.58814.b8

Szeszko, P. R., Lehrner, A., & Yehuda, R. (2018, May 1). Glucocorticoids and

Hippocampal Structure and Function in PTSD. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, Vol.26, pp. 142–157. https://doi.org/10.1097/HRP.00000000000188

- Talairach, J., & Tournoux, P. (1988). Co-Planar Stereotaxic Atlas of the Human Brain-3-Dimensional Proportional System: An Approach to Cerebral Imaging. Retrieved from https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/10008533708/
- Tarullo, A. R., & Gunnar, M. R. (2006). Child maltreatment and the developing HPA axis. *Hormones and Behavior*, 50(4), 632–639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2006.06.010
- Tau, G. Z., & Peterson, B. S. (2010). Normal development of brain circuits. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35(1), 147–168. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.115
- Teicher, M. H., Anderson, C. M., Ohashi, K., Khan, A., McGreenery, C. E., Bolger, E. A., ... Vitaliano, G. D. (2018). Differential effects of childhood neglect and abuse during sensitive exposure periods on male and female hippocampus. *NeuroImage*, *169*, 443–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.055
- Teicher, M. H., Anderson, C. M., Ohashi, K., & Polcari, A. (2014). Childhood maltreatment: Altered network centrality of cingulate, precuneus, temporal pole and insula. *Biological Psychiatry*, 76(4), 297–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.09.016
- Teicher, M. H., Anderson, C. M., & Polcari, A. (2012). Childhood maltreatment is associated with reduced volume in the hippocampal subfields CA3, dentate gyrus, and subiculum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(9), E563. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1115396109

Teicher, M. H., & Samson, J. A. (2013). Childhood maltreatment and psychopathology: A case for ecophenotypic variants as clinically and neurobiologically distinct subtypes. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *170*(10), 1114–1133. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12070957

Teicher, M. H., & Samson, J. A. (2016, March 1). Annual Research Review: Enduring neurobiological effects of childhood abuse and neglect. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, Vol. 57, pp. 241–266. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12507

Teicher, M. H., Samson, J. A., Anderson, C. M., & Ohashi, K. (2016, September 19). The effects of childhood maltreatment on brain structure, function and connectivity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, Vol. 17, pp. 652–666. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2016.111

- Thomaes, K., Dorrepaal, E., Draijer, N., De Ruiter, M. B., Van Balkom, A. J., Smit, J. H., & Veltman, D. J. (2010). Reduced anterior cingulate and orbitofrontal volumes in child abuse-related complex PTSD. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 71(12), 1636– 1644. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.08m04754blu
- Thomas, E., Buss, C., Rasmussen, J. M. J. M., Entringer, S., Ramirez, J. S. B. J. S. B., Marr, M., ... Graham, A. M. A. M. (2019). Newborn amygdala connectivity and early emerging fear. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 37, 100604. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30581123
- Thomason, M. E., Dassanayake, M. T., Shen, S., Katkuri, Y., Alexis, M., Anderson, A.L., ... Romero, R. (2013). Cross-Hemispheric Functional Connectivity in the

Human Fetal Brain. *Science Translational Medicine*, *5*(173), 173ra24-173ra24. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3004978

- Thomason, Moriah E., Grove, L. E., Lozon, T. A., Vila, A. M., Ye, Y., Nye, M. J., ... Romero, R. (2015). Age-related increases in long-range connectivity in fetal functional neural connectivity networks in utero. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 11, 96–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2014.09.001
- Thomason, Moriah E., Hect, J., Waller, R., Manning, J. H., Stacks, A. M., Beeghly, M.,
 ... Romero, R. (2018). Prenatal neural origins of infant motor development:
 Associations between fetal brain and infant motor development. *Development and Psychopathology*, *30*(3), 763–772. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095457941800072X
- Thomason, Moriah E., Marusak, H. A., Tocco, M. A., Vila, A. M., McGarragle, O., & Rosenberg, D. R. (2014). Altered amygdala connectivity in urban youth exposed to trauma. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *10*(11), 1460–1468. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsv030
- Thompson, R. (2007). Mothers' violence victimization and child behavior problems: examining the link. *The American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 77(2), 306–315. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.77.2.306
- Tokariev, A., Roberts, J. A., Zalesky, A., Zhao, X., Vanhatalo, S., Breakspear, M., & Cocchi, L. (2019). Large-scale brain modes reorganize between infant sleep states and carry prognostic information for preterms. *Nature Communications*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-10467-8

Tollenaar, M. S., Beijers, R., Jansen, J., Riksen-Walraven, J. M. A., & De Weerth, C.

(2011). Maternal prenatal stress and cortisol reactivity to stressors in human infants. *Stress*, *14*(1), 53–65. https://doi.org/10.3109/10253890.2010.499485

- Tomfohr-Madsen, L. M., Campbell, T. S., Giesbrecht, G. F., Letourneau, N. L., Carlson, L. E., Madsen, J. W., & Dimidjian, S. (2016). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for psychological distress in pregnancy: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, 17(1), 498. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-016-1601-0
- Tottenham, N., & Sheridan, M. A. (2009). A review of adversity, the amygdala and the hippocampus: a consideration of developmental timing. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 3(JAN), 68. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.09.068.2009
- Tustison, N. J., Avants, B. B., Cook, P. A., Zheng, Y., Egan, A., Yushkevich, P. A., & Gee, J. C. (2010). N4ITK: Improved N3 bias correction. *IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging*, 29(6), 1310–1320. https://doi.org/10.1109/TMI.2010.2046908
- Tyszka, J. M., & Pauli, W. M. (2016). In vivo delineation of subdivisions of the human amygdaloid complex in a high-resolution group template. *Human Brain Mapping*, 37(11), 3979–3998. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23289
- Vaillancourt, K., Pawlby, S., & Fearon, R. M. P. (2017). History of childhood abuse and mother–infant interaction: A systematic review of observational studies. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 38(2), 226–248. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21634
- Valadez, E. A., Tottenham, N., Tabachnick, A. R., & Dozier, M. (2020). Early Parenting Intervention Effects on Brain Responses to Maternal Cues among High-Risk Children. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 177(9), 818–826. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.20010011

- Van den Bergh, B. R. H., van den Heuvel, M. I., Lahti, M., Braeken, M., de Rooij, S. R., Entringer, S., ... Schwab, M. (2017). Prenatal developmental origins of behavior and mental health: The influence of maternal stress in pregnancy. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev, Jul 28*, S0149-7634(16)30734-5. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0149763416307345
- van den Heuvel, M. P., Kersbergen, K. J., De Reus, M. A., Keunen, K., Kahn, R. S., Groenendaal, F., ... Benders, M. J. N. L. N. L. (2014). The Neonatal Connectome During Preterm Brain Development. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(9), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhu095
- Van der Kolk, B. A. (2015). *The Body Keeps the Score: Brain, Mind, and Body in the Healing of Trauma*. United Kingdom: Penguin Books.
- Van Der Kolk, B. A. (2017). Developmental trauma disorder: Towards a rational diagnosis for chronically traumatized children. *Psychiatric Annals*, *35*(5), 401–408.
- van der Waerden, J., Galéra, C., Larroque, B., Saurel-Cubizolles, M.-J., Sutter-Dallay,
 A.-L., Melchior, M., & EDEN Mother–Child Cohort Study Group. (2015). Maternal
 Depression Trajectories and Children's Behavior at Age 5 Years. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 166(6), 1440-1448.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2015.03.002
- van Nierop, M., Lecei, A., Myin-Germeys, I., Collip, D., Viechtbauer, W., Jacobs, N., ... van Winkel, R. (2018). Stress reactivity links childhood trauma exposure to an admixture of depressive, anxiety, and psychosis symptoms. *Psychiatry Research*, 260, 451–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.12.012

Van Voorhees, E., & Scarpa, A. (2004). Effects of Child Maltreatment on the

Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 5(4), 333–352. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838004269486

- Vasung, L., Abaci Turk, E., Ferradal, S. L., Sutin, J., Stout, J. N., Ahtam, B., ... Grant, P. E. (2019). Exploring early human brain development with structural and physiological neuroimaging. *NeuroImage*, *187*, 226–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.07.041
- Veer, I. M., Oei, N. Y. L., van Buchem, M. A., Spinhoven, P., Elzinga, B. M., & Rombouts, S. A. R. B. (2015). Evidence for smaller right amygdala volumes in posttraumatic stress disorder following childhood trauma. *Psychiatry Research Neuroimaging*, 233(3), 436–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2015.07.016
- Villano, C. L., Cleland, C., Rosenblum, A., Fong, C., Nuttbrock, L., Marthol, M., & Wallace, J. (2004). Psychometric utility of the childhood trauma questionnaire with female street-based sex workers. *Journal of Trauma and Dissociation*, 5(3), 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1300/J229v05n03_03
- Vrtička, P., Bondolfi, G., Sander, D., & Vuilleumier, P. (2012). The neural substrates of social emotion perception and regulation are modulated by adult attachment style.
 Social Neuroscience, 7(5), 473–493. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470919.2011.647410
- Vrtička, P., Sander, D., Anderson, B., Badoud, D., Eliez, S., & Debbané, M. (2014). Social feedback processing from early to late adolescence: Influence of sex, age, and attachment style. *Brain and Behavior*, 4(5), 703–720. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.251

Vythilingam, M., Luckenbaugh, D. A., Lam, T., Morgan, C. A., Lipschitz, D., Charney,

D. S., ... Southwick, S. M. (2005). Smaller head of the hippocampus in Gulf War-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatry Research - Neuroimaging*, *139*(2), 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2005.04.003

- Walker, E. A., Unutzer, J., Rutter, C., Gelfand, A., Saunders, K., VonKorff, M., ... Katon, W. (1999). Costs of health care use by women HMO members with a history of childhood abuse and neglect. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56(7), 609–613. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.56.7.609
- Wang, H., Suh, J. W., Das, S. R., Pluta, J. B., Craige, C., & Yushkevich, P. A. (2013).
 Multi-atlas segmentation with joint label fusion. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence*, 35(3), 611–623.
 https://doi.org/10.1109/TPAMI.2012.143
- Wang, J., Vachet, C., Rumple, A., Gouttard, S., Ouziel, C., Perrot, E., ... Styner, M. (2014). Multi-atlas segmentation of subcortical brain structures via the AutoSeg software pipeline. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fninf.2014.00007
- Wang, L., Su, L., Shen, H., & Hu, D. (2012). Decoding Lifespan Changes of the Human Brain Using Resting-State Functional Connectivity MRI. *PLoS ONE*, 7(8), e44530. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044530
- Wang, Q., Zhang, H., Wee, C. Y., Lee, A., Poh, J. S., Chong, Y. S., ... Qiu, A. (2019).
 Maternal sensitivity predicts anterior hippocampal functional networks in early childhood. *Brain Structure and Function*, 224(5), 1885–1895.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-019-01882-0
- Weinstock, M. (2008). The long-term behavioural consequences of prenatal stress. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32(6), 1073–1086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.03.002
- Wen, D. J., Poh, J. S., Ni, S. N., Chong, Y.-S., Chen, H., Kwek, K., ... Qiu, A. (2017). Influences of prenatal and postnatal maternal depression on amygdala volume and microstructure in young children. *Translational Psychiatry*, 7(4), e1103. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2017.74
- Wible, C. G. (2013, June 1). Hippocampal physiology, structure and function and the neuroscience of schizophrenia: A unified account of declarative memory deficits, working memory deficits and schizophrenic symptoms. *Behavioral Sciences*, Vol. 3, pp. 298–315. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs3020298
- Wolf, R. C., & Herringa, R. J. (2016). Prefrontal–Amygdala Dysregulation to Threat in Pediatric Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *41*(3), 822– 831. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.209
- Workman, A. D., Charvet, C. J., Clancy, B., Darlington, R. B., & Finlay, B. L. (2013).
 Modeling transformations of neurodevelopmental sequences across mammalian species. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*(17), 7368–7383.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5746-12.2013
- Wu, Y., Lu, Y. C., Jacobs, M., Pradhan, S., Kapse, K., Zhao, L., ... Limperopoulos, C. (2020). Association of Prenatal Maternal Psychological Distress With Fetal Brain Growth, Metabolism, and Cortical Maturation. *JAMA Network Open*, *3*(1), e1919940. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.19940

- Xu, J., Guan, X., Li, H., Zhang, M., & Xu, X. (2020). The Effect of Early Life Stress on Memory is Mediated by Anterior Hippocampal Network. *Neuroscience*, 451, 137– 148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2020.10.018
- Yang, Y., & Wang, J. Z. (2017, October 31). From structure to behavior in basolateral amygdala-hippocampus circuits. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, Vol. 11, p. 86. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2017.00086
- Yehuda, R., & Meaney, M. J. (2018). Relevance of Psychological Symptoms in Pregnancy to Intergenerational Effects of Preconception Trauma. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83(2), 94–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2017.10.027
- Yehuda, R., & Seckl, J. (2011). Minireview: Stress-Related Psychiatric Disorders with Low Cortisol Levels: A Metabolic Hypothesis. *Endocrinology*, 152(12), 4496–4503. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2011-1218
- Yong Ping, E., Laplante, D. P., Elgbeili, G., Hillerer, K. M., Brunet, A., O'Hara, M. W., & King, S. (2015). Prenatal maternal stress predicts stress reactivity at 2½ years of age: The Iowa Flood Study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 56, 62–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PSYNEUEN.2015.02.015
- Yushkevich, P., Piven, J., Hazlett, H., Smith, R., Neuroimage, S. H.-, & 2006, U. (2006). User-guided 3D active contour segmentation of anatomical structures: significantly improved efficiency and reliability. *Elsevier*, *31*, 1116–1128. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1053811906000632
- Zajac, L., Lee Raby, K., & Dozier, M. (2019). Sustained effects on attachment security in middle childhood: Results from a randomized clinical trial of the Attachment and

Biobehavioral Catch-up (ABC) intervention. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13146

- Zhang, H., Shen, D., & Lin, W. (2019). Resting-state functional MRI studies on infant brains: A decade of gap-filling efforts. *NeuroImage*, 185(May 2018), 664–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.07.004
- Zhang, Xiaoyu, Zhang, J., Wang, L., Li, R., & Zhang, W. (2016). Altered resting-state functional connectivity of the amygdala in Chinese earthquake survivors. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 65, 208–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.10.003
- Zhang, Xing, Deng, M., Ran, G., Tang, Q., Xu, W., Ma, Y., & Chen, X. (2018). Brain correlates of adult attachment style: A voxel-based morphometry study. *Brain Research*, 1699, 34–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2018.06.035
- Zheng, A., Montez, D. F., Marek, S., Gilmore, A. W., Newbold, D. J., Laumann, T. O., ... Dosenbach, N. U. F. (2020, December 2). Parallel hippocampal-parietal circuits for self- And goal-oriented processing. *BioRxiv*, p. 2020.12.01.395210. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.01.395210
- Zhong, Q., Xu, H., Qin, J., Zeng, L. L., Hu, D., & Shen, H. (2019). Functional parcellation of the hippocampus from resting-state dynamic functional connectivity. *Brain Research*, 1715, 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2019.03.023
- Zhu, H., Shi, F., Wang, L., Hung, S. C., Chen, M. H., Wang, S., ... Shen, D. (2019).
 Dilated dense U-net for infant hippocampus subfield segmentation. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, 13, 30. https://doi.org/10.3389/fninf.2019.00030

Zietlow, A. L., Nonnenmacher, N., Reck, C., Ditzen, B., & Müller, M. (2019). Emotional

stress during pregnancy – Associations with maternal anxiety disorders, infant cortisol reactivity, and mother–child interaction at pre-school age. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*(SEP). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02179

Dear Reader,

Thank you for your time and attention, for sticking through to the very end. I wasn't certain anyone would read it all the way through (outside of those who were required to read it all, of course).

Since we've made it this far together, I wanted to share something with you. Graduate school was hard. There were days I thought about giving up and days where finishing seemed impossible. I often felt that I wasn't good enough, smart enough, dedicated enough. I worried about being a disappointment to everyone. I doubted my ability to write this dissertation. I was certain I would not know enough to defend it; how can we ever know enough?

Reading the material for this topic is tough. There is a hopelessness to aspects of this topic. The literature often assumes that adversity equals destiny and conversations on resilience often fall woefully short.

We made it. We made it all of the way through, so here is what I want to share.

No matter where you are in your journey, there will be tough times and seemingly impossible tasks. There will be hard days and hopelessness. It can be easy to focus on the voices that tear you down, easy to believe them; but I challenge you to *challenge those voices instead*. What you do not generally find in the literature on childhood maltreatment is commentary on the strength of survivors. We are the strongest people out there. We have endured, we have survived, and we will continue to survive. Recognize your strength and give yourself credit for it. You can overcome the obstacles that you will encounter. Look how far you have already come. You can do it, whatever it is, you can do it. I believe in you and your journey.

If you have the chance, please leave some words of encouragement for future readers. I've created space by adding several blank pages after this one. If you aren't reading a shared copy, consider writing some words of encouragement to yourself somewhere to refer to when you need them or sending some kind words to someone else. We can all use encouragement.

My hope is for the end of this document to be about strength and support and love.